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INFORMATION AND PUBLICATION SCHEDULE

General Information

The Administrative Rules Unit, Archives Division, Secretary
of State publishes the Oregon Administrative Rules Compilation
and the on-line Oregon Bulletin. The Oregon Administrative Rules
Compilation is an annual print publication containing the complete
text of Oregon Administrative Rules (OARs) filed during the
previous year through November 15, or the last workday before that
if the 15th falls on a weekend or holiday. The Oregon Bulletin is a
monthly on-line supplement that contains rule text amended after
publication of the print Compilation, as well as proposed rulemaking
and rulemaking hearing notices. The Bulletin also publishes certain
non-OAR items such as Executive Orders of the Governor, Opinions
of the Attorney General, and Department of Environmental Quality
cleanup notices.

Background on Oregon Administrative Rules

ORS 183.310(9) defines “rule” as “any agency directive, standard,
regulation or statement of general applicability that implements,
interprets or prescribes law or policy, or describes the procedure or
practice requirements of any agency.” Agencies may adopt, amend,
repeal or renumber rules, permanently or temporarily (up to 180
days), using the procedures outlined in the Oregon Attorney Gener-
al’s Administrative Law Manual. The Administrative Rules Unit
assists agencies with the notification, filing and publication require-
ments of the administrative rulemaking process.

How to Cite

Every administrative rule uses the same numbering sequence of
a three-digit chapter number followed by a three-digit division num-
ber and a four-digit rule number (000-000-0000). Example: Oregon
Administrative Rules, chapter 166, division 500, rule 0020 (short
form: OAR 166-500-0020).

Understanding an Administrative Rule’s ‘“History”

State agencies operate in a dynamic environment of ever-chang-
ing laws, public concerns and legislative mandates which necessitate
ongoing rulemaking. To track changes to individual rules and organ-
ize the rule filing forms for permanent retention, the Administrative
Rules Unit has developed for each rule a “history” which is located
at the end of the rule text. An administrative rule “history” outlines
the statutory authority, statutes implemented and dates of each
authorized modification to the rule text. Changes are listed in chrono-
logical order and identify in abbreviated form the agency, filing num-
ber, year, filing date and effective date. For example: “OSA 4-1993,
f. & cert. ef. 11-10-93” documents a rule change made by the
Oregon State Archives (OSA). The history notes this was the 4th
filing from the Archives in 1993, it was filed on November 10, 1993
and the rule changes became effective on the same date. The most
recent change to each rule is listed at the end of the “history.”

Locating the Most Recent Version of
an Administrative Rule

The on-line OAR Compilation is updated on the first of each month
to include all rule actions filed with the Administrative Rules Unit,
Secretary of State’s office by the 15th of the previous month, or by
the last workday before the 15th if that date falls on a weekend or
holiday. The annual printed OAR Compilation contains the full text
of all rules filed during the previous year through November 15, or
the last workday before that if the 15th falls on a weekend or
holiday. Subsequent changes to individual administrative rules are
listed by rule number in the OAR Revision Cumulative Index which
is published monthly in the on-line Oregon Bulletin. These listings
include the effective date, the specific rulemaking action, and the
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issue of the Bulletin that contains the full text of the amended rule.
The Bulletin contains the full text of permanent and temporary rules
filed for publication.

Locating Administrative Rules Unit Publications

The Oregon Administrative Rules Compilation and the Oregon
Bulletin are available on-line through the Oregon State Archives web
site at <http://arcweb.sos.state.or.us>. Printed volumes of the Com-
pilation are deposited in Oregon’s Public Documents Depository
Libraries listed in OAR 543-070-0000. Complete sets and individ-
ual volumes of the Compilation may be ordered by contacting:
Administrative Rules Unit, Archives Division, 800 Summer Street
NE, Salem, OR 97310, (503) 373-0701, Julie.A.Yamaka@state.or.us

2011-2012 Oregon Bulletin Publication Schedule

The Administrative Rules Unit accepts proposed rulemaking
notices and administrative rule filings Monday through Friday, 8:00
am to 5:00 pm, at the Oregon State Archives, 800 Summer Street NE,
Salem, Oregon 97310. To expedite the rulemaking process agencies
are encouraged file a Notice of Proposed Rulemaking Hearing
specifying hearing date, time and location, and submit their filings
early in the submission period to meet the following deadlines:

Submission Deadline — Publishing Date

December 15, 2011
January 13,2012
February 15, 2012
March 15,2012
April 13,2012
May 15, 2012

June 15,2012

July 13,2012
August 15,2012
September 14, 2012
October 15,2012
November 15, 2012

January 1, 2012
February 1,2012
March 1, 2012
April 1,2012
May 1,2012

June 1, 2012

July 1,2012
August 1,2012
September 1, 2012
October 1, 2012
November 1, 2012
December 1, 2012

Reminder for Agency Rules Coordinators

Each agency that engages in rulemaking must appoint a rules coor-
dinator and file an “Appointment of Agency Rules Coordinator”
form, ARC 910-2011, with the Administrative Rules Unit, Archives
Division, Secretary of State. Agencies which delegate rulemaking
authority to an officer or employee within the agency must also file
a “Delegation of Rulemaking Authority” form, ARC 915-2005. It is
the agency’s responsibility to monitor the rulemaking authority of
selected employees and to keep the appropriate forms updated. The
Administrative Rules Unit does not verify agency signatures as part
of the rulemaking process. Forms are available from the Adminis-
trative Rules Unit, Archives Division, 800 Summer Street NE,
Salem, Oregon 97301, (503) 373-0701, or are downloadable at
<http://arcweb.sos.state.or.us/pages/rules/index .html>

Publication Authority

The Oregon Bulletin is published pursuant to ORS 183.360(3).
Copies of the original Administrative Orders may be obtained from
the Archives Division, 800 Summer Street, Salem, Oregon, 97310;
(503) 373-0701. The Archives Division charges for such copies.

Note: The official copy of an Oregon Administrative Rule is contained in the
Administrative Order filed at the Archives Division. Any discrepancies with
the published version are satisfied in favor of the Administrative Order.

© January 1, 2012 Oregon Secretary of State. All rights reserved. Repro-
duction in whole or in part without written permission is prohibited.
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EXECUTIVE ORDERS

EXECUTIVE ORDER 12 - 09

AMENDS EXECUTIVE ORDER NO. 10-06 REGARDING
ESTABLISHMENT OF THE EARLY CHILDHOOD
MATTERS ADVISORY COUNCIL

IT IS HEREBY DIRECTED AND ORDERED:

1. Executive Order No. 10 - 06 established the Early Childhood
Matters Advisory Council. The duties of the Early Childhood
Matters Advisory Council have been assumed by the Early
Learning Council established by the Head Start Act (2012 House
Bill 4165).

2. Section 11 of Executive Order 10-06 is amended to state as
follows:

“This Order shall expire June 15,2012.”
Done at Salem, Oregon, this 13th day of June, 2012.

/s/ John A. Kitzhaber
John A. Kitzhaber, M.D.
GOVERNOR

ATTEST
/s/ Kate Brown

Kate Brown
SECRETARY OF STATE
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OTHER NOTICES

REQUEST FOR COMMENTS
PROPOSED REMEDY FOR PECO, INC.

COMMENTS DUE: July 30,2012 5:00 PM

PROJECT LOCATION: 4707 SE 17th Avenue, Portland, OR
PROPOSAL: In accordance with ORS 465.200, the Department of
Environmental Quality (DEQ) invites public comment on its
proposed remedy for the site.

HIGHLIGHTS: The PECO facility occupies approximately 6 acres
and includes four industrial-use buildings and associated parking
areas located near SE Schiller Street between 16th and 18th Avenues
in Portland, Oregon. The facility is used for the manufacture of parts
for the aerospace industry, and includes die casting, machining, and
plastic injection molding. Surrounding use is primarily commercial
or industrial.

Environmental investigation has identified solvents including tetra-
chloroethene and trichloroethene in soil and groundwater. Treatment
has reduced contaminant levels, but concentrations continue to
exceed DEQ screening values in some areas. Polychlorinated
biphenyl (PCB) contamination in soil and building materials was pre-
viously removed to DEQ and EPA satisfaction, and does not require
further action.

A remedy is proposed to address remaining soil and groundwater
that poses a potential risk to site users. The action includes removal
of soil below the West Plant exceeding “hot spot” values, treatment
of shallow groundwater below the East Plant, and ongoing operation
of a soil vapor collection system in both buildings to capture con-
taminated vapor that could enter occupied buildings. If properly
implemented, the remedy will reduce contamination to levels that do
not pose a risk.

DEQ welcomes the public’s comments on the proposed remedial
actions.

HOW TO COMMENT: To review project records, contact Dawn
Weinburger at (503) 229-5425 and ask for records for Environmen-
tal Cleanup Site Information (ECSI) site #178. The DEQ Project
Manager is Daniel Hafley (503-229-5417). Written comments should
be sent to Daniel Hafley at the Department of Environmental
Quality, Northwest Region, 2020 SW 4th Avenue, Suite 400, Port-
land, OR 97201 and must be received no later than 5 pm on July 30,
2012. A public meeting will be held to receive verbal comments if
requested by 10 or more people, or by a group with a membership
of 10 or more. Site information can also be found in DEQ’s on-line
ECSI database at: http://www.deq.state.or.us/lg/ECSI/ecsi.htm, by
searching on Site ID #1973.

THE NEXT STEP: DEQ will consider all comments received and
make a final decision on the proposed site remedy after considera-
tion of these comments.

ACCESSIBILITY INFORMATION: DEQ is committed to
accommodating people with disabilities. Please notify DEQ of any
special physical or language accommodations or if you need infor-
mation in large print, Braille or another format. To make these
arrangements, contact DEQ Communications & Outreach (503) 229-
5696 or toll free in Oregon at (800) 452-4011; fax to 503-229-6762;
or e-mail to deqinfo@deq.state.or.us.

People with hearing impairments may call DEQ’s TTY number,
1(800)735-2900.

REQUEST FOR COMMENTS
PROPOSED APPROVAL OF CLEANUP AT
PACIFICORP YOUNGS BAY SITE

COMMENTS DUE: 5 p.m., Tuesday, July 31,2012

PROJECT LOCATION: 1224 West Marine Drive Astoria, OR
PROPOSAL: The Department of Environmental Quality invites
public comment on the proposed conditional approval of environ-
mental cleanup action at the PacifiCorp Youngs Bay site. This is also
known as a conditional no further action determination.
HIGHLIGHTS: The PacifiCorp Youngs Bay site consists of an
upland area that is approximately 4.5 to 5 acres in size, a shoreline
slope that separates the upland from the intertidal area, and an off-
shore zone of intertidal mudflats that extends southward several

Oregon Bulletin

5

hundred feet into Youngs Bay. Between 1921 and 1950, PacifiCorp
manufactured compressed, petroleum-based gas for heating and
lighting at the site. Petroleum oils were used as a base stock for gas
manufacturing. Between 1922 and 1954 electricity and steam were
also produced at the site from a generating plant that used wood-
based hog fuel. Tarry residues were released from the site during gas
manufacturing operations, leaving tarry material along the shoreline
of the property and a tar “body” that extends from the shore approx-
imately 300 feet into Youngs Bay. Contaminants associated with oil
and tar were also detected at elevated concentrations in upland site
soils.

In 1987, under Remedial Action Agreement between PacifiCorp
and DEQ, PacifiCorp demolished the existing site structures and
placed demolition material in the southeastern portion of the upland.
This area was then covered with sand to fill voids and approximately
2 feet of clean soil. The soil was vegetated and the entire site was
fenced.

In September 2004, PacifiCorp excavated lampblack-contaminat-
ed soil near the site entrance and disposed of the material in a per-
mitted landfill.

In the summer of 2005, PacifiCorp removed a portion of the off-
shore tar and capped the remaining tar as described in the DEQ
record of decision issued February 2005.

In 2011, PacifiCorp excavated the most contaminated soils in the
upland portion of the site and placed them in an extension of the
existing capped area onsite or, if product was observed, disposed the
material at a permitted landfill, as described in the DEQ record of
decision issued September 2010.

PacifiCorp prepared Long-Term Monitoring and Maintenance
Plans for the upland and shoreline/off-shore portions of the site. In
addition to regular monitoring and maintenance of the caps,
inspections will be conducted after any events that could impact cap
integrity.

Based on evaluation of the actions described above, DEQ is pro-
posing that no further action be required at the PacifiCorp Youngs
Bay site. The proposed cleanup approval is conditional because of
the need to maintain engineering controls and conduct long-term
monitoring and maintenance of cleanup measures at the site.
HOW TO COMMENT: A memorandum describing the basis for
the no further action is available at: http://www.deq.state.or.us/
Webdocs/Forms/Output/FPController.ashx ?Sourceld=147&Sourceld
Type=11. Complete site files are available for public review at DEQ’s
Northwest Region Office in Portland. To schedule an appointment
to review files, call 503- 229-6729. Send written comments to
Project Manager Jennifer Sutter, DEQ Northwest Region, 2020 SW
4th Ave., Portland, OR 97201 or sutter.jennifer@deq.state.or.us, by
Tuesday, July 31. Contact Sutter at 503- 229-6148.

THE NEXT STEP: DEQ will consider all public comments and the
DEQ Northwest Region Administrator will make and publish the
final decision after consideration of these comments.
ACCESSIBILITY INFORMATION: DEQ is committed to
accommodating people with disabilities. Please notify DEQ of any
special physical or language accommodations or if you need infor-
mation in large print, Braille or another format. To make these
arrangements, contact DEQ Communications & Outreach 503- 229-
5696 or toll free in Oregon at 800- 452-4011; fax to 503-229-6762;
or e-mail to deqinfo@deq.state.or.us

People with hearing impairments may call 711.

REQUEST FOR COMMENTS
PROPOSED NO FURTHER ACTION DETERMINATION,
FORMER CIRCLE 9 DRYCLEANERS
CORVALLIS, OREGON

COMMENTS DUE: July 30,2012

PROJECT LOCATION: The former Circle 9 Drycleaners is
located in the Circle 9 Plaza at 960 NW Circle Boulevard in Corvallis
Oregon. The site consists of tax lots 00300, 00304, 00306, and 00307
as described on Map No. 110526AC, Township 11 South, Range 5
West, Section 26 (the “Property”).
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PROPOSAL: DEQ is proposing that no further action is required
at the site to human health and the environment.

HIGHLIGHTS: A drycleaner operated on the Property from around
1978 to around 1990. During historic dry cleaner operations at the
Property, hazardous substances were released at and from the Prop-
erty. Between 2002 and 2007, Multiple rounds of soil and ground-
water investigation were conducted under DEQ supervision. During
the investigation, soil and groundwater contamination were found on
the site. A soil cleanup occurred in 2008, followed by mitigation
measures to prevent chlorinated solvent vapors (from dry-cleaning
chemicals) from entering the buildings on site. In 2009, DEQ dis-
covered multiple nearby wells were contaminated with chlorinated
solvents at levels that are not safe to drink. DEQ believes these chem-
icals originated at the former Circle 9 Drycleaners facility. Other cur-
rently unknown sources in the area may also have contributed to con-
tamination in the Lawndale wells. DEQ provided bottled water to
affected residents and then hooked up residents to carbon filtration
units to ensure safe household water supplies. DEQ will maintain
these treatment systems until concentrations of chlorinated solvents
in the groundwater decrease to safe levels. Since the soil contami-
nation at the site was removed, there are no additional actions that
could be taken that would improve groundwater conditions in the
nearby area. Since conditions on site and off site are protective of
human health and since there is no ecological risk posed by the
groundwater contamination, DEQ has determined that no further
action is required. On July 1, running through July 30, 2012, DEQ
will provide public notice and opportunity to comment on the deter-
mination.

HOW TO COMMENT: The proposed determination is available at
DEQ’s Western Region Office, at 165 E 7th, Suite 100, Eugene,
Oregon 97401, or electronically by request to brown.geoff@
deq.state.or.us. To review files at DEQ’s office, please contact DEQ’s
file review coordinator at (541) 686-7819 to make an appointment.
Comments may be submitted to Geoff Brown, DEQ Cleanup Proj-
ect Manager, by email at brown.geoff@deq.state.or.us ; by mail at
DEQ, 167 E 7th, Suite 100, Eugene, Oregon 97401; or by fax at 541-
686-7551.

THE NEXT STEP: DEQ will review and consider all comments
received during the comment period. Once all comments have been
considered and addressed, DEQ will issue a letter of no further action
to the property owner and change the status of the site in the ECSI
database.

REQUEST FOR COMMENTS
PROPOSED NO FURTHER ACTION FOR FORMER
BRIDAL VEIL LUMBER SITE

COMMENTS DUE: 5 p.m., July 31,2012
PROJECT LOCATION: 46249-46701 E Historic Columbia
River Hwy, Bridal Veil
PROPOSAL: The Oregon Department of Environmental Quality’s
Voluntary Cleanup Program proposes to issue a no further action
determination for the former Bridal Veil Lumber site located at
46249-46701 E Historic Columbia River Hwy in Bridal Veil. DEQ
issues a no further action determination when a cleanup has met reg-
ulatory standards.
HIGHLIGHTS: The site is the location of a lumber milling oper-
ation that was active for more than 100 years and the associated mill
town. Lumber milling operations ceased at the site in about 1988, and
most of the site structures were demolished by 2001. The site used
for public recreation purposes and for railroad maintenance purposes.
Various environmental issues including solid waste dumps, petro-
leum storage tanks, and other contaminates associated with the mill’s
former operations were assessed and cleaned up. The Voluntary
Cleanup Program has reviewed assessment and cleanup activities
performed at the site and have determined no further action is
required.
HOW TO COMMENT: Send comments by 5 p.m., July 31,2012,
to DEQ Project Manager Katie Robertson by phone at 541-278-4620,
by mail at 700 SE Emigrant, Suite 330, Pendleton, OR 97801, by
e-mail at robertson katie@deq.state.or.us or by fax at 541-278-0168.
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To access site summary information and other documents in DEQ’s
Environmental Cleanup Site Information database, go to
www.deq.state.or.us/lq/ECSI/ecsi.htm, select “Search complete
ECSI database” link, enter 3280 in the Site ID box and click
“Submit” at the bottom of the page. Next, click the link labeled 3280
in the Site ID/Info column. To review the project file, contact the
project manager above for a file review appointment.

THE NEXT STEP: DEQ will consider all public comments
received before making a final decision on the proposed no further
action determination. DEQ will provide written responses to all pub-
lic comments received.

ACCESSIBILITY INFORMATION: DEQ is committed to
accommodating people with disabilities. If you need information in
another format, please contact DEQ toll free in Oregon at 800-
452-4011, email at deqinfo@deq.state.or.us, or 711 for people with
hearing impairments.

REQUEST FOR COMMENTS
PROPOSED NO FURTHER ACTION FOR
REDDAWAY TRUCKING

COMMENTS DUE: 5 p.m., July 31,2012
PROJECT LOCATION: 3122 Hilyard Ave., Klamath Falls
PROPOSAL: The Oregon Department of Environmental Quality’s
Voluntary Cleanup Program proposes to issue a no further action
determination for the Reddaway Trucking site located at 3122
Hilyard Ave., Klamath Falls. DEQ issues a no further action deter-
mination when a cleanup has met regulatory standards.
HIGHLIGHTS: An above ground, heating oil storage tank with
chronic leaks was removed from the site in April 2012. Approxi-
mately 23 tons of petroleum contaminated soil was excavated and
transported to Dry Creek Landfill for disposal. Residual soil and
groundwater contamination are less than applicable screening
levels. The Voluntary Cleanup Program has reviewed remedial
actions performed at the site and has determined no further action is
required.
HOW TO COMMENT: Send comments by 5 p.m., July 31,2012,
to DEQ Project Manager Katie Robertson by phone at 541-278-4620,
by mail at 700 SE Emigrant, Suite 330, Pendleton, OR 97801, by e-
mail at robertson katie@deq.state.or.us or by fax at 541-278-0168.
To access site summary information and other documents in DEQ’s
Environmental Cleanup Site Information database, go to
www.deq.state.or.us/lg/ECSI/ecsi.htm, select “Search complete
ECSI database” link, enter 5724 in the Site ID box and click
“Submit” at the bottom of the page. Next, click the link labeled 5724
in the Site ID/Info column. To review the project file, contact the
project manager above for a file review appointment.
THE NEXT STEP: DEQ will consider all public comments
received before making a final decision on the proposed no further
action determination. DEQ will provide written responses to all pub-
lic comments received.
ACCESSIBILITY INFORMATION: DEQ is committed to
accommodating people with disabilities. If you need information in
another format, please contact DEQ toll free in Oregon at 800-452-
4011, email at deqinfo@deq.state.or.us, or 711 for people with hear-
ing impairments.

REQUEST FOR COMMENTS
PROPOSED CLEANUP APPROACH FOR
CANOE BAY SHORELINE

COMMENTS DUE: 5 p.m., Tuesday, July 31,2012

PROJECT LOCATION: Canoe Bay, North side of Hayden Island,
Portland

PROPOSAL: The Department of Environmental Quality invites
public comment on the proposed cleanup approach for contaminat-
ed shoreline and bank areas on the west side of Canoe Bay, an inlet
off the Columbia River located on the north side of Hayden Island.
DEQ proposes that contamination present along the western shore-
line of the bay adjacent to property owned by Inland Sea Maritime
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Group be capped as part of a larger shoreline stabilization project in
this area. Contamination in this area appears to be the most signifi-
cant remaining source of contamination to Canoe Bay. Once these
shoreline sources of contamination are cleaned up, contaminant
concentrations in bay sediments are expected to decline over time
through natural recovery processes.

HIGHLIGHTS: Canoe Bay is a 7.6-acre rectangular inlet off the
Columbia River located on the central north side of Hayden Island.
Inland Sea Maritime Group owns approximately 6 acres of upland
land on the southwestern edge of the bay. Schooner Creek Boat
Works operates a boat maintenance facility on a portion of the upland
property.

Historic dumping occurred into and around Canoe Bay between
1966 and 1989, creating a debris pile on the eastern shoreline of
Canoe Bay. Sampling of Canoe Bay sediments and shoreline soils
indicates the presence of contaminants including polychlorinated
biphenyls (known as PCBs), metals, polycyclic aromatic hydrocar-
bons, and tri-butyl tin. The highest levels of contamination were
found in the vicinity of the debris pile. Elevated levels of metals and
tri-butyl tin were also found in the vicinity of the Schooner Creek
stormwater outfall.

DEQ is proposing that the owner cap the more highly contaminated
soils and sediments in the vicinity of the debris pile and stormwater
outfall in conjunction with a shoreline stabilization project. The pro-
posed clean-up would include placing an Envirolok® system on the
steeper portions of the shoreline and a clean sand cap from the foot
of the slope out approximately 12 feet into the bay. Envirolok® con-
sists of non-biodegradable polypropylene bags filled with soil and
tied together to create a stable cap that will support vegetation. Con-
tainerized plants would be placed in conjunction with the Envirolok®
system and would act to lock the bags to each other and the sur-
rounding soil. The sand cap would cover a zone of contaminated sed-
iment adjacent to the shoreline. The shoreline cap will cut off expo-
sure to contaminants and prevent further erosion of contaminated
material into Canoe Bay. Once this source is controlled, DEQ expects
that over time, clean sediments will cover existing contamination in
the bay, reducing concentrations to protective levels.

The proposed remedy is considered to be consistent with Oregon
rule and statute and, if properly implemented, protective of public
health and the environment.

HOW TO COMMENT: A DEQ staff report outlining the proposed
cleanup approach is available for public review at DEQ’s Northwest
Region Office in Portland and on line at http://www.deq.state.or.us/
Webdocs/Forms/Output/FPController.ashx ?Sourceld=3333&Sourcel
dType=11. To schedule an appointment to review files in DEQ’s
Northwest Region office, call 503-229-6729. Send comment to DEQ
Project Manager, Jennifer Sutter, DEQ Northwest Region, 2020 SW
4th Ave., Portland, OR 97201 or sutter.jennifer@deq.state.or.us by
Tuesday, July 31, 2012. For more information contact Jennifer at
503-229-6148.

THE NEXT STEP: DEQ will consider all public comments and the
Regional Administrator will make and publish the final decision after
consideration of these comments.

ACCESSIBILITY INFORMATION: DEQ is committed to
accommodating people with disabilities. Please notify DEQ of any
special physical or language accommodations or if you need infor-
mation in large print, Braille or another format. To make these
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arrangements, contact DEQ Communications & Outreach (503) 229-
5696 or toll free in Oregon at (800) 452-4011; fax to 503-229-6762;
or e-mail to deqinfo@deq.state.or.us

People with hearing impairments may call DEQ’s 711.

REQUEST FOR COMMENTS
PROPOSED NO FURTHER ACTION FOR
RK WILSON PROPERTY

COMMENTS DUE: 5 p.m., Monday, July 30,2012

PROJECT LOCATION: RK Wilson Property at 7360 Pointer Road
and 7385 SW Canyon Lane Beaverton, OR

PROPOSAL: The Department of Environmental Quality invites
public comment on DEQ’s proposal to issue a No Further Action
determination for the site, following completion of remedial
actions at the RK Wilson Property.

HIGHLIGHTS: The site is located in the West Slope neighborhood
in Beaverton, Oregon, between Highway 26 to the north and Canyon
Lane. Historical site use included rural residential and agricultural
land uses, and greenhouse operations on a portion of the site from
the 1930s until 2005. Mr. Ronnie Wilson purchased the site in 2005
and demolished the greenhouses.

The Tualatin Parks and Recreation District plans to purchase the
site for future development as a neighborhood park.

Site investigations in 2011 to 2012 resulted in the excavation and
disposal of 435 tons of soils that exceeded residential risk based con-
centrations for arsenic. All remaining surface soils are below pesti-
cide and metals relevant risk criteria for residential exposures.

Ground water sampled from an onsite well did not exceed risk stan-
dards but exceeded DEQ’s arsenic drinking water standard. However
it was below federal standards. Shallow ground water from an onsite
irrigation well is not currently used and future groundwater use is
unlikely due to city water availability.

Based on the review of site information, DEQ proposes that no
further action is required to address environmental contamination at
the site.

HOW TO COMMENT: To review project records, contact Dawn
Weinberger at 503 229-6729. Send written comments by 5 p.m., July
30, to Project Manager, Jim Orr at the Department of Environmen-
tal Quality, Northwest Region, 2020 SW 4th Avenue, Suite 400, Port-
land, OR 97201, orr.jim@deq.state.or.us. DEQ will hold a public
meeting to receive verbal comments if review is requested by 10 or
more people or by a group with a membership of 10 or more. The
DEQ staff report for this site is at: http://www.
deq.state.or.us/Webdocs/Forms/Output/FPController.ashx?Source
[d=5281&SourceldType=11

THE NEXT STEP: DEQ will consider all comments received and
make a final decision after consideration of these comments.
ACCESSIBILITY INFORMATION: DEQ is committed to
accommodating people with disabilities. Please notify DEQ of any
special physical or language accommodations or if you need infor-
mation in large print, Braille or another format. To make these
arrangements, contact DEQ Communications & Outreach 503 229-
5696 or toll free in Oregon at (800) 452-4011; fax to 503-229-6762;
or e-mail to deqinfo@deq.state.or.us.

People with hearing impairments may call 711.
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Notices of Proposed Rulemaking and Proposed
Rulemaking Hearings

The following agencies provide Notice of Proposed Rulemaking to
offer interested parties reasonable opportunity to submit data or
views on proposed rulemaking activity. To expedite the rulemaking
process, many agencies have set the time and place for a hearing in
the notice. Copies of rulemaking materials may be obtained from the
Rules Coordinator at the address and telephone number indicated.

Public comment may be submitted in writing directly to an agency
or presented orally or in writing at the rulemaking hearing. Written
comment must be submitted to an agency by 5:00 p.m. on the Last
Day for Comment listed, unless a different time of day is specified.
Written and oral comments may be submitted at the appropriate time
during a rulemaking hearing as outlined in OAR 137-001-0030.

Agencies providing notice request public comment on whether
other options should be considered for achieving a proposed admin-
istrative rule’s substantive goals while reducing negative economic
impact of the rule on business.

In Notices of Proposed Rulemaking where no hearing has been set,
a hearing may be requested by 10 or more people or by an associa-
tion with 10 or more members. Agencies must receive requests for
a public rulemaking hearing in writing within 21 days following
notice publication in the Oregon Bulletin or 28 days from the date
notice was sent to people on the agency mailing list, whichever is
later. If sufficient hearing requests are received by an agency, notice
of the date and time of the rulemaking hearing must be published in
the Oregon Bulletin at least 14 days before the hearing.

*Auxiliary aids for persons with disabilities are available upon
advance request. Contact the agency Rules Coordinator listed in the
notice information.

Board of Architect Examiners

Chapter 806
Rule Caption: Architect continuing education rules.
Date: Time: Location:
7-24-12 9:30 a.m. 205 Liberty St. NE

Salem, OR 97301
Hearing Officer: Patrick Bickler
Stat. Auth.: ORS 671.020 & 671.125
Stats. Implemented: ORS 671.020 & 671.125
Proposed Amendments: 806-010-0090, 806-010-0105, 806-010-
0145
Last Date for Comment: 7-24-12, 4:30 p.m.
Summary: Amends the rules regarding Continuing Education
requirements. OBAE has completed the transition from a one-year
license period to a two-year license period. These rules need to be
amended to reflect that new reality. In addition, Continuing Educa-
tion for architects has become a patchwork of confusing regulations
nationally. Continuing Education hours are called different things in
different jurisdictions. There are over 30 different reporting periods
and 6 different hourly requirements. Architects may even need to col-
lect 5 different types of hours needed to satisfy specific jurisdictional
registration renewals. In a monumental effort to bring some order to
this chaos, Registration Boards agreed last year at their annual meet-
ing to bring some uniformity to this system. Oregon is doing its part
by revising its rules for Continuing Education regarding name,
definition and tying the number of hours needed to our two-year
registration period. In this regard, the Board is proposing to allow
registrants to complete 24 Continuing Education Hours (CEH) over
the two-year registration period. The provision for carry-over would
be dropped. The Board believes 24 months is ample time for
registrants to take advantage of CEH opportunities as they present
themselves.
Rules Coordinator: Jim Denno
Address: Oregon Board of Architect Examiners, 205 Liberty St. NE,
Suite A, Salem, OR 97301
Telephone: (503) 763-0662
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Rule Caption: Inactive Status and Reinstatement.
Date: Time: Location:
7-24-12 9:30 a.m. 205 Liberty St. NE
Salem, OR 97301
Hearing Officer: Patrick Bickler
Stat. Auth.: ORS 671.020
Stats. Implemented: ORS 671.020
Proposed Amendments: 806-010-0060
Last Date for Comment: 7-24-12, 4:30 p.m.
Summary: Amends the rules regarding Inactive Status and
Reinstatement requirements. In light of the change from a one to a
two-year license renewal cycle, and the alignment of CEH rules with
other jurisdictions nationally, as well as for clarity of language, the
Board has proposed changes to the Rule regarding Inactive Status
and Reinstatement.
Rules Coordinator: Jim Denno
Address: Oregon Board of Architect Examiners, 205 Liberty St. NE,
Suite A, Salem, OR 97301
Telephone: (503) 763-0662
Board of Chiropractic Examiners
Chapter 811

Rule Caption: Rules of Procedure in Contested Cases Amendments
and date change.

Date: Time: Location:
9-20-12 2 p.m. 3218 Pringle Rd. SE
Salem, OR

Hearing Officer: Dave McTeague

Stat. Auth.: ORS 183

Stats. Implemented: ORS 684.155(b)

Proposed Amendments: 8§11-001-0010, 811-001-0005
Last Date for Comment: 9-20-12,2 p.m.

Summary: Proposed Amendments

811-001-0010, Rules of Procedure in Contested Cases

(1) In sexual boundary and unprofessional conduct cases; The
Board requires an answer to charges as part of notices to parties in
contested cases: In addition to the requirements of the Attorney Gen-
eral’s Model Rules of Procedure adopted by the Board, the notice to
parties in contested cases may include a statement that an answer to
the assertions or charges will be requested and, if so, the conse-
quences of failure to answer. A statement of the consequences of fail-
ure to answer may be satisfied by enclosing a copy of section (2) of
this rule with the notice.

(2) In sexual boundary and unprofessional conduct cases, hearing
requests and answers: Consequences of failure to answer:

(a) A hearing request, and answer when requested, shall be made
in writing to the Board by the party or his attorney and an answer
shall include the following:

(A) An admission or denial of each factual matter alleged in the
notice;

(B) A short and plain statement of each relevant affirmative
defense the party may have.

(b) Except for good cause:

(A) Factual matters alleged in the notice and not denied in the
answer shall be presumed admitted;

(B) Failure to raise a particular defense in the answer will be con-
sidered a waiver of such defense;

(C) New matters alleged in the answer (affirmative defenses) shall
be presumed to be denied by the agency; and

(D) Evidence shall not be taken on any issue not raised in the
notice and answer.

811-001-0005

Pursuant to the provisions of ORS 183.341, the Board of Chiro-
practic Examiners adopts the Attorney General’s Uniform and Model
Rules of Procedure under the Administrative Procedures Act
January 2012, these rules shall be controlling except as otherwise
required by stature or rule.

Rules Coordinator: Donna Dougan
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Address: Board of Chiropractic Examiners, 3218 Pringle Rd. SE,
Suite 150, Salem, OR 97302
Telephone: (503) 373-1579
Board of Licensed Professional Counselors and Therapists
Chapter 833

Rule Caption: Client records, PDS, online grad programs, Code of
Ethics changes.

Date: Time: Location:
7-25-12 1:30 p.m. 3218 Pringle Rd. SE
Salem, OR

Hearing Officer: Becky Eklund
Stat. Auth.: ORS 675.705 — 675.835
Stats. Implemented: ORS 675.705-675.835
Proposed Adoptions: 833-100-0081
Proposed Amendments: 833-010-0001, 833-020-0201, 833-060-
0012, 833-080-0011, 833-100-0041
Last Date for Comment: 7-25-12, Close of Business
Summary: Adds definition of “client record.” Adds record retention.
Adds custodian of record reporting. Adds requirements to profes-
sional disclosure statements. Removes national accreditation
requirement for online graduate programs. Amends Code of Ethics
to include supervisee relationships in Integrity section.
Rules Coordinator: Becky Eklund
Address: Board of Licensed Professional Counselors and Therapists,
3218 Pringle Rd. SE, Suite 250, Salem, OR 97302
Telephone: (503) 378-5499, ext. 3

Bureau of Labor and Industries

Chapter 839

Rule Caption: Proposed rules clarifying that complaints under
ORS 654.062 need not be notarized written complaints.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 659A.805
Other Auth.: ORS 659A.820
Stats. Implemented: ORS 654.062 & 659A
Proposed Adoptions: 839-003-0031
Proposed Amendments: 839-003-0005, 839-003-0025, 839-003-
0200
Last Date for Comment: 8-6-12, Close of Business
Summary: Current rules require that complaints filed under the
Oregon Safe Employment Act (OSEA) contain a notarized signature
of the complainant. BOLI investigates retaliation complaints filed
under OSEA statutes pursuant to a contract with Oregon OSHA. The
federal Occupational Safety and Health Administration (OSHA) and
Oregon OSHA have expressed concern that requirement of a nota-
rized complaint is a barrier to timely investigations of matters involv-
ing threats to workplace safety, and have asked that BOLI clarify that
complaints filed under ORS 654.062 do not require notarization.

The proposed rules are required in order for the complaint require-
ments to be consistent with OSEA statutes.
Rules Coordinator: Marcia Ohlemiller
Address: Bureau of Labor and Industries, 800 NE Oregon St., Ste.
1045, Portland, OR 97232
Telephone: (971) 673-0784

Department of Administrative Services
Chapter 125

Rule Caption: Adopt rule to implement the Sale of Compressed

Natural Gas (CNG) to Private Entities.

Date: Time: Location:

7-16-12 10 a.m. 1225 Ferry St. SE,
Mt. Mazama Conference Rm.
Salem, OR

Hearing Officer: Brian King

Stat. Auth.: ORS 283.310

Other Auth.: 2010 OL Ch. 30, Sec. 13 & 14

Stats. Implemented: ORS 283.327

Proposed Adoptions: 125-156-0000
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Last Date for Comment: 7-16-12, 5 p.m.
Summary: OAR 125-156-0000 authorizes the Department of
Administrative Services fueling site(s) to sell compressed natural gas
to non-state entities. The rate charged for this fuel is to include the
cost of the fuel and associated administrative costs to provide this
service. The service may continue until an alternative source of CNG
is established within fifty miles of the DAS fueling site(s).
Rules Coordinator: Janet Chambers
Address: Department of Administrative Services, 155 Cottage St.
NE, Salem, OR 97301
Telephone: (503) 378-5522

Department of Agriculture

Chapter 603

Rule Caption: Adoption of Federal Regulations for Food
Standards, Processing, Manufacture, and Distribution.
Date: Time: Location:
7-25-12 10:30 a.m. OR Dept. of Agriculture Bldg.

635 Capitol St. NE

Salem, OR 97301
Hearing Officer: Eric Edmunds
Stat. Auth.: ORS 561.190, 561.605, 561.620 & 616.230
Stats. Implemented: ORS 561.605-561.620 & 616.230
Proposed Amendments: 603-025-0190
Last Date for Comment: 7-27-12, 5 p.m.
Summary: The proposed amendment updates the Code of Federal
Regulations reference from the 2005 version to the 2010 version.
This will ensure that Oregon maintains regulations that are current
and consistent with neighboring states. The parts of the C.F.R. that
were previously adopted are substantially similar in the 2010 version.
The amendment will adopt 21 C.F.R. parts 7 (Enforcement Policy),
111 (Current Good Manufacturing Practice in Manufacturing, Pack-
aging, Labeling, or Holding Operations for Dietary Supplements),
and 118 (Production, Storage, and Transportation of Shell Eggs) for
the first time in Oregon.

21 C.F.R.7 governs the practices and procedures of enforcement
actions initiated by the government and provides guidance for man-
ufacturers and distributors to follow with respect to their voluntary
removal or correction of marketed violative products (recall of prod-
ucts). 21 C.FR. 111 regulates the manufacture, packaging, labeling,
and storage of dietary supplements. The regulations in 21 C.F.R. 111
do not apply to a person that is holding dietary supplements at a retail
establishment for the sole purpose of direct retail sale to individual
customers. 21 C.FR. 118 regulates the production, storage, and trans-
portation of shell eggs, and applies to: (1) shell egg producers with
3,000 or more laying hens at a particular farm that do not sell all of
their eggs directly to consumers and produces shell eggs for the table
market, and (2) persons that transport or hold shell eggs for shell egg
processing or egg products facilities from farms with 3,000 or more
laying hens.

Rules Coordinator: Sue Gooch
Address: Department of Agriculture, 635 Capitol St. NE, Salem, OR
97301
Telephone: (503) 986-4583
Department of Consumer and Business Services,
Building Codes Division
Chapter 918

Rule Caption: Changes licensee continuing education require-
ments, course content requirements, and provider approval process.
Date: Time: Location:
7-17-12 9:30 a.m. 1535 Edgewater St. NW
Salem, OR 97304
Hearing Officer: Jim Hanson
Stat. Auth.: ORS 455.030,455.110 & 455.117
Stats. Implemented: ORS 455.117
Proposed Adoptions: Rules in 918-035
Proposed Amendments: Rules in 918-030, 918-035
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Last Date for Comment: 7-20-12, 5 p.m.

Summary: These rules amend the code-change course requirements
for persons licensed by the Building Codes Division by specifying
the number of code-change hours for certain licenses, changing code-
change course content requirements, adding separate Oregon rule and
law requirements, and streamlining the course approval processes.
These rules remove the requirement that all code-change courses
contain materials about the Oregon amendments. These rules also
clarify that licensees who take code-change courses covering only
a national model code must still obtain continuing education on the
Oregon amendments to that code. Finally, these rules allow for a
streamlined course approval process for certain national code-
development organizations.

Rules Coordinator: Stephanie Snyder

Address: Department of Consumer and Business Services, Building
Codes Division, PO Box 14470, Salem, OR 97309

Telephone: (503) 373-7438

ecccccccoe

Rule Caption: Amendment of radon gas mitigation standards in the
2010 OSSC.
Date:
7-17-12

Location:
1535 Edgewater St. NW
Salem, OR 97304
Hearing Officer: Richard Rogers
Stat. Auth.: ORS 455.020, 455.030, 455.110, 455.112 & 455.365
Stats. Implemented: ORS 455.365
Proposed Amendments: 918-460-0015
Last Date for Comment: 7-20-12, 5 p.m.
Summary: Senate Bill 1025 (2010) required the Building Codes
Structures Board to adopt radon mitigation standards by January 1,
2011 for new public buildings in seven identified counties: Baker,
Clackamas, Hood River, Multnomah, Polk, Washington and Yambhill.
The Board adopted commercial standards by the January 1, 2011
date mandated in the legislation, but acknowledged that the radon
mitigation standards in the Oregon Structural Specialty Code (OSSC)
for new public buildings still needed further work to provide the clar-
ity and detail about the components of radon mitigation systems for
new public buildings constructed to the OSSC. These proposed rule
amendments provide that needed clarity and specificity about the
radon mitigation systems to be constructed for new public buildings.
The proposed amendments will be effective April 1,2013.
Rules Coordinator: Stephanie Snyder
Address: Department of Consumer and Business Services, Building
Codes Division, PO Box 14470, Salem, OR 97309
Telephone: (503) 373-7438

Department of Consumer and Business Services,

Insurance Division

Chapter 836

Rule Caption: Notice Requirements for Carriers Regarding State
Continuation of Health Insurance.
Date: Time: Location:
8-9-12 9 a.m. Labor & Industries Bldg.

350 Winter St. NE, CR-F

Salem, Oregon
Hearing Officer: Jeannette Holman
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244,743.610
Stats. Implemented: ORS 743.610
Proposed Adoptions: 836-053-0863
Proposed Repeals: 836-053-0862
Last Date for Comment: 8-17-12,5 p.m.
Summary: This rulemaking repeals a rule adopted by the Depart-
ment of Consumer and Business Services (DCBS) related to state
continuation of health insurance. The repealed rule includes mate-
rial required by federal law (American Recovery and Reinvestment
Act) that is no longer applicable to state continuation. The new rule
establishes the requirements for carriers as reflected in 2012 legis-
lation, chapter 24, Oregon Laws 2012 (Enrolled Senate Bill 1504)

Time:
10 a.m.
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that amended ORS 743.610 to eliminate the notice requirement for
state continuation benefits specifically prescribed in statute and gave
DCBS the authority to prescribe requirements by rule. Oregon’s state
continuation program is crucial in allowing many newly unemployed
Oregonians to maintain their health insurance coverage at a time
when they need it the most and it is important that notice of the avail-
ability of the program be provided in a timely and understandable
manner. A standardized notice as proposed in these rules will facil-
itate this goal.

The notice proposed under this rule includes a provision that
defines when the notice requirement is triggered and provision to
allow an insurer to send a single notice to multiple persons who are
eligible for state continuation as a result of a single qualifying event.
Rules Coordinator: Sue Munson
Address: Department of Consumer and Business Services, Insurance
Division, 350 Winter St. NE, Rm. 440, Salem, OR 97301
Telephone: (503) 947-7272

Rule Caption: Adoption of Revisions to Workers’ Compensation
Statistical Plan.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244 & 737.225

Stats. Implemented: ORS 737.225

Proposed Amendments: 836-042-0040, 836-042-0043, 836-042-
0045

Last Date for Comment: 7-31-12,5 p.m.

Summary: The agency proposes to amend these rules to adopt the
revised 2008 edition of the Statistical Plan for Workers’ Compensa-
tion and Employers Liability Insurance (Statistical Plan), as filed by
the National Council on Compensation Insurance (NCCI). ORS
737.225(4) requires the director to prescribe the statistical plan to be
used by workers’ compensation insurers to report statistics. The
revised Statistical Plan:

- Changes the methods for reporting non-compensable and fraud-
ulent claims;

- Changes the definition of permanent partial injuries to exclude
references to temporary injury for accidents occurring on or after Jan-
uary 1,2013;

- Eliminates the hard copy reporting option for reports received on
or after January 1, 2013;

- Eliminates the option to group medical-only claims for report-
ing purposes for policies effective on or after January 1, 2013;

- Adds a new Cause of Injury Code (Gunshot — Code 93); and

- Clarifies existing rules.

Rules Coordinator: Sue Munson
Address: Department of Consumer and Business Services, Insurance
Division, 350 Winter St. NE, Rm. 440, Salem, OR 97301
Telephone: (503) 947-7272
Department of Consumer and Business Services,
Oregon Occupational Safety and Health Division
Chapter 437

Rule Caption: Propose to adopt federal correction/technical
amendment to Rigging Equipment for Material Handling in
construction.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 654.025(2) & 656.726(4)

Stats. Implemented: ORS 654.001-654.295

Proposed Amendments: 437-003-0001

Last Date for Comment: 7-31-12, Close of Business

Summary: This rulemaking is to keep Oregon OSHA in harmony
with recent changes to Federal OSHA standards.

Federal OSHA corrected the sling standard for construction titled
Rigging Equipment for Material Handling, by removing the rated
capacity tables and making minor, nonsubstantive revisions to the
regulatory text. These changes were published in the April 18,2012
Federal Register.

Oregon OSHA proposes to make these corrections and amend-
ments to 1926.251 in Division 3/H.

Please visit our website www.orosha.org
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Click ‘Rules/Compliance’ in the left vertical column and view our
proposed, adopted, and final rules.
Rules Coordinator: Sue C. Joye
Address: Department of Consumer and Business Services, Oregon
Occupational Safety and Health Division, 350 Winter St. NE , Salem,
OR 97301-3882
Telephone: (503) 947-7449

ecccccccoe

Department of Fish and Wildlife
Chapter 635

Rule Caption: Regulations Governing Marine Reserves and
Protected Areas in Oregon’s Territorial Sea.
Date: Time: Location:
8-3-12 8 a.m. 3406 Cherry Ave. NE

Salem, OR 97303
Hearing Officer: Oregon Fish & Wildlife Commission
Stat. Auth.: ORS 496.138, 496.146, 506.036, 506.109, 506.119 &
506.129
Other Auth.: Senate Bill 1510 (2012)
Stats. Implemented: ORS 196.540-196.555, 496.162 & 506.129
Proposed Adoptions: Rules in 635-012
Proposed Amendments: Rules in 635-012
Proposed Repeals: Rules in 635-012
Proposed Renumberings: Rules in 635-012
Proposed Ren. & Amends: Rules in 635-012
Last Date for Comment: 8-3-12, 8 a.m
Summary: Adoptions and amendments to Oregon’s Administrative
Rules relative to Oregon’s Marine Reserves extensively modify and
expand regulations for the marine reserves and marine protected
areas to meet mandates of Senate Bill 1510 (2012). These rules allow
establishment, study, monitoring, evaluation, and enforcement of: (1)
A marine reserve and two marine protected areas at Cape Falcon; (2)
A marine reserve and three marine protected areas at Cascade Head;
and (3) A marine reserve, two marine protected areas and a seabird
protection area at Cape Perpetua.
Rules Coordinator: Therese Kucera
Address: Department of Fish and Wildlife, 3406 Cherry Ave. NE,
Salem, OR 97303
Telephone: (503) 947-6033

ecccccccoe

Rule Caption: Allowable Sales of Steelhead and Walleye by
Columbia River Treaty Tribes.
Date: Time:
8-3-12 8 a.m.

Location:

3406 Cherry Ave. NE

Salem, OR 97303

Hearing Officer: Oregon Fish & Wildlife Commission

Stat. Auth.: ORS 506.119, 508.530 & 509.031

Stats. Implemented: ORS 498.022, 506.129, 508.535 & 508.550
Proposed Adoptions: Rules in 635-041

Proposed Amendments: Rules in 635-041

Proposed Repeals: Rules in 635-041

Last Date for Comment: 8-3-12, 8 a.m.

Summary: Rule modifications allow licensed wholesale fish deal-
ers, canners or buyers to purchase steelhead trout and walleye from
Columbia River Treaty Tribal fishers and then sell or distribute the
steelhead trout and walleye, assuming the fish were lawfully taken
during open commercial fishing seasons. Housekeeping and techni-
cal corrections to the regulations may occur to ensure rule consis-
tency.

Rules Coordinator: Therese Kucera

Address: Department of Fish and Wildlife, 3406 Cherry Ave. NE,
Salem, OR 97303

Telephone: (503) 947-6033

ecccccccoe

Rule Caption: Amendments regarding harvest of game birds,
season dates, open areas and bag limits.
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Date:
8-3-12

Location:
3406 Cherry Ave. NE
Salem, OR 97303
Hearing Officer: Oregon Fish and Wildlife Commission
Stat. Auth.: ORS 496.012,496.138, 486.146, 496,162 & 498.002
Stats. Implemented: ORS 496.012, 496.138, 486.146, 496,162 &
498.002
Proposed Amendments: Rules in 635-008, 635-010, 635-044,
635-045, 635-051, 635-052, 635-053, 635-054, 635-056, 635-060,
635-200
Last Date for Comment: 8-2-12, Close of Business
Summary: Amend rules regarding the harvest of game birds includ-
ing 2012-2013 season dates, open areas, regulations and bag limits.
Amend rules regarding unprotected wildlife.
Rules Coordinator: Therese Kucera
Address: Department of Fish and Wildlife, 3406 Cherry Ave. NE,
Salem, OR 97303
Telephone: (503) 947-6033
Department of Human Services,

Administrative Services Division and Director’s Office

Chapter 407

Time:
8 a.m.

Rule Caption: Update of Criminal Records Check Rules for
Department of Human Services Providers.
Date: Time: Location:
7-19-12 3:30 p.m. Human Services Bldg., Rm. 352
500 Summer St. NE
Salem, OR 97301
Hearing Officer: Jennifer Bittel
Stat. Auth.: ORS 181.534, 181.537, 183.459, 409.025, 409.027,
409.050, 410.020, 411.060, 411.122, 418.016, 418.640, 441.055,
443.730,443.735 & 678.153
Stats. Implemented: ORS 181.534, 181.537, 183.459, 409.010,
409.025, 409.027,411.060,411.122, 443.004 & 2012 OL Ch. 70
Proposed Adoptions: 407-007-0277
Proposed Amendments: 407-007-0200, 407-007-0210, 407-007-
0220,407-007-0230,407-007-0240, 407-007-0250,407-007-0275,
407-007-0280, 407-007-0290, 407-007-0300, 407-007-0315, 407-
007-0320, 407-007-0325, 407-007-0330, 407-007-0335, 407-007-
0340, 407-007-0350, 407-007-0370
Proposed Repeals: 407-007-0200(T), 407-007-0210(T), 407-007-
0215(T), 407-007-0220(T), 407-007-0230(T), 407-007-0240(T),
407-007-0250(T), 407-007-0275(T), 407-007-0277(T), 407-007-
0280(T), 407-007-0290(T), 407-007-0300(T), 407-007-0315(T),
407-007-0320(T), 407-007-0325(T), 407-007-0330(T), 407-007-
0335(T), 407-007-0340(T), 407-007-0350(T), 407-007-0370(T)
Last Date for Comment: 7-25-12, 5 p.m.
Summary: The Background Check Unit (BCU) implemented the
use of the Criminal Records Information Management System
(CRIMS); the proposed rule changes align with CRIMS processing.
To protect the security of the background check process, qualified
entity designees (QEDs) and qualified entity initiators (QEIs) are
now required for qualified entities for background check submission
and processing. BCU makes all preliminary fitness determinations
requiring a weighing test and all final fitness determinations. The def-
initions for the Department of Human Services’ (Department) crim-
inal records check rules for providers are being amended to correctly
align with ORS 443.004 and changes made in other Department pro-
gram administrative rules. On March 27, 2012, HB 4084 from the
2012 Legislative session was signed into law. The amendment of
OAR 407-007-0275 and the creation of OAR 407-007-0277
address changes to ORS 443.004 from HB 4084.

Proposed rules are available on the Background Check Unit
website: http://www.oregon.gov/DHS/chc/index.shtml, and the
Department of Human Services website: http://www.oregon.gov/
DHS/admin/dwssrules/index.shtml. For hardcopy requests, call:
(503) 947-5250.

Rules Coordinator: Jennifer Bittel
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Address: Department of Human Services, Administrative Services
Division and Director’s Office, 500 Summer St. NE, Salem, OR
97301

Telephone: (503) 947-5250

Department of Human Services,
Seniors and People with Disabilities Division

Chapter 411
Rule Caption: Medicaid Nursing Facilities.
Date: Time: Location:
7-17-12 3:30 p.m. 500 Summer St. NE, Rm. 160

Salem, OR 97301
Hearing Officer: Staff
Stat. Auth.: ORS 410.070 & 414.065
Other Auth.: Senate Bill 939 (2011) (2011 OL Ch. 630)
Stats. Implemented: ORS 410.070 & 414.065
Proposed Amendments: 411-070-0442, 411-070-0452
Last Date for Comment: 7-23-12, 5 p.m.
Summary: The Department of Human Services (Department) is pro-
posing to amend OAR 411-070-0442 and 411-070-0452 to extend
Medicaid-certified long term care facility reimbursement rates at
their current level as of June 30, 2011 to the end of the 2011-2013
biennium in accordance with the legislatively adopted budget and
Senate Bill 939 (2011).
Rules Coordinator: Christina Hartman
Address: Department of Human Services, Seniors and People with
Disabilities Division, 500 Summer St. NE, E-10, Salem, OR 97301
Telephone: (503) 945-6398

ecccccccoe

Rule Caption: Residential Care and Assisted Living Facilities.

Date: Time: Location:

7-17-12 2:30 p.m. 500 Summer St. NE, Rm. 160
Salem, OR 97301

Hearing Officer: Staff

Stat. Auth.: ORS 410.070 & 443.450

Other Auth.: Senate Bill 557 (2011)

Stats. Implemented: ORS 443.004, 443.400—443.455 & 443.991

Proposed Amendments: 411-054-0005, 411-054-0010, 411-054-

0012,411-054-0013,411-054-0016,411-054-0019,411-054-0025,

411-054-0027, 411-054-0034, 411-054-0085, 411-054-0093, 411-

054-0200, 411-054-0300

Last Date for Comment: 7-23-12, 5 p.m.

Summary: The Department of Human Services (Department) is

updating the residential care (RCF) and assisted living facility (ALF)

rules in OAR chapter 411, division 054 to:

e Update the application and license renewal requirements to
comply with direction from the Center for Medicare and Medicaid
Services (CMS) regarding ownership;

* Comply with Senate Bill 557 regarding the sexual assault task
force by requiring facilities to implement a policy for the referral of
residents who may be victims of acute sexual assault to the nearest
trained sexual assault examiner;

» Update the facility building requirements as of August 1,2012
to comply with current building codes and regulations and the Inter-
national Code Council, American National Standards Institute
(ICC/ANSI), Accessible and Usable Building and Facilities,
All17.1;

e Clarify the rules relating to remodeling, renovating, and resident
displacement due to remodeling;

* Remove the requirement that providers submit an Emergency
Preparedness Plan Summary to the Department annually and upon
change in ownership to reduce the workload impact for providers and
the Department which is prudent during these times of fiscal reduc-
tions;

* Comply with the Oregon Indoor Clean Air Act, ORS 443.835 to
433.875, by clarifying the evaluation of smoking addressed in
service plans; and
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* Clarify the rules relating to voluntary closures, ownership issues,
required postings, use of resident funds, and the evaluation of alco-
hol and drug use addressed in service plans.

Rules Coordinator: Christina Hartman

Address: Department of Human Services, Seniors and People with
Disabilities Division, 500 Summer St. NE, E-10, Salem, OR 97301
Telephone: (503) 945-6398

Department of Transportation,
Driver and Motor Vehicle Services Division
Chapter 735

Rule Caption: Registration Card; Information Required by the
Department.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 184.616, 184.619, 802.010 & 803.500

Stats. Implemented: ORS 803.500

Proposed Adoptions: 735-030-0105

Last Date for Comment: 7-23-12, Close of Business

Summary: ORS 803.500 specifies the information required to be
shown on an Oregon registration card. That information includes the
name of the registered owner, vehicle make, year model, vehicle
identification number, vehicle mileage, and the word “totaled” if the
vehicle has been reported totaled to the department. In addition,
DMV is granted authority to specify any other information required
to be shown on the registration card.

As authorized under ORS 803.500(7), DMV proposes to adopt
OAR 735-030-0105 to specify information required by DMV to be
shown on an Oregon vehicle registration card. The proposed rule also
authorizes the registered owner to black out or otherwise obscure the
residence address, business address, vehicle address, and mailing
address once the registration card has been received.

Text of proposed and recently adopted ODOT rules can be found
at web site http://www.oregon.gov/ODOT/CS/RULES/

Rules Coordinator: Lauri Kunze

Address: Department of Transportation, Driver and Motor Vehicle
Services Division, 3930 Fairview Industrial Dr. SE, Salem, OR
97302

Telephone: (503) 986-3171

Department of Transportation,
Motor Carrier Transportation Division
Chapter 740

Rule Caption: Motor carrier accounts.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 184.616, 184.619, 823.011 & 825.470

Stats. Implemented: ORS 823.027, 823.029, 825.470 & 825.506
Proposed Adoptions: 740-035-0005, 740-035-0015, 740-055-
0025

Proposed Amendments: 740-040-0070

Last Date for Comment: 7-23-12, Close of Business

Summary: These rules describe the application process for certifi-
cates, permits, and licenses for a motor carrier to obtain authority to
operate in Oregon. In addition, these rules describe the records,
reports, fees and taxes that relate to a motor carrier’s account and the
applicable bond and insurance requirements. The proposed new rules
define the meaning of a temporary motor carrier account, an
established motor carrier account and a motor carrier’s legal entity.
A temporary motor carrier account is necessary to temporarily grant
authority to operate a commercial motor vehicle in Oregon. Because
fees, registration and taxes are paid at the time a temporary pass is
purchased, a motor carrier operating on a temporary account is not
required to complete an Application for Motor Carrier Account Form
9075 which is necessary to determine the motor carrier’s legal enti-
ty. The proposed new rule limits the number of temporary passes a
motor carrier can purchase in a twelve month period before a motor
carrier is required to provide the Department with sufficient infor-
mation to identify the motor carrier’s legal entity. The proposed new
rules are needed to ensure a motor carrier that operates on a regular
basis in Oregon establishes an account, provides the Department with
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their legal entity, and provides deposits to secure payment of fees.
The proposed rule amendment establishes cash deposit and securi-
ty bond requirements for motor carriers that operate on temporary
accounts. A temporary pass fee is $9 and is charged every time a pass
is issued.

Text of proposed and recently adopted ODOT rules can be found
at web site http://www.oregon.gov/ODOT/CS/RULES/
Rules Coordinator: Lauri Kunze
Address: Department of Transportation, Motor Carrier Transporta-
tion Division, 3930 Fairview Industrial Dr. SE, Salem, OR 97302
Telephone: (503) 986-3171

ecccccccos

Rule Caption: Registration refunds and transfer of fees.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 184.616, 184.619 & 823.011
Stats. Implemented: ORS 803.590, 826.009, 826.011, 826.027 &
826.039
Proposed Amendments: 740-200-0030
Last Date for Comment: 7-23-12, Close of Business
Summary: These rules describe registration and the methods the
Department will reimburse unused apportioned and non-apportioned
registration fees. The proposed rule amendments provide definitions
that explain when the Department will allow unused registration fees
to be refunded or transferred to a like vehicle in the registrant’s fleet.
In addition, the proposed rule amendments specify the conditions for
granting credit or not. The rules are needed to clarify the scope
and intent of Division 200 rules regarding unused registration fee
disbursement and reflect current practices.

Text of proposed and recently adopted ODOT rules can be found
at web site http://www.oregon.gov/ODOT/CS/RULES/
Rules Coordinator: Lauri Kunze
Address: Department of Transportation, Motor Carrier Transporta-
tion Division, 3930 Fairview Industrial Dr. SE, Salem, OR 97302
Telephone: (503) 986-3171

Landscape Contractors Board

Chapter 808
Rule Caption: Amends 2011-2013 adopted budget.
Date: Time: Location:
7-23-12 9 am. 2111 Front St. NE, Suite 2-101

Salem, OR 97301
Hearing Officer: Shelley Sneed
Stat. Auth.: ORS 670.310 & 671.760
Stats. Implemented: ORS 182.462
Proposed Amendments: 808-001-0008
Last Date for Comment: 7-23-12, 5 p.m.
Summary: OAR 808-001-0008 is being amended to amend the
2011-2013 budget.
Rules Coordinator: Kim Gladwill-Rowley
Address: Landscape Contractors Board, 2111 Front Street NE, Suite
2-101, Salem, OR 97301
Telephone: (503) 967-6291, ext. 223
Oregon Health Authority
Chapter 943

Rule Caption: Public Contracting and Procurement Rules for the
Oregon Health Authority.

Date: Time: Location:
7-19-12 1 p.m. State Library Bldg., Rm. 102
Salem, OR

Hearing Officer: Jennifer Bittel

Stat. Auth.: ORS 179.040,279A.065,279A.070,413.014,413.033
& 413.042

Stats. Implemented: ORS 179.040, 279A.025, 279A.050,
279A.065,279A.070,279A.075, 279A.140, 279A.180, 279B.050,
279B.085,413.033,413.042 & 670.600

Proposed Adoptions: 943-060-0000 — 943-060-0120

Proposed Repeals: 943-060-0050(T)

Last Date for Comment: 7-25-12, 5 p.m.
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Summary: The Oregon Health Authority (Authority) developed
these rules to implement the authority granted to the Authority under
ORS 179.040 to enter into contracts for the planning, erection, com-
pletion, and furnishing of new buildings and additions to its institu-
tions, as well as to establish contracts for goods and services neces-
sary for the successful management and maintenance of the
institutions within the Authority’s jurisdiction. ORS 279A.050 gives
the Authority independent power to procure goods, services, personal
services, construction materials, equipment, and supplies for the
Authority’s institutions. In addition, ORS 279A.050 authorizes the
Authority to make procurements in connection with the construction,
demolition, exchange, maintenance, operation, and equipping of
housing for persons with chronic mental illness. ORS 413.033 grants
the Authority’s Director the ability to exercise all powers necessary
to effectively and expeditiously carry out the procurement functions
vested in OHA by ORS 179.040 and 279A.050.

Rules Coordinator: Evonne Alderete

Address: Oregon Health Authority, 500 Summer St. NE, Salem, OR
97301

Telephone: (503) 932-9663

ecccccccos

Rule Caption: Criminal and Abuse Checks and Appeal Rights for
Authority Employees, Volunteers, Contractors and Providers.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 181.534, 181.537 & 413.042

Other Auth.: HB 2009, enacted in 2009 OL Ch. 595, Sec. 19-25
Stats. Implemented: ORS 181.534, 181.537 & 183.341
Proposed Adoptions: 943-007-0001, 943-007-0335, 943-007-
0501

Proposed Repeals: 943-007-0001(T), 943-007-0335(T), 943-007-
0501(T)

Last Date for Comment: 7-26-12, 5 p.m.

Summary: HB 2009 (2009) created the Oregon Health Authority
and transferred to the Authority the Department of Human Services’
(Department) Divisions with respect to health and health care. HB
2100 allows the Authority to use abuse investigation reports when
conducting background checks on individuals who are employed,
seek employment, volunteer, or seek to be a volunteer, provide care,
or seek to be a care provider on behalf of the Authority for clients
of the Authority.

The Authority needs to adopt and incorporate by reference the
Department’s rules in chapter 407-007-0000 to 0075; 407-007-0090
to 0100; 407-0200 to 0275; 407-007-0340 to 0370; and 407-007-
0400 to 0460 for matters that involve Authority employees, volun-
teers, contractors or providers subject to criminal and abuse checks
before the individual may work, volunteer be employed, hold the
position, or provide services.

The Authority needs to adopt OAR 943-007-0001 which allows
the Authority to use reports of abuse and neglect when conducting
background checks on subject individuals.

The Authority needs to adopt OAR 943-007-0501 which explains
how an individual may contest a fitness determination and OAR 943-
007-0335, which explains how providers may contest a Notice of
Intent to Deny.

Rules Coordinator: Evonne Alderete
Address: Oregon Health Authority, 500 Summer St. NE, Salem, OR
97301
Telephone: (503) 932-9663
Oregon Health Authority,
Division of Medical Assistance Programs
Chapter 410

Rule Caption: Rural Medical Practitioners Insurance Subsidy

Program Practitioner Participation Criteria and Carrier

Requirements for Subsidy Payments.

Date: Time: Location:

7-17-12 10:30 a.m. 500 Summer St. NE, Rm. 137C
Salem, OR 97301

Hearing Officer: Cheryl Peters
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Stat. Auth.: ORS 413.042

Stats. Implemented: ORS 676.550, 676.552, 676.554 & 676.556
Proposed Adoptions: 410-500-0000, 410-500-0010, 410-500-
0020, 410-500-0030, 410-500-0040, 410-500-0050, 410-500-0060.
Last Date for Comment: 7-19-12, 5 p.m.

Summary: The Rural Medical Practitioners Insurance Subsidy Pro-
gram administrative rules govern Division payments to medical pro-
fessional liability insurance carriers from the Rural Medical Liabil-
ity Subsidy Fund. Payments from the fund will subsidize the cost of
premiums charged by carriers to qualified practitioners for policies
issued, in force, or renewed on or after January 1,2012. The Author-
ity needs to adopt these rules to identify medical practitioner crite-
ria for participation in the program, as well as insurance carrier
requirements for submitting requests for subsidy payments

Rules Coordinator: Cheryl Peters

Address: Oregon Health Authority, Division of Medical Assistance
Programs, 500 Summer St. NE, Salem, OR 97301

Telephone: (503) 945-6527

ecccccccoe

Rule Caption: Adopts Attorney General’s model rules with the
exception to the postmark date.
Date: Time:

7-15-12 10:30 a.m.

Location:

500 Summer St. NE, Rm. 137C
Salem, OR 97301

Hearing Officer: Cheryl Peters

Stat. Auth.: ORS 183.341 & 413.042

Stats. Implemented: ORS 183.411-183.470,414.025 & 414.065
Proposed Amendments: 410-141-0264

Last Date for Comment: 7-19-12, 5 p.m.

Summary: The Division needs to amend this rule effective to Feb-
ruary 1, 2012, This rule needs to be amended because basing time-
liness of a hearing request on the date of a postmark, as set forth in
the Department of Justice model rules OAR 137 division 003 would
create operational conflicts due to the number of client documents
received, the number of staff opening mail, and the expense of chang-
ing procedures about saving envelopes. This amendment avoids these
conflicts by continuing current contested case procedures under
which the timeliness of a hearing request is based on the date the
Division receives it, not the date of the postmark.

Rules Coordinator: Cheryl Peters

Address: Oregon Health Authority, Division of Medical Assistance
Programs, 500 Summer St. NE, Salem, OR 97301

Telephone: (503) 945-6527

ecccccccos

Rule Caption: Implementation of Coordinated Care Organizations
to Provide Care for Medical Assistance Recipients.
Date: Time: Location:
7-17-12 10:30 a.m. 500 Summer St. NE
Human Services Bldg., Rm. 137C
Salem, OR 97301
Hearing Officer: Cheryl Peters
Stat. Auth.: ORS 410.032,414.615,414.625,414.635 & 414.651
Other Auth.: ORS 2011 HB 3650, 2011 OL Ch. 602 & 2012 SB
1580
Stats. Implemented: ORS 414.610-414.685
Proposed Adoptions: 410-141-3000, 410-141-3010, 410-141-
3015,410-141-3020,410-141-3030,410-141-3050,410-141-3060,
410-141-3070, 410-141-3080, 410-141-3120, 410-141-3140, 410-
141-3145, 410-141-3160, 410-141-3170, 410-141-3180, 410-141-
3200,410-141-3220,410-141-3260,410-141-3261,410-141-3262,
410-141-3263, 410-141-3264, 410-141-3268, 410-141-3270, 410-
141-3280, 410-141-3300, 410-141-3320, 410-141-3340, 410-141-
3345,410-141-3350,410-141-3355,410-141-3360,410-141-3365,
410-141-3370, 410-141-3375, 410-141-3380, 410-141-3385, 410-
141-3390, 410-141-3395, 410-141-3420
Proposed Amendments: 410-141-0000
Proposed Repeals: 410-141-3265, 410-141-3266
Last Date for Comment: 7-22-12, 5 p.m.
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Summary: These rules establish the requirements for Coordinated
Care Organizations (CCO) under Oregon’s Integrated and Coordi-
nated Health Care Delivery System. CCOs will improve health,
increase the quality, reliability, availability and continuity of care, as
well as to reduce costs. CCOs will provide medical assistance recip-
ients with health care services that are supported by alternative pay-
ment methodologies that focus on prevention and that use patient-
centered primary care homes, evidence-based practices and health
information technology to improve health and reduce health dispar-
ities. The Authority needs to adopt these rules to establish transitional
processes, the application process, application criteria, financial sol-
vency requirements and the client grievance system.
Rules Coordinator: Cheryl Peters
Address: Oregon Health Authority, Division of Medical Assistance
Programs, 500 Summer St. NE, Salem, OR 97301
Telephone: (503) 945-6527

Oregon Health Licensing Agency

Chapter 331

Rule Caption: Adopt qualifications and requirements for
polysomnographic technologist licensure including pathways to
licensure, supervision protocols/requirements.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 676.615, 676.607, 688.819, 688.830

Stats. Implemented: ORS 676.607, 676.615, 688.800, 688.815,
688.819, 688.830

Proposed Adoptions: 331-710-0060, 331-710-0070, 331-710-
0080, 331-710-0090, 331-710-0100, 331-710-0110

Proposed Amendments: 331-710-0010, 331-710-0040, 331-710-
0050

Last Date for Comment: 7-28-12, 5 p.m.

Summary: Repeal requirement that an individual applying for licen-
sure must provide proof of high school diploma or General Educa-
tion Degree (GED) and align with statutory requirement of a high
school diploma or equivalent pursuant to ORS 688.815.

Align timeline for passing the Board approved examination with
other Agency programs to two-years.

Amend documentation of 18 months experience to “work
experience” pursuant to OAR 331-710-0110 and require passage of
Oregon Laws and Rules Examination for Polysomnography.

Adopt application requirements for polysomnographic technolo-
gist’s licensure. Pathways to licensure include the following: Path-
way 1 academic degree pursuant to ORS 688.819(1); Pathway 2
completion of the polysomnographic technologist temporary licens-
ee training requirements; Pathway 3 reciprocity and Pathway 4
endorsement with proof of current license as a physician or respira-
tory therapist or credential from the National Board of Respiratory
Care as a Certified Respiratory Therapist or Registered Respiratory
Therapist with the Sleep Disorder Specialty.

Adopt rule which defines the a Polysomnographic Technologist
under direct and indirect supervision including timeline, supervision
requirements and notification of changes.

Adopt application requirements for a Polysomnographic Tech-
nologist-Direct Supervision licensee including minimum education
requirements and completion of the American Academy of Sleep
Medicine (AASM) Accredited Sleep Technology Education Program
(A-STEP) Self Study Modules.

Adopt application requirements for a Polysomnographic Tech-
nologist-Indirect Supervision licensee including minimum number
of sleep studies performed and passage of Oregon Laws and Rules
Examination for polysomnography.

Adopt rule which specifies requirements for being an approved
supervisor for temporary polysomnographic technologist including
current licensure as a polysomnographic technologist with no cur-
rent or pending disciplinary action, three years experience in
polysomnography, ratio of patients to supervisors, notification
requirements and documentation of work experience.

Rules Coordinator: Samantha Patnode
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Address: Oregon Health Licensing Agency, 700 Summer St. NE,
Suite 320, Salem, OR 97301-1287
Telephone: (503) 373-1917
Oregon Liquor Control Commission
Chapter 845

Rule Caption: Amend rule to implement statutory changes allow-
ing additional Special Events Distillery license privileges.
Date: Time: Location:
7-24-12 10 a.m. 9079 SE McLoughlin Blvd.
Portland, OR 97222
Hearing Officer: Jennifer Huntsman
Stat. Auth.: ORS 471,471.030,471.040 & 471.730(1) & (5)
Stats. Implemented: ORS 471.230
Proposed Amendments: 845-005-0413
Last Date for Comment: 8-7-12,5 p.m.
Summary: This rule describes the Special Events license that is
available to current Distillery licensees and also describes the appli-
cation process. House Bill (HB) 4092 amends ORS 471.230 to pro-
vide the additional license privileges of selling distilled spirits man-
ufactured by the distillery licensee both by the drink and by the bottle
at these special events. Staff recommends amending section (5) of
the rule by adding a new (5)(h) which requires compliance with
applicable food standards if the licensee chooses to offer distilled
spirits by the drink. Staff also recommends replacing the current sec-
tions (14) and (15) regarding tastings with a new section (14) out-
lining the three privileges now allowed: tastings, drinks, and facto-
ry-sealed containers (bottles). This new language will also include
any purchase or sale pricing requirements as specified in statute.
Because the statute specifies that they must be appointed as a retail
outlet agent to sell by the bottle, subsection (14)(c) will also include
a cross reference to their agent agreement and manual. Also recom-
mended by staff is the deletion of section (18), since the same rules
governing service permit and server age requirements that apply to
all other licensees will now apply to this special event license. And
finally, staff recommends minor housekeeping amendments such as
deleting the duplicative language of section (19) regarding violation
level.
Rules Coordinator: Jennifer Huntsman
Address: Oregon Liquor Control Commission, 9079 SE McLough-
lin Blvd., Portland, OR 97222
Telephone: (503) 872-5004
Oregon Public Employees Retirement System
Chapter 459

Rule Caption: Establish uniform rules applicable when PERS has
independent contracting and procurement authority.
Date: Time: Location:
8-22-12 2 p.m. PERS Boardroom

11410 SW 68th Pkwy.

Tigard, OR 97223
Hearing Officer: Daniel Rivas
Stat. Auth.: ORS 238 & 238A,238.410,238.650 & 238A.450
Stats. Implemented: ORS 238, 238A, 279A, 279B & 279C,
243.470 & 243478
Proposed Adoptions: 459-005-0400, 459-005-0410, 459-005-
0420, 459-005-0430
Proposed Repeals: 459-035-0200, 459-035-0220
Last Date for Comment: 8-29-12, 5 p.m.
Summary: PERS is generally subject to the public contracting and
procurement provisions in ORS Chapters 279A, 279B, and 279C,
with some statutory exceptions. The purpose of this rulemaking is to
establish uniform rules applicable when PERS has independent
contracting and procurement authority. PERS proposes to adopt the
DOJ Model Public Contracting Rules, as effective on January 1,2012
and as thereafter amended, as generally applicable to PERS, with
exceptions being specifically identified.
Rules Coordinator: Daniel Rivas

Oregon Bulletin

15

Address: Oregon Public Employees Retirement System, PO Box
23700, Tigard, OR 97281
Telephone: (503) 603-7713
Oregon University System,
Eastern Oregon University
Chapter 579

Rule Caption: To increase monthly rent due to increased costs.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 351.070
Stats. Implemented: ORS 351.070
Proposed Amendments: 579-030-0010
Last Date for Comment: 7-23-12, 5 p.m.
Summary: Family Housing two bedroom units $350, includes water,
sewer and garbage service. $30.00 application deposit required.
Rules Coordinator: Teresa Carson-Mastrude
Address: Oregon University System, Eastern Oregon University,
One University Blvd., Inlow Hall 202A, La Grande, OR 97850
Telephone: (541) 962-3773
Oregon University System,
Oregon State University
Chapter 576

Rule Caption: Providing random and individualized drug testing of
athletes.
Date:

7-24-12

Location:

Memorial Union 206
Oregon State University
Corvallis, OR

Time:
I pm.

Hearing Officer: Beth Giddens

Stat. Auth.: ORS 351.070

Stats. Implemented: ORS 351.070

Proposed Amendments: 576-023-0005, 576-023-0010, 576-023-
0015, 576-023-0020, 576-023-0025, 576-023-0030, 576-023-0035,
576-023-0040

Proposed Repeals: 576-023-0012

Last Date for Comment: 7-26-12, Close of Business

Summary: The University will not tolerate or condone the use of
illegal drugs and substances, and there is no place in the Universi-
ty’s athletics program for substance abuse or the use of performance
enhancing drugs. This policy furthers the University’s interests in
ensuring the safety of its student athletes and those who compete
against them, maintaining a fair competing field and educating stu-
dents about the development of a healthy and responsible lifestyle
in college and throughout life. The University’s drug-free athletics
program includes not only random and individualized drug testing,
but also educational programs, substance abuse evaluation, treatment
and disciplinary measures.

Rules Coordinator: Beth Giddens

Address: Oregon University System, Oregon State University, 638
Kerr Administration Bldg., Corvallis, OR 97331

Telephone: (541) 737-2449

ecccccccoe

Rule Caption: Allowing beer and wine consumption at the OSU-
Cascades campus.

Date: Time:
7-24-12 1 p.m.

Location:

Memorial Union 206

Oregon State University

Corvallis, OR

Hearing Officer: Beth Giddens

Stat. Auth.: ORS 351.070

Stats. Implemented: ORS 351.070

Proposed Amendments: 576-060-0025, 576-060-0035

Last Date for Comment: 7-26-12, 11:30 a.m.

Summary: The proposed rule change would allow serving of beer
and wine, along with food and non-alcohol beverages, at the OSU-
Cascades campus under guidelines established by the Vice-President
for Finance and Administration.

Rules Coordinator: Beth Giddens
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Address: Oregon University System, Oregon State University, 638
Kerr Administration Bldg., Corvallis, OR 97331
Telephone: (541) 737-2449
Oregon University System,
University of Oregon
Chapter 571

Rule Caption: Amend OAR 571-060-0005 to include residence
hall room and board rates.
Date: Time:
7-24-12 9 a.m.

Location:
Walnut Rm., Erb Memorial Union
University of Oregon
Eugene, OR
Hearing Officer: Kathie Stanley
Stat. Auth.: ORS 351.070 & 352
Other Auth.: Delegation granted in OSBHE Finance & Adminis-
tration Committee Nov. 4, 2011 mtg.
Stats. Implemented: ORS 351.070
Proposed Amendments: 571-060-0005
Last Date for Comment: 7-25-12, 12 p.m.
Summary: The University administration has determined that the
adoption of the amendments to the residence hall room and board
rates will be necessary in order to provide the basis for funding to
cover the expenses for providing UO on-campus housing and dining.
This permanent rule will replace the temporary rule to be effective
July 1,2012.

Copies of proposed amendments to the rates may be obtained from
Lauren Townsend, Rules Coordinator, at Imt@uoregon.edu or
541-346-3082.
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Rules Coordinator: Lauren Townsend
Address: Oregon University System, University of Oregon, 1226
University of Oregon, Eugene, OR 97403
Telephone: (541) 346-3082
Oregon University System,
Western Oregon University
Chapter 574

Rule Caption: Revisions to special course fees/general services
fees; student conduct and judicial structure; parking regulations.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 351.070 & 351.072

Stats. Implemented: ORS 351.070 & 351.072

Proposed Adoptions: 574-085-0140

Proposed Amendments: 574-031-0000, 574-031-0010, 574-031-
0020, 574-031-0030, 574-031-0040, 574-032-0000, 574-032-0010,
574-032-0020, 574-032-0030, 574-032-0040, 574-032-0050, 574-
032-0060, 574-032-0070, 574-032-0080, 574-032-0090, 574-032-
0100, 574-032-0110, 574-032-0120, 574-032-0130, 574-032-0150,
574-032-0160, 574-050-0005, 574-085-0000, 574-085-0020, 574-
085-0040, 574-085-0060, 574-085-0070, 574-085-0110, 574-085-
0120

Last Date for Comment: 7-21-12,5 p.m.

Summary: Amendments will allow for increases, additions, and
revisions of special course fees and general services fees, code of
student conduct and judicial structure; and parking regulations.
Rules Coordinator: Debra L. Charlton

Address: Oregon University System, Western Oregon University,
345 N Monmouth Ave., Monmouth, OR 97361

Telephone: (503) 838-8597
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Board of Chiropractic Examiners
Chapter 811

Rule Caption: Changes chiropractic assistant application fees to
non-refundable and establishes a retention schedule for inactive
applications.
Adm. Order No.: BCE 1-2012
Filed with Sec. of State: 5-31-2012
Certified to be Effective: 5-31-12
Notice Publication Date: 3-1-2012
Rules Amended: 811-010-0110
Subject: Changes chiropractic assistant application fees to non-
refundable and establishes a retention schedule for inactive appli-
cations.
(3)(a) A non-refundable application fee — $25.00;
(b) A non-refundalbe application fee — $35.00; and
(c) License fee — $50.00. A refund of the license fee will only be
allowed when requested within 60 days of the initial application.
(4) The Board shall maintain an incomplete application file for six
months from the date the application was received; afterward appli-
cants will need to re-apply.
Rules Coordinator: Donna Dougan—(503) 373-1579

811-010-0110
Chiropractic Assistants

(1) Ancillary personnel authorized by ORS 684.155(c) shall be known
as Chiropractic Assistants.

(2) Chiropractic Assistants may be certified upon compliance with the
following standards and procedures:

(a) The Chiropractic Assistant applicant shall successfully complete a
Board approved training course offered by an association, college or other-
wise approved person. Effective January 1, 2011, the initial training course
shall be at least twelve hours in length, of which eight hours shall be didac-
tic training and four hours shall be practical training.

(i) The practical training must be in physiotherapy, electrotherapy and
hydrotherapy administered by a health care provider licensed to independ-
ently provide those therapies.

(ii) A chiropractic physician may perform the initial practical training
provided this is direct contact time.

(iii) The initial training must have been completed within 60 days pre-
ceding the application submission date;

(b) The applicant shall complete an application form and an open
book examination supplied by the Board;

(c) If an applicant has a certificate or license from another state and
adequate documentation of training, the Board may waive the requirement
for the initial training course; and

(d) A person initially certified between March 1st and May 31st is
exempt from the continuing education requirement for renewal.

(3) The training course verification form, completed application form,
completed examination, and fees in the following amounts shall be submit-
ted to the Board:

(a) A non-refundable application fee — $25;

(b) A non-refundable examination fee — $35; and

(c) License fee — $50. A refund of the license fee will only be
allowed when requested within 60 days of the initial application.

(d) In circumstances beyond the applicant’s control (e.g. board review
of criminal history) the Board may determine to refund the fees or portion
thereof.

(e) In the event the Board requires the NBCE chiropractic assistant
examination in lieu of the Board’s examination, the fee in subsection (b)
will be waived.

(4) The Board shall maintain an incomplete application file for six
months from the date the application was received; afterward, applicants
will need to re-apply.

(5) The applicant shall be at least 18 years of age.

(6) The Chiropractic Assistant shall not perform electrotherapy,
hydrotherapy, or physiotherapy until he or she receives a certificate from
the Board.

(7) A Chiropractic Assistant shall be directly supervised by the
Chiropractor at all times. The supervising Chiropractor must be on the
premises.

(8) The scope of practice does not include performing physical exam-
inations, taking initial histories, taking X-rays, interpretation of postural
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screening, doing manual muscle testing or performing osseous adjustments
or manipulations.

(9) Chiropractic Assistants shall report to the Board, in writing,
his/her mailing address and place of employment. Notification of a change
of mailing address or place of employment must be made within 10 days of
the change.

(10) On or before each June 1, the Board of Examiners shall send the
renewal notice to the Chiropractic Assistant at the last known mailing
address.

(11) On or before each August 1 the Chiropractic Assistant shall mail
to the Board of Examiners the renewal form with the following:

(a) Renewal fee of $50; and

(b) Evidence of successful completion of six hours of continuing edu-
cation during the 12 months preceding. No continuing education hours may
be carried over into the next renewal year.

(12) Continuing education programs may be comprised of subjects
that are pertinent to clinical practices of chiropractic. Continuing education
must meet the criteria outlined in OAR 811-015-0025 sections (8), (9) and
(10).

(13) The failure, neglect or refusal of any person holding a certificate
to show compliance with subsection (10)(a) and (b) of this rule shall cause
the certificate to automatically expire August 1 and the Chiropractic
Assistant must reapply.

(14) The Chiropractic Assistant’s certificate shall be displayed at all
times in the Chiropractic Physician’s office during the Chiropractic
Assistant’s employment.

(15) The Board may refuse to grant a certificate to any applicant, may
suspend or revoke a certificate, or may impose upon an applicant for certi-
fication or Chiropractic Assistant a civil penalty not to exceed $1,000 upon
finding of any of the following:

(a) Cause, which is defined as, but not limited to, failure to follow
directions, unprofessional or dishonorable conduct, injuring a patient, or
unlawful disclosure of patient information. The supervising Chiropractic
Physician is required to notify the Board, in writing, of any dismissal of a
Chiropractic Assistant for cause within ten days. The Board shall determine
if there is cause for action and shall be governed by the rules of the Board
adopted pursuant to ORS Chapter 183;

(b) Conviction of a misdemeanor involving moral turpitude or a
felony; or

(c) Failure to notify the Board of a change of location of employment
as required by these rules.

(16) Unprofessional or dishonorable conduct is defined as: any uneth-
ical, deceptive, or deleterious conduct or practice harmful to the public; any
departure from, or failure to conform to, the minimal standards of accept-
able Chiropractic Assistant practice; or a willful or careless disregard for
the health, welfare or safety of patients, in any of which cases proof of actu-
al injury need not be established. Unprofessional conduct shall include, but
not be limited to, the following acts of a Chiropractic Assistant:

(a) Engaging in any conduct or verbal behavior with or towards a cur-
rent patient that may reasonably be interpreted as sexual, seductive, sexual-
ly demeaning or romantic (also see ORS 684.100).

(b) A certificate holder shall not engage in sexual relations or have a
romantic relationship with a current patient unless a consensual sexual rela-
tionship or a romantic relationship existed between them before the com-
mencement of the Chiropractic Assistant-patient relationship.

(A) “Sexual relations” means:

(i) Sexual intercourse; or

(ii) Any touching of sexual or other intimate parts of a person or caus-
ing such person to touch the sexual or other intimate parts of the
Chiropractic Assistant for the purpose of arousing or gratifying the sexual
desire of either Chiropractic Assistant or patient.

(B) A patient’s consent to, initiation of or participation in sexual
behavior or involvement with a Chiropractic Assistant does not change the
nature of the conduct nor lift the prohibition.

(C) In determining whether a patient is a current patient, the Board
may consider the length of time of the Chiropractic Assistant-patient con-
tact, evidence of termination of the Chiropractic Assistant-patient relation-
ship, the nature of the Chiropractic Assistant-patient relationship, and any
other relevant information.

(c) Use of protected or privileged information obtained from the
patient to the detriment of the patient.

(d) Practicing outside the scope of the practice of a Chiropractic
Assistant in Oregon;

(e) Charging a patient for services not rendered;

(f) Intentionally causing physical or emotional injury to a patient;
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(g) Directly or indirectly engaging in threatening, dishonest, or mis-
leading fee collection techniques;

(h) Soliciting or borrowing money from patients;

(i) Possessing, obtaining, attempting to obtain, furnishing, or pre-
scribing controlled drugs to any person, including self, except as directed
by a person authorized by law to prescribe drugs; illegally using or dis-
pensing controlled drugs;

(j) Aiding, abetting, or assisting an individual to violate any law, rule
or regulation intended to guide the conduct of Chiropractic Assistants or
other health care providers; or

(k) Violating the rights of privacy or confidentiality of the patient
unless required by law to disclose such information;

(1) Perpetrating fraud upon patients or third party payors, relating to
the practice of chiropractic;

(m) Using any controlled or illegal substance or intoxicating liquor to
the extent that such use impacts the ability to safely conduct the practice of
a Chiropractic Assistant;

(n) Practicing as a Chiropractic Assistant without a current Oregon
certificate;

(o) Allowing another person to use one’s Chiropractic Assistant certi-
fication for any purpose;

(p) Resorting to fraud, misrepresentation, or deceit in applying for or
taking the certificate examination or obtaining a certificate or renewal
thereof;

(q) Impersonating any applicant or acting as a proxy for the applicant
in any Chiropractic Assistant certificate examination;

(r) Disclosing the contents of the certificate examination or soliciting,
accepting, or compiling information regarding the contents of the examina-
tion before, during, or after its administration;

(s) Failing to provide the Board with any documents requested by the
Board;

(t) Failing to fully cooperate with the Board during the course of an
investigation, including but not limited to, waiver of confidentiality privi-
leges, except attorney-client privilege;

(u) Claiming any academic degree not actually conferred or awarded;

(v) Disobeying a final order of the Board; and

(w) Splitting fees or giving or receiving a commission in the referral
of patients for services.

(x) Receiving a suspension or revocation of a certificate or license for
a Chiropractic Assistant, or other license or certificate, by another state
based upon acts by the Chiropractic Assistant or applicant that describes
acts similar to this section. A certified copy of the record of suspension or
revocation of the state making that is conclusive evidence thereof.

(17) The service of the Chiropractic Assistant is the direct responsi-
bility of the licensed Chiropractic Physician. Violations may be grounds for
disciplinary action against the Chiropractic Physician under ORS
684.100(9).

Stat. Auth.: ORS 684.155

Stats. Implemented: ORS 684.054 & 684.155(c)(A)

Hist.: CE 1-1990, f. & cert. ef. 2-15-90; CE 5-1992(Temp), f. 10-21-92, cert. ef. 10-23-92;

CE 2-1993, f. 3-1-93, cert. ef. 4-23-93; CE 4-1997, f. & cert. ef. 11-3-97; BCE 3-2000, cert.

ef. 8-23-00; BCE 1-2001, f. 1-31-01, cert. ef. 2-1-01; BCE 1-2002, f. & cert. ef. 2-6-02; BCE

2-2008, f. & cert. ef. 10-9-08; BCE 2-2010, f. & cert. ef. 6-15-10; BCE 1-2012, f. & cert. ef.

5-31-12

cessccccscs

Board of Geologist Examiners
Chapter 809

Rule Caption: Establish procedures for reissuance of revoked reg-
istration, clarify meaning of responsible charge, update registration
standards.
Adm. Order No.: BGE 1-2012
Filed with Sec. of State: 6-15-2012
Certified to be Effective: 6-15-12
Notice Publication Date: 4-1-2012
Rules Adopted: 809-015-0020
Rules Amended: 809-003-0000, 809-030-0005, 809-030-0015, 809-
030-0020, 809-050-0000, 809-050-0010
Subject: 809-015-0020 — New rule to establish procedures for Board
consideration of a request to reissue a revoked registration.
809-003-0000 — Adopt new definitions to clarify meaning of
“responsible charge of work™ as defined in ORS 672.505(11) and
within OSGBE rules adopted in OAR Chapter 809.
809-030-0005 — Ensure consistent use of the term “responsible
charge” within OSGBE rules.
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809-030-0015 — Clarify standards for geologist registration with
respect to education, examination, and work experience and
address supervision in “responsible charge”.

809-030-0020 — Clarify standards for certified engineering geol-
ogist registration with respect to education, examination, and work
experience and allow a combination of supervised and “responsible
charge” work experience as qualifying experience.

809-050-0000 — Clarify when registrant has “responsible charge”
in context of sealing and signing geology work products.

809-050-0010 — Clarify standards for cooperative geologist reg-
istration with respect to education, examination and work experience
in a manner comparable to Oregon standards as required in ORS
672.595 and update temporary permit criteria to reflect limitation
imposed by ORS 672.545(3)(b).

Rules Coordinator: Christine Valentine—(503) 566-2837

809-003-0000
Definitions

The definitions of terms used in ORS 672.505 to 672.991, and the
rules of this OAR chapter 809, are:

(1) “ASBOG”: National Association of State Boards of Geology; an
organization of state boards that regulate the public practice of geology;
ASBOG prepares the national geology examinations.

(2) “Deceit”: An attempt to portray as true or valid something that is
untrue or invalid.

(3) “Equivalent of 45 quarter hours”: 30 semester hours.

(4) “Expert Opinion”: An opinion tendered to a court, commission,
hearings officer, or other tribunal which is considered to be expert testimo-
ny by virtue of the professional experience, training, and registration and
certification of the geologist tendering the opinion.

(5) “Falsely Impersonate”: To assume without authority or with fraud-
ulent intent the identity of another person.

(6) “False or Forged Evidence”: Untrue documents purporting to be
proof, or falsely and fraudulently altered proof.

(7) “Felony”: A crime declared a felony by statute because of the pun-
ishment imposed.

(8) “Fraud”: Intentional perversion of truth in order to induce anoth-
er to part with something of value or to surrender a legal right.

(9) “Geological Work™: For purposes of ORS 672.505(11), “geologi-
cal work” means the public practice of geology as defined at 672.505(7) or
that would otherwise require registration or certification by the Board if not
exempted under 672.525 or 672.535, regardless of whether the work is con-
ducted in or outside of Oregon.

(10) “Gross Negligence”: Reckless and wanton disregard for exercis-
ing care and caution.

(11) “Incompetence”: Inadequacy or unsuitability for effective action.
The Board shall consider incompetence in the practice of geology to
include, but not be limited to instances where a geologist has been adjudi-
cated mentally incompetent by the court; been engaged in conduct which
shows a lack of ability or fitness to discharge the duties and responsibilities
a geologist owes a client, employer, or the general public; or been engaged
in conduct which shows a lack of knowledge, or inability, to apply the prin-
ciples or skills of the profession.

(12) “Misconduct”: Violation of any state or federal rule or statute in
the course of the practice of geology.

(13) “Mutual Recognition”: When one state allows a geologist who is
registered in another state to perform work in that state without obtaining
local registration.

(14) “National examination”: prepared by ASBOG and comprised of
a four-hour fundamental section and a four-hour practice section.

(15) “Neglect of Duty”: Lack of attention to the performance or serv-
ices that arise from one’s position.

(16) “Negligence”: Failure by a registrant to exercise the care, skill,
and diligence demonstrated by a registrant under similar circumstances in
the community in which the registrant practices.

(17) “Official Transcript™: Transcript certified by the school and
received under seal.

(18) “Project”: A contractually specified scope and amount of geo-
logic work relating to a specific undertaking, such as, but not limited to, the
geologic reconnaissance of an area, a geohydrologic study of an area, or an
analysis of volcanic hazards from a volcano.

(19) “Proprietary”: Belonging to a client, employer or geologist.
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(20) “Public proceeding”: as used in ORS 672.525(9) means a public
forum where members of the public are invited to comment or testify or
permitted to comment or testify.

(21) “Reciprocity”: When one state will issue a registration to a geol-
ogist because the geologist holds a registration in another state.

(22) “Reinstatement of Registration”: One-time process to bring a
lapsed registration or certification to current, valid status.

(23) “Related Geological Science”: A course of study that includes at
least 36 quarter hours, or the equivalent, in geological subjects taken in the
third or fourth year or in graduate courses.

(24) “Renewal of Registration”: Annual process to maintain the cur-
rent status of a valid registration or certification.

(25) “Responsible Charge”: This means in responsible charge of work
as defined in ORS 672.505(11) and under these rules.

(26) “Seal”: The term seal means the same thing as to stamp as used
within OAR Chapter 809.

(27) “Supervision of Geological Work™: For purposes of ORS
672.505(11), “supervision” means oversight by an individual who is fully
responsible, accountable and liable for the geological work and where the
individual is:

(a) Registered as a geologist in Oregon;

(b) Certified as an engineering geologist in Oregon;

(c) Registered as a geologist in another jurisdiction with licensing
requirements comparable to Oregon; or

(d) In charge of the geological work in a situation or another jurisdic-
tion that does not require licensure.

(28) “Third or Fourth Year”: Upper division college classes.

(29) “Threat to the Public Health, Welfare, or Property”: A threat of
geologic nature such as, but not limited to, induced or imminent instability
of a slope, exacerbation of or continuation of a high rate of erosion, flood
hazard or land subsidence, ongoing or potential contamination of under-
ground or surface waters. Also a potential threat which would be induced
by an action taken in ignorance of, or without regard to geologic conditions
such as construction of residences or other structures intended for habita-
tion in areas prone to landslides, mudflows, volcanic eruption, tsunamis, or
earthquakes without proper mitigation measures, or construction of dams or
other waterworks, bridges, power plants or other critical facilities without
exhaustive investigation of potential geologic hazards and incorporation of
approved mitigation measures into their design.

(30) “Year of Study’: 36 quarter hours or 24 semester hours.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 672.515, 672.545, 672.555, 672.565, 672.585, 672.595, 672.605

Stats. Implemented: ORS 672.505 - 672.705

Hist.: GE 1-1984, f. & ef. 2-1-84; GE 3-1984, f. & ef. 12-4-84; GE 4-1984, f. & ef. 12-18-
84; GE 1-1985, f. & ef. 7-1-85; BGE 2-1999, f. & cert. ef. 11-8-99; BGE 2-2002, f. & cert.
ef. 4-15-02; BGE 9-2004, f & cert. ef. 10-19-04; BGE 3-2006, f. & cert. ef. 11-13-06; BGE
1-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-15-12

809-015-0020
Reissuance of Revoked Registration

At its discretion, the Board may reissue a revoked certificate of regis-
tration according to ORS 672.685 under the following conditions:

(1) Submission of a written request for reissuance by the revoked reg-
istrant;

(2) Receipt of written documentation demonstrating good cause to
justify the reissuance;

(3) Submission of all application materials meeting the requirements
for first-time registrants as prescribed in Qualification Standards and
Experience, OAR 809-30-0000 through 809-30-0025, and all relevant reg-
istration and application fees as prescribed in Fees, OAR 809-010-0001;

(4) Take or retake and pass the ASBOG fundamental and practice

examinations, and specialty examinations as applicable.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 672.515, 672.685
Stats. Implemented: ORS 672.505-672.705
Hist.: BGE 1-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-15-12

809-030-0005
Experience Standards

To determine if an applicant’s experience meets the required qualifi-
cations, the Board may use the following standards:

(1) The diversity and complexity of the applicant’s work.

(2) Whether the work was routine in nature, requiring a minimum of
knowledge or experience.

(3) The amount of time the applicant was in responsible charge of
geologic work.

(4) Whether reports prepared principally by the applicant demonstrate

the applicant’s knowledge to perform geologic work.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 672515, 672.545, 672.555, 672,565, 672.585, 672.595. 672.605
Stats. Implemented: ORS 672.505 - 672.705
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Hist.: GE 2-1978, f. & ef. 7-28-78; GE 1-1981, f. & ef. 8-3-81; GE 1-1982, f. & ef. 5-14-82;
GE 1-1984, f. & ef. 2-1-84; BGE 1-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-15-12

809-030-0015
Qualifications for Geologist Practice Examination and Geologist
Registration

(1) To qualify to take the geologist examination, an applicant must
have a minimum of seven years of geology experience computed as fol-
lows:

(a) Two years of experience are granted for an undergraduate degree
in geology or a related geological science with a minimum of 45 quarter
hours of geology coursework; or two years of experience are granted to
applicants without a degree who have a minimum of 45 quarter hours of
geology coursework including 36 quarter hours upper division or graduate
course hours leading to a geology major. These two years’ experience must
be included in the seven-year minimum.

(b) One year of experience, up to a maximum of three years, is grant-
ed for each year of full-time equivalent graduate study in geology or a relat-
ed geological science.

(c) Credit shall not exceed four years for the undergraduate geology
or geological science degree or specific coursework plus graduate study.

(d) One year of experience is granted for each year spent working
under the supervision of an Oregon registered geologist, Oregon certified
engineering geologist, or a geologist who, in the determination of the
Board, was providing supervision in responsible charge; however, a mini-
mum of three years of such experience must be completed before any cred-
it is granted.

(e) One year of experience is granted for each year spent in responsi-
ble charge; however, a minimum of five years in responsible charge must
be completed before any credit is granted.

(f) Geology faculty may acquire the seven years experience in accor-
dance with the following criteria:

(A) Meet the requirements of OAR 809-030-0015(1)(a); and

(B) Five years experience is granted for geologic work conducted in
responsible charge as professional faculty activities conducted other than
teaching or administrative duties. Such duties may include, but are not lim-
ited to, the following:

(i) Geologic report preparation;

(ii) Publication and the preparation for publication of published geo-
logic work;

(iii) Geologic field or laboratory data collection; or

(iv) Geologic data analysis or interpretation.

(C) Geologic experience must be documented and calculated as a per-
centage of non-teaching full-time experience such as follows:

(i) Experience documented by the preparation of geology reports or
publications; and

(ii) Geologic experience verified by the Board.

(D) Post-baccalaureate research in geology or a related geological sci-
ence may be granted for in responsible charge experience, at the discretion
of the Board.

(g) Duplicate credit will not be given for experience and education
gained concurrently.

(h) Experience of less than one month will not be recognized.

(2) Applicants for the ASBOG practice examination must:

(a) Be registered as a GIT in Oregon; or

(b) Apply to take the ASBOG fundamental examination on the same
day as the practice examination; or

(c) Provide to the Board proof of having passed the ASBOG funda-
mental examination.

(3) To qualify for registration as a geologist, an applicant must meet
the following requirements:

(a) Pass the ASBOG fundamental and practice examinations;

(b) Submit a complete application on forms provided by the Board;

(c) Submit applicable fees as per OAR 809-010-0001.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 672.515, 672.545, 672.555, 672.565, 672.585, 672.595, 672.605

Stats. Implemented: ORS 672.505 - 672.705

Hist.: GE 1-1984, f. & ef. 2-1-84; GE 1-1992, f. & cert. ef. 6-10-92; BGE 1-2002, f. & cert.
ef. 2-6-02; BGE 7-2004, f. & cert. ef. 8-5-04; BGE 1-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-15-12

809-030-0020
Qualifications for Engineering Geologist Examination and
Certification as an Engineering Geologist

(1) To qualify to take the certification examination as an engineering
geologist, the applicant must:

(a) Be registered as a geologist, or have met the qualifications and
passed the geologist examination.

(b) Meet one of the following experience requirements:
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(A) Three years’ experience under the direct supervision of an
Oregon, California, or Washington certified engineering geologist or an
engineering geologist who, in the determination of the Board, was provid-
ing supervision in responsible charge. Engineering geology experience
used to meet geologist qualifications may be used;

(B) Five years’ experience in responsible charge of engineering geo-
logical projects. Engineering geology experience used to meet geologist
qualifications may be used; or

(C) A minimum of 5 years work experience from a combination of
(A) and (B). Engineering geology experience used to meet geologist quali-
fications may be used.

(2) To qualify for certification as an engineering geologist, an appli-
cant must meet the following requirements:

(a) Receive registration as geologist from the Board;

(b) Pass a certification examination approved by the Board for engi-
neering geologists as per OAR 809-005-0000 and OAR 809-040-0008;

(c) Submit a complete application on forms provided by the Board;

(d) Submit applicable fees as per OAR 809-010-0001.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 672.515, 672.545, 672.555, 672.565, 672.585, 672.595, 672.605
Stats. Implemented: ORS 672.505 - 672.705

Hist.: GE 1-1984, f. & ef. 2-1-84; BGE 1-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-15-12

809-050-0000
Use of Seal

A facsimile of a registrant’s seal shall be affixed to final products cre-
ated in the public practice of geology.

(1) A Registered Geologist shall use a seal bearing the Registered
Geologist’s name, certificate number, and registration title, as shown in
Exhibit 1 of this rule. The Registered Geologist seal must be at least 1.5
inches in diameter from point to point. A Registered Geologist may use an
electronic seal that meets these requirements.

(2) A Certified Engineering Geologist shall use a seal bearing the
Certified Engineering Geologist’s name, certificate number, and registra-
tion title, as shown in Exhibit 2 of this rule. The Certified Engineering
Geologist seal must be at least 1.5 inches in diameter from point to point.
A Certified Engineering Geologist may use an electronic seal that meets
these requirements.

(3) Draft geology or specialty geology products or documents clearly
marked as draft do not require a geologist’s seal.

(4) If a stand-alone report is sealed by the registrant responsible for
the work, then individual work products prepared by the registrant and
compiled in the report, for example geology figures, maps, and logs, do not
need to be individually sealed. The geology products within a stand-alone
report not prepared by the registrant that seals the report shall be individu-
ally sealed by the registrant(s) who prepared those products.

(5) Final geology work products not included in a compiled report,
such as boring logs, shall be individually sealed and signed.

(6) A registrant who seals and signs a final version of a geology prod-

uct must be in responsible charge for the geology content of that product.
[ED. NOTE: Exhibits referenced are available from the agency.]
Stat. Auth.: ORS 672.515, 672.545, 672.555, 672.565, 672.585, 672.595, 672.605
Stats. Implemented: ORS 672.505 - 672.705
Hist.: GE 1-1984, f. & ef. 2-1-84; BGE 2-2002, f. & cert. ef. 4-15-02; BGE 8-2004, f. & cert.
ef. 8-5-04; BGE 2-20006, f. & cert. ef. 6-26-06; BGE 1-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-15-12

809-050-0010
Qualifications for Cooperative Registration or Temporary Permits

(1) To qualify for cooperative registration as a geologist, the applicant
shall:

(a) Hold a valid registration, obtained by passing the ASBOG exami-
nation, from a state, territory or possession of the United States or the
District of Columbia, as verified by the Administrator;

(b) Meet the education, experience, and exam requirements of OAR
809-030-0015(1), including passing the ASBOG practice examination and
demonstrating a minimum of seven years qualifying geology experience;

(c) Apply for registration on forms provided by the Board; and

(d) Submit the required fee(s) as per OAR 809-010-0001.

(2) To qualify for cooperative certification as an engineering geolo-
gist, the applicant shall:

(a) First receive cooperative registration as geologist from the Board;

(b) Provide evidence of passing a certification examination approved
by the Board for engineering geologists as per OAR 809-005-0000, 809-
030-0020, and 809-040-0008;

(c) Submit a complete application on forms provided by the Board;
and

(d) Submit applicable fees as per OAR 809-010-0001.
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(3) To qualify for a 60-day temporary permits to engage in the public
practice of geology, non-registrants must:

(a) Submit an application on a form provided by the Board;

(b) Pay appropriate application fees as per OAR 809-010-0001;

(c) Not reside in Oregon or have an established place of business in
Oregon;

(d) hold a current registration or certification to practice geology from
another state, territory or possession of the United States or the District of
Columbia, as verified by the Administrator; and

(e) explain how work will be limited to one period of 60 consecutive

days in the calendar year.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 672.515, 672.545, 672.555, 672.565, 672.585, 672.595, 672.605
Stats. Implemented: ORS 672.505-672.705
Hist.: GE 1-1984, f. & ef. 2-1-84; GE 2-1986, f. & ef. 3-5-86; GE 3-1986, f. & ef. 7-15-86;
GE 1-1990, f. & cert. ef. 10-2-90; BGE 1-2000, f. & cert. ef. 8-3-00; BGE 2-2002, f. & cert.
ef. 4-15-02; BGE 2-2005, f. & cert. ef. 9-28-05; BGE 1-2012, . & cert. ef. 6-15-12

Rule Caption: Update Reference to DOJ Model Rules of
Procedure.

Adm. Order No.: BGE 2-2012

Filed with Sec. of State: 6-15-2012

Certified to be Effective: 6-15-12

Notice Publication Date:

Rules Amended: 809-001-0005

Subject: Updated reference to the DOJ Model Rules of Procedure
that the Board follows to address compliance with the Administra-
tive Procedures Act.

Rules Coordinator: Christine Valentine—(503) 566-2837

809-001-0005
Model Rules of Procedure

The Attorney General’s Model Rules of Procedure under the
Administrative Procedures Act, in effect on February 1, 2012, are hereby
adopted as the rules of procedure by reference for the State Board of

Geologist Examiners.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 183, ORS 672.505 - 672.705
Stats. Implemented: ORS 672.505 - 672.705
Hist: GE 1(Temp), f. & ef. 11-3-77; GE 2, f. & ef. 12-13-77; GE 1-1982, f. & ef. 5-14-82; GE
1-1984, f. & ef. 2-1-84; GE 3-1986, f. & ef. 7-15-86; EE 1-1996. f. & cert. ef. 8-30-96; GE
1-1996, f. & cert. ef. 8-30-96; BGE 2-1999. f. & cert. ef. 11-8-99; BGE 1-2000, f. & cert. ef.
8-3-00; BGE 2-2004, f. & cert. ef. 4-6-04; BGE 4-2004, f. & cert. ef. 6-23-04; BGE 2-2012,
f. & cert. ef. 6-15-12

Board of Nursing
Chapter 851

Rule Caption: Clarifies registration requirements for students
enrolled in non-Oregon based graduate programs lending to
licensure.
Adm. Order No.: BN 9-2012
Filed with Sec. of State: 6-5-2012
Certified to be Effective: 6-5-12
Notice Publication Date: 4-1-2012
Rules Amended: 851-045-0100
Subject: Re-locates section of registration requirements for Nurse
Practitioner students enrolled in out of state programs. Provides
definitions for out of state and in state programs. Amends rules for
Clinical Nurse Specialist students and Certified Registered Nurse
Anesthesist students to be consistent with registration requirements
for Nurse Practitioner students. Proposes civil penalty for preceptors
violating state law.

*#*#*Omitted key words in 851-045-0100(2)(d) that were added by
temporary rulemaking process that was effective 4/26/12 %%
Rules Coordinator: Peggy A. Lightfoot—(971) 673-0638

851-045-0100
Imposition of Civil Penalties

(1) Imposition of a civil penalty does not preclude disciplinary sanc-
tion against the nurse’s license. Disciplinary sanction against the nurse’s
license does not preclude imposing a civil penalty. Criminal conviction
does not preclude imposition of a civil penalty for the same offense.

(2) Civil penalties may be imposed according to the following sched-
ule:

(a) Practicing nursing as a Licensed Practical Nurse (LPN),
Registered Nurse (RN), Nurse Practitioner (NP), Certified Registered
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Nurse Anesthetist (CRNA) or Clinical Nurse Specialist (CNS) without a
current license or certificate or Board required concurrent national certifi-
cation; or prescribing, dispensing, or distributing drugs without current pre-
scription writing authority, due to failure to renew and continuing to prac-
tice $50 per day, up to $5,000.

(b) Using a limited license to practice nursing for other than its
intended purpose $100 per day.

(c) Nurses not licensed in Oregon hired to meet a temporary staffing
shortage who fail to make application for an Oregon license by the day
placed on staff $100 per day up to $3,000.

(d) Practicing nursing prior to obtaining an Oregon license by exam-
ination or endorsement $100 per day.

(e) Nurse imposter up to $5,000. “Nurse Imposter” means an individ-
ual who has not attended or completed a nursing education program or who
is ineligible for nursing licensure or certification as a LPN, RN, NP, CRNA
or CNS and who practices or offers to practice nursing or uses any title,
abbreviation, card or device to indicate that the individual is so licensed or
certified to practice nursing in Oregon; and

(f) Conduct derogatory to the standards of nursing $1,000 — $5,000.
The following factors will be considered in determining the dollar amount,
to include, but not be limited to:

(A) Intent;

(B) Damage and/or injury to the client;

(C) History of performance in current and former employment set-
tings;

(D) Potential danger to the public health, safety and welfare;

(E) Prior offenses or violations including prior complaints filed with
the Board and past disciplinary actions taken by the Board;

(F) Severity of the incident;

(G) Duration of the incident; and

(H) Economic impact on the person.

(g) Violation of any disciplinary sanction imposed by the Board of
Nursing $1,000-$5,000.

(h) Conviction of a crime which relates adversely to the practice of
nursing or the ability to safely practice $1,000-$5000.

(i) Gross incompetence in the practice of nursing $2,500 — $5000.

(j) Gross negligence in the practice of nursing $2,500 — $5000.

(k) Employing any person without a current Oregon LPN, RN or
CRNA license, NP or CNS certificate to function as a LPN, RN, CRNA, NP
or CNS subject to the following conditions:

(A) Knowingly hiring an individual in a position of a licensed nurse
when the individual does not have a current, valid Oregon license or cer-
tificate $5,000; or

(B) Allowing an individual to continue practicing as a LPN, RN, NP,
CRNA or CNS Knowing that the individual does not have a current, valid
Oregon license or certificate $5,000.

(1) Employing a LPN, RN, NP, CRNA or CNS without a procedure in
place for checking the current status of that nurse’s license or certificate to
ensure that only those nurses with a current, valid Oregon license or cer-
tificate be allowed to practice nursing $5,000;

(m) Supplying false information regarding conviction of a crime, dis-
cipline in another state, physical or mental illness/physical handicap, or
meeting the practice requirement on an application for initial licensure or
re-licensure, or certification or recertification $5,000; and

(n) Precepting a nursing student at any level without verifying their

appropriate licensure, registration, or certification $5,000.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 678.150
Stats. Implemented: ORS 678.150 & 678.117
Hist.: BN 4-2008, f. & cert. ef. 6-24-08; BN 2-2012(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 4-26-12 thru 10-1-
12; BN 5-2012, f. 5-7-12, cert. ef. 6-1-12; BN 9-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-5-12

Board of Pharmacy
Chapter 855

Rule Caption: Adopt new Outlet Conduct rules.
Adm. Order No.: BP 2-2012

Filed with Sec. of State: 6-12-2012

Certified to be Effective: 6-12-12

Notice Publication Date: 5-1-2012

Rules Adopted: 855-041-0016
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Subject: Division 41 Drug Outlet conduct rules define the Grounds
for Discipline for outlets that fail to provide a working environment
that protects the health, safety and welfare of patients.

The complete text of these rules is available on the Board’s web-
site at www.pharmacy.state.or.us
Rules Coordinator: Karen MacLean—(971) 673-0001

855-041-0016
Grounds for Discipline

The State Board of Pharmacy may impose one or more of the follow-
ing penalties which includes: suspend, revoke, or restrict the license of an
outlet or may impose a civil penalty upon the outlet upon the following
grounds:

(1) Unprofessional conduct as defined in OAR 855-006-0005;

(2) Advertising or soliciting that may jeopardize the health, safety, or
welfare of the patient including, but not be limited to, advertising or solic-
iting that:

(a) Is false, fraudulent, deceptive, or misleading; or

(b) Makes any claim regarding a professional service or product or the
cost or price thereof which cannot be substantiated by the licensee.

(3) Failure to provide a working environment that protects the health,
safety and welfare of a patient which includes but is not limited to:

(a) Sufficient personnel to prevent fatigue, distraction or other condi-
tions that interfere with a pharmacist’s ability to practice with reasonable
competency and safety.

(b) Appropriate opportunities for uninterrupted rest periods and meal
breaks.

(c) Adequate time for a pharmacist to complete professional duties
and responsibilities including, but not limited to:

(A) Drug Utilization Review;

(B) Immunization;

(C) Counseling;

(D) Verification of the accuracy of a prescription; and

(E) All other duties and responsibilities of a pharmacist as specified
in Division 19 of this chapter of rules.

(4) Introducing external factors such as productivity or production
quotas or other programs to the extent that they interfere with the ability to
provide appropriate professional services to the public.

(5) Incenting or inducing the transfer of a prescription absent profes-

sional rationale.
Stat. Auth: ORS 689.151, 689.155(2), 689.205, 689.225(4)
Stat. Implemented: ORS 689.155
Hist.: BP 2-2012, f. & cert. ef 6-12-12

Board of Psychologist Examiners
Chapter 858

Rule Caption: Oregon Farm Direct Nutrition Program.

Adm. Order No.: BPE 2-2012

Filed with Sec. of State: 6-8-2012

Certified to be Effective: 6-8-12

Notice Publication Date: 5-1-2012

Rules Amended: 858-010-0001, 858-010-0010, 858-010-0011, 858-
010-0012, 858-010-0013, 858-010-0015, 858-010-0016, 858-010-
0017, 858-010-0020, 858-010-0025, 858-010-0030, 858-010-0036,
858-010-0037, 858-010-0038, 858-010-0039

Rules Repealed: 858-020-0065, 858-020-0095, 858-010-0010(T),
858-010-0011(T), 858-010-0012(T), 858-010-0013(T), 858-010-
0016(T), 858-010-0017(T)

Subject: The Oregon Health Authority, Public Health Division is
proposing to temporarily amend and adopt rules in OAR chapter 333,
division 52 to incorporate the eligibility and benefit requirements of
individuals participating in the Oregon Farm Direct Nutrition Pro-
gram. The addition of these requirements limits potential program
liability should an individual dispute benefit distribution.

Rules Coordinator: Debra Orman McHugh—(503) 373-1155

858-010-0001
Definitions

(1) The practice of psychology is defined to include:

(a) Evaluation means assessing or diagnosing mental disorders or
mental functioning, including administering, scoring, and interpreting tests
of mental abilities or personality;

(b) Therapy means treating mental disorders;
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(c) Consultation means conferring or giving expert advice on the
diagnosis or treatment of mental disorders;

(d) Supervision means the ongoing process performed by a supervi-
sor who monitors the performance of the person supervised and provides
regular, documented individual consultation, guidance and instruction with
respect to the skills and competencies of the person supervised.

(2) Applicant means a person who submits a complete application for
licensure with the appropriate fees.

(3) Applied psychology means providing psychological services out-
side of the health and mental health field and shall include:

(a) The provision of direct services to individuals and groups, using
psychological principles, methods, and/or procedures for the purpose of
enhancing individual and/or organizational effectiveness; or

(b) The provision of services to organizations that are provided for the
benefit of the organization and do not involve direct services to individuals.

(4) Board means the Oregon Board of Psychologist Examiners.

(5) Candidate for Licensure means a person who has satisfactorily
completed the appropriate educational and experience requirements for
licensure and has been deemed eligible by the Board to sit for the required
examinations.

(6) Client or patient means direct recipients of psychological servic-
es, which may include child, adolescent, adult, older adult, couple, family,
group, organization, community, or any other individual.

(7) Demonstrable areas of competence means those therapeutic and
assessment methods and techniques, and populations served, for which one
can document adequate graduate training, workshops, or appropriate super-
vised experience.

(8) Developed Areas of Practice means:

(a) National recognition of the practice area by a national organiza-
tion(s) whose purpose includes recognizing or representing and developing
the practice area, by relevant divisions of the APA, or by involvement in
similar umbrella organizations;

(b) An accumulated body of knowledge in the professional literature
that provides a scientific basis for the practice area including empirical sup-
port for the effectiveness of the services provided;

(c) Representation by or in a national training council that is recog-
nized, functional, and broadly accepted;

(d) Development and wide dissemination by the training council of
doctoral educational and training guidelines consistent with the
Accreditation Guidelines & Principles;

(e) Existence of the practice area in current education and training
programs; and

(f) Geographically dispersed psychology practitioners who identify
with the practice area and provide such services.

(9) Full-Time Graduate study is defined as six semester hours or nine
quarter hours.

(10) Practicum means a formal, pre-degree organized training experi-
ence designed to develop a foundation of clinical skills and professional
competence with diverse client populations, and to prepare for more sub-
stantial responsibilities required in internship.

(11) Internship means an ongoing, supervised and organized practical
experience obtained in an integrated training program identified as a psy-
chology internship. Other supervised experience or on-the-job training does
not constitute an internship.

(12) Professional psychology program means an integrated program
of doctoral study designed to train professional psychologists to deliver
services in psychology.

(13) Regional accrediting agency means one of the six regional
accrediting agencies recognized by the United States Secretary of
Education established to accredit senior institutions of higher education.

(14) Residency means a post-terminal degree, supervised experience
approved by the board.

(15) Specialty means a defined area of psychological practice that
requires advanced knowledge and skills acquired through an organized
sequence of education and training. The advanced knowledge and skills
specific to a specialty are obtained subsequent to the acquisition of core sci-
entific and professional foundations in psychology.

(16) Supervision means the ongoing process performed by a supervi-
sor who monitors the performance of the person supervised and provides
regular, documented individual and group consultation, guidance and
instruction with respect to the skills and competencies of the person super-
vised.

(17) Supervisor means an individual who assumes full responsibility
for the education and training activities of a person and provides the super-
vision required by such a person.
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(18) Treatment means services provided to an individual, group or
organization for the purpose of improving mental health and/or alleviating

behavioral, emotional or mental disorders.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 675.010 - 675.150
Stats. Implemented: ORS 675.110
Hist.: BPE 2-2002, f. & cert. ef. 2-27-02; BPE 2-2004, f. & cert. ef. 8-30-04; BPE 1-2008, f.
& cert. ef. 3-26-08; BPE 1-2010, f. & cert. ef. 1-8-10; BPE 3-2011, f. & cert. ef. 9-27-11; BPE
22012, f. & cert. ef. 6-8-12

858-010-0010
Education Requirements — Clinical Psychologist

To meet the education requirement of ORS 675.030(1), applicants for
licensure must:

(1) Possess a doctoral degree in psychology from a program accredit-
ed by the American Psychological Association or the Canadian
Psychological Association as of the date the degree was awarded; or

(2) Possess a doctoral degree in psychology from:

(a) A program at an institution of higher learning that was accredited
by a regional accrediting agency as of the date the degree was awarded;

(b) For Canadian universities, an institution of higher education that
is provincially or territorially chartered; or

(c) A foreign program evaluated to be equivalent to American
Psychological Association accreditation as of the date the degree was
awarded. Evaluation must be completed by a credentialing body recognized
by the Board. Submission of proof of foreign degree equivalency and cost
of the foreign degree equivalency determination are the responsibility of the
applicant.

(3) An applicant who possesses a degree under section (2) must show
that his or her doctoral program in psychology meets all of the following
requirements:

(a) A minimum of three academic years of full-time graduate study.

(b) A minimum of one continuous year in residence at the institution
from which the degree is granted.

(A) One continuous year means two consecutive semesters or three
consecutive quarters.

(B) In residence means physical presence, in person, at an education-
al institution or training facility in a manner that facilitates acculturation
into the profession, the full participation and integration of the individual in
the educational and training experience, and includes faculty and student
interaction.

(C) The doctoral program may include distance education, but a min-
imum of one continuous year of the program shall be in-residence.
Programs that use physical presence, including face-to-face contact for
durations of less than one continuous year, (e.g., multiple long weekends
and/or summer intensive sessions) or that use video teleconferencing or
other electronic means as a substitute for physical presence at the institu-
tion in order to meet the residency requirement are deemed not to be accept-
able for licensure.

(D) Training models that rely exclusively on physical presence for
periods of less than one continuous year (e.g., multiple long weekends
and/or summer intensive sessions) or that use video teleconferencing or
other electronic means as a substitute for physical presence at the institu-
tion do not meet the in residence requirement.

(c) The program, wherever it may be administratively housed, must be
clearly identified and labeled as a program in psychology. Such a program
must specify in pertinent institutional catalogues and brochures its intent to
educate and train professional psychologists.

(d) The psychology program must stand as a recognizable, coherent
organizational entity within the institution.

(e) There must be a clear authority and primary responsibility for the
core and specialty areas, whether or not the program cuts across adminis-
trative lines.

(f) The program must be an integrated, organized sequence of study.

(g) There must be an identifiable psychology faculty sufficient in size
and breadth to carry out its responsibilities and a psychologist responsible
for the program.

(h) The program must have an identifiable body of students who are
matriculated in that program for a degree.

(i) The program must include a coordinated, sequential and super-
vised practicum appropriate to the practice of psychology as described in
OAR 858-010-0012.

(j) The program must include a coordinated, sequential and super-
vised internship, field or laboratory training appropriate to the practice of
psychology as described in OAR 858-010-0013.

(k) The curriculum of the program must:
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(A) Encompass a minimum of three academic years of full time grad-
uate study, including a minimum of one continuous year in residence at the
educational institution granting the doctoral degree; and

(B) Require an original dissertation or equivalent that was psycholog-
ical in nature that meets the requirement for an approved doctoral program.

(1) The core program shall require every student to demonstrate com-
petence in each of the following substantive areas. This typically will be
met through substantial instruction in each of these foundational areas, as
demonstrated by a minimum of three graduate semester hours, five or more
graduate quarter hours (when an academic term is other than a semester,
credit hours will be evaluated on the basis of 15 hours of classroom instruc-
tion per semester hour).

(A) Scientific and professional ethics and standards;

(B) Research design and methodology;

(C) Statistics;

(D) Psychometric theory;

(E) Biological bases of behavior such as physiological psychology,
comparative psychology, neuropsychology, sensation and perception, and
psychopharmacology;

(F) Cognitive-affective bases of behavior such as learning, thinking,
motivation, and emotion; and

(G) Social bases of behavior such as social psychology, group
processes, organizational and systems theory.

(m) All professional education programs in psychology must include
course requirements in developed practice areas/specialties.

(n) The program must demonstrate that it provides training relevant to
the development of competence to practice in a diverse and multicultural
society.

(o) Demonstration of competence in clinical psychology shall be met
by including a minimum of at least 3 or more semester hours or 5 or more
quarter hours in each of the following clinical psychology content areas:

(A) Individual differences in behavior (e.g. personality theory, cultur-
al difference and diversity);

(B) Human development (e.g. child, adolescent, geriatric psycholo-
ey);

(C) Dysfunctional behavior, abnormal psychology or psychopatholo-
gy;

(D) Theories and methods of intellectual assessment and diagnosis;

(E) Theories and methods of personality assessment and diagnosis
including practical application;

(F) Effective interventions and evaluating the efficacy of interven-
tions; and

(G) Consultation and supervision.

(4) Provide syllabi or other documentation regarding course content

upon the Board’s request.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 675.030
Stats. Implemented: ORS 675.030(1)(b)(c)
Hist.: PE 6, f. 12-19-73, ef. 1-11-74; PE 1-1992, f. & cert. ef. 1-16-92; PE 3-1992, f. & cert.
ef. 7-14-92; PE 1-1996, f. & cert. ef. 6-25-96; PE 1-1997, f. & cert. ef. 6-17-97; BPE 1-
2001(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 8-31-01 thru 2-27-02; BPE 2-2002, f. & cert. ef. 2-27-02; BPE 1-
2008, f. & cert. ef. 3-26-08; BPE 1-2010, f. & cert. ef. 1-8-10; BPE 2-2010, f. & cert. ef. 9-
28-10; BPE 1-2011, f. & cert. ef. 1-25-11; BPE 2-2011, f. & cert. ef. 5-31-11; BPE 3-2011,
f. & cert. ef. 9-27-11; BPE 1-2012(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 2-15-12 thru 8-12-12; BPE 2-2012,
f. & cert. ef. 6-8-12

858-010-0011
Education Requirements — Applied Psychologist

To meet the education requirement of ORS 675.030(1), applicants for
licensure must:

(1) Possess a doctoral degree in psychology from a program accredit-
ed by the American Psychological Association or the Canadian
Psychological Association as of the date the degree was awarded; or

(2) Possess a doctoral degree in psychology from:

(a) A doctoral degree in psychology from a program at an institution
of higher learning that was accredited by a regional accrediting agency as
of the date the degree was awarded;

(b) For Canadian universities, an institution of higher education that
is provincially or territorially chartered; or

(c) A foreign degree from a program evaluated to be equivalent to
American Psychological Association accreditation as of the date the degree
was awarded. Evaluation must be completed by a credentialing body rec-
ognized by the Board. Submission of proof of foreign degree equivalency
and cost of the foreign degree equivalency determination are the responsi-
bility of the applicant.

(3) An applicant who possesses a degree under section (2) must show
that his or her doctoral program in psychology meets all of the following
requirements:

(a) A minimum of three academic years of full-time graduate study.
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(b) A minimum of one continuous year in residence at the institution
from which the degree is granted.

(A) One continuous year means two consecutive semesters or three
consecutive quarters.

(B) In residence means physical presence, in person, at an education-
al institution or training facility in a manner that facilitates acculturation
into the profession, the full participation and integration of the individual in
the educational and training experience, and includes faculty and student
interaction.

(C) The doctoral program may include distance education, but a min-
imum of one continuous year of the program shall be in-residence.
Programs that use physical presence, including face-to-face contact for
durations of less than one continuous year, (e.g., multiple long weekends
and/or summer intensive sessions) or that use video teleconferencing or
other electronic means as a substitute for physical presence at the institu-
tion in order to meet the residency requirement are deemed not to be accept-
able for licensure.

(D) Training models that rely exclusively on physical presence for
periods of less than one continuous year (e.g., multiple long weekends
and/or summer intensive sessions) or that use video teleconferencing or
other electronic means as a substitute for physical presence at the institu-
tion do not meet the in residence requirement.

(c) The program, wherever it may be administratively housed, must be
clearly identified and labeled as a program in psychology. Such a program
must specify in pertinent institutional catalogues and brochures its intent to
educate and train professional psychologists.

(d) The psychology program must stand as a recognizable, coherent
organizational entity within the institution.

(e) There must be a clear authority and primary responsibility for the
core and specialty areas, whether or not the program cuts across adminis-
trative lines.

(f) The program must be an integrated, organized sequence of study.

(g) There must be an identifiable psychology faculty sufficient in size
and breadth to carry out its responsibilities and a psychologist responsible
for the program.

(h) The program must have an identifiable body of students who are
matriculated in that program for a degree.

(i) The program must include a coordinated, sequential and super-
vised practicum appropriate to the practice of psychology as described in
OAR 858-010-0012.

(j) The program must include a coordinated, sequential and super-
vised internship, field or laboratory training appropriate to the practice of
psychology as described in OAR 858-010-0013.

(k) The curriculum of the program must:

(A) Encompass a minimum of three academic years of full time grad-
uate study, including a minimum of one continuous year in residence at the
educational institution granting the doctoral degree; and

(B) Require an original dissertation or equivalent that was psycholog-
ical in nature that meets the requirement for an approved doctoral program.

(1) The core program shall require every student to demonstrate com-
petence in each of the following substantive areas. This typically will be
met through substantial instruction in each of these foundational areas, as
demonstrated by a minimum of three graduate semester hours, five or more
graduate quarter hours (when an academic term is other than a semester,
credit hours will be evaluated on the basis of 15 hours of classroom instruc-
tion per semester hour).

(A) Scientific and professional ethics and standards;

(B) Research design and methodology;

(C) Statistics;

(D) Psychometric theory;

(E) Biological bases of behavior such as physiological psychology,
comparative psychology, neuropsychology, sensation and perception, and
psychopharmacology;

(F) Cognitive-affective bases of behavior such as learning, thinking,
motivation, and emotion;

(G) Social bases of behavior such as social psychology, group
processes, organizational and systems theory; and

(H) Individual differences in behavior (e.g. personality theory, cultur-
al difference and diversity).

(m) All professional education programs in psychology must include
course requirements in developed practice areas/specialties.

(n) The program must demonstrate that it provides training relevant to
the development of competence to practice in a diverse and multicultural
society.
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(o) Demonstration of competence in applied psychology shall be met
by including a minimum of 18 semester hours or 30 quarter hours in a con-
centrated program of study in an identified area of psychology, e.g., devel-
opmental, social, cognitive, motivation, applied behavioral analysis, indus-
trial/organizational, human factors, personnel selection and evaluation.

(4) Provide syllabi or other documentation regarding course content

upon the Board’s request.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 675.010 - 675.150
Stats. Implemented: ORS 675.030 & 675.110
Hist.: BPE 3-2011, f. & cert. ef. 9-27-11; BPE 1-2012(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 2-15-12 thru 8-
12-12; BPE 2-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-8-12

858-010-0012
Practicum

(1) The degree program required in OAR 858-010-0010(2), 858-010-
0011(2), or 858-010-0015 must include an organized practicum of at least
two semesters (or three quarters) and at least 300 hours of supervised psy-
chological services as defined in OAR 858-010-0036(1)(c).

(2) Supervision must include the following:

(a) Discussion of services provided by the student;

(b) Selection of service plan for and review of each case or work unit
of the student;

(c) Discussion of and instruction in theoretical concepts underlying
the work;

(d) Discussion of the management of professional practice and other
administrative or business issues;

(e) Evaluation of the supervisory process by the student and the super-
visor;

(f) Discussion of coordination of services among the professionals
involved in the particular cases or work units;

(g) Discussion of relevant state laws and rules;

(h) Discussion of ethical principles including principles applicable to
the work;

(i) Review of standards for providers of psychological services; and

(j) Discussion of reading materials relevant to cases, ethical issues and
the supervisory process.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 675.010 - 675.150

Stats. Implemented: ORS 675.030 & 675.110

Hist.: BPE 3-2011, f. & cert. ef. 9-27-11; BPE 1-2012(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 2-15-12 thru 8-
12-12; BPE 2-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-8-12

858-010-0013
Internship

(1) Applicants must successfully complete an organized internship as
part of the degree program required in OAR 858-010-0010(2), 858-010-
0011(2), or 858-010-0015.

(2) The internship must include at least 1,500 hours of supervised
experience and be completed within twenty-four months.

(3) The internship program must meet the following requirements:

(a) The internship must have a written statement or brochure describ-
ing the goals and content of the internship, stating clear expectations and
quality of student work, and made available to prospective interns.

(b) A psychologist licensed by the appropriate state or provincial
licensing authority must be clearly designated as responsible for the integri-
ty and quality of the internship program.

(c) Interns must use titles indicating their training status.

(d) The internship must be designed to provide a planned sequence of
training experiences focusing on breadth and quality of training.
Supervision and training related to ethics must be ongoing.

(e) At least twenty-five percent of the internship experience must be
in direct client contact providing assessment and intervention services.

(f) For every 40 hours of internship experience, the student must
receive:

(A) At least 2 hours of regularly scheduled, formal, face-to-face indi-
vidual supervision that addresses the direct psychological services provid-
ed by the intern; and

(B) At least 2 hours of other learning activities such as case confer-
ences, seminars on applied issues, conducting co-therapy with a staff per-
son including discussion of the case, and group supervision.

(3) Supervision of the internship experience.

(a) The internship setting must have two or more psychologists avail-
able as supervisors, at least one of whom is licensed as a psychologist.

(b) The internship experience must be supervised by the person(s)
responsible for the assigned casework.

(c) At least seventy-five percent of the supervision must be by a

licensed psychologist with two years post-license experience.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 675.010 - 675.150
Stats. Implemented: ORS 675.030 & 675.110
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Hist.: BPE 3-2011, f. & cert. ef. 9-27-11; BPE 1-2012(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 2-15-12 thru 8-
12-12; BPE 2-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-8-12

858-010-0015
Education Requirements — Psychologist Associate

(1) To meet the education requirement of ORS 675.030(1), an appli-
cant must possess a masters degree in psychology from a program at an
institution of higher learning that was accredited by a regional accrediting
agency at the graduate level as of the date the degree was awarded, or for
Canadian universities, an institution of higher education that was provin-
cially or territorially chartered.

(2) The masters program must include at least 45 quarter hours or 30
semester hours of graduate credit, 30 quarter hours or 20 semester hours of
which must be in graded (not “pass—no pass”) courses. Hours must be from
at least five of the basic areas of psychology including:

(a) Experimental psychology; Learning theory; Physiological psy-
chology; Motivation; Perception; Comparative psychology; Statistical
methods; Design of research; Developmental psychology; Individual dif-
ferences; Social psychology; Organizational psychology; Personality theo-
ry; Abnormal psychology; and

(b) A minimum of one graduate level course in ethics; and

(c) A minimum of one graduate level course psychological tests and

measurements.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 675.065
Stats. Implemented: ORS 675.065(1)(4)(c)
Hist.: PE 6, f. 12-19-73, ef. 1-11-74; PE 1-1979, f. & ef. 9-5-79; PE 1-1989(Temp), f. & cert.
ef. 2-24-89; PE 2-1989, f. & cert. ef. 5-24-89; PE 3-1989(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 9-7-89; PE 1-
1990, f. & cert. ef. 2-16-90; PE 3-1992, f. & cert. ef. 7-14-92; PE 1-1993(Temp), f. & cert.
ef. 2-12-93; PE 3-1993, f. & cert. ef. 4-13-93; PE 5-1993, f. & cert. ef. 10-6-93; PE 1-1995,
f. & cert. ef. 2-16-95; PE 1-1996, f. & cert. ef. 6-25-96; BPE 1-2001(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 8-
31-01 thru 2-27-02; BPE 1-2002(Temp), f. 1-28-02, cert. ef. 1-31-02 thru 2-27-02; BPE 2-
2002, f. & cert. ef. 2-27-02; BPE 2-2004, f. & cert. ef. 8-30-04; BPE 1-2008, f. & cert. ef. 3-
26-08; BPE 1-2010, f. & cert. ef. 1-8-10; BPE 2-2010, f. & cert. ef. 9-28-10; BPE 1-2011, f.
& cert. ef. 1-25-11; BPE 3-2011, f. & cert. ef. 9-27-11; BPE 2-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-8-12

858-010-0016
Standard Application Procedure

(1) Filing of Applications. Upon receipt of an application for licen-
sure, the Board shall process the application and determine if the appli-
cant’s file is ready for review. An application is considered ready for review
when the following items have been received:

(a) Final graduate level transcript(s) imprinted with date degree was
awarded

(b) Reference forms;

(c) Social Security Number Authorization Form;

(d) For non-APA accredited schools only:

(A) University Accreditation Form;

(B) Educational Record in Psychology Form; and

(C) Verification of pre-degree supervised work.

(e) Verification of post-degree supervised work experience (if com-
pleted);

(f) National written examination (EPPP) score (if taken);

(g) Verification of licensure in good standing in other states (if any);

(h) Application fee;

(i) Fingerprinting fee and results of the criminal background check;
and

(j) Other clarifying information requested by the Board.

(2) The Board may issue a license if the candidate for licensure:

(a) Meets the education requirements of OAR 858-010-0010, 858-
010-0011, or 858-010-0015;

(b) Completes the supervised work experience requirements of OAR
858-010-0036 or 858-010-0037.

(c) Passes the national written examination (EPPP); and

(d) Passes the Oregon jurisprudence examination.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 675.030

Stats. Implemented: ORS 675.030(1)(a), (b), (c), (d), (e) & (2)

Hist.: BPE 1-2010, f. & cert. ef. 1-8-10; BPE 2-2010, f. & cert. ef. 9-28-10; BPE 2-2011, f.
& cert. ef. 5-31-11; BPE 3-2011, f. & cert. ef. 9-27-11; BPE 1-2012(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 2-
15-12 thru 8-12-12; BPE 2-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-8-12

858-010-0017
Licensure by Endorsement

If an applicant possesses a current license to practice psychology
based on a doctoral degree in psychology that is issued by a board with
licensing standards substantially equivalent to Oregon, the applicant may
be licensed by endorsement.

(1) Applicants who have maintained an active psychologist license for
less than 10 years:

(a) Filing of Applications. Upon receipt of a complete Licensure by
Endorsement Application, the Board shall process the application and
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determine if the applicant’s file is ready for review. An application is con-
sidered ready for review when the following items have been received:

(A) Final graduate level transcript(s) imprinted with date degree was
awarded;

(B) Social Security Number Authorization Form;

(C) An official verification of licensure in good standing from each
health care professional license or registration, current or expired;

(D) A copy of the applicant’s:

(i) Licensure file from the state(s) in which the applicant is licensed;

(ii) CPQ file from ASPPB;

(iii) Certification file from ABPP; or

(iv) HSPP file from the National Register.

(E) Endorsement Reference Forms from three mental health profes-
sionals;

(F) National written examination (EPPP) score;

(G) Application fee; and

(H) Fingerprinting fee and results of criminal background check.

(b) The Board may issue a license if the candidate for licensure:

(A) Has met the educational requirements for licensure of OAR 858-
010-0010 or 858-010-0011;

(B) Has complied with the post-doctoral supervised work experience
requirements of OAR 858-010-0036;

(C) Passes the Oregon jurisprudence examination; and

(D) Has received a passing score on the National Written Examination
(EPPP).

(2) Applicants who have maintained an active psychologist license for
10 years or more:

(a) Filing of Applications. Upon receipt of a complete Licensure by
Endorsement Application, the Board shall process the application and
determine if the applicant’s file is ready for review. An application is con-
sidered ready for review when the following items have been received:

(A) Social Security Number Authorization Form;

(B) An official verification of licensure in good standing from each
health care professional license or registration, current or expired;

(C) A copy of the applicant’s:

(i) Licensure file from the state(s) in which the applicant is licensed;

(ii) CPQ file from ASPPB;

(iii) Certification file from ABPP; or

(iv) HSPP file from the National Register.

(D) Endorsement Reference Forms from three mental health profes-
sionals;

(E) National written examination (EPPP) score;

(F) Application fee; and

(G) Fingerprinting fee and results of criminal background check.

(b) The Board may issue a license if the candidate for licensure:

(A) Passes the Oregon jurisprudence examination; and

(B) Has received a passing score on the National Written Examination

(EPPP).
Stat. Auth.: ORS 675.030
Stats. Implemented: ORS 675.030
Hist.: BPE 1-2010, f. & cert. ef. 1-8-10; BPE 2-2010, f. & cert. ef. 9-28-10; BPE 2-2011, f.
& cert. ef. 5-31-11; BPE 3-2011, f. & cert. ef. 9-27-11; BPE 1-2012(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 2-
15-12 thru 8-12-12; BPE 2-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-8-12

858-010-0020
Process and Disposition of Application for License

(1) Application Review Procedure. When the application and all of
the required supporting documents have been received, the application file
shall be reviewed for eligibility. The reviewer shall either:

(a) Approve the application. When the reviewer determines the appli-
cation is complete, a letter of approval shall be sent notifying the applicant
of eligibility to take the EPPP and the Jurisprudence examination and to
enter into a Resident Supervision Contract.

(b) Deny the application. If the application is denied, the reviewer
shall send the applicant a letter stating the reason.

(c) Full Board review. Under unusual circumstances, the application
will be reviewed by the full Board for determination of disposition.

(d) Incomplete Application. If the application is incomplete, the
reviewer shall send the applicant a letter stating the reason.

(e) Request for Review. Applicants for licensure may request, in writ-
ing, that any decision by the reviewer be reconsidered by the Board.

(2) Active Application. The Board shall maintain an incomplete appli-
cation file for one year from the date the application was received. The
Board shall maintain a complete application file for two years from the date
the application was approved. A file shall be presumed inactive and
archived if correspondence from the Board is returned by the post office.
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(3) The Board may extend the active application period upon written
request prior to the expiration date. Failure to receive a courtesy reminder
notice from the Board shall not relieve an applicant of the responsibility to
request an extension.

(4) Reapplication. If an application for licensure has been denied by
the Board for any reason, the Board will not review a second application
until at least one year has lapsed from the date of the previous denial.

(5) Information Changes. An Applicant must notify the Board imme-
diately if any information submitted on the application changes, including
but not limited to: name; address and telephone number; complaints; disci-
plinary actions; and, civil, criminal, or ethical charges and employment
investigations which lead to termination or resignation. Failure to do so
may be grounds for denial of the application or revocation of the license,

once issued.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 675.040, 675.045 & 675.050
Stats. Implemented: ORS 675.040(1)(2)(3), 675.045(1)(2)(a)(b), 675.050(1)(a)(b)(2)
Hist.: PE 6, f. 12-19-73, ef. 1-11-74; PE 2-1989, f. & cert. ef. 5-24-89; PE 1-1996, f. & cert.
ef. 6-25-96; BPE 1-2001(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 8-31-01 thru 2-27-02; BPE 2-2002, f. & cert.
ef. 2-27-02; BPE 2-2004, f. & cert. ef. 8-30-04; BPE 1-2008, f. & cert. ef. 3-26-08; BPE 1-
2010, f. & cert. ef. 1-8-10; BPE 2-2010, f. & cert. ef. 9-28-10; BPE 3-2011, f. & cert. ef. 9-
27-11; BPE 2-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-8-12

858-010-0025
Procedure for Written Examination

(1) National Written Examination. The Board shall utilize the
Examination for Professional Practice in Psychology (EPPP) developed by
the Professional Examination Service (PES) for the Association of State
and Provincial Psychology Boards (ASPPB).

(a) Candidates for licensure who are prepared to take the EPPP must
submit a written request to the Board. The Board shall provide PES with the
names of eligible candidates.

(b) Candidates for licensure who have taken the EPPP prior to April
20, 1990, must have passed the examination by achieving a score at or
above the national mean of doctoral candidates taking the examination for
the first time on that day. Candidates who have taken the EPPP prior to
April 1993 must have passed the examination by achieving a score at or
above the national mean of doctoral candidates taking the examination for
the first time on that day or 75 percent, whichever is lower. The passing
score for the EPPP from April 1993 to April 2001 shall be 140 or 70 per-
cent. For computer administered forms of the EPPP, the Board requires a
scaled score of 500.

(c) Special Accommodations. The Board shall provide PES an
approval for special accommodations for a verified disability or for English
as a second language upon written request by the candidate as described in
OAR 858-010-0030(5).

(2) Re-examination. Any candidate who fails to achieve a passing
score on the EPPP shall be allowed to take the examination a second time.
If the examination is failed twice, the candidate must submit a written study
plan for the Board to review and approve. If a candidate fails to pass a third

examination, the candidate’s application for licensure shall be denied.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 675.040 & 675.045
Stats. Implemented: ORS 675.040 & 675.045
Hist.: PE 6, f. 12-19-73, ef. 1-11-74; PE 1-1979, f. & ef. 9-5-79; PE 1-1980, f. & ef. 3-10-80;
PE 1-1981(Temp), f. & ef. 12-9-81; PE 1-1982, f. 4-13-82, ef. 6-1-82; PE 2-1982, f. & ef. 7-
23-82; PE 2-1989, f. & cert. ef. 5-24-89; PE 1-1990, f. & cert. ef. 2-16-90; PE 1-1991, f. &
cert. ef. 4-3-91; PE 3-1993, f. & cert. ef. 4-13-93; PE 4-1993, f. & cert. ef. 7-19-93; PE 1-
1995, f. & cert. ef. 2-16-95; PE 1-1996, f. & cert. ef. 6-25-96; BPE 1-2001(Temp), f. & cert.
ef. 8-31-01 thru 2-27-02; BPE 2-2002, f. & cert. ef. 2-27-02; BPE 1-2008, f. & cert. ef. 3-26-
08; BPE 1-2010, f. & cert. ef. 1-8-10; BPE 3-2011, f. & cert. ef. 9-27-11; BPE 2-2012, f. &
cert. ef. 6-8-12

858-010-0030
Procedures for Oregon Jurisprudence Examination

(1) Jurisprudence Examination. The purpose of the examination is to
measure the candidate’s knowledge and application of state laws and regu-
lations related to the professional practice of psychology, including the
American Psychological Association’s ethical principles incorporated by
Board statute and rule.

(a) Candidates whose education credentials, training and references
have been accepted by the Board shall be notified in writing of their eligi-
bility take the jurisprudence examination.

(b) The jurisprudence examination shall be administered at least twice
a year.

(2) Eligible candidates prepared to take the jurisprudence examina-
tion must submit a written request to the Board postmarked at least 30 days
prior to the examination date and pay the examination fee.

(3) The jurisprudence examination fee is not refundable except in
extraordinary circumstances.
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(4) The applicant shall be given no less than two weeks’ notice of the
date, time and place of the applicant’s scheduled examination. Appearance
at the scheduled examination shall constitute a waiver of the prior written
notice.

(5) Special Accommodations. Requests for special accommodations
for a disability or for English as a second language must be made at the time
the written request to sit for the examination is made, or when the disabili-
ty becomes known to the applicant. The request must include:

(a) Written verification of the disability from a qualified care provider
(i.e. a person certified or licensed by the state to provide such services)
detailing:

(A) Nature, extent and duration of disability; and

(B) Recommendation(s) for accommodation.

(b) English as a Second Language: Written request for reasonable
accommodation detailing:

(A) Level of proficiency in English including, but not limited to, num-
ber of years speaking and/or writing English;

(B) History of special accommodations granted in similar testing cir-
cumstances;

(C) Other information to support request for special accommodation;
and

(D) Recommendation(s) for accommodation.

(6) Administration.

(a) The Board shall determine the questions on each examination and
shall determine the passing score.

(b) The Board shall provide a Candidate Handbook that includes a
copy of the Board’s examination rules, an explanation of the Board require-
ments related to scheduling and conduct during the examination, and cur-
rent examination study materials. The Candidate Handbook shall be avail-
able at all times on the Board’s website.

(c) Disqualification. A candidate sitting for the jurisprudence exami-
nation may be disqualified during or after the examination for conduct
which affects the integrity of the candidate’s performance or the examina-
tion. Disqualification will result in denial of the candidate’s application.

(7) Scoring. Candidates shall be assigned a number so test scorers do
not know the identity of the test taker until the examination report is pre-
pared for the Board. The Board shall notify each candidate in writing
regarding the result of the examination within one week of the date of the
examination. If a candidate has a complaint under investigation, the Board
may delay issuing the licensure of that candidate until the complaint has
been resolved.

(8) Reconsideration, Review and Reexamination.

(a) Within thirty days after notice of the examination results, a candi-
date who does not pass the examination may appeal in writing to have their
examination rescored.

(b) Review. A candidate who does not pass the examination may
review the examination record of incorrect questions and answers at the
Board’s office within a period of ninety days following the date of the
examination and upon written request to the Board. The purpose of the
review is to assist the candidate prepare to retake the examination. No more
than one review shall be allowed.

(c) Reexamination. A candidate who does not pass the examination
may be reexamined. If a candidate does not pass the second examination
and wishes to take a third examination the candidate must submit a study
plan for the Board’s review and approval prior to sitting for the third exam-
ination. If a candidate fails to pass the third examination, the candidate’s
application for licensure shall be denied.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 675.030, 675.040, 675.045, 675.050 & 675.065

Stats. Implemented: ORS 675.030, 675.040, 675.045, 675.050 & 675.065

Hist.: PE 6, f. 12-19-73, ef. 1-11-74; PE 1-1979, f. & ef. 9-5-79; PE 1-1981(Temp), f. & ef.

12-9-81; PE 1-1982, f. 4-13-82, ef. 6-1-82; PE 2-1982, f. & ef. 7-23-82; PE 1-1985(Temp),

f. & ef. 12-20-85; PE 1-1986, f. & ef. 7-1-86; PE 1-1988, f. & cert. ef. 7-25-88; PE 3-

1988(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 11-30-88; PE 1-1990, f. & cert. ef. 2-16-90; PE 1-1991, f. & cert.

ef.4-3-91; PE 2-1991, f. 8-15-91, cert. ef. 8-16-91; PE 3-1992(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 12-10-91;

PE 1-1992, f. & cert. ef. 1-16-92; PE 3-1992, f. & cert. ef. 7-14-92; PE 1-1995, f. & cert. ef.

2-16-95; PE 1-1996, f. & cert. ef. 6-25-96; PE 1-1997, f. & cert. ef. 6-17-97; BPE 1-

2000(Temp), £. 3-8-00, cert. ef. 3-8-00 thru 9-4-00; BPE 3-2000, . & cert. ef. 9-7-00; BPE

1-2001(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 8-31-01 thru 2-27-02; BPE 2-2002, f. & cert. ef. 2-27-02; BPE

4-2002, f. & cert. ef. 10-11-02; BPE 1-2004(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 3-2-04 thru 8-29-04; BPE

2-2004, f. & cert. ef. 8-30-04; BPE 1-2006, £. 8-29-06, cert. ef. 9-1-06; BPE 1-2008, f. & cert.

ef. 3-26-08; BPE 1-2010, f. & cert. ef. 1-8-10; BPE 2-2010, f. & cert. ef. 9-28-10; BPE 2-
2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-8-12

858-010-0036
Guidelines for Post-Doctoral Supervised Work Experience

(1) Policy. One year of post-doctoral supervised work experience is
required for licensure. The required work experience must take place after
the doctorate degree is conferred.
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(a) One year of supervised work experience is defined as 1,500 hours
of clinical or applied psychological services performed over a period not
less than twelve months.

(b) Psychological services are defined as direct psychological servic-
es to an individual, group or organization; diagnosis and assessment; com-
pleting documentation related to services provided; client needs meetings
and consultation; psychological testing; research related to client services;
report writing; and receiving formal training including workshops and con-
ferences.

(c) For the purposes of licensure, psychological services do not
include business development; credentialing activities; marketing; purchas-
ing; creating forms; administrative billing or other business management
activities.

(2) The following guidelines shall be used by the Board to define
supervised employment.

(a) While obtaining postdoctoral supervised work experience in
Oregon, the candidate for licensure must be in a Board approved Resident
Supervision Contract:

(A) Working under the supervision of an Oregon licensed psycholo-
gist licensed in Oregon for at least two years; or

(B) Working under the supervision of an Oregon licensed psycholo-
gist licensed for at least two years in a state with licensing standards com-
parable to Oregon.

(b) To receive supervised work experience credit from other jurisdic-
tions, the experience must be a formal arrangement under the supervision
of a psychologist who has been licensed for at least two years in a state with
licensing standards comparable to Oregon.

(3) Candidates for licensure shall be eligible to enter into a Resident
Supervision Contract as described in subsection (2)(a) of this rule.

(a) Resident status shall begin the date the Board approves the
Resident Supervision Contract.

(b) Duration. The resident status is a transitional step toward licensure
and is not intended as a means to avoid licensure. A Resident Supervision
Contract shall be effective for a period not to exceed two years from the
date of Board approval. The Board may extend the contract beyond two
years upon a written request from the resident and the supervisor prior to
the expiration of the contract. Failure to receive a courtesy reminder notice
from the Board shall not relieve the resident of the responsibility to request
an extension.

(c) Termination of a Resident Supervision Contract will be granted by
the Board at the written request of the supervisor or the resident. The ter-
mination shall be effective at the time the Board approves the request in
writing, or on the date indicated by the supervisor in the final residency
evaluation, whichever is later.

(d) If the supervisor is to be paid for supervision payment must be in
the form of a per-hour fee.

(e) Supervision of more than three residents concurrently shall require
prior approval by the Board.

(4) Resident’s Responsibilities. The resident’s conduct must conform
to the following standards:

(a) Title. The resident must be designated at all times by the title “psy-
chologist resident.” All signed materials, letterhead, business cards, tele-
phone directory listings, internet postings, brochures, insurance billing and
any other public or private representation must include the individual’s title
as “psychologist resident” and the supervisor’s name and designation
“supervisor.”

(b) Scope of Practice. The resident will only offer services in those
areas that the supervisor is competent.

(c) Nature of Supervision. The resident must obtain frequent and reg-
ular supervision meetings throughout the duration of the Resident
Supervision Contract. The resident must provide the supervisor with a peri-
odic evaluation of all cases and psychological activities in which the resi-
dent is engaged. The resident’s practice must comply with Oregon laws and
administrative rules.

(d) The supervisor is not required to be working on-site with the res-
ident.

(e) Non-routine individual supervision may occur by electronic
means when geographical distance, weather or emergency prohibit a face-
to-face meeting.

(f) Frequency:

(A) If a resident works 1-20 hours in a week the resident must at least
one hour of individual supervision every week.

(B) If a resident works more than 20 hours in a week the resident must
receive at least two hours of supervision every week. One hour must be
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individual and one hour may be group supervision. Group supervision must
be:

(i) A formal and on-going group of at least three mental health pro-
fessionals;

(ii) Facilitated by a licensed psychologist; and

(iii) Approved by the resident’s supervisor.

(C) On a non-routine basis individual supervision may be delayed up
to 14 days to accommodate vacations, illness, travel or inclement weather.

(g) In the absence of the primary supervisor, not to exceed fourteen
days, one-on-one supervision hours may be conducted retroactively;

(h) Confidentiality. The resident must advise all clients orally and in
their informed consent policy that the supervisor may have access to all
information and material relevant to the client’s case.

(i) Promptly communicate to the Board any significant interruption or
expected termination of the Resident Supervision Contract;

(j) The resident must discuss with their supervisor the Supervisor
Evaluation Report at the conclusion or termination of the Resident
Supervision Contract.

(5) Responsibilities of the Supervisor. The supervisor’s conduct must
conform to the following standards:

(a) Closely review, supervise and evaluate representative and problem
cases with attention to diagnostic evaluation, treatment planning, ongoing
case management, emergency intervention, recordkeeping and termination;

(b) Countersign all psychological reports and professional correspon-
dence produced by the resident; and ensure that letterhead, business cards,
telephone directory listings, internet postings, brochures, insurance billing
and any other public or private representation includes the appropriate title
of “clinical psychologist resident” or “psychologist associate resident” and
the supervisor’s name and designation as “supervisor.” Client progress
notes do not need to be co-signed by the supervisor.

(c) Review with the resident, Oregon laws and administrative rules
related to the practice of psychology, including the current APA “Ethical
Principles of Psychologists and Code of Conduct,” professional relation-
ships and referrals, protection of records, billing practices, recordkeeping
and report writing;

(d) Assist the psychologist resident in developing a plan to prepare for
the national written exam and the Oregon jurisprudence examination;

(e) Promptly communicate to the Board any professional or ethical
concerns regarding the resident’s conduct or performance;

(f) Promptly communicate to the Board any significant interruption or
expected termination of the Resident Supervision Contract;

(g) Ensure that the resident has access to supervision by telephone to
discuss urgent matters, if the supervisor is unavailable for any reason, dur-
ing a period not to exceed fourteen days;

(h) Keep notes of each supervisory session, and provide them to the
Board upon request;

(i) Maintain a record of hours of supervision and provide it to the
Board upon request;

(j) Provide the Board with an interim Resident Evaluation Report
upon request; and

(k) Provide the Board with a final Resident Evaluation Report at the
conclusion or termination of the Resident Supervision Contract.

(6) Associate Supervisor. Any supervision of the resident by a person
other than the primary supervisor must be identified in the Resident
Contract and approved by the Board.

(a) The associate supervisor is responsible for providing supervision
as described in section (5) of this rule in the event that the primary super-
visor is unavailable for any reason; and

(b) The associate supervisor is responsible for reporting any profes-
sional or ethical concerns regarding the resident’s conduct or performance
to the primary supervisor and the Board.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 675.030, 675.040, 675.045, 675.050, 675.065 & 675.110

Stats. Implemented: ORS 675.030, 675.040, 675.045, 675.050, 675.065, 675.110

Hist.: PE 1-1988, f. & cert. ef. 7-25-88; PE 1-1990, f. & cert. ef. 2-16-90; PE 1-1991, f. &

cert. ef. 4-3-91; PE 2-1991, f. 8-15-91, cert. ef. 8-16-91; PE 4-1993, f. & cert. ef. 7-19-93; PE

1-1996, f. & cert. ef. 6-25-96; BPE 2-2002, f. & cert. ef. 2-27-02; BPE 4-2002, f. & cert. ef.

10-11-02; BPE 1-2008, f. & cert. ef. 3-26-08; BPE 1-2010, f. & cert. ef. 1-8-10; BPE 2-2010,

f. & cert. ef. 9-28-10; BPE 1-2011, f. & cert. ef. 1-25-11; BPE 2-2011, f. & cert. ef. 5-31-11;
BPE 3-2011, f. & cert. ef. 9-27-11; BPE 2-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-8-12

858-010-0037
Supervised Work Experience — Psychologist Associate

(1) Applicants must complete a one year full-time internship or one
year of other supervised learning practicum deemed equivalent by the
Board. The internship or practicum must meet the requirements of OAR
858-010-0012 or 858-010-0013.
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(2) Applicants must complete three years of full-time post-masters
degree supervised work experience. The guidelines used by the Board to
define the three-year supervised work experience requirement for psychol-
ogist associate applicants shall conform to those guidelines used in OAR
858-010-0036, except that:

(a) The resident shall be designated at all times by the title “psychol-
ogist associate resident”; and

(b) A Resident Supervision Contract will be effective for a period not
to exceed four years. The Board, in its discretion, may extend the contract

beyond four years.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 675.065 & 675.110
Stats. Implemented: ORS 675.065 & 675.110
Hist.: BPE 1-2010, f. & cert. ef. 1-8-10; BPE 3-2011, f. & cert. ef. 9-27-11; BPE 2-2012, f.
& cert. ef. 6-8-12

858-010-0038
Continued Supervision — Licensed Psychologist Associate

Before the initial license is issued, the psychologist associate and the
supervising psychologist must submit a “Contract for Continued
Supervision of a Licensed Psychologist Associate.” Day-to-day supervision
of the licensed psychologist associate is the responsibility of the supervisor
and includes such face-to-face consultation as is required by the nature of
the work of th psychologist associate, and is consistent with accepted pro-

fessional practices in psychology.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 675.065 & 675.110
Stats. Implemented: ORS 675.065 & 675.110
Hist.: BPE 1-2010, f. & cert. ef. 1-8-10; BPE 3-2011, f. & cert. ef. 9-27-11; BPE 2-2012, f.
& cert. ef. 6-8-12

858-010-0039
Application for Independent Status — Psychologist Associate

A licensed psychologist associate may apply to the Board for
approval to function as an independent psychologist associate. Independent
status ill be granted only after at least three years of work as a licensed psy-
chologist associate or a psychologist at a demonstrated high level of pro-

fessional proficiency.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 675.065 & 675.110
Stats. Implemented: ORS 675.065 & 675.110
Hist.: BPE 1-2010, f. & cert. ef. 1-8-10; BPE 1-2011, f. & cert. ef. 1-25-11; BPE 3-2011, f.
& cert. ef. 9-27-11; BPE 2-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-8-12

Bureau of Labor and Industries
Chapter 839

Rule Caption: Temporary rules clarifying that complaints under
ORS 654.062 need not be notarized written complaints.

Adm. Order No.: BLI 5-2012(Temp)

Filed with Sec. of State: 6-13-2012

Certified to be Effective: 6-13-12 thru 12-10-12

Notice Publication Date:

Rules Adopted: 839-003-0031

Rules Amended: 839-003-0005, 839-003-0025, 839-003-0200
Subject: The temporary rules will clarify that complaints under ORS
654.062 may be filed without a notarized signature on the complaint.
Rules Coordinator: Marcia Ohlemiller—(971) 673-0784

839-003-0005
Definitions

For purposes of these rules:

(1) “Administrator” means the Administrator of the Civil Rights
Division of the Bureau of Labor and Industries or a designee of the admin-
istrator.

(2) “Bureau” means the Bureau of Labor and Industries.

(3) “Commissioner” means the Commissioner of the Bureau of Labor
and Industries or a designee of the commissioner.

(4) “Complaint” means for the purpose of ORS Chapter 659A, except
complaints under OSEA, ORS 659A.145 or 659A.421 or federal housing
law, a written, verified statement that:

(a) Gives the name and address of the complainant and the respon-
dent;

(b) Identifies the protected class basis of the complaint;

(c) Is signed by the complainant;

(d) Describes the actions complained of, including:

(A) The date(s) of occurrence;

(B) What the action was and how it harmed the complainant; and

(C) The causal connection between the complainant’s protected class
and the alleged harm.
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(5) “Complainant” means a person filing a complaint personally or
through an attorney.

(6) “Days,” unless otherwise stated in the text of a document, means
calendar days. “Work days” means Monday through Friday, except holi-
days officially recognized by the State of Oregon or the federal govern-
ment.

(7) “Division” means the Civil Rights Division of the Bureau of Labor
and Industries.

(8) “EEOC” means the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission
of the federal government.

(9) “Federal Housing Law” means The Fair Housing Act (42 U.S.C.
3601 et seq.) for which the U.S. Department of Housing And Urban
Development (“HUD”) has jurisdiction.

(10) “Notice” means written information delivered personally or sent
by mail to the person’s last known personal or business address or business
address of the person’s designated representative.

(11) “OSEA” means the Oregon Safe Employment Act, ORS 654.001
et seq.

(12) “Protected class” means a group of people protected by law from
discrimination on the basis of a shared characteristic, or a perception of that
characteristic, such as race, sex, age, disability or other.

(13) “Person” has the meaning given in ORS 659A.001(9).

(14) “Respondent” includes any person or other entity against whom
a complaint or charge of unlawful practices is filed with the division or
whose name has been added to such complaint or charge pursuant to ORS
659A.835(1).

(15) “Formal Charges” are formal charges drafted and issued by the
bureau’s Hearings Unit.

(16) “Substantial evidence” means proof that a reasonable person
would accept as sufficient to support the allegations of the complaint.

(17) “Substantial Evidence Determination” means the division’s writ-
ten findings of substantial evidence.

(18) “Written verified complaint” means a complaint that is:

(a) In writing; and

(b) Under oath or affirmation.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 659A 805

Stats. Implemented: ORS 659A

Hist.: BL 7-1981, f. & ef. 6-25-81; BL 7-1982, f. & ef. 4-22-82; BL 4-1996, f. & cert. ef. 3-

12-96; BLI 11-2000, f. & cert. ef. 3-24-00; BLI 10-2002, f. & cert. ef. 5-17-02; BLI 36-2007

f. 12-27-07 cert. ef. 1-1-08; BLI 7-2008(Temp), f. 3-20-08, cert. ef. 3-25-08 thru 9-21-08;

Administrative correction 10-21-08; BLI 40-2008(Temp), f. 11-10-08, cert. ef. 11-12-08 thru

5-1-09; BLI 43-2008, f. 12-3-08, cert. ef. 12-5-08; BLI 6-2010, f. & cert. ef. 2-24-10; BLI 8-

2011, f. 10-13-11, cert. ef. 10-14-11; BLI 5-2012(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 6-13-12 thru 12-10-12

839-003-0025
Filing a Complaint

This section does not apply to complaints under OSEA, ORS
659A.145 or 659A 421or federal housing law. Complaints under OSEA
must be filed in accordance with OAR 839-003-0031. Complaints of hous-
ing discrimination must be filed in accordance with 839-003-0200.

(1) A person or the person’s attorney may file a complaint, in person
or by mail, with the division at any bureau office in the state of Oregon. The
complaint must meet the standards provided in OAR 839-003-0005(4).

(2) The filing date is the date the division receives a complaint that
meets the standards contained in OAR 839-003-0005(4).

(3) Except as provided in OAR 839-003-0031, a person must file a
complaint with the division no later than one year after the alleged unlaw-
ful practice. If the alleged unlawful practice is of a continuing nature, the
right to file a complaint exists so long as the person files the complaint
within one year of the most recent date the unlawful practice occurred.

(4) A person alleging constructive discharge must file a discrimination
complaint with the division within one year of the date the discharge
occurred.

(5) The procedures for filing a complaint are as follows:

(a) A person or the person’s attorney makes an inquiry to the division;

(b) The division may provide the person or the person’s attorney with
a letter of information and/or questionnaire to assist in determining if there
is a basis for filing a complaint;

(c) If the division determines the person has a basis for filing a com-
plaint, the division will draft a complaint based upon the information pro-
vided by the person and send or give the complaint to the person or the per-
son’s attorney for verification. The person or the person’s attorney will
request any necessary changes to the complaint.

(d) The person will verify and sign the complaint. The complaint will
then be submitted to the division.

(e) If the person is an unemancipated minor the complaint must be
signed by the minor and the parent or legal guardian of the minor.
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Stat. Auth.: ORS 659A.805

Stats. Implemented: ORS 654.062 & 659A

Hist.: BL 7-1981, f. & ef. 6-25-81; BL 4-1996, f. & cert. ef. 3-12-96; BL 2-1998, f. & cert.
ef. 2-3-98; BLI 11-2000, f. & cert. ef. 3-24-00; BLI 10-2002, f. & cert. ef. 5-17-02; BLI 12-
2004, f. 10-22-04 cert. ef. 10-25-04; BLI 19-2007(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 7-18-07 thru 1-1-08;
BLI 29-2007, f. 9-27-07 cert. ef. 10-1-07; BLI 7-2008(Temp), f. 3-20-08, cert. ef. 3-25-08
thru 9-21-08; Administrative correction 10-21-08; BLI 40-2008(Temp), f. 11-10-08, cert. ef.
11-12-08 thru 5-1-09; BLI 43-2008, f. 12-3-08, cert. ef. 12-5-08; BLI 6-2010, f. & cert. ef. 2-
24-10; BLI 8-2011, f. 10-13-11, cert. ef. 10-14-11; BLI 5-2012(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 6-13-12
thru 12-10-12

839-003-0031
Filing a Complaint Under the Oregon Safe Employment Act

(1) A person or the person’s attorney may file a complaint under
OSEA, in person or by mail, with the division at any bureau office in the
state of Oregon. Complaint means a written statement signed by the com-
plainant that:

(a) Gives the name and address of the complainant and the respon-
dent;

(b) Identifies the protected class basis of the complaint;

(c) Is signed by the complainant;

(d) Describes the actions complained of, including:

(A) The date(s) of occurrence;

(B) What the action was and how it harmed the complainant; and

(C) The causal connection between the complainant’s protected class
and the alleged harm.

(2) A person alleging discrimination for reporting or opposing unsafe
or unhealthy work conditions under ORS 654.062 must contact the division
within 90 days of having reasonable cause to believe that such violation has
occurred. An employee would have reasonable cause to believe a violation
has occurred on the earliest date that the employee:

(a) Believed retaliation had occurred against the employee for oppos-
ing employee health and safety hazards; and

(b) Knew or should have known of the right to file a complaint with
the division and of the requirement that the complaint be filed within 90
days of the alleged retaliation.

(A) If a notice required by OSEA, as provided in OAR 437-001-
0275(2)(a), was properly posted in the employee’s workplace, continuous-
ly on and following the date of the alleged retaliation, the division will find
that the employee knew or should have known of the 90-day filing require-
ment.

(B) If the employer failed to post the required OSEA poster, the 90-
day filing requirement will begin on the date the employee learned of the
right to file a complaint and of the 90-day filing requirement. The employ-
ee may establish this date based on the employee’s own statement or other
evidence offered by the employee.

(C) If the employer disagrees with the employee’s presented date as
the date the employee learned of the right to file a complaint, the burden is
on the employer to show that the employee knew or should have known on
an earlier date.

(D) If extenuating circumstances exist, the division may extend the

90-day period as provided in 29 CFR 1977.15(3).
Stat. Auth.: ORS 659A.805
Stats. Implemented: ORS 654062 & Ch 659A
Hist.: BLI 5-2012(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 6-13-12 thru 12-10-12

839-003-0200
Filing a Complaint Under State and Federal Housing Discrimination
Laws

(1) A person claiming to be aggrieved by an alleged unlawful practice
under ORS 659A.145 or 659A.421 or discrimination under federal housing
law includes a person who believes that the person has been injured by an
unlawful practice or discriminatory housing practice or will be injured by
an unlawful practice or discriminatory housing practice that is about to
occur.

(2) A person claiming to be aggrieved by an alleged unlawful practice
under ORS 659A.145 or 659A.421 or discrimination under federal housing
law or the person’s attorney, or the commissioner may file a complaint, in
person or by mail, with the division at any bureau office in the state of
Oregon. Complaint means a written statement signed by the complainant
that:

(a) Gives the name and address of the complainant and the respon-
dent;

(b) Describes the acts or omissions alleged to be an unlawful practice,
including those acts or omissions the person believes are about to occur
and;

(c) Describes how the person was harmed or will be harmed by such
actions.
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(3) The filing date is the date the division receives a complaint that
meets the standards contained in OAR 839-003-0200(2).

(4) A person must file a complaint with the division no later than one
year after the alleged unlawful practice. If the alleged unlawful practice is
of a continuing nature, the right to file a complaint exists so long as the per-
son files the complaint within one year of the most recent date the unlaw-
ful practice occurred.

(5) The procedures for filing a complaint are as follows:

(a) A person or the person’s attorney makes an inquiry to the division;

(b) The division may provide the person or the person’s attorney with
a letter of information and/or questionnaire;

(c) If the division determines the person has a basis for filing a com-
plaint, the division will draft a complaint based upon the information pro-
vided by the person and send or give the complaint to the person or the per-
son’s attorney for verification. The person or the person’s attorney will
request any necessary changes to the complaint.

(d) The person will verify and sign the complaint. The complaint will
then be submitted to the division.

(e) If the person is an unemancipated minor the complaint must be
signed by the minor and the parent or legal guardian of the minor.

(6) The Division will serve notice upon the complainant acknowledg-
ing the filing of the complaint and advising the complainant of the time lim-
its and choice of forums provided under ORS chapter 659A and federal
housing law.

(7) Within 10 days after the filing of a complaint, the division will
serve the respondent with a copy of the original complaint that identifies the
alleged discriminatory housing practice and a notice that advises the
respondent of the procedural rights and obligations of the Respondent,
including the respondent’s right to file an answer to the complaint.

(8) Each respondent may file, not later than 10 days after receipt of

notice from the division, an answer to such complaint.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 659A.805
Stats. Implemented: 659A.145, 659A 421, 659A.820, 42 U.S.C. 3601 et seq.
Hist.: BLI 36-2007, f. 12-27-07 cert. ef. 1-1-08; BLI 7-2008(Temp), f. 3-20-08, cert. ef. 3-25-
08 thru 9-21-08; Administrative correction 10-21-08; BLI 40-2008(Temp), . 11-10-08, cert.
ef. 11-12-08 thru 5-1-09; BLI 43-2008, f. 12-3-08, cert. ef. 12-5-08; BLI 6-2010, f. & cert.
ef. 2-24-10; BLI 5-2012(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 6-13-12 thru 12-10-12

Department of Agriculture
Chapter 603

Rule Caption: Inspection fee increase and correction of ORS
reference in rule.
Adm. Order No.: DOA 12-2012
Filed with Sec. of State: 5-17-2012
Certified to be Effective: 1-1-13
Notice Publication Date: 4-1-2012
Rules Amended: 603-059-0020
Subject: Increase inspection fees for each ton of fertilizer, agricul-
tural mineral, agricultural amendment from thirty five cents ($0.35)
to forty five cents ($0.45).

Increase inspection fees for each ton of gypsum from three cents
($0.03) to five cents ($0.05).

Correct reference erroneously listed as ORS 633.310 to the
correct reference of ORS 633.311.
Rules Coordinator: Sue Gooch—(503) 986-4583

603-059-0020
Inspection Fees

(1) The inspection fees authorized to be established by ORS 633 and
payable under ORS 633 are as follows:

(a) Forty five cents ($0.45) for each ton of fertilizer;

(b) Forty five cents ($0.45) for each ton of agricultural mineral;

(c) Forty five cents ($0.45) for each ton of agricultural amendment;

(d) Five cents ($0.5) for each ton of fertilizer, agricultural mineral, or
agricultural amendment containing 100% “compost” as defined in ORS
633311.

(e) Five cents ($0.05) for each ton of gypsum.

(2) A portion of the inspection fees paid to the department for fertil-
izer, agricultural minerals and agricultural amendments shall be continu-
ously appropriated for the purpose of funding grants for research and devel-
opment related to the interaction of fertilizer, agricultural mineral or agri-
cultural amendment products and ground water or surface water as
described in ORS 633. The portion of fees so appropriated shall be deter-
mined by the Department based on the recommendation of the Fertilizer
Research Committee (ORS 633.479).
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(3) The inspection fees specified in section (1) of this rule shall be in

effect commencing January 1, 2013.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 561.190 & 633 as amended by Ch. 914 OL 2001
Stats. Implemented: ORS 561.190 & 633
Hist.: AD 1071(17-75), f. & ef. 11-20-75; AD 10-1978, f. & ef. 7-10-78; AD 15-1983,f. 11-
23-83, ef. 12-31-83; AD 14-1989, f. 10-12-89, cert. ef. 10-9-89; AD 1-1996, f. & cert. ef. 2-
12-96; DOA 24-2001, f. & cert. ef. 10-15-01; DOA 12-2004, f. 4-15-04 cert. ef. 7-1-04; DOA
12-2012, . 5-17-12, cert. ef. 1-1-13

Rule Caption: Updates State Shellfish Rules and Distribution
Regulations for Non-Interstate Approved Harvest Areas.

Adm. Order No.: DOA 13-2012

Filed with Sec. of State: 5-29-2012

Certified to be Effective: 1-1-13

Notice Publication Date: 4-1-2012

Rules Adopted: 603-100-0050

Rules Amended: 603-100-0000, 603-100-0010

Subject: Currently, OAR 603-100-0010 refers to the 2005 Revision
of the National Shellfish Sanitation Program’s Guide for the Control
of Molluscan Shellfish. It is being amended to refer to the 2009 Revi-
sion in order to keep Oregon’s Shellfish Program current. OAR 603-
100-0000 supplies the definitions used in the State Shellfish Rules.
It is being amended so the definitions will be consistent throughout
the State Shellfish Rules, including the proposed OAR 603-100-
0050. OAR 603-100-0050 will clarify regulations regarding non-
interstate approved harvest areas. Dealers listed in the Interstate Cer-
tified Shellfish Shippers List (ICSSL) are not allowed to possess or
sell shellstock harvested from non-interstate approved harvest areas.
Also, the rule will require tags for shellstock harvested from non-
interstate approved harvest areas to include the phrase, “OREGON
DISTRIBUTION ONLY”

Rules Coordinator: Sue Gooch—(503) 986-4583

603-100-0000
Definitions

As used in OAR 603-100-0000 to and including 603-100-0050 and in
addition to the definitions set forth in ORS 622.010 and 622.080, the fol-
lowing shall apply:

(1) “Director” means the Director of the Department of Agriculture or
authorized representative.

(2) “Certification Number” means the number assigned by the
Department to each certified shellfish dealer. It consists of a one-to-five
digit number preceded by the two-letter state abbreviation and followed by
the two-letter symbol designating the type of operation certified.

(3) “Dealer” means every person or peddler engaged in the business
of growing, harvesting, processing, or distributing shellfish. Dealers are
certified and assigned a certification number by type of operation classified
as follows:

(a) “Depuration processor (DP)” means a shellfish dealer who pur-
chases or harvests shell stock from conditionally approved or restricted
growing areas and submits such shell stock to an approved controlled
purification process. Such dealers shall be certified as a shucker-packer and
assigned a certification number designating depuration processor (DP) as
the type of operation;

(b) “Distributor” means a jobber or wholesaler who furnishes or sells
shellfish to retail outlets. Such dealers shall be certified as a distributor and
assigned a certification number designating shellstock shipper (SS) as the
type of operation;

(c) “Grower (GR)” means a dealer engaged in the business of grow-
ing shellfish intended for human consumption. Such dealers shall be certi-
fied as a grower and assigned a certification number designating (GR) as
the type of operation;

(d) “Harvester (HV)” means a dealer who harvests shellfish intended
for human consumption or employs persons to harvest shellfish intended
for human consumption from growing areas. Such dealers shall be certified
as harvesters and assigned a certification number designating harvester
(HV) as type of operation;

(e) “Repackers (RP)” means dealers other than the original certified
shucker-packer who repack shucked shellfish. Such dealers shall be certi-
fied as a shucker-packer, and assigned a certification number designating
repacker (RP) as type of operation;

(f) “Reshippers (RS)” means dealers who receive shellfish, either
shellstock or shucked stock in original containers from certified shellfish
distributors and transship such shellfish to other dealers or to the final con-
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sumer. Such dealers will be certified as distributors, and assigned a certifi-
cation number designating shellstock reshipper (RS) as the type of opera-
tion;

(g) “Shellstock shippers (SS)” means dealers who buy, sell, or ship
shellstock. Such dealers will be certified as a distributor and assigned a cer-
tification number designating shellstock shipper (SS) as the type of opera-
tion. A shellstock shipper may ship shucked shellfish, but, is not authorized
to shuck or repack shucked shellfish;

(h) “Shucker-packer (SP)” means dealers who shuck, pack, and
repack shellfish. Such dealers will be certified as a shucker-packer and
assigned a certification number designating shucker-packer (SP) as the type
of operation.

(4) “Seed” means shellfish that are less than market size for human
consumption and have a maximum shell length of:

(a) Thirteen millimeters (1/2 inch) for mussels;

(b) Twenty-five millimeters (1 inch) for scallops;

(c) Nineteen millimeters (3/4 inch) for Olympia oysters;

(d) Nineteen millimeters (3/4 inch) for Kumomoto oysters;

(e) Fifty-one millimeters (2 inches) for other oyster species;

(f) Thirty-eight millimeters (1 and 1/2 inch) for geoducks; and

(g) Thirteen millimeters (1/2 inch) for other clam species.

(5) “Shellfish” means:

(a) All edible species of oysters, either shucked or in the shell, fresh
or frozen, whole or in part and intended for human consumption.

(b) All edible species of clams, either shucked or in the shell, fresh or
frozen, whole or in part and intended for human consumption.

(c) All edible species of mussels, either shucked or in the shell, fresh
or frozen, whole or in part and intended for human consumption.

(d) All edible species of scallops, either shucked or in the shell, fresh
or frozen, whole or in part, except when the final product is the shucked
adductor muscle only, and intended for human consumption.

(6) “State Waters” means waters that belong wholly to the state

including the Territorial Sea out to the three mile limit.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 561.190 & 622.180
Stats. Implemented: ORS 622.180
Hist.: HD 24-1987, f. & ef. 11-30-87; AD 22-1993, f. & cert. ef. 12-15-93; Renumbered from
333-190-0000; DOA 1-2007, f. & cert. ef. 1-2-07; DOA 13-2012, f. 5-29-12, cert. ef. 1-1-13

603-100-0010
Sanitation of Shellfish Growing Areas and Harvesting, Processing and
Distribution of Shellfish

As provided in ORS 622.180, the National Shellfish Sanitation
Program, Guide for the Control of Molluscan Shellfish, 2009 Revision, is
hereby adopted as the rules governing this subject matter in Oregon. The
material covered is that governing growing area survey and classification,
controlled relaying, patrol of harvest areas, control of harvesting, aquacul-
ture, laboratory and administrative procedures. In addition the rules cover
the harvesting, handling and shipping of shellfish; wet storage; shucking
and packing shellfish; shellfish shipping, heat shock, depuration and appli-
cation of Hazardous Analysis Critical Control Point (HACCP). These rules
are recommended by the Interstate Shellfish Sanitation Conference and the

Food and Drug Administration of Health and Human Services.
[Publications: Publications referenced are available from the agency.]
Stat. Auth.: ORS 561.190 & 622.180
Stats. Implemented: ORS 622.180
Hist.: HD 24-1987, f. & ef. 11-30-87; AD 22-1993, f. & cert. ef. 12-15-93; Renumbered from
333-191-0000; DOA 11-1999, f. & cert. ef. 6-4-99; DOA 1-2007, f. & cert. ef. 1-2-07; DOA
13-2012, . 5-29-12, cert. ef. 1-1-13

603-100-0050
Shellstock Harvesting and Distribution from Non-Interstate Approved
Harvest Areas

(1) Each tag of any shellstock harvested from a non-interstate
approved harvest area shall include the following statement in bold capital-
ized type, “OREGON DISTRIBUTION ONLY.”

(a) This requirement is in addition to the Shellstock Identification
requirements found in the 2009 Version of the National Shellfish Sanitation
Program Guide for the Control of Molluscan Shellfish.

(2) Any person listed in the Interstate Certified Shellfish Shipper List
(ICSSL) shall not sell or possess shellstock harvested from a non-interstate

approved harvest area.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 561.190 & 622.180
Stat. Implemented: ORS 622.180
Hist.: DOA 13-2012, f. 5-29-12, cert. ef. 1-1-13

Rule Caption: Exempts Agricultural procedures selling specified
products from state licensing as produce dealer or food establish-
ment.
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Adm. Order No.: DOA 14-2012

Filed with Sec. of State: 6-1-2012

Certified to be Effective: 6-1-12

Notice Publication Date: 1-1-2012

Rules Adopted: 603-025-0215, 603-025-0225, 603-025-0235,
603-025-0245, 603-025-0255, 603-025-0265, 603-025-0275
Subject: The Farm Direct Marketing Rules provide an exemption
from licensure and inspection for farm direct marketers under spe-
cific conditions. Farm direct marketers are allowed to sell certain
products that they have grown, raised, harvested and produced direct-
ly to the end user of the product. The rules also allow farm direct
marketers to consign some products to other farm direct marketers
from the same or adjoining counties. The Oregon Department of
Agriculture may require that farm direct markters or the entity in con-
trol of the location become licensed for a failure to maintain clean,
healthful and sanitary conditions. Farm direct marketers will follow
labeling and records requirements prescribed by the rules.

Rules Coordinator: Sue Gooch—(503) 986-4583

603-025-0215
Purpose

This administrative rule recognizes farm direct marketing, including
consignment between farm direct marketers, as a modern and accepted
method of producing and selling food products, and maintains the integrity
of food safety principles as required by state and federal laws. These leg-
islative mandates are accomplished by exempting from licensure and
inspection only those that raise their own products, that limit their food pro-
cessing activities to only those identified by the Legislature as permissible
without a license, and that sell to an end user a limited amount of products

produced without a license and regulatory oversight.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 561.190, 616 & (Enrolled HB 2336)
Stat. Implemented: ORS 616.230 & (Enrolled HB 2336)
Hist.: DOA 14-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-1-12

603-025-0225
Definitions

For purposes of this chapter:

(1) “Acidic foods” means a bottled, packaged or canned food product
that meets any of the following requirements:

(a) Having a naturally occurring equilibrium pH of 4.6 or below; or

(b) Having been lacto-fermented to decrease the equilibrium pH of
the food to 4.6 or below; or

(c) Having a water activity (aw) greater than 0.85 and having been
acidified to decrease the equilibrium pH of the food to 4.6 or below.

(2) “Address” means physical street address, city, county, state, and
zip code.

(3) “Agricultural producer” means a person, including family mem-
bers and employees, who grows, raises, and harvests agricultural products
to the point at which the products are ready for sale.

(4) “Approved” means conforming to scientific principles, applicable
federal laws, and generally recognized industry standards that protect pub-
lic health.

(5) “Approved source” means a source that is licensed and inspected
by a recognized regulatory authority, and whose license is in good standing.

(6) “Commingle” means to mix, pool, or combine agricultural prod-
ucts of more than one agricultural producer prior to the sale of the products.

(7) “Consign” means to send a farm direct product to market to be
sold by a farm direct marketer who did not produce the product. Ownership
of consigned products remains with the agricultural producer who produced
the product until the product is sold to an end user.

(a) Consignment agreements are limited to farm direct marketers who
are from the same county or from adjoining counties.

(b) A farm direct marketer is prohibited from representing that prod-
ucts offered for sale on consignment are his/her own.

(c) Farm direct products that may be consigned to a farm direct mar-
keter are limited to:

(A) Fruits, vegetables, edible flowers and herbs that are fresh, or
cured or dried as a part of routine post-harvest handling;

(B) Unshelled nuts that are raw, cured or dried in the shell; and

(C) Honey that has not been combined with any other ingredient.

(d) Shell eggs may be consigned only to a farm direct marketer who
is a licensed egg handler.

(8) “Cure” means to ripen naturally or by controlled environmental
storage whereby the taste, smell, texture, or appearance of the product is
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altered without causing the product to become adulterated or processed to
an extent that the product changes significantly from its original form.
Examples of agricultural products that may be cured include, but are not
limited to: garlic, potatoes, and sweet potatoes.

(9) “Department” means the Oregon Department of Agriculture.

(10) “Farm direct marketer” means an agricultural producer that sells
farm direct products or producer processed products directly to the retail
consumer.

(11) “Farm direct product” means an agricultural product grown,
raised and harvested by an agricultural producer to the point at which the
product is ready for direct, retail sale.

(12) “Fresh” means not altered by processing. “Fresh” excludes
potentially hazardous foods, including but not limited to, raw seed sprouts
of all kinds, raw melons that have been cut in any way, and raw tomatoes
that have been cut in any way.

(13) “Lacto-fermented” means food processed by lactobacilli where-
by the lactic acid content of the food decreases the equilibrium pH to 4.6 or
below. Examples of lacto-fermented products include sauerkraut and kim-
chi.

(14) “Major food allergens” means the eight most common food aller-
gens defined in the Food Allergen Labeling Protection Act of 2004 (FAL-
CPA). The major food allergens that may be used under the farm direct
marketing rules are peanuts, treenuts, soy and wheat.

(15) “Principal ingredients” means the farm direct products that com-
prise a producer-processed product except for: herbs, spices, salt, vinegar,
pectin, lemon or lime juice, honey, and sugar. For example, jalapefio pep-
pers produced by a farm direct marketer would be a principal ingredient in
pepper jelly, and tomatoes, onions, peppers, and garlic would be principal
ingredients in salsa.

(16) “Producer-processed products” means farm direct products for
which an agricultural producer has performed every step necessary to pre-
pare the farm direct products for sale, including but not limited to: pro-
cessing, bottling, canning and packaging. Every step necessary to prepare
the farm direct products for sale will be conducted in a facility located
where the farm direct products were grown.

(17) “Retail consumer” means the end user of a product. “Retail con-
sumer” excludes: restaurants, grocery stores, schools, daycare centers,
caterers, and other institutions, such as, prisons, hospitals, and nursing
homes.

(18) “Water activity” means the measure of free moisture in a product
and is the quotient of the water vapor pressure of the substance divided by

the vapor pressure of pure water at the same temperature.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 561.190, 616 & (Enrolled HB 2336)
Stat. Implemented: ORS 616.230 & (Enrolled HB 2336)
Hist.: DOA 14-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-1-12

603-025-0235
Farm Direct Marketer Exemption

(1) Agricultural products sold by farm direct marketers that are
exempt from the licensing requirements in Section (3) are limited to:

(a) Fruits, vegetables, edible flowers and herbs that are:

(A) Fresh; or

(B) Cured or dried by the agricultural producer as part of routine post-
harvest handling.

(b) Dried or cured fruits, vegetables, edible flowers and herbs for
which drying or curing is not part of routine post-harvest handling, if:

(A) All principal ingredients are grown by the agricultural producer;
and

(B) The product is labeled with a list of ingredients and the name and
address of the agricultural producer that produced the ingredients.

(c) Shelled nuts and unshelled nuts cured or dried by an agricultural
producer as part of routine post-harvest handling;

(d) Shell eggs;

(e) Honey, only when not combined with other ingredients;

(f) Whole, hulled, crushed or ground grain, legumes and seeds, if of a
type customarily cooked before eating;

(g) Parched or roasted grains, if of a type customarily cooked before
eating;

(h) Popcorn, nuts, peppers and corn on the cob, if those items are:

(A) Roasted at the place of purchase,

(B) By a farm direct marketer,

(C) After purchase, and

(D) Not sold for immediate consumption.

(2) Producer-processed products sold by farm direct marketers that
are exempt from the licensing requirements in Section (3) are limited to:
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(a) Fruit-based syrups, fruit in syrup, preserves, jams, jellies,
processed fruits and processed vegetables that meet all of the following
conditions:

(A) They are producer-processed products;

(B) They are acidic foods;

(i) Products having a naturally occurring equilibrium pH of 4.6 or
below will be processed in a clean, healthful and sanitary manner;

(ii) Products having been lacto-fermented to decrease the equilibrium
pH of the food to 4.6 or below will be processed in a clean, healthful and
sanitary manner;

(iii) Products having a water activity (aw) greater than 0.85 and hav-
ing been acidified to decrease the equilibrium pH of the food to 4.6 or
below will be processed in a clean, healthful and sanitary manner using:

(I) A published process and product formulation that has been
approved by a recognized process authority. Examples of published
processes and product formulations that have been approved by a recog-
nized process authority can be found in:

(I-a) United States Department of Agriculture Complete Guide to
Home Canning, 2009 Revision;

(I-b) Pacific Northwest Extension publications. The Pacific
Northwest Extension publications are produced cooperatively by Oregon
State University, Washington State University, and the University of Idaho;
or

(I-c) So Easy to Preserve, 5th Edition, which is offered by the
University of Georgia Cooperative Extension.

(IT) Any process and product formulation that has been submitted to,
and approved by a recognized process authority. A recognized process
authority may be contacted through the Oregon State University,
Department of Food Science and Technology Extension Service.

(C) They are labeled with:

(i) A product identity;

(ii) Net weight;

(iii) An ingredient statement that also includes properly declared
major food allergens; and

(iv) The name and address of the agricultural producer that produced
the principal ingredients and processed the product.

(D) During the preceding calendar year, had annual sales of produc-
er-processed products that in total did not exceed $20,000.

(i) Bottling, packaging and canning supplies will be made from food
grade materials.

(ii) Ingredients other than the principal ingredients are limited to
herbs, spices, salt, vinegar, pectin, lemon or lime juice, honey and sugar,
and will be:

(I) From an approved source; or

(II) Farmed or produced by the agricultural producer.

(b) Producer-processed products that are exempt from licensure do
not include any raw juices.

(3) The provisions of ORS 585.010 to 585.220 (Agricultural
Marketing and Warehousing) and ORS 616.695 to 616.755 (Sanitary
Regulations for Food and Food Establishments) do not apply to the follow-
ing:

(a) A farm direct marketer;

(b) A consigning agricultural producer; and

(c) The location(s) used by a farm direct marketer or a consigning
agricultural producer to prepare, store, sell, expose for sale, or offer for sale
the farm direct marketer’s own or consigned agricultural products identified
in Sections (1) and (2).

(4) The farm direct marketer exemptions provided in Section (3) may
be revoked by the Department when it determines that:

(a) The location used by a farm direct marketer is not maintained in a
clean, healthful and sanitary condition, or

(b) A farm direct marketer failed to ensure the condition and safety of

the food it processed for direct sale.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 561.190, 616 & (Enrolled HB 2336)
Stat. Implemented: ORS 616.230 & (Enrolled HB 2336)
Hist.: DOA 14-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-1-12

603-025-0245
Consignment Sales

(1) Consigning agricultural producers exempt under OAR 603-025-
0235(3)(b) are limited to sales of the following types of agricultural prod-
ucts:

(a) Fruits, vegetables, edible flowers and herbs that are:

(A) Fresh; or

(B) Cured or dried by an agricultural producer as part of routine post-
harvest handling.
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(b) Unshelled nuts cured or dried in the shell by an agricultural pro-
ducer as part of routine post-harvest handling;

(c) Shell eggs, if the agricultural producer selling the consigned eggs
is an egg handler licensed under ORS 632.715 (Egg Handler’s License);

(d) Honey, only when not combined with other ingredients.

(2) A consigning agricultural producer will provide a farm direct mar-
keter with documentation to be clearly and conspicuously posted during the
sale of the products on consignment. The documentation will include:

(a) The name of the consigning agricultural producer;

(b) The product consigned by the consigning agricultural producer;

(c) The address of the consigning agricultural producer.

(3) A farm direct marketer will maintain separate sales logs for prod-
ucts sold on consignment.

(a) Sales logs will include, but are not limited to, the following infor-
mation:

(A) The name of the consigning agricultural producer;

(B) The contact information of the consigning agricultural producer,
including the address and phone number;

(C) Item(s) sold on consignment; and

(D) Quantity of item(s) sold on consignment.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 561.190 & (Enrolled HB 2336)

Stat. Implemented: ORS 616.700, 616.835 & (Enrolled HB 2336)
Hist.: DOA 14-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-1-12

603-025-0255
Prohibitions; Department Enforcement

(1) A farm direct marketer will not:

(a) Sell, offer for sale, or expose for sale foods that are adulterated or
misbranded under ORS 616.205 to 616.385 (Sale of Adulterated,
Misbranded or Imitation Foods);

(b) Receive, accept, possess, sell, offer for sale, or expose for sale
food from a consigning agricultural producer that is adulterated or mis-
branded under ORS 616.205 to 616.385 (Sale of Adulterated, Misbranded
or Imitation Foods);

(c) Commingle products;

(d) Knowingly sell or offer for sale foods covered by the farm direct
sales exemption to a person that is not a retail consumer;

(A) An agricultural producer extracting only their own honey from 20
or fewer hives and licensed honey producers are exempt from this require-
ment.

(e) Sell foods other than those covered by the farm direct sales exemp-
tion found at OAR 603-025-0235 without an appropriate license.

(2) The Department may require a farm direct marketer or the entity
in control of the location used by farm direct marketers to obtain and main-
tain a license under ORS 585.010 to 585.220 (Agricultural Marketing and
Warehousing), 616.695 to 616.755 (Sanitary Regulations for Food and
Food Establishments) for failure to maintain the location in a clean, health-
ful and sanitary condition in accordance with rules adopted under ORS
616.700 (Department to Enforce Sanitation Requirements for Food and

Food Establishments).
Stat. Auth.: ORS 561.190, 616.700 (Enrolled HB 2336)
Stat. Implemented: ORS 616.835 & (Enrolled HB 2336)
Hist.: DOA 14-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-1-12

603-025-0265
Labeling Requirements

(1) The principal display panel of a producer-processed product as
defined by OAR 603-025-0225(15) will contain in a prominent location the
following statements in legible, all capital, and bold-face type no less than
one-eighth inch:

(a) “THIS PRODUCT IS HOMEMADE AND IS NOT PREPARED
IN AN INSPECTED FOOD ESTABLISHMENT” and

(b) “NOT FOR RESALE.”

(2) The principal display panel of shell eggs, grain, legumes, seeds
and honey described under OAR 603-025-0235(1)(d) to (g) and 603-025-
0245(1)(c) and (d) will contain in a prominent location the following state-
ments in legible, all capital, and bold-face type no less than one-eighth
inch:

(a) “THIS PRODUCT IS NOT PREPARED IN AN INSPECTED
FOOD ESTABLISHMENT” and

(b) “NOT FOR RESALE.”

(c) An agricultural producer extracting only their own honey from 20
or fewer hives and licensed honey producers are exempt from the labeling
requirements in (a) and (b).

(3) All bottled, packaged and canned food products described under
OAR 603-025-0235 will be labeled with all of the following:
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(a) A product identity, which is a truthful or common name of the
product that is contained in the package;

(b) The net weight of the product. Net weight or volume must be in
both the US lbs./oz. and metric scale. For example, “Net Wt. 12 oz. (340
2)” for a dry product and “ Net Wt. 32 fl. Oz (1 QT) 946 ml” for a liquid
product;

(c) An ingredient statement that properly declares all major food aller-
gens. All ingredients will be listed in descending order of predominance by
weight or volume; and

(A) Major food allergens allowed in producer-processed products
under this rule are peanuts, tree nuts, soy and wheat;

(B) Major food allergens will be labeled:

(i) Using the appropriate major food allergen in parenthesis within the
ingredient list after the common or usual name of the ingredient derived
from that major food allergen, for example, if a product contained semoli-
na, the ingredient list could read: semolina (wheat); or

(i1) Using a “Contains” statement to summarize the allergen informa-
tion in a statement at the end of, or immediately adjacent to, the ingredient
list.

(d) The address of the agricultural producer that produced the princi-
pal ingredients and bottled, packaged or canned the food products.

(4) When Oregon or the Federal Government has adopted a standard
of identity for any labeled product covered by the farm direct marketer
exemption, that product will specifically meet those standards of identity
found in ORS Chapters 616 (Food and Other Commodities) and 632
(Agricultural and Horticultural Products) and in OAR 603-025-0190

(Standards of Identity).
Stat. Auth.: ORS 561, 616 & (Enrolled HB 2336)
Stat. Implemented: ORS 616.835 & (Enrolled HB 2336)
Hist.: DOA 14-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-1-12

603-025-0275
Producer-Processed Foods Records

(1) Raw materials, packaging materials, and finished products that are
not in compliance with United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA)
regulations may be considered adulterated.

(2) Processing and production records for products having a water
activity (aw) greater than 0.85 and having been acidified to decrease the
equilibrium pH of the food to 4.6 or below will show that the process and
product formulations comply with all critical factors mandated by a recog-
nized process.

(a) To demonstrate compliance with acceptable equilibrium pH meas-
urements, batch-by-batch records of pH meter calibration and batch-by-
batch records of finished product testing will be maintained.

(A) Finished product testing will be performed following the require-
ments of the 2010 version of 21 CFR 114.90(a) and (b) (Methodology). A
pH meter or potentiometer is the primary instrument used in determining
product pH. Colorimetric methods including, but not limited to, indicator
solutions and indicator paper may be used if the equilibrium pH of the
product is 4.0 or lower.

(b) Processing and production records will be associated with pro-
duction dates and batches.

(c) Any deviation from an approved process and the corrective action
taken to remedy the deviation will be recorded and maintained.

(A) A product produced with a processing deviation will:

(i) Not be sold for human consumption; or,

(ii) Be permitted for sale for human consumption if the product is
reprocessed to rectify the deviation in a manner approved by a recognized
process authority.

(3) Farm direct marketers will maintain sales records of products sub-
ject to OAR 603-025-0235(2). Sales records will include, but need not be
limited to, the following information:

(a) Product(s) sold;

(b) Price;

(c) Quantity sold;

(d) Current, rolling total of year-to-date sales.

(4) Copies of all records required by these administrative rules (OAR
603-025-0225 through 0275) will be retained at the processing facility or
other reasonably accessible location for a period of three years from the
date of manufacture.

(a) Records will be made available to the Department upon request.

(b) Failure to provide records to the Department upon request may

result in the revocation of the farm direct marketer exemption.
Stat Auth.: ORS 616.700 & (Enrolled HB 2336)
Stat. Implemented: (Enrolled HB 2336)
Hist.: DOA 14-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-1-12
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Rule Caption: Inland Rogue Agricultural Water Quality
Management Area Rules.

Adm. Order No.: DOA 15-2012

Filed with Sec. of State: 6-1-2012

Certified to be Effective: 6-1-12

Notice Publication Date: 5-1-2012

Rules Adopted: 603-095-1460

Rules Amended: 603-095-1400, 603-095-1420, 603-095-1440
Rules Repealed: 603-095-0200, 603-095-0220, 603-095-0240, 603-
095-0260, 603-095-0280

Subject: This rule is a refile of a previously adopted filing due to
a missed deadline.

The rules effectuate the implementation of the Inland Rogue Agri-
cultural Water Quality Management Area Plan developed under ORS
568.900 through 568.933 and OAR Chapter 603 Division 90.
Rules Coordinator: Sue Gooch—(503) 986-4583

603-095-1400
Purpose

(1) These rules have been developed to implement a water quality
management area plan for the Inland Rogue Agricultural Water Quality
Management Area pursuant to authorities vested in the department through
ORS 568.900 — 568.933 and 561.190 — 561.191. The area plan is known as
the Inland Rogue Agricultural Water Quality Management Area Plan.

(2) The purpose of these rules is to outline requirements for landown-
ers in the Inland Rogue Agricultural Water Quality Management Area to
prevent and control water pollution from agricultural activities and soil ero-
sion. Compliance with OAR 603-095-1400 to 603-095-1460 is expected to
aid in the achievement of applicable water quality standards in the Inland

Rogue Agricultural Water Quality Management Area.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 561.190 - 561.191, 568.912
Stats. Implemented: ORS 568.900 - 568.933
Hist.: DOA 13-2001, f. & cert. ef. 6-8-01; DOA 12012, f. & cert. ef. 1-12-12; DOA 15-2012,
f. & cert. ef. 6-1-12

603-095-1420
Geographic and Programmatic Scope

(1) The Inland Rogue Agricultural Water Quality Management Area
includes the drainage area of the Rogue River primarily within the political
boundaries of Jackson and Josephine counties. It does not include the
drainage area of the Lower Rogue outside the Josephine county boundary.
The physical boundaries of the Inland Rogue Agricultural Water Quality
Management Area are indicated on the map included as Appendix 1 of
these rules.

(2) Operational boundaries for the land base under the purview of
these rules include all lands within the Inland Rogue Agricultural Water
Quality Management Area in agricultural use, agricultural and rural lands
that are lying idle, or on which management has been deferred, and forest-
ed lands with agricultural activities, with the exception of public lands man-
aged by federal agencies, reservation and tribal trust lands, and activities
which are subject to the Forest Practices Act.

(3) Current productive agricultural use is not required for the provi-
sions of these rules to apply. For example, highly erodible lands with no
present active use are within the purview of these rules.

(4) The provisions and requirements outlined in these rules may be
adopted by reference by Designated Management Agencies with appropri-
ate authority and responsibilities in other geographic areas of the Inland
Rogue Agricultural Water Quality Management Area.

(5) For lands in agricultural use within other Designated Management
Agencies’ or state agency jurisdictions, the Department of Agriculture
(department) and the appropriate Local Management Agency will work
with these Designated Management Agencies to assure that provisions of
these rules apply and to assure that duplication of any services provided, or

fees assessed does not occur.
[ED. NOTE: Appendices referenced are available from the agency.]
Stat. Auth.: ORS 561.190 - 561.191 & 568.912
Stats. Implemented: ORS 568.900 - 568.933
Hist.: DOA 13-2001, f. & cert. ef. 6-8-01;: DOA 1-2012, f. & cert. ef. 1-12-12; DOA 15-2012,
f. & cert. ef. 6-1-12

603-095-1440
Prohibited Conditions

(1) All landowners or operators conducting activities on lands
described above in OAR 603-095-1420(2) shall be in compliance with the
following rules. A landowner shall be responsible for only those conditions
caused by the activities of the landowner or operator. Rules do not apply to
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conditions resulting from unusual weather events or other exceptional cir-
cumstances that could not have been reasonably anticipated. Limited dura-
tion activities may be exempt from these conditions subject to approval by
the department.

(2) Excessive Soil Erosion

(a) There shall be no visible evidence of erosion resulting from agri-
cultural management in a location where erosion has contributed or will
contribute sediment to waters of the state. Visible evidence of erosion may
consist of the following features:

(A) Sheet wash, noted by visible pedestalling, surface undulations,
and/or flute marks on bare or sparsely-vegetated ground;

(B) Visibly active gullies, as defined by OAR 603-095-0010(1);

(C) Multiple rills, which have the form of gullies, but are smaller, in
cross-sectional area, than one square foot.

(3) Riparian Vegetation Destruction

(a) Agricultural management of riparian areas shall not impede the
development and maintenance of adequate riparian vegetation to control
water pollution, provide stream channel stability, moderate solar heating,
and filter nutrients and sediment from runoff.

(b) This condition is not intended to prohibit riparian grazing where it
can be done while managing for riparian vegetation required in OAR 603-
095-1440(3)(a).

(c) Constructed ditches that carry only irrigation delivery and
drainage water are exempt from conditions described in OAR 603-095-
1440(3).

(4) Surface Irrigation Return Flows Runoff of surface irrigation that
enters waters of the state shall not exceed water quality standards or cause
pollution of the receiving water.

(5) Waste No person subject to these rules shall violate any provision

of ORS 468B.025 or 468B.050.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 561.190 - 561.191 & 568.912
Stats. Implemented: ORS 568.900 - 568.933
Hist.: DOA 13-2001, f. & cert. ef. 6-8-01; DOA 1-2012, f. & cert. ef. 1-12-12; DOA 15-2012,
f. & cert. ef. 6-1-12

603-095-1460
Complaints and Investigations

(1) When the department receives notice of an alleged occurrence of
agricultural pollution through a written complaint, its own observation,
through notification by another agency, or by other means, the department
may conduct an investigation. The department may coordinate inspection
activities with the appropriate Local Management Agency.

(2) Each notice of an alleged occurrence of agricultural pollution will
be evaluated in accordance with the criteria in ORS 568.900 to 568.933, or
any rules adopted thereunder to determine whether an investigation is war-
ranted.

(3) Any person allegedly being damaged or otherwise adversely
affected by agricultural pollution, or alleging any violation of ORS 568.900
to 568.933, or any rules adopted thereunder, may file a complaint with the
department.

(4) The department will evaluate or investigate a complaint filed by a
person under section OAR 603-095-1460(3) if the complaint is in writing,
signed and dated by the complainant and indicates the location and descrip-
tion of:

(a) The waters of the state allegedly being damaged or impacted; and

(b) The property allegedly being managed under conditions violating
criteria described in ORS 568.900 to 568.933, or any rules adopted there-
under.

(5) As used in section OAR 603-095-1460(4), “person” does not
include any local, state, or federal agency.

(6) Notwithstanding OAR 603-095-1460(4), the department may
investigate at any time any complaint if the department determines that the
violation alleged in the complaint may present an immediate threat to the
public health or safety.

(7) If the department determines that a violation of ORS 568.900 to
568.933 or any rules adopted thereunder has occurred, the landowner may
be subject to the enforcement procedures of the department outlined in

OARs 603-090-0060 through 603-090-0120.
Statutory Authority: ORS 561.190 - 561.191 & 568.912
Statutes Implemented: ORS 568.900 - 568.933
Hist.: DOA 1-2012, f. & cert. ef. 1-12-12: DOA 15-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-1-12

Rule Caption: Renames directly supervised trainee license and
allows for multiple year renewal with educational component.
Adm. Order No.: DOA 16-2012

Filed with Sec. of State: 6-1-2012
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Certified to be Effective: 6-1-12

Notice Publication Date: 5-1-2012

Rules Amended: 603-057-0001, 603-057-0100, 603-057-0127
Subject: This rule is a refile of a previously adopted filing due to
a missed deadline.

The rules rename the directly Supervised Trainee License to avoid
confusion with the Immediately Supervised Trainee License. The
Directly Supervised Trainee License is renamed the Pesticide
Apprentice License. In addition, the rules expand the ability to renew
the Pesticide Apprentice License. Existing administrative rules limit
directly supervised trainees to one lifetime annual renewal. A pesti-
cide apprentice may maintain a pesticide trainee license indefinite-
ly by attending educational programs and demonstrating attempts to
attain pesticide applicator certification. The rules restrict pesticide
apprentices and immediately supervised trainees from applying pes-
ticides by helicopter or fixed wing aircraft. Finally, the supervisor of
an immediately supervised trainee or apprentice must be named in
each pesticide application record.

These changes are intended to allow flexibility for employers to
hire, train and supervise trainees. Persons who qualify for the Pes-
ticide Apprentice License will be able to enter the industry at a more
gradual pace and will be introduced to concepts presented in con-
tinuing education programs. Persons with limited written English
language skills or test taking abilities will be allowed to continue
employment under the supervision of a fully licensed applicator. The
rules will clarify several trainee-related topics, ensure documentation
of the supervisor-trainee relationship and reduce confusion over what
level of supervision is required for each type of trainee license.
Rules Coordinator: Sue Gooch—(503) 986-4583

603-057-0001
Definitions

In addition to the definitions set forth in ORS 634.006, the following
shall apply (1) “Accident” means an undesirable and unintended event,
caused by the use or application of pesticides, that adversely affects the
environment.

(2) “Compatibility” means the properties of a pesticide that permit its
use with other chemicals without undesirable results being caused by such
combination.

(3) “Competence” means the proficiency in the performance of activ-
ities related to pesticide application, the degree of which is directly related
to the nature of such activities.

(4) “Common Exposure Route” means a likely way (oral, dermal, res-
piratory) by which a pesticide may enter an organism.

(5) “Environment” means water, air, land and plants, humans, or other
animals living therein or thereon, and the interrelationships existing among
them.

(6) For the purpose of pesticide registration as specified in ORS
634.016, “pesticide product” means a pesticide readily distinguishable from
any other pesticide by its content, registration number assigned by the
United States Environmental Protection Agency, brand name, trade name,
manufacturer, registrant, use as specified in labeling, or other distinction,
but not including size or quantity of package.

(7) “Non-Target Organism” means plant or animal life other than to
which the pesticide is applied or is intended to be applied.

(8) “Regulated Pest” means a specific organism determined by the
Department to be a pest requiring control, or eradication in order to protect
the environment.

(9) For the purposes of ORS 634.006(9)(c), 634.106(7),
634.126(1)(c), 603-057-0001(11), and 603-057-0127, the terms “direct
charge of,” “supervises,” “direct supervision,” or “supervision” means that:

(a) The supervisor of the person applying a pesticide has determined
that the person applying a pesticide has sufficient knowledge and ability to
safely apply the particular pesticide according to its label directions and any
other additional directions;

(b) The person applying a pesticide is applying the particular pesticide
under the instructions of their supervisor; and

(c) The person applying a pesticide is applying the pesticide in such
proximity to their supervisor that such supervisor is reasonably available
for any needed consultation or further direction, even though such supervi-
sor is not physically present at the time or place of the pesticide application.
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(10) “Immediate Supervision” means supervision by an appropriately
licensed applicator who is:

(a) Located on the pesticide application site at all times during the
application; and

(b) Available at the specific point of pesticide use within a time peri-
od of no more than five minutes.

(11) “Pesticide Apprentice” is a type of pesticide trainee or a type of
public trainee, as those terms are defined in ORS 634.006(14) and (18), that
engages in pesticide application activities under the supervision of a
licensed pesticide applicator or a licensed public applicator as described in
OAR 603-057-0127. A pesticide apprentice is limited to the categories of
pesticide application authorized on the applicator license of the supervisor.

(12) For the purposes of subsection (9) of this rule, “supervisor”
means a person that is responsible for the actions of a person applying a

pesticide.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 561.190 & 634
Stats. Implemented: ORS 634.306
Hist.: AD 7-1977, f. & ef. 4-5-77; AD 7-1980, f. & ef. 9-25-80; AD 17, f. & cert. ef. 11-15-
89; AD 12-1992, f. 10-13-92, cert. ef. 1-1-93; DOA 2-2012, f. 1-13-12, cert. ef. 1-1-13; DOA
16-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-1-12

603-057-0100
License Fees

The following designated annual fees shall be applicable to each
described license:

(1) Pesticide Operator: $90 including one category; $15 for each addi-
tional category; and $20 for each additional category after license issued.

(2) Pesticide Applicator: $50 including one category; $7.50 for each
additional category; and $12.50 for each additional category after license
issued.

(3) Pesticide Trainee or Apprentice: Same as pesticide applicators.

(4) Public Applicator, Trainee or Apprentice: Same as pesticide appli-
cators.

(5) Pesticide Dealer: $75, with a separate license required for each
sales outlet or location.

(6) Pesticide Consultant: $40.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 561 & 634

Stats. Implemented: ORS 634.116, 634.122, 634.126, 634.132 & 634.136

Hist.: AD 1001(15-73), f. 11-20-73, ef. 12-11-73; AD 7-1977. f. & ef. 4-5-77; AD 24-1981,
f. & ef. 12-1-81; DOA 39-2003, f. 10-17-03, cert.ef. 11-15-03; DOA 2-2012, f. 1-13-12, cert.
ef. 1-1-13; DOA 16-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-1-12

603-057-0127
Pesticide Apprentice Standards of Competence

(1) The department may issue a pesticide apprentice license for one
licensing period, or portion thereof. The department may issue the license
to an applicant that is at least 18 years of age upon receipt of:

(a) A license application form that contains all of the information
requested by the department;

(b) Payment of the appropriate fee; and.

(c) Documentation that the applicant successfully completed, within
two years of the date of initial application, a written examination developed
and administered by the department for the purpose of assuring that the
applicant is competent in the use of pesticides as a pesticide apprentice. The
content of this examination shall include the topics listed in OAR 603-057-
0129(1)(a) through (e). Successful completion of the examination shall
require answering at least 70 percent of the examination questions correct-
ly.

(d) A pesticide apprentice license shall expire on December 31 of the
year of issuance, or the following year if issued a license for two consecu-
tive years.

(2) The department may renew a pesticide apprentice license for con-
secutive licensing periods upon receipt of:

(a) A license renewal application form containing all of the informa-
tion requested by the department;

(b) Payment of the appropriate fee; and

(c) Documentation that the applicant successfully completed the
required credit hours of pesticide instructional sessions during the previous
licensing period. The department must accredit the instructional sessions.
Eight (8) credit hours are required for each year of a licensing period. Four
(4) of the eight (8) credit hours must be core credits as described in OAR
603-057-0135. All training requirements may be waived for the first year of
the initial licensing period only.

(3) If a person licensed as a pesticide apprentice does not deliver the
form, fee, and documentation described in subsection (2) of this rule to con-
secutively renew their license, the person will not be eligible to renew their
pesticide apprentice license. The person must retake the qualifying exami-
nation as described in (1)(c) of this section.
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(4) A pesticide apprentice license authorizes the holder to conduct
pesticide application activities under the supervision of an appropriately
licensed supervisor. The licensed apprentice may apply pesticides only in
the categories listed on the supervisor’s license. If the supervisor is a
licensed public applicator, the licensed apprentice may only apply pesti-
cides as described in ORS 634.116(12).

(5) For each pesticide application made by a pesticide apprentice, a
pesticide application record, as required by ORS 634.146 and OAR 603-
057-0130, must be made that also contains the names and pesticide license
numbers of the appropriately licensed pesticide apprentice(s) and the super-
visor(s). The employer of the licensed pesticide apprentice shall retain the
record for a period of three years and release them to the department for
inspection as required or authorized by ORS chapters 561 or 634 or rules
adopted thereunder.

(6) A pesticide apprentice license does not authorize the holder to
conduct pesticide applications by helicopter or fixed wing aircraft.

(7) For purposes of this section “an appropriately licensed supervisor”
is:

(a) A licensed pesticide applicator, or licensed public applicator;

(b) Licensed in the category, or categories, in which the pesticide
apprentice is currently engaged.

(8) Any pesticide apprentice conducting pesticide application activi-
ties without a valid appropriately licensed supervisor, or who is unable to
identify their supervisor, will be considered unlicensed and subject to

enforcement actions in accordance to ORS 634.900
Stat. Auth.: ORS 561.190 & 634
Stats. Implemented: ORS 634.306
Hist.: AD 12-1992, f. 10-13-92, cert. ef. 1-1-93; DOA 2-2012, f. 1-13-12, cert. ef. 1-1-13;
DOA 16-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-1-12

Rule Caption: Clarifies the description of the area under quaran-
tine.

Adm. Order No.: DOA 17-2012

Filed with Sec. of State: 6-6-2012

Certified to be Effective: 6-6-12

Notice Publication Date: 5-1-2012

Rules Amended: 603-052-1020

Subject: The proposed amendment clarifies the description of the
area under quarantine. Currently, the entire states of Washington and
Idaho are exempt from the quarantine. Washington currently has a
comparable statewide quarantine for hop powdery mildew. Howev-
er, in Idaho, only the northern counties are covered by a compara-
ble quarantine, creating a situation where potentially infected hop
plants could be shipped into Oregon from southern Idaho counties.
This amendment clarifies that only hop plants from counties in Wash-
ington and Idaho covered by a comparable quarantine for hop pow-
dery mildew are eligible for shipment into Oregon. This is a house-
keeping change to this rule.

Rules Coordinator: Sue Gooch—(503) 986-4583

603-052-1020
Quarantine Against Powdery Mildew of Hops

(1) Establishing Quarantine: A quarantine is established against the
powdery mildew disease of hops caused by the fungus Podosphaera macu-
laris (Wallr.) U. Braun & S. Takam. (Sphaerotheca humuli (DC.) Burr.).

(2) Area under Quarantine: All states and districts of the United
States, except those counties in the states of Washington and Idaho covered
by a comparable quarantine.

(3) Commodities Covered: Plants and all plant parts of hops,
Humulus lupulus, excepting kiln dried cones of hops are prohibited entry
into this state directly, indirectly, diverted or reconsigned. Used bale cover-
ings and any other articles or equipment that could transmit spores or other
infectious material.

(4) Conditions: Covered commodities from the area under quarantine
are prohibited.

(5) Director’s Exemptions: Persons wishing to import covered com-
modities from the area under quarantine must apply in writing for a
Director’s Exemption as authorized by OAR 603-052-1020. Applications
for Director’s Exemptions must list the prospective buyer and seller; the
number, and origin of stock; location of proposed planting site; and any
other relevant information. Director’s Exemptions, when granted, will list
required safeguards to prevent disease establishment.

(6) Disposition of Commodities in Violation of the Quarantine: All
covered commodities described in section (3) of this rule found to be in vio-
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lation of this quarantine shall be returned immediately to point of origin by
the Oregon receiver, or at the receiver’s option be destroyed under the
supervision of the Oregon Department of Agriculture without expense to or

indemnity paid by the Oregon Department of Agriculture.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 561 & 570.305
Stats. Implemented: ORS 561.190, 561.510 - 561.600 & 570.305
Hist.: AD 7-1993(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 5-26-93; AD 20-1993, f. & cert. ef. 12-14-93; AD 10-
1996, f. & cert. ef. 9-5-96; DOA 4-1998, f. & cert. ef. 5-11-98; DOA 12-1999, f. & cert. ef.
6-4-99; DOA 4-2009, f. & cert. ef. 4-9-09; DOA 17-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-6-12

Rule Caption: Increase fees related to audit and third-party certifi-
cation services.

Adm. Order No.: DOA 18-2012

Filed with Sec. of State: 6-12-2012

Certified to be Effective: 6-12-12

Notice Publication Date: 4-1-2012

Rules Amended: 603-053-0200

Subject: Federal-State Cooperative Agreement with USDA requires
that fees charged for audit services conducted under that agreement
follow the current federal rate, currently at $92/hour. OAR-603-053
currently puts the Oregon Department of Agriculture out of com-
pliance with this agreement. Increased revenue generated from this
fee increase will help pay for administrative costs of the program, as
well as yearly continuing education for auditors and accreditation and
audit fees for certification programs.

The ODA proposes a revised fee schedule as follows: change the
minimum hourly charge from $75 to $92, with a 4 hour minimum
of service. Additionally, it proposes application fees for the Nation-
al Organic Program certification program at $250 for new organic
applicants and $100 yearly renewal application fee for returning cus-
tomers to cover the administrative cost of accepting and reviewing
organic applications before inspection and audit fees can be billed.
Additionally, as the Department has begun to offer Global Food Safe-
ty Initiative benchmarked audits, a certification fee is proposed to be
charged per certificate to cover technical review and administrative
costs of this program.

Rules Coordinator: Sue Gooch—(503) 986-4583

603-053-0200
Inspection Fees For Agricultural Products

The following fees and charges are established for grading, inspec-
tion, and certification of horticultural and agricultural products and process-
es. Fees will be established in an amount reasonably necessary to cover the
cost of providing grading, inspection, certification and auditing in the
Shipping Point Inspection program and administration of the program pur-
suant to ORS 632.940:

(1) Separate fees and hourly rates for inspection of fresh products at
specific facilities may be available upon request. At the option of the
department, fees and hourly rates may be established for specific facilities
at an amount reasonably necessary to cover the cost of services rendered.
Such fees and hourly rates shall be calculated by determining the costs,
including administrative overhead, for providing the service to the specific
facility. Fees and rates established pursuant to this section supersede the fee
schedule and rates established herein.

(2) Regular inspection and Expense Guarantee: Regular inspection
fees are established in an amount reasonably necessary to cover the cost of
providing the services and administration of the program in each of the
Shipping Point Inspection Districts. An expense guarantee may be part of
the regular inspection charges. Expense Guarantee: When service is
requested that will require the assignment of an inspector at a point where
the volume of work, at regular fee schedule, would not be adequate to cover
the costs of the service, an expense guarantee may be required. This guar-
antee may include:

(a) A charge for a minimum of four hours of service at a rate of $ 60
per hour unless otherwise specified by contract;

(b) Travel time at the rate of $ 60 per hour;

(c) Mileage at the rate per mile established by the Department of
Administrative Services;

(d) Eight hours per day at $ 60 per hour for a minimum of five days
per week Monday through Friday during the assignment;

(e) When regular fees equal or exceed the Expense Guarantee, the reg-
ular Fee Schedule shall apply;
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(f) Credit may be given towards the Expense Guarantee for any work
performed for other applicants;

(g) Overtime charges shall be in addition to the Expense Guarantee.

(3) Fresh Product Grade and Condition Certification:

(a) All Fresh Fruit and Vegetables (except Onions and Potatoes):

(A) 65 1bs. Or less net — 6-1/2¢ per container;

(B) Bulk or bulk bins — $ 3.25 per ton

(b) Brine Cherries:

(A) 15,500 Ibs. or less — $ 43;

(B) 15,501 to 31,250 lbs. — $ 50;

(C) 31,251 to 37,500 lbs. — $ 57,

(D) Quantities in excess of 37,500 Ibs. — 18¢ per cwt. for the over-
age;

(c) Onions: — 12¢ per cwt.

(d) Potatoes: — 12¢ per cwt.;

(A) Certified Seed — 12¢ per cwt.;

(B) Diversion — 8¢ per cwt.

(e) Tree Nuts;

(A) Filberts Inshell — 20¢ per cwt.;

(B) Walnuts Inshell — 28¢ per cwt.;

(C) Filbert Kernels — 38¢ per cwt.;

(D) Shelled Walnuts — 48¢ per cwt.

(4) Inspection of Product for Processing: Fees and hourly rates for
inspecting fruits and vegetables intended for processing shall be established
on a separate, uniform basis for each facility. The fees and hourly rates shall
be set at an amount reasonably necessary to cover the cost of services ren-
dered. Such fees and hourly rates shall be calculated by determining the
costs, including administrative overhead, for providing the service to the
specific facility.

(5) Certification and Third-Party Audit Services Fees: All certification
and third-party audit services will be provided on a first come, first served
basis as qualified auditing staff is available. These include: USDA National
Organic Program (NOP) certification, USDA Good Agricultural
Practices/Good Handling Practices (GAP/GHP), USDA Produce GAPs
Harmonized Standard, Global Food Safety Initiative benchmarked audit
schemes and additional industry or private standards as requested. Audit
fees will be applied to all services for accredited programs or for addition-
al audit standards as requested by the industry. The cost for such services
may include:

(a) A charge for a minimum of four hours of service at a rate of $92
per hour;

(b) Travel time at the rate of $92 per hour;

(c) Mileage, lodging and per diem reimbursed at rates established by
the Department of Administrative Services;

(d) Annual application fees for USDA National Organic Program
(NOP) certification at $250 for first-time applicants and $100 for renewal
applications; and

(e) Certification fees for Global Food Safety Initiative benchmarked
schemes at $300 per certificate, or per site.

(6) Minimum Certificate Charge: When small lots are written up to
meet a specific need in an operating packing house, of a commodity which
is being inspected on a regular basis, the minimum certificate charge shall
be calculated on the regular schedule for that commodity with a $ 10 min-
imum fee.

(7) Mileage Charges: Mileage may be charged in addition to all
inspection fees or time charges, at the rate per mile established by the
Department of Administrative Services, when travel is required.

(8) Special Services or Determinations: When platform inspections,
checkloading, checkweighing, count certification, sealing, or other special
services are requested, then at the option of the Department the fee, hourly
charge, and/or the minimum number of hours per day, per week or period,
may be agreed upon by prior written contractual agreement between the
applicant or applicants and the Department. In no case, however, shall such
charges be less than is necessary to completely reimburse the Department
for its total costs of furnishing such services. The provisions of this section
supersede the other fee schedules and provisions relating thereto.

(9) Off Grade or Size Certification: When containers of rejected com-
modity are not emptied by the close of the business day, an off grade cer-
tificate shall be issued covering the total amount of rejected commodity and
the regular fee schedule shall be applied.

(10) Overtime Charges: For all inspection services performed during
the following times (which will be considered overtime), the regular inspec-
tion fees or hourly charges shall be charged plus $ 30 per hour for all time
involved. Overtime charges shall be figured to the nearest one-half hour:
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(a) After eight hours shed operation (per scheduled shift) or 6:00 p.m.,
whichever comes first, on Monday through Friday of each week;

(b) At any time on Saturdays or Sundays; and

(c) At any time on any day which is declared by law to be a holiday
for state employees.

(11) Overtime Service Charge: The minimum overtime service charge
for Saturdays, Sundays and other legal holidays shall be four hours.

(12) No Service Days: No service will be given on Thanksgiving,
Christmas, or New Years days.

(13) Standardization Inspection Charges: Produce requiring inspec-
tion under ORS 632, arriving on Oregon terminal markets without evidence
of inspection or without request for inspection being made to the
Department prior to arrival will be assessed double the applicable fee stat-
ed in the fee schedule and a state certificate will be issued.

(14) Extra Service Charge: When extra service is requested in con-
junction with grade and condition certification, an additional charge at the
applicable fee stated per hour may be made for additional time used to
make these determinations. Time shall be figured to the nearest 1/2 hour.

(15) Additional Certificates: When it is necessary to issue extra cer-
tificates, certificate copies, or superceded certificates, a charge of $ 10 for
each certificate shall be made. When the cost to issue the certificates exceed
$10, the hourly rate shall apply. When it is necessary to issue extra certifi-
cates or supercede certificates due to errors of Inspection Service, no charge
will be made.

(16) Phytosanitary or Federal FV-294 Certificates or Federal FV-184
Certificates (extra service charge for sampling and inspection):

(a) When in conjunction with and at the time of grade inspection —
2¢ per cwt.;

(b) When not grade inspected or at time of inspection, the hourly
inspection fee will apply plus — 2¢ per cwt.;

(¢) Minimum service charge for each certificate issued — $10.

(17) Fumigation Certificates: When fumigation certification is
requested, a charge at the applicable rate per hour will be made for all time
required, including travel time, plus mileage at a rate established by the

Department of Administrative Services.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 561.190, 632.940 & 632.945

Stats. Implemented: ORS 632.940 & 632.945

Hist.: AD 562, f. & ef. 10-7-57; AD 611, f. 7-10-59; AD 672, f. 6-29-61; AD 767, f. & ef. 7-
17-63; AD 799(6-65), f. 6-30-65, ef. 7-15-65; AD 854(26-67), f. 9-26-67, ef. 10-1-67; AD
886(16-68), f. 8-21-68, ef. 10-1-68; AD 904(10-69), f. 8-29-69, ef. 9-8-69; AD 973(6-72), f.
7-11-72, ef. 8-1-72; AD 1037(27-74), f. 8-20-74, ef. 9-11-74; AD 1069(15-75), f. 9-5-75, ef.
9-25-75; AD 13-1979, f. 9-28-79, ef. 10-1-79; AD 10-1983, f. & ef. 8-22-83; AD 2-1991, f.
& cert. ef. 2-15-91; AD 17-1992, f. & cert. ef. 11-30-92; AD 11-1994, f. 8-30-94, cert. ef. 9-
1-94; AD 9-1996, f. & cert. ef. 7-26-96; DOA 7-1999, f. & cert. ef. 4-26-99; DOA 28-2000,
f. & cert. ef. 10-13-00; DOA 27-2002, f. & cert. ef. 12-23-02; DOA 19-2006, f. & cert. ef. 11-
2-06; DOA 18-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-12-12

ecccccccoe

Rule Caption: Deleting multiple sections of OAR for programs
that are outdated or defunded.

Adm. Order No.: DOA 19-2012

Filed with Sec. of State: 6-15-2012

Certified to be Effective: 7-1-12

Notice Publication Date: 5-1-2012

Rules Repealed: 603-016-0355, 603-016-0360, 603-016-0365, 603-
016-0370, 603-016-0375, 603-016-0380, 603-016-0385, 603-016-
0390, 603-031-0105, 603-031-0111,603-031-0112,603-031-0113,
603-031-0114, 603-031-0116, 603-031-0117, 603-031-0120, 603-
031-0125, 603-031-0140, 603-031-0180, 603-031-0185, 603-050-
0100, 603-061-0005, 603-062-0005, 603-062-0010, 603-062-0015,
603-062-0020, 603-063-0005, 603-063-0010, 603-063-0015, 603-
063-0020, 603-063-0025, 603-064-0005, 603-064-0050, 603-064-
0100, 603-064-0105, 603-064-0110, 603-064-0115, 603-064-0120,
603-064-0130, 603-064-0200, 603-065-0005, 603-065-0010, 603-
065-0015, 603-065-0017, 603-065-0020, 603-065-0023, 603-065-
0025, 603-065-0032, 603-065-0035, 603-065-0040, 603-065-0045,
603-065-0050, 603-065-0055, 603-065-0060, 603-065-0065, 603-
065-0070, 603-065-0075, 603-065-0080, 603-065-0085, 603-066-
0005, 603-066-0010, 603-066-0015, 603-066-0020, 603-066-0025,
603-066-0030, 603-066-0100, 603-066-0110, 603-066-0200, 603-
066-0205, 603-066-0210, 603-066-0300, 603-066-0305, 603-066-
0310, 603-067-0020, 603-067-0035, 603-068-0005, 603-068-0010,
603-068-0015, 603-068-0100, 603-068-0105, 603-068-0110, 603-
068-0200, 603-068-0205, 603-068-0210, 603-068-0300, 603-068-
0305, 603-068-0310, 603-068-0400, 603-068-0405, 603-068-0410,
603-069-0010, 603-069-0015, 603-069-0020, 603-069-0025, 603-
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069-0032, 603-069-0035, 603-069-0040, 603-070-0025, 603-070-
0030, 603-070-0035, 603-070-0040, 603-070-0050, 603-070-0055,
603-085-0000, 603-085-0010, 603-085-0020, 603-085-0030, 603-
085-0040, 603-085-0050, 603-085-0060, 603-085-0070, 603-085-
0080, 603-105-0010, 603-064-0205, 603-069-0005, 603-069-0030,
603-069-0034, 603-057-0300, 603-070-0045, 603-070-0060
Subject: The Oregon Department of Agriculture adopts permanent
repeal of the following Administrative Rules:

Animal Health/ID: 603-016 — Eradication and Control of Turkey
Diseases, and the Inspection and Grading of Turkeys — No industry
need for this.

Commodity Inspection Programs: 603-031- Grain Inspection —
ODA no longer performs this function.

603-050-0100 — Transportation Permits for Potatoes — Program no
longer in use.

Pesticides Division: 603-057-0300 — Specifications for Use of Pes-
ticides Containing Thiram as Animal Repellents — EPA cancelled use
of product.

Dairy: 603-061 thru 603-069 — Milk Stabilization Program — ODA
no longer conducts this program.

Conservation: 603-070 — Conservation Planning and Implemen-
tation Grant Programs — No longer funded or functioning.

Research: 603-085-0000 — 603-085-0080 — Center for Applied
Agricultural Research — No longer funded or functioning

Wine Advisory Board: 603-105-0010 — Wine Advisory Board —
No longer a function of ODA; operates outside of the department.
Rules Coordinator: Sue Gooch—(503) 986-4583

Department of Consumer and Business Services,
Building Codes Division
Chapter 918

Rule Caption: Postponing the expanded arc-fault circuit interrupter
provisions of the Oregon Electrical Specialty Code.

Adm. Order No.: BCD 5-2012(Temp)

Filed with Sec. of State: 6-7-2012

Certified to be Effective: 6-7-12 thru 10-31-12

Notice Publication Date:

Rules Amended: 918-305-0105

Subject: This rule will temporarily delay implementing a require-
ment for arc-fault circuit interrupter (AFCI) protection in family
rooms, dining rooms, living rooms, parlors, libraries, dens, sunrooms,
recreation rooms, closets, hallways, or similar rooms and areas. This
temporary rule will expire on October 31,2012.

Rules Coordinator: Stephanie Snyder—(503) 373-7438

918-305-0105
Amendments to the Oregon Electrical Specialty Code

(1) The Oregon Electrical Specialty Code is adopted and amended
pursuant to OAR chapter 918, division 8. Amendments adopted for inclu-
sion into the Oregon Electrical Specialty Code are placed in this rule, show-
ing the section reference and a descriptive caption. Amendments to the
Oregon Electrical Specialty Code are printed in their entirety in Table 1-E,
located at the end of Division 305.

(2) Section 210.12(A) Arc-Fault Circuit Interrupter Protection.
Section 210.12(A) is amended by deleting “family rooms, dining rooms,
living rooms, parlors, libraries, dens, sunrooms, recreation rooms, closets,

hallways, or similar rooms or areas” until November 1,2012.
[Publications: Publications referenced are available from the agency.]
Stat. Auth.: ORS 479.730
Stats. Implemented: ORS 479.730
Hist.: BCD 23-2004, f. 12-15-04, cert. ef. 4-1-05; BCD 6-2008, f. 3-7-08, cert. ef. 4-1-08;
BCD 3-2011, f. 3-11-11, cert. ef. 4-1-11; BCD 5-2012(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 6-7-12 thru 10-
31-12

Department of Consumer and Business Services,
Insurance Division
Chapter 836

Rule Caption: Amends current rule allowing title insurers to pro-
vide certain real property information to intermediaries.
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Adm. Order No.: ID 10-2012

Filed with Sec. of State: 6-7-2012

Certified to be Effective: 6-7-12

Notice Publication Date: 5-1-2012

Rules Amended: 836-080-0337

Subject: The current rule allows title companies to provide certain
information on real property located in Multnomah, Clackamas or
‘Washington counties, or any county in which real property data bases
if the information is available on a commercially available software
program, The ability of a title company to provide the information
is subject to a $10 limit, including but not limited to labor and mate-
rials.

The changes to the rule allow a title company to provide demo-
graphic information for property located anywhere in Oregon. The
rule also changes the limitation on cost to $15 per request, includ-
ing but not limited to labor and materials, and prohibits a title com-
pany from providing to intermediaries any other thing of value in
connection with the property information, including but not limited
to packaging.

Rules Coordinator: Sue Munson—(503) 947-7272

836-080-0337
Real Property Information

(1) A title company may give to an intermediary information that
relates to a specific parcel of real property located in this state if the cost to
the title company, including but not limited to labor and materials, is $15 or
less per request.

(2) A title company may distribute the information described in sec-
tion (1) of this rule in any form and in any manner.

(3) This rule does not apply when a title company provides real prop-
erty information in connection with a title insurance policy according to the
title company’s filed rating plan approved by the Director pursuant to ORS
737.320.

(4) Nothing in this rule allows a title company to provide:

(a) The means of access to the real property information to an inter-
mediary for less than reasonably equivalent consideration; or

(b) Any other thing of value in connection with the information
described in section (1) of this rule including but not limited to packaging

such as binders, dividers, folders, page protectors or compact disc cases.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244
Stats. Implemented: ORS 746.045, 746.055, 746.160 & 746.240
Hist.: ID 9-1996, f. 6-25-96, cert. ef. 7-1-96; ID 10-2012, . & cert. ef. 6-7-12

Rule Caption: Rules to implement Senate Bill 1547 relating to reg-
ulating and licensing captive insurers in Oregon.
Adm. Order No.: ID 11-2012(Temp)
Filed with Sec. of State: 6-15-2012
Certified to be Effective: 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12
Notice Publication Date:
Rules Adopted: 836-029-0000, 836-029-0005, 836-029-0010,
836-029-0015, 836-029-0020, 836-029-0025, 836-029-0030, 836-
029-0035, 836-029-0040, 836-029-0045, 836-029-0050, 836-029-
0055, 836-029-0060, 836-029-0065, 836-029-0070, 836-029-0075,
836-029-0080, 836-029-0085, 836-029-0090, 836-029-0095, 836-
029-0100, 836-029-0105, 836-029-0110, 836-029-0115, 836-029-
0120
Rules Amended: 836-009-0007
Subject: Senate Bill 1547 (2012 Legislative Session) authorized the
Department of Consumer and Business Services to admit and regu-
late captive insurers in Oregon. A captive insurer is an insurance
company formed to provide certain classes of insurance coverage to
its parent organization or its affiliates, not to the public as a whole.
Many major U.S. and multinational corporations use captive insur-
ers to finance portions of their insurance risks. A captive insurer can
be organized under the laws of any jurisdiction with a captive insur-
er enabling statute. The jurisdiction under which the captive insur-
er is organized is called the “domicile”, and the captive insurer is reg-
ulated by the laws of that domicile.

These temporary rules implement the provisions of Senate Bill
1547, setting out the regulatory and procedural details to adminis-
ter the new captive insurers program. The rules include provisions
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that establish and clarify application requirements, annual reporting
and audit requirements, documentation and recordkeeping require-
ments, provisions to assure there is no conflict of interest by direc-
tors of captive insurers, procedures for suspending or revoking a cap-
tive insurer license, forms and fee requirements.

Rules Coordinator: Sue Munson—(503) 947-7272

836-009-0007
Fees

(1) The following fees apply to certificates of authority:

(a) The fee for application for a certificate of authority to transact
insurance as an insurer is $2,500. The fee for application as a domestic
insurer must be paid when application for a permit to organize as a domes-
tic insurer is made. Otherwise, the fee must be paid when the application
for the certificate is made;

(b) The fee for annual continuation of a certificate of authority issued
under subsection (a) of this section is $1,500;

(c) The fee for obtaining a certificate of authority to transact insurance
as a captive insurer for the year the director first issues a certificate is
$5,000. The fee for a domestic insurer must be paid when application for a
permit to organize as a domestic insurer is made. Otherwise, the fee must
be paid when the application for the certificate is made;

(d) The fee for annual renewal of a certificate of authority for a cap-
tive insurer issued under subsection (d) of this section is $5,000;

(e) The fee for reinstatement of a certificate of authority is $100.

(2) The fees in this section apply to examinations for licenses for
insurance producers, adjusters and insurance consultants. The fees may be
charged by the examination vendor under contract with the Department of
Consumer and Business Services and are as follows:

(a) Examination fees:

(A) Insurance producer, property and casualty insurance or life and
health insurance — $55;

(B) Insurance producer, property insurance only, casualty insurance
only, personal lines insurance only, life insurance only or health insurance
only — $45;

(C) Surplus lines licensee — $45;

(D) Adjuster, general lines insurance or life and health insurance —
$45;

(E) Adjuster, health insurance or any single other line designated by
rule — $45;

(F) Consultant, life and health insurance or general lines insurance —
$55;

(G) Consultant, life insurance only, health insurance only or any other
single line designated by rule — $45;

(b) Reexamination fees, to be charged when the applicant retakes an
examination:

(A) Insurance producer, property and casualty insurance or life and
health insurance — $55

(B) Insurance producer, property insurance only, casualty insurance
only, personal lines insurance only, life insurance only or health insurance
only — $45;

(C) Surplus lines licensee — $45;

(D) Adjuster, general lines insurance or life and health insurance —
$45;

(E) Adjuster, health insurance or any single other line designated by
rule — $45;

(F) Consultant, life and health insurance or general lines insurance —
$55;

(G) Consultant, life insurance only, health insurance only or any other
single line designated by rule — $45;

(c) For purposes of the fees charged under subsections (a) and (b) of
this section:

(A) Surety is included in the casualty insurance line and marine and
transportation insurance may be included in the property insurance line or
the casualty insurance line; and

(B) The personal lines line is a subcategory of the casualty insurance
line. Consequently, a person who holds a license that is endorsed to trans-
act casualty insurance need not obtain a separate endorsement to transact
personal lines insurance.

(3) The following fees apply to application for licenses for insurance
producers, adjusters and insurance consultants:

(a) Resident insurance producer — $30;

(b) Nonresident insurance producer — $30;

(c) Adjuster — $30;

(d) Insurance consultant — $30.
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(4) The following fees apply to issuance of licenses for insurance pro-
ducers, adjusters and insurance consultants:

(a) Resident insurance producer — $45;

(b) Nonresident insurance producer — $45;

(c) Adjuster — $45;

(d) Insurance consultant — $45;

(e) In addition, the actual cost of any criminal records check under
836-072-0010. The amount charged will not exceed the actual cost of
acquiring and furnishing criminal offender information as authorized by
ORS 181.534(9)(g).

(5) The examination fee under section (2) of this rule must be paid to
the examination vendor. The application fee under section (3) of this rule
and the license issuance fee under section (4) of this rule must be paid at
the same time. There is no refund of the application and examination fees.
Refund of the license issuance fee is governed by section (14) of this rule.

(6) The fees established in this section apply to the renewal of licens-
es for insurance producers, adjusters and insurance consultants. A license
expires biennially in the month of the individual’s birthday anniversary. The
fees are as follows:

(a) Resident insurance producer — $45;

(b) Nonresident insurance producer — $45;

(c) Adjuster — $45;

(d) Insurance consultant — $45.

(7) The applicable fee under sections (3) and (4) of this rule shall be
paid for each category of insurance business appearing on a license.

(8) The following fees apply to certificates of registration for legal
expense organizations:

(a) Application for a certificate of registration -- $350;

(b) Renewal of certificate of registration -- $350. The fee under this
subsection shall be paid annually.

(9) Annual registration of a foreign risk retention group -- $350. The
fee under this section shall be paid at the time of initial registration and
annually thereafter.

(10) Annual registration of a purchasing group -- $100. The fee under
this section shall be paid at the time of initial registration and annually
thereafter.

(11) The license for a rating organization -- $180. The fee under this
section shall be paid at the time of initial licensing and triennially thereafter.

(12) The fee for filing a statement by an acquiring party under ORS
732.521 for the purpose of acquiring a controlling interest in an insurer (a
“Form A” filing as prescribed in OAR 836-027-0100) is $50 per hour of
Division staff time spent on reviewing the statement, with a minimum fee
of $5,000.

(13) The Fire Marshal shall pay $50,000 each year for services pro-
vided by the Department in the collection of gross premium taxes on insur-
ance covering the peril of fire under ORS 731.820.

(14) Fees paid as required under this rule are not refundable except as
provided in this section. If the director determines that an amount paid
exceeds the amount legally due and payable to the Department and the
amount of the overpayment is less than $20, the Department shall refund
the amount only upon receipt of a written request from the payer or the rep-
resentative of the payer. A fee paid for a license under section (4) of this
rule is refundable if the license applicant fails the examination or if the
license is otherwise not issued to the applicant.

(15) The amendments to section (2)(a), (b) and (d) of this rule that
were filed in ID 15-2002 with the Secretary of State on June 26, 2002 to
become effective on July 1, 2002, are re-adopted with the operative date of
July 1, 2002, and those same amendments to section (2)(a) and (b) of this

rule are repealed effective July 1, 2003.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 181.534,293.445,731.244,731.804 & 744.037
Stats. Implemented: ORS 181.534, 731.804, 744.001, 744.002, 744.004, 744.007, 744.058,
744062, 744.063, 744.064, 744072, 744 528, 744.531, 744.535, 744.619 & 744.621
Hist.: ID 6-1989(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 7-3-89; ID 14-1989, f. 12-12-89, cert. ef. 1-1-90; ID 21-
1990, f. & cert. ef. 12-18-90; ID 4-1991, f. & cert. ef. 4-25-91; ID 8-1991, f. & cert. ef. 10-
21-91; ID 7-1993, f. & cert. ef. 9-3-93; ID 16-1997, f. 11-25-97, cert. ef. 1-1-98; ID 6-1999,
f.12-13-99, cert. ef. 1-1-00; ID 14-2000, f. 12-27-00, cert. ef. 1-1-01; ID 13-2001, f. 11-16-
01, cert. ef. 1-1-02; ID 15-2002, f. 6-26-02, cert. ef. 7-1-02; ID 4-2003(Temp), f. 6-30-03,
cert. ef. 7-1-03 thru 12-19-03; ID 8-2003, f. 12-12-03, cert. ef. 12-19-03; ID 8-2005, f. 5-18-
05, cert. ef. 8-1-05; ID 11-2007(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 12-11-07 thru 6-1-08; ID 7-2008, f. 5-
20-08, cert. ef. 6-2-08; ID 2-2010, f. 1-8-10, cert. ef. 2-1-10; ID 23-2010, f. 12-30-10, cert.
ef. 1-1-11; ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

836-029-0000
Authority

OAR 836-029-0000(T) to 836-029-0120(T) are adopted under the
general rulemaking authority of the Director of the Department of
Consumer and Business Services under ORS 731.244 and the specific

authority granted by Section 4, chapter 84, Oregon Laws 2012.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244,2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 4 (Enrolled SB 1547)
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Stats. Implemented: 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 2-22 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Hist.: ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

836-029-0005
Purpose and Scope

The purpose of these rules is to set forth the financial, reporting,
record-keeping and other requirements the Director of the Department of
Consumer and Business Services considers necessary for the regulation of

captive insurers, under sections 2 to 22, chapter 84, Oregon Laws 2012.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244, 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 4 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Stats. Implemented: 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 2-22 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Hist.: ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

836-029-0010
Definitions

As used in OAR 836-029-0000(T) to 836-029-0120(T):

(1) “GAAP” means generally accepted accounting principles.

(2) “Work Papers” or “working papers” include but are not limited to
schedules, analyses, reconciliations, abstracts, memoranda, narratives, flow
charts, copies of captive insurer records or other documents prepared or
obtained by the independent certified public accountant and the accoun-

tant’s employees in the conduct of their audit of a captive insurer.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244,2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 4 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Stats. Implemented: 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 2-22 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Hist.: ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

836-029-0015
Annual Reporting Requirements

(1) Not later than March 1, a captive insurer authorized in this state
shall file an annual report of its financial condition as of the immediately
preceding December 31 with the Director of the Department of Consumer
and Business Services. The report shall be verified by oath of two of its
executive officers and shall be prepared using GAAP. The annual report
may be filed electronically in accordance with directions from the director.

(2) An association captive insurer shall comply with the requirements
of section 13, chapter 84, Oregon Laws 2012 when filing an annual report
on the captive insurer’s financial condition.

(3) All captive insurers must use the “Captive Insurer Annual
Statement Form” as set forth on the Insurance Division website of the
Department  of  Consumer  and Business Services at
WWWw.insurance.oregon.gov.

(4) The annual report required under section (1) of this rule must be
accompanied by a management discussion and analysis that provides
details of the captive’s financial condition, changes in financial condition
and results of operations. The Management Discussion and analysis shall
be prepared in accordance with annual statement instructions set forth on
the Insurance Division website of the Department of Consumer and
Business Services at www.insurance.oregon.gov and applicable to the
required filing period as set forth in OAR 836-011-0000.

(5) A captive insurer shall file information applicable to holding com-
pany systems required by OAR 836-027-0001 to 836-027-0180 on or
before April 30 covering activities for the preceding year.

(6) Upon request, the director may grant an extension of time for fil-

ing a report or document required under this rule.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244,2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 4 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Stats. Implemented: 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 2-22 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Hist.: ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

836-029-0020
Risk Limitation

The Director of the Department of Consumer and Business Services
may:

(1) Limit the net amount of risk a captive insurer retains for a single
risk after considering the impact of the retention on the captive insurer’s
capital and surplus; or

(2) Prescribe and demand additional capital and surplus of any cap-
tive insurer if the director determines that the captive insurer is not ade-
quately capitalized for the type, volume and nature of the risk that is being

covered by the captive insurer.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244, 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 4 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Stats. Implemented: 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 2-22 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Hist.: ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

836-029-0025
Annual Audit

(1) All captive insurers shall have an annual audit by an independent
certified public accountant, approved by the Director of the Department of
Consumer and Business Services, and shall file an audited financial report
with the director on or before June 30 for the preceding year. Financial
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statements furnished under this section shall be prepared in accordance
with generally accepted auditing standards as determined by the AICPA. At
the discretion of the director, the requirement of an audit may be waived so
long as the audit was not waived in the prior year.

(2) The annual audit report shall be considered part of the captive
insurer’s annual report of financial condition except with respect to the date
by which it must be filed with the director. The director may grant an exten-
sion of time for filing the annual audit.

(3) The annual audit shall include all of the following:

(a) Opinion of an Independent Certified Public Accountant. The opin-
ion of the independent certified public accountant shall:

(A) Cover all years presented; and

(B) Be addressed to the captive insurer on stationery of the account-
ant showing the address of issuance, shall bear original manual signatures
and shall be dated.

(b) Internal Controls Letter.

(A) In accordance with AU Section 319 of the Professional Standards
of the AICPA, Considerations of Internal Controls in a Financial Statement
Audit, the independent certified public accountant shall obtain an under-
standing of internal controls sufficient to plan the audit. To the extent
required by AU 319, for those insurers required to file a Management’s
Report of Internal Control over Financial Reporting pursuant to 836-029-
0030(T), the independent certified public accountant shall consider (as that
term is defined in Statement on Auditing Standards (SAS) No. 102,
Defining Professional Requirements in Statements on Auditing Standards or
its replacement) the most recently available report in planning and per-
forming the audit of the statutory financial statements.

(B) Based on such understanding, the accountant shall include a let-
ter about the internal controls of the captive insurer relating to the methods
and procedures used in the securing of assets and the reliability of the finan-
cial records, including but not limited to, controls as the system of authori-
zation and approval and the separation of duties. The review shall be con-
ducted in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards and pro-
cedures.

(c) Accountant’s Letter of Qualifications. For a captive insurer that
has an annual direct written premium of $500 million or more, the account-
ant shall furnish the captive insurer, for inclusion in the filing of the audit-
ed annual report, a letter stating:

(A) That the accountant is independent with respect to the captive
insurer and conforms to the standards of the profession as contained in the
Code of Professional Ethics and pronouncements of the AICPA and pro-
nouncements of the Financial Accounting Standards Board;

(B) The general background and experience of the staff engaged in the
audit, including their experience in auditing captive or other insurance
companies;

(C) That the accountant understands that the audited annual report and
the accountant’s opinions on the audited annual report will be filed in com-
pliance with this rule.

(D) That the accountant consents to the requirements of OAR 836-
029-0055(T);

(E) That the accountant consents and agrees to make the work papers
available for review by the director and any designee or agent of the direc-
tor; and

(F) That the accountant is properly licensed by an appropriate state
licensing authority.

(d) Financial Statements. The financial statements required shall
include all of the following:

(A) Balance sheet;

(B) Statement of gain or loss from operations;

(C) Statement of changes in financial position;

(D) Statement of cash flow;

(E) Statement of changes in capital paid up, gross paid in and con-
tributed surplus and unassigned funds (surplus); and

(F) Notes to financial statements required by GAAP including:

(i) A reconciliation of differences, if any, between the audited finan-
cial report and the statement or form filed with the director;

(ii) A summary of ownership and relationship of the captive insurer
and all affiliated corporations or companies insured by the captive;

(iii) A narrative explanation of all material transactions with the cap-
tive insurer. For purposes of this provision, no transaction shall be deemed
material unless it involves three percent or more of a captive insurer’s
admitted assets as of the immediately preceding December 31; and

(iv) A reconciliation of differences between capital paid up, gross paid
in and contributed surplus and unassigned funds (surplus) prepared on a
GAAP and Statutory Accounting basis.
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(e) Certification of Loss Reserves and Loss Expense Reserves of the
Captive Insurer’s Opining Actuary. The annual audit shall include an actu-
arial opinion as to the reasonableness of the captive insurer’s loss reserves
and loss expense reserves.

(A) The individual who certifies as to the reasonableness of reserves
shall be approved by the director and shall be a Fellow or Associate of the
Casualty Actuarial Society and a member in good standing of the American
Academy of Actuaries, for property and casualty companies.

(B) The director may waive the requirement under this section to
include an actuarial opinion as to the reasonableness of the captive insur-
er’s loss reserves and loss expense reserves.

(C) Certification under this subsection shall be in the form the direc-
tor determines appropriate.

(4) As used in this rule, “AICPA” means American Institute of

Certified Public Accountants.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244,2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 4 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Stats. Implemented: 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 2-22 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Hist.: ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

836-029-0030
Management’s Report of Internal Control over Financial Reporting

(1) Each insurer required to file an audited financial report pursuant
to OAR 836-029-0015(T) that has annual direct written and assumed pre-
miums of $500,000,000 or more, excluding premiums reinsured with the
Federal Crop Insurance Corporation and Federal Flood Program, shall pre-
pare a report of the insurer’s or group of insurers’ internal control over
financial reporting. The insurer shall file the report with the director, along
with the Communication of Internal Control Related Matters Noted in an
Audit, as described in OAR 836-029-0035(T). The Management’s Report
of Internal Control over Financial Reporting shall be as of December 31
immediately preceding.

(2) A Management’s Report of Internal Control over Financial
Reporting must include:

(a) A statement that management is responsible for establishing and
maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting;

(b) A statement that management has established internal control over
financial reporting and an assertion, to the best of management’s knowl-
edge and belief, after diligent inquiry, as to whether its internal control over
financial reporting is effective to provide reasonable assurance regarding
the reliability of financial statements in accordance with statutory account-
ing principles;

(c) A statement that briefly describes the approach or processes by
which management evaluated the effectiveness of its internal control over
financial reporting;

(d) A statement that briefly describes the scope of work that is includ-
ed and whether any internal controls were excluded;

(e) Disclosure of any unremediated material weaknesses in the inter-
nal control over financial reporting identified by management as of
December 31 immediately preceding;

(f) A statement regarding the inherent limitations of internal control
systems; and

(g) Signatures of the chief executive officer and the chief financial
officer (or equivalent position and title).

(3) For a Management’s Report of Internal Control over Financial
Reporting under section (2) of this rule, management may not conclude that
the internal control over financial reporting is effective to provide reason-
able assurance regarding the reliability of financial statements in accor-
dance with statutory accounting principles if there is one or more unreme-
diated material weaknesses in its Internal control over financial reporting

(4) Management shall document and make available upon financial
condition examination the basis upon which its assertions, required in sec-
tion (2) of this rule, are made. Management may base its assertions, in part,
upon its review, monitoring and testing of internal controls undertaken in
the normal course of its activities. In addition:

(a) Management shall have discretion as to the nature of the internal
control framework used, and the nature and extent of documentation, in
order to make its assertion in a cost effective manner and, as such, may
include assembly of or reference to existing documentation.

(b) Management’s Report on Internal Control over Financial
Reporting, required by section (1) of this rule, and any documentation pro-
vided in support thereof during the course of a financial condition exami-

nation, shall be kept confidential by the Department.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244,2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 4 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Stats. Implemented: 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 2-22 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Hist.: ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12
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836-029-0035
Communication of Internal Control Related Matters Noted in an
Audit

(1) In addition to the annual audited financial report, each captive
insurer that has annual direct written premium of $500,000,000 or more
shall furnish the director with a written communication as to any unreme-
diated material weaknesses in its internal control over financial reporting
noted during the audit. The communication must be prepared by the
accountant not later than the 60th day after the filing of the annual audited
financial report and shall contain a description of any unremediated mate-
rial weakness (as the term material weakness is defined by Statement on
Auditing Standard 60, Communication of Internal Control Related Matters
Noted in an Audit, or its replacement) as of December 31 immediately pre-
ceding (so as to coincide with the audited financial report required by OAR
836-029-0025(T)) in the captive insurer’s internal control over financial
reporting noted by the accountant during the course of their audit of the
financial statements. If no unremediated material weaknesses were noted,
the communication must so state.

(2) The captive insurer shall submit with the report required under
section (1) of this rule a description of remedial actions taken or proposed
to correct unremediated material weaknesses, if the actions are not
described in the accountant’s report.

(3) The captive insurer shall maintain information about significant
deficiencies communicated by the independent certified public accountant.
The information must be made available to the examiner conducting a
financial condition examination for review and kept in such a manner as to

remain confidential.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244,2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 4 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Stats. Implemented: 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 2-22 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Hist.: ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

836-029-0040
Designation of Service Providers

(1) A certified public accountant retained to conduct the independent
annual audit must be selected from the list of approved certified public
accounting firms or individual certified public accountants maintained by
the Director of the Department of Consumer and Business Services.

(2) A captive insurer that terminates the appointment of an independ-
ent certified public accountant retained to conduct the annual audit required
in this rule shall report the name and address of the certified public account-
ant in writing to the director within ninety days after the appointment is ter-
minated and shall within the same period report the name and address of the
certified public accountant that is subsequently retained.

(3) A captive manager hired to manage a captive insurer must be
selected from the list of approved captive managers maintained by the
Director of the Department of Consumer and Business Services.

(4) A captive insurer that terminates the appointment of a captive
manager hired to manage a captive insurer shall report the name and
address of the captive manager in writing to the director within ninety days
after the appointment is terminated and shall within the same period report
the name and address of the captive manager that is subsequently retained.

(5) An actuary hired to opine on the reserves of a captive insurer must
be selected from the list of approved actuaries maintained by the Director
of the Department of Consumer and Business Services.

(6) A captive insurer that terminates the appointment of an actuary
hired to opine on the reserves of a captive insurer shall report the name and
address of the actuary in writing to the director within ninety days after the
appointment is terminated and shall within the same period report the name

and address of the actuary that is subsequently retained.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244,2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 4 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Stats. Implemented: 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 2-22 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Hist.: ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

836-029-0045
Notification of Material Misstatement of Financial Condition

A captive insurer shall require its certified public accountant to imme-
diately notify an officer and all members of the board of directors of the
captive insurer in writing of any determination by the independent certified
public accountant that the captive insurer has materially misstated its finan-
cial condition in its report to the Director of the Department of Consumer
and Business Services. The captive insurer shall furnish the notification to
the director within five working days after receiving the notification from

its certified public accountant.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244,2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 4 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Stats. Implemented: 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 2-22 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Hist.: ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12
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836-029-0050
Additional Deposit Requirement

(1) Whenever the Director of the Department of Consumer and
Business Services determines that the financial condition of a captive insur-
er warrants additional security, the director may require the captive insurer
to deposit with the director, in trust for the captive insurer, cash, securities
approved by the director, or an irrevocable letter of credit issued by a bank
chartered by the State of Oregon or a member bank of the Federal Reserve
System with the director.

(2) The director shall return the deposit or letter of credit of a captive
insurer if the captive insurer ceases to do any business only after being sat-
isfied that all obligations of the captive insurer have been discharged.

(3) With the approval of the director a captive insurer may receive
interest or dividends from the deposit or exchange the deposits for others of

equal value.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244,2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 4 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Stats. Implemented: 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 2-22 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Hist.: ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

836-029-0055
Availability and Maintenance of Working Papers of the Independent
Certified Public Accountant

(1) Each captive insurer shall require its independent certified public
accountant to make all work papers prepared in the conduct of the audit of
the captive insurer available for review by the Director of the Department
of Consumer and Business Services or his appointed agent. The captive
insurer shall require that the accountant retain the audit work papers for a
period of not less than five years after the end of the report period.

(2) The review by the director shall be considered an official investi-
gation by the director and all working papers obtained during the course of
such investigation shall be confidential business papers and shall be classi-
fied as business confidential protected records. The captive insurer shall
require that the independent certified public accountant provide photo-
copies to the department of any of the working papers that the department
considers relevant. The department may retain any photocopies of working

papers.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244,2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 4 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Stats. Implemented: 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 2-22 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Hist.: ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

836-029-0060
Documentation Required to be Held in Oregon by Licensed Captives

(1) Any captive insurer authorized by the Director of the Department
of Consumer and Business Services, shall maintain and make ready for
inspection and examination by the director, or the director’s agent, any and
all documents pertaining to the formation, operation, management,
finances, insurance and reinsurance of the captive insurer.

(2) Original documents may be kept in the offices of the captive insur-
er’s captive manager, the captive insurer’s parent or the captive insurer
itself. Accurate and complete copies shall be held in an office located in
Oregon designated by the captive insurer and approved by the director as

part of the application process.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244,2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 4 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Stats. Implemented: 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 2-22 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Hist.: ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

836-029-0065
Reinsurance

(1) Any captive insurer authorized to do business in this state may
take credit for reserves on risks ceded to a reinsurer subject to the follow-
ing limitations:

(a) No credit shall be allowed for reinsurance where the reinsurance
contract does not result in the transfer of the risk or liability to the reinsur-
er.

(b) No credit shall be allowed, as an asset or a deduction from liabil-
ity, to any ceding insurer for reinsurance unless the reinsurance is payable
by the assuming insurer on the basis of the liability of the ceding insurer
under the contract reinsured without diminution because of the insolvency
of the ceding insurer.

(2) Reinsurance under this section shall be effected through a written
agreement of reinsurance setting forth the terms, provisions and conditions
governing such reinsurance.

(3) A captive insurer shall file with the Director of the Department of
Consumer and Business Services complete copies of all reinsurance treaties
and contracts for prior approval by the director. Any amendments to rein-

surance agreements must be submitted to the director for prior approval.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244,2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 4 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Stats. Implemented: 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 2-22 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Hist.: ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12
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836-029-0070
Service Providers

A person may not act in or from this state, as a service provider,
including but not limited to as a captive insurance manager, producer, actu-
ary or certified public accountant, for a captive insurer without the author-
ization of the Director of the Department of Consumer and Business
Services. Application for such authorization must be on a form prescribed
by the director. The application shall include information regarding the
service provider’s character, reputation and experience, relative to captive
insurer. A captive insurance producer must be licensed as a producer under

ORS 744052 to 744.089.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244,2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 4 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Stats. Implemented: 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 2-22 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Hist.: ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

836-029-0075
Directors

(1) Every captive insurer shall report any change in its executive offi-
cers or directors to the Director of the Department of Consumer and
Business Services within thirty days after a change is made and include in
its report, a biographical affidavit of any new executive officer or director.

(2) No director, officer or employee of a captive insurer shall, except
on behalf of the captive insurer, accept, or be the beneficiary of, any fee,
brokerage, gift or other emolument because of any investment, loan,
deposit, purchase, sale, payment or exchange made by or for the captive
insurer. The person may receive only reasonable compensation for neces-
sary services rendered to the captive insurer in the person’s usual private,
professional or business capacity.

(3) Any profit or gain received by or on behalf of any person in vio-
lation of this section shall inure to and be recoverable by the captive insur-

Cr.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244,2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 4 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Stats. Implemented: 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 2-22 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Hist.: ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

836-029-0080
Conflict of Interest

(1) Each captive insurer licensed in Oregon shall adopt a conflict of
interest statement for officers, directors and key employees. The statement
shall disclose that the individual has no outside commitments, personal or
otherwise, that would divert the person from the duty to further the interests
of the captive insurer the person represents but this shall not preclude a per-
son from being a director or officer in more than one insurance captive
insurer.

(2) Each officer, director and key employee shall file a yearly disclo-

sure with the board of directors.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244,2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 4 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Stats. Implemented: 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 2-22 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Hist.: ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

836-029-0085

Acquisition of Control of or Merger with Domestic Captive insurer
The acquisition of control of, or merger of, a domestic captive insur-

er shall be regulated in accordance with section 9, chapter 84, Oregon Laws

2012. However, the Director of the Department of Consumer and Business

Services may waive or modify the requirements for public notice and hear-

ing when the director concludes the public hearing is not necessary due to

limited public interest in the change of control.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244, 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 4 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Stats. Implemented: 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 2-22 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Hist.: ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

836-029-0090
Suspension or Revocation

(1) The of the Department of Consumer and Business Services may
by order suspend or revoke the license of a captive insurer or place the cap-
tive insurer on probation on the following grounds:

(a) The captive insurer has not commenced business according to its
plan of operation within two years of being authorized;

(b) The captive insurer has ceased to carry on insurance business in or
from within Oregon;

(c) At the request of the captive insurer;

(d) The captive insurer uses methods that render the operation of the
captive insurer detrimental to the public or the policyholders of the captive
insurer according to standards set forth in OAR 836-029-0095(T) or

(e) Any reason provided in section 16, chapter 84, Oregon Laws 2012.

(2) Before the director takes any action set forth under section 16,
chapter 84, Oregon Laws 2012 the director shall give the captive insurer
notice in writing of the grounds on which the director proposes to act, and

July 2012: Volume 51, No. 7



ADMINISTRATIVE RULES

shall provide an opportunity for hearing on the proposed action in accor-
dance with the provision applicable to a contested case proceeding in ORS

183.310 to 183.490.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244,2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 4 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Stats. Implemented: 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 2-22 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Hist.: ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

836-029-0095
Standards

The director may consider the following standards, either singly or in
combination of two or more, to determine whether the continued operation
of any captive insurer transacting insurance in this state might be deter-
mined to be hazardous to the policyholders, its creditors or the general pub-
lic:

(1) Adverse findings reported in financial condition and audit reports,
and actuarial opinions, reports or summaries.

(2) Whether the captive insurer has made adequate provision, accord-
ing to presently accepted actuarial standards of practice, for the anticipated
cash flows required by the contractual obligations and related expenses of
the captive insurer, when considered in light of the assets held by the cap-
tive insurer with respect to such reserves and related actuarial items includ-
ing but not limited the investment earnings on such assets, and the consid-
erations anticipated to be received and retained under such policies and
contracts.

(3) The ability of an assuming reinsurer to perform and whether the
captive insurer’s reinsurance program provides sufficient protection for the
captive insurer’s remaining capital and surplus after taking into account the
captive insurer’s cash flow and the classes of business written as well as the
financial condition of the assuming reinsurer.

(4) Whether the captive insurer’s operating loss in the last 12-month
period or any shorter period of time, including but not limited to net capi-
tal gain or loss, change in non-admitted assets and cash dividends paid to
shareholders, is greater than 50 percent of the captive insurer’s remaining
capital and surplus in excess of the minimum required.

(5) Whether the captive insurer’s operating loss in the last 12-month
period or any shorter period of time, excluding net capital gains, is greater
than 20 percent of the captive insurer’s remaining surplus as regards poli-
cyholders in excess of the minimum required.

(6) Whether a reinsurer or obligor, or any entity within the captive
insurer’s insurance holding company system is insolvent, threatened with
insolvency or delinquent in payment of its monetary or other obligations
and which, in the opinion of the director may affect the solvency of the cap-
tive insurer.

(7) Contingent liabilities, pledges or guaranties that either individual-
ly or collectively involve a total amount that in the opinion of the director
may affect the solvency of the captive insurer.

(8) Whether any “controlling person” of a captive insurer is delin-
quent in the transmitting to, or payment of, net premiums to the captive
insurer.

(9) The age and collectability of receivables.

(10) Whether the management of a captive insurer, including officers,
directors or any other person who directly or indirectly controls the opera-
tion of the captive insurer, fails to possess and demonstrate the competence,
fitness and reputation determined by the director to be necessary to serve
the captive insurer in such position.

(11) Whether management of a captive insurer has failed to respond
to inquiries relating to the condition of the captive insurer or has furnished
false and misleading information concerning an inquiry.

(12) Whether the captive insurer has failed to meet financial and hold-
ing company filing requirements in the absence of a reason satisfactory to
the director.

(13) Whether management of an captive insurer either has filed a false
or misleading sworn financial statement or has released a false or mislead-
ing financial statement to lending institutions or to the general public, or
has made a false or misleading entry, or has omitted an entry of material
amount in the books of the captive insurer.

(14) Whether the captive insurer has grown so rapidly and to such an
extent that it lacks adequate financial and administrative capacity to meet
its obligations in a timely manner.

(15) Whether the captive insurer has experienced or will experience in
the foreseeable future cash flow or liquidity problems, or both.

(16) Whether management has established reserves that do not com-
ply with minimum standards established by state insurance laws, regula-
tions, statutory accounting standards, sound actuarial principles and stan-
dards of practice.
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(17) Whether management persistently engages in material under
reserving that results in adverse development.

(18) Whether transactions among affiliates, subsidiaries or controlling
persons for which the captive insurer receives assets or capital gains, or
both, do not provide sufficient value, liquidity or diversity to assure the cap-
tive insurer’s ability to meet its outstanding obligations as they mature.

(19) Any other finding determined by the director to be hazardous to

the captive insurer’s policyholders, creditors or general public.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244,2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 4 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Stats. Implemented: 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 2-22 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Hist.: ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

836-029-0100
Director’s Authority

(1) For the purposes of making a determination of the financial con-
dition of a captive insurer under OAR 836-029-0090(T) to 836-029-
0100(T), the director may do one or more of the following:

(a) Disregard any credit or amount receivable resulting from transac-
tions with a reinsurer that is insolvent, impaired or otherwise subject to a
delinquency proceeding;

(b) Make appropriate adjustments to asset values attributable to
investments in or transactions with parents, subsidiaries or affiliates;

(c) Refuse to recognize the stated value of accounts receivable if the
ability to collect receivables is highly speculative in view of the age of the
account or the financial condition of the debtor; or

(d) Increase the captive insurer’s liability in an amount equal to any
contingent liability, pledge, or guarantee not otherwise included if there is
a substantial risk that the captive insurer will be called upon to meet the
obligation undertaken within the next 12-month period.

(2) An order of the director under ORS 731.385 regarding a foreign
captive insurer may be limited to the extent provided by statute.

(3) In addition to the requirements the director may impose under
ORS 731.385, if the director determines that the continued operation of the
captive insurer licensed to transact business in this state may be hazardous
to the policyholders or the general public, the director may require the cap-
tive insurer to:

(a) File reports in a form acceptable to the director concerning the
market value of the captive insurer’s assets;

(b) Document the adequacy of premium rates in relation to the risks
insured;

(c) In addition to regular annual statements, file interim financial
reports on the form specified by the director;

(d) Correct corporate governance practice deficiencies, and adopt and
utilize the governance practices acceptable to the director; or

(e) Provide a business plan to the director in order to continue to
transact business in this state.

(4) Notwithstanding any other provision of law limiting the frequen-
cy or amount of premium rate adjustments, the director may include as a
requirement under section (3) of this rule, any rate adjustment for any non-
life insurance product written by the captive insurer that the director con-

siders necessary to improve the financial condition of the captive insurer.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244,2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 4 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Stats. Implemented: 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 2-22 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Hist.: ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

836-029-0105
Change of Information in Initial Application

(1) Any material change in a captive insurer’s business plan that is
filed with the Director of the Department of Consumer and Business
Services at the time of initial application and any subsequent amendment of
the plan requires prior approval of the director.

(2) Any change in any other information filed with the initial applica-
tion must be filed with the director within sixty days after the change, but
does not require prior approval.

(3) The captive insurer shall immediately notify the director upon

making changes in board members or officers of the captive insurer.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244,2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 4 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Stats. Implemented: 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 2-22 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Hist.: ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

836-029-0110
Application

(1) In order to form a domestic captive insurer a person shall apply to
the Director of the Department of Consumer and Business Services for a
permit to organize using the form, “Application for Permit to Organize
Captive Insurer With or Without Capital Stock™ as set forth on the
Insurance Division website of the Department of Consumer and Business
Services at www.insurance.oregon.gov. The written application for permit
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to organize, including all required attachments and information, must be
submitted to the department in accordance with instructions provided with
the application.

(2) In order to be authorized to transact insurance as a captive insurer
a person shall apply to the director for authority to conduct a captive insur-
ance using the form, “Application to Form a Captive insurer” as set forth on
the Insurance Division website of the Department of Consumer and
Business Services at www.insurance.oregon.gov. The application materials
must:

(a) Include one complete copy of the application including forms,
attachments, exhibits and all other papers and documents filed as a part
thereof, accompanied by the appropriate filing fee filed in writing or online
with the director. The written application, including all required attach-
ments and information, must be submitted to the department in accordance
with instructions provided with the application.

(b) Be signed in the manner prescribed in the application. If the sig-
nature of any person is affixed pursuant to a power of attorney or other sim-
ilar authority, a copy of the power of attorney or other authority must also
be filed with the application.

(c) Include with the application a business plan with supporting data
and all other information required by the application.

(d) Include a feasibility study demonstrating the feasibility of the
business plan of the captive insurer. The department may test the feasibili-
ty of the study by examining the captive insurer’s corporate records, includ-
ing but not limited to the insurer’s charter, bylaws and minute books, veri-
fication of capital and surplus, verification of principal place of business,
determination of assets and liabilities, and any other factor the director con-

siders necessary.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244,2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 4 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Stats. Implemented: 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 2-22 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Hist.: ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

836-029-0115
Fees

(1) At the time an applicant submits an application under OAR 836-
029-0110(T) for a permit to organize a captive insurer or for a certificate of
authority to operate as a captive insurer the applicant shall pay to the
Director of the Department of Consumer and Business Services a nonre-
fundable fee as set forth in OAR 836-009-0007 for processing the initial
application for a permit to organize or for a certificate of authority.

(2) In addition, each captive insurer that is authorized by the director
shall pay prior to April 1 an annual continuation fee, without proration, for
the year following the year during which the certificate of authority was
originally issued and each year thereafter in the amount established in OAR

836-009-0007.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244,2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 4 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Stats. Implemented: 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 2-22 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Hist.: ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

836-029-0120
Authorized Forms

(1) The following forms must be used for any applicant applying for
a certificate of authority as a new captive insurer:

(a) “Application for Permit to Organize Captive Insurer With or
Without Capital Stock;”

(b) “Application to Form a Captive insurer;”

(c) “Biographical Affidavit for Captive insurer;”

(d) “Oregon Insurance Division Captive insurer Reinsurance
Exhibit;”

(e) “Oregon Approved Irrevocable Letter of Credit” if applicable;

(f) “Statement of Economic Benefit to the State of Oregon;” and

(g) “Appointment of the Director of the Department of Consumer and
Business Services as Attorney to Accept Service of Process.”

(2) Except for a captive insurance producer applying to be licensed as
a producer pursuant to ORS 744.052 to 744.089, the following forms must
be used when applying to become an approved captive insurer service
provider:

(a) “Application for Placement on Approved Captive Insurer
Management Firm List;”

(b) “Application to Certify Loss and Expense for Captive insurers
Captive Actuary Application;”

(c) “Application for Authorization as an Independent Certified Public
Accountant for Captive insurers;” and

(d) “Application for Authorization as Producer for Captive insurers.”

(3) All captive insurers must use the “Captive Insurer Annual
Statement Form.”
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(4) The forms required in sections (1) to (3) of this section are set
forth on the Insurance Division website of the Department of Consumer

and Business Services at www.insurance.oregon.gov.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 731.244,2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 4 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Stats. Implemented: 2012 OL Ch. 84, Sec. 2-22 (Enrolled SB 1547)
Hist.: ID 11-2012(Temp), f. 6-15-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

Department of Consumer and Business Services,
Workers’ Compensation Division
Chapter 436

Rule Caption: Attorney fees awarded under ORS 656.385(1) of the
Workers” Compensation Law.

Adm. Order No.: WCD 3-2012(Temp)

Filed with Sec. of State: 6-13-2012

Certified to be Effective: 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

Notice Publication Date:

Rules Amended: 436-001-0003, 436-001-0410

Subject: These temporary rules amend the attorney fee matrix in
OAR 436-001-0410 to show the maximum fee and fee ranges as per-
centages of the adjusted maximum fee payable under ORS
656.385(1). The permanent rule had shown the maximum fee and fee
ranges as percentages of the state average weekly wage (SAWW).
These formulas were accurate for any year in which the SAWW
increased or remained the same. However, effective July 1,2012, the
state average weekly wage has gone down, and the percentages in
rule 0410 were no longer accurate because attorney fees may only
be adjusted based on an increase, if any, in the SAWW. The revised
formulas will remain accurate whether the SAWW goes up, goes
down, or stays the same in future years. The net effect of the tem-
porary rule is that the maximum attorney fee and fee ranges will
remain the same as those in effect from 7/1/2011 through 6/30/2012.
Rules Coordinator: Fred Bruyns—(503) 947-7717

436-001-0003
Applicability and Purpose of these Rules

(1) OAR 436-001-0005 through 436-001-0009 establish supplemen-
tal procedures for rulemaking under ORS chapter 183 and apply to all divi-
sion rulemaking on or after Jan. 1,2010.

(2) OAR 436-001-0019 through 436-001-0300 establish supplemen-
tal procedures for hearings on matters within the director’s jurisdiction,
which are matters other than those concerning a claim as defined in ORS
656.704.

(a) In general, the rules of the Workers’ Compensation Board in OAR
chapter 438 apply to the conduct of hearings, unless these rules provide oth-
erwise.

(b) These rules do not apply to hearings requested under ORS
656.740.

(c) These rules apply to hearings held on or after Jan. 1,2010.

(3) OAR 436-001-0400 through 436-001-0440 apply to attorney fees
awarded by the director under ORS 656.262 and 656.386, and to attorney
fees awarded by the director or administrative law judge under ORS
656.385(1).

(a) These rules apply to attorney fees assessed by an order that is
issued on or after July 1, 2012.

(b) For attorney fees that are ordered to be paid in reconsideration
proceedings under ORS 656.268(6), OAR 436-030-0175 applies.

(4) The director may waive procedural rules as justice requires, unless

otherwise obligated by statute.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 656.726(4)
Stats. Implemented: ORS 656.704 & 183
Hist.: WCD 9-1992, f. & cert. ef. 5-22-92; WCD 6-1995(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 7-14-95; WCD
7-1996, f. & cert. ef. 2-12-96; WCD 8-1998, f. 8-10-98, cert. ef. 9-15-98; WCD 3-2004, . 3-
5-04 cert. ef. 4-1-04; WCD 7-2005, f. 10-20-05, cert. ef. 1-2-06; WCD 1-2006, f. 1-13-06,
cert. ef. 1-17-06; WCD 1-2008, f. 6-13-08, cert. ef. 7-1-08; WCD 3-2009, f. 12-1-09, cert. ef.
1-1-10; WCD 3-2012(Temp), f. 6-13-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

436-001-0410
Attorney fees awarded under ORS 656.385(1)

(1) In cases in which the director or administrative law judge awards
a fee under ORS 656.385(1):

(a) The fee must fall within the ranges of the matrix in subsection
(1)(d), unless extraordinary circumstances are shown or the parties other-
wise agree.

(b) Extraordinary circumstances are not established merely by
exceeding eight hours or a benefit of $6,000.
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(¢) The matrix in subsection (1)(d) shows the maximum fee and fee
ranges as percentages of the maximum fee under ORS 656.385(1), as
adjusted annually by the same percentage increase, if any, to the average
weekly wage defined in 656.211. Before July 1 of each year the director, by
bulletin, will publish the matrix showing the maximum fee and fee ranges
as dollar amounts after the annual adjustment to the statutory maximum fee.
Dollar amounts will be rounded to the nearest whole dollar. If the average
weekly wage does not change or goes down, the maximum attorney fee
awarded under ORS 656.385(1) will remain the same.

(d) [Table not included. See ED. NOTE.]

(2) For purposes of applying the matrix in medical disputes under
ORS 656.245, 656.247, 656.260, and 656.327, the following may be con-
sidered in determining the value of the results achieved or the benefit to the
worker:

(a) The fee allowed by the medical fee schedule in OAR 436-009 for
the medical service at issue.

(b) The overall cost of the medical service at issue.

(3) For purposes of applying the matrix in vocational disputes under
ORS 656.340, the value of vocational assistance or a training plan, unless
determined to be otherwise, falls within the highest range of the matrix for
“benefit achieved.” In addition, the following may be considered in deter-
mining the value of the results achieved or the benefit to the worker:

(a) The actual or projected cost of the service at issue.

(b) The maximum spending limit in the fee schedule for vocational

assistance costs in OAR 436-120-0720 for the service at issue.
[ED. NOTE: Tables referenced are available from the agency.]
Stat. Auth.: ORS 656.385(1) & 656.726(4)
Stats. Implemented: ORS 656.262, 656.385, 656.388 & 656.704
Hist.: WCD 6-1995(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 7-14-95; WCD 7-1996, f. & cert. ef. 2-12-96; WCD
8-1998, f. 8-10-98, cert. ef. 9-15-98; WCD 14-2003(Temp), f. 12-15-03, cert. ef. 1-1-04 thru
6-28-04; WCD 3-2004, f. 3-5-04 cert. ef. 4-1-04; WCD 6-2005, f. 6-9-05, cert. ef. 7-1-05;
WCD 7-2005, f. 10-20-05, cert. ef. 1-2-06; WCD 1-2008, f. 6-13-08, cert. ef. 7-1-08;
Renumbered from 436-001-0265, WCD 3-2009, f. 12-1-09, cert. ef. 1-1-10; WCD 3-
2012(Temp), f. 6-13-12, cert. ef. 7-1-12 thru 12-27-12

Department of Corrections
Chapter 291

Rule Caption: Interstate Compact — Retaken Offenders.

Adm. Order No.: DOC 6-2012

Filed with Sec. of State: 5-24-2012

Certified to be Effective: 5-24-12

Notice Publication Date: 2-1-2012

Rules Amended: 291-180-0275

Subject: This rulemaking is necessary in order for the Department
of Corrections to require that an offender who was previously retak-
en and returned to this state from another state at cost to the State of
Oregon, whether by formal or informal means, repay those costs to
the State of Oregon before the offender may be approved by the
Department for an interstate compact supervision transfer. Limited
exceptions may be granted by the Compact Administrator or
designee based on individual circumstances.

Rules Coordinator: Janet R. Worley —(503) 945-0933

291-180-0275
Retaken Offenders

(1) An offender who was previously retaken and returned to this state
from another state at cost to the State of Oregon, whether by formal or
informal means, shall not be approved by the Department of Corrections for
an interstate compact supervision transfer under these rules until such time
as the offender repays to the State of Oregon all costs incurred by the State
of Oregon in effecting the offender’s return to this state. Limited exceptions
may be granted by the Compact Administrator or designee based on indi-
vidual circumstances.

(2) This rule applies to all offenders applying for a transfer of their
supervision to another state under the Interstate Compact for Adult
Offender Supervision (ICAOS) before, on or after January 1, 2012, whose
applications have not been previously approved by the Department of

Corrections.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 144.600, 179.040, 423.020, 423.030 & 423.075
Stats. Implemented: ORS 144.600, 179.040, 423.020, 423.030 & 423.075
Hist.: DOC 2-2005, . & cert. ef. 2-24-05; DOC 1-2012(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 1-10-12 thru 7-
8-12; DOC 6-2012, f. & cert. ef. 5-24-12
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Department of Energy
Chapter 330

Rule Caption: Permanent rules to administer the transit services
tax credit within the Energy Incentives Program.

Adm. Order No.: DOE 5-2012

Filed with Sec. of State: 6-11-2012

Certified to be Effective: 6-11-12

Notice Publication Date: 5-1-2012

Rules Adopted: 330-225-0000, 330-225-0010, 330-225-0020,
330-225-0030, 330-225-0040, 330-225-0050, 330-225-0070, 330-
225-0080, 330-225-0090, 330-225-0100, 330-225-0150

Subject: These rules provide the operating framework for the tran-
sit services tax credit within the Energy Incentives Program created
by HB 3672 (2011) and amended by HB 4079 (2012). The rules
include the application process, allocation of tax credits within fund-
ing limits and issuance of tax credits. The department engaged an
advisory committee to provide comments and feedback on the pro-
posed rules.

Rules Coordinator: Kathy Stuttaford—(503) 373-2127

330-225-0000
Applicability of Rules

These rules implement the incentive program for transit services
established in House Bill 3672 (2011) and amended by House Bill 4079
(2012). The rules also provide procedures for submission, agency review
and selection of transit services for preliminary and final certification of tax
credits.

These rules apply to all applications for tax credits for transit servic-

es projects, as governed by ORS 469B.320 to 469B347.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 469.040 & 469B.347
Stats. Implemented: ORS 469B.320-469B.347, 315.336 & OL 2012 Ch. 45
Hist.: DOE 5-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-11-12

330-225-0010
Definitions

For the purposes of this division, the following definitions apply:

(1) “Allocated project cost” means the amount of the transit services
project’s cost that may be eligible for tax credits. The department calculates
by dividing the amount of the potential tax credit available to each appli-
cant, determined by the process in OAR 330-225-0050(6), by the tax cred-
it rate in effect for that Opportunity Announcement.

(2) “Applicant” means a person who has applied for or who has
received a preliminary certificate for a transit services energy incentives
program tax credit.

(3) “Certified cost” means the cost certified in the final certification.

(4) “Cost” has the meaning given in ORS 469B.320.

(5) “Department” means the Oregon Department of Energy.

(6) “Director” means the director of the department.

(7) “Opportunity period” means the timeframe specified in an
Opportunity Announcement for the department to accept applications for
transit services.

(8) “Substantial Energy Savings” means a reduction of at least 10 per-
cent in the energy used by the transit service compared to the equivalent
energy use of single occupant vehicles traveling the same number of pas-
senger miles.

(9) “Transit Services Provider” means a public or nonprofit entity that
provides transit services to the public and that receives state or federal fund-
ing for those services, or is the direct recipient of funding from an entity
that receives state or federal funding for the services.

(10) “Transit Services” means transportation by a conveyance that
provides regular and continuing transportation to the public, but does not
include school bus, charter or intercity passenger rail transportation.

(11) “Vehicle Miles Reduced” (VMR) means the difference in miles
driven by the transit services compared to miles driven by single occupant

vehicles.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 469.040 & 469B.347
Stats. Implemented: ORS 469B.320-469B.347, 315.336 & OL 2012 Ch. 45
Hist.: DOE 5-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-11-12

330-225-0020
Opportunity Announcement

(1) The department will announce the availability of tax credits for
transit services by issuing an Opportunity Announcement.
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(2) The department will continually monitor the allocation of tax
credits to ensure that the total amount of potential tax credits does not
exceed the tax credit caps specified in ORS 469B.344.

(3) If the cumulative total of all tax credits awarded under the
Opportunity Announcement is less than the total amount of tax credits
available, the department may reallocate the balance to a future
Opportunity Announcement.

(4) The Opportunity Announcement will include the following infor-
mation:

(a) Objectives for the opportunity period;

(b) The amount and the percent level of tax credits available;

(c) Application requirements including the time period during which
transit services are eligible;

(d) Dates of the application opportunity period;

(e) Instructions and directions to the required application forms and
materials;

(f) Minimum technical standards;

(g) The process the department will use to allocate tax credits; and

(h) Other information the department considers necessary.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 469.040 & 469B.347

Stats. Implemented: ORS 469B.320-469B 347, 315.336 & OL 2012 Ch. 45
Hist.: DOE 5-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-11-12

330-225-0030
Preliminary Certification Application

(1) Any person may apply for preliminary certification by submitting
a complete preliminary certification application. The application must meet
requirements provided by statutes, these rules and the current Opportunity
Announcement.

(a) The application must be in the form specified in the Opportunity
Announcement and these rules.

(b) An applicant must submit a complete application during the
opportunity period. For the purposes of this rule, the department considers
an application dsubmittedd when the department receives the application
accompanied by the fee specified in these rules. The department will not
process applications received outside of an opportunity period.

(c) Only one application will be accepted from each transit services
provider for each Opportunity Announcement.

(2) The application must be accompanied by the fee specified in these
rules. The department will not process applications received without fee
payment.

(3) The department will not accept amendments to applications dur-
ing the opportunity period. An applicant may withdraw an application and
submit a replacement application during the opportunity period. The
department will not process fees for applications withdrawn before the end
of the opportunity period.

(4) The application must include the following information, unless the
department specifies otherwise in the Opportunity Announcement.

(a) The name of the applicant.

(A) If the applicant is a nonprofit entity, the application must include
evidence of its nonprofit status.

(B) If the applicant is a public or governmental entity, the application
must include written authorization from the entity’s governing body allow-
ing submission of the application. An employee of the applicant may sign
the application and attest they have the authority through their employment
to apply for and receive transit services tax credits.

(b) The name, address, email address and telephone number of the
responsible party for the applicant.

(c) The applicant’s federal tax identification number, which may be
shared with the Oregon Department of Revenue to facilitate the adminis-
tration of state tax law.

(d) A statement verifying that the applicant is the recipient or sub-
recipient of state or federal funds, either confirmed or anticipated to be
received for the services and period identified in the Opportunity
Announcement.

(e) An identification of the types of State or Federal funds received or
anticipated for the transit services included in the application, which may
be an executive summary of the agreement or line item budget under which
the applicant qualifies as a recipient or sub-recipient.

(f) The geographic area or region for which transit services will be
provided.

(g) A calculation estimating the vehicle miles reduced (VMR).

(h) The period during which transit services will be provided.

(i) A statement of compliance with applicable state and local regula-
tions and that the applicant will obtain required licenses and permits,
including any legally required audits associated with the service.
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(j) The number and type of new jobs that will be created by the tran-
sit services and the number of existing jobs that will be sustained through-
out the operation of the transit services. Job estimates should be submitted
in hours. These hours must be directly related to the transit services.

(k) The anticipated costs of providing the transit services.

(1) The amount of any anticipated or received incentives or grants
directly related to the transit services.

(m) Current line item budget including labor, operations, mainte-
nance, fuel, administrative costs and revenue that corresponds to the fund-
ing for the transit provider’s service.

(n) The dollar amount of tax credit requested by the applicant.

(o) If the applicant intends to include costs for performance of the
transit services prior to the project period in the Opportunity
Announcement, a written description of the special circumstances that ren-
dered filing of an application prior to the start of performance unreasonable.
Pre-qualified waivers may be provided in the Opportunity Announcement;
a written description is not required for the period covered by a pre-quali-
fied waiver.

(p) Other information the department considers necessary.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 469.040 & 469B.347

Stats. Implemented: ORS 469B.320-469B.347, 315.336 & OL 2012 Ch. 45
Hist.: DOE 5-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-11-12

330-225-0040
Fees

The department adopts the following schedule of fees as provided by
ORS 469B.326 for applicants. All fee payments are non-refundable, despite
the results of the department’s review.

(1) Applicants must submit an application fee of $200 with their pre-
liminary certification application.

(2) Applicants selected for technical review will be required to pay a
technical review fee prior to that review. The fee amount is equal to the allo-
cated project cost multiplied by 0.55 percent.

(3) Applicants requesting amendments to preliminary certifications
must submit a fee of $300 with their amendment request.

(4) Applicants for final certification must submit with their applica-
tion a final review fee. This fee amount is equal to the allocated project cost
multiplied by 0.5 percent. All applicants seeking final certification for a
project are required to apply for final review and pay the final review fee.

(5) If the department is unable to complete a scheduled inspection due
to actions by the applicant, the department will require the applicant to pay
a re-inspection fee of $400 before rescheduling the inspection.

(6) Applicants that transfer their tax credit to a pass-through partner
must pay a pass-through fee. The fee is due after a pass-through partner has
been identified and before the department can issue a tax credit.

(a) If the department assists the applicant in obtaining a pass-through
partner or partners, the fee for that assistance is 1.25 percent of the tax cred-
it amount, up to $25,000, plus $100 per tax certificate issued.

(b) If the department does not assist the applicant in obtaining a pass-
through partner, the fee is $100 per tax certificate issued.

(7) Applicants issued a tax credit that choose to have their tax credit
re-issued to a transferee must pay a transfer fee of $200 plus $100 per tax
credit certificate issued.

(8) If an applicant fails to pay fees timely as required by this rule, the

department may reject the pending application and discontinue the review.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 469.040 & 469B.347
Stats. Implemented: ORS 469B.320-469B.347, 315.336 & OL 2012 Ch. 45
Hist.: DOE 5-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-11-12

330-225-0050
Completeness Review and Allocation of Potential Tax Credits

(1) The department will determine the allocation of potential tax cred-
its as detailed in the Opportunity Announcement prior to beginning review
of an application.

(2) Tax credits must be claimed over a five year period as required by
ORS 315.336, and as shown below:

(a) If a preliminary certification is issued on or after January 1, 2012,
and before January 1,2013, the tax credit is 25 percent of certified cost. The
tax credit allowed in each of five tax years is 5 percent of the certified cost.

(b) If a preliminary certification is issued on or after January 1, 2013,
and before January 1,2014, the tax credit is 20 percent of certified cost. The
tax credit allowed in each of five tax years is 4 percent of the certified cost.

(c) If a preliminary certification is issued on or after January 1, 2014,
and before January 1,2015, the tax credit is 15 percent of certified cost. The
tax credit allowed in each of five tax years is 3 percent of the certified cost.
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(d) If a preliminary certification is issued on or after January 1, 2015,
and before January 1, 2016, the tax credit is 10 percent of certified cost. The
tax credit allowed in each of five tax years is 2 percent of the certified cost.

(3) The department will review all preliminary certification applica-
tions to determine whether:

(a) All sections of the application are complete as outlined in the
Opportunity Announcement.

(b) The applicant has submitted the required fee.

(c) The service meets the definition of transit services.

(d) The applicant is applying prior to the performance of the project.

(A) If the applicant applies after performance of the project has start-
ed, the department will deny the application unless a written explanation of
the special circumstances is received and approved by the director. The
director may pre-qualify waivers as provided in the Opportunity
Announcement; a written description is not required for the period covered
by a pre-qualified waiver.

(B) Failing to submit a timely application or not being selected for a
grant or tax credit under this or prior department programs does not consti-
tute special circumstances.

(e) The transit services are located in Oregon.

(f) Other requirements described in the Opportunity Announcement
have been met.

(4) If the department finds that the application is complete, the appli-
cation will be included in the process used to allocate potential tax credits.

(5) The department will deny all incomplete applications and notify
applicants in writing of the reason for denying the application.

(6) If the department receives applications with a total amount of
requested potential tax credits in excess of the amount available for the
Opportunity Announcement, the department will use the following process
to allocate potential tax credits between applicants. The department will:

(a) Include all complete applications received within the opportunity
period in the allocation process.

(b) Sum the total requested tax credit amount of all complete applica-
tions and determine the percent of the total requested tax credit amount rep-
resented by each application.

(c) If any applications represent 20 percent or more of the total,
restrict those applications to 20 percent.

(d) If step (c) results in a total of less than 100 percent, re-allocate the
percentage points between applications, excluding those restricted to 20
percent.

(e) Repeat the reduction (c) and re-allocation (d) steps until all the
available tax credits are allocated.

(f) Calculate the potential tax credit allocated to each application to
ensure no application is allocated more than the requested amount.

(g) If an application is allocated more than the requested amount, allo-
cate the additional amount proportionately to applicants restricted to 20
percent of the total.

(7) The department will notify applicants of the amount of potential
tax credit allocated and the fee payment required for technical review.

(8) If the allocation of potential tax credits to an applicant is reduced
during the same biennium that the tax credits were first allocated, the
department may reallocate the unallocated potential tax credits to appli-
cants from the same Opportunity Announcement that were allocated less
than their requested amount.

(9) The department considers the completeness review as a test; the
decision to deny an incomplete application is not subject to review under

ORS Chapter 183.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 469.040 & 469B.347
Stats. Implemented: ORS 469B.320-469B.347, 315336 & OL 2012 Ch. 45
Hist.: DOE 5-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-11-12

330-225-0070
Technical Review

(1) Once the applicant has paid the technical review fee, the depart-
ment will conduct a technical review of transit services project applications
advanced from the completeness review process. If the applicant does not
submit the required technical review fee to the department within 21 calen-
dar days of mailing of the notification for technical review, the department
may deny the application.

(2) The department will review the information provided in the appli-
cation against industry standards to determine whether the service will
operate as represented by the applicant.

(3) To be eligible the transit services must meet the following require-
ments:
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(a) The project must meet the requirements of the statutes, these rules
and the Opportunity Announcement. Transit services may operate for a
period of less than five years.

(b) The applicant must be the owner, contract purchaser or project les-
see at the time of the project’s performance.

(c) The applicant must be a recipient or sub-recipient of state or fed-
eral funds for the transit services included in the application.

(A) “Recipient” refers to the entity that directly receives funds from
the state or federal agency for transit services.

(B) “Sub-recipient” refers to the entity that directly receives state or
federal funds from a recipient for transit services. Vendors or contractors of
recipients who are not an owner, contract purchases or lessee of the project
are not considered sub-recipients and may not submit applications.

(4) The department will review transit services costs for eligibility. If
a cost is eligible under the agreement that qualifies the applicant as a recip-
ient or sub-recipient, it will be considered a qualifying service cost. The
application must document cost by providing a line item budget.

(a) Transit services cost may include:

(A) Costs for all materials and supplies needed for the performance of
the proposed transit services;

(B) Cost of work performed by employees or independent contractors
of the applicant based on the following conditions:

(i) Employees or contractors must be certified, accredited, licensed or
otherwise qualified to do the work;

(ii) The work must be associated with the performance of the transit
services for which state or federal funds were received;

(iii) Fiscal administration costs, which may include accounting, audit-
ing, contract management and fiscal reporting expenses and other similar
costs for the transit services may not exceed 20 percent of the eligible costs;
and

(iv) Costs for employees’ or contractors’ work on the transit services
must be detailed and documented as to specific tasks, hours worked and
compensation costs. This cost may include employee benefits and taxes.

(C) Costs of training associated with the transit services that is
approved by the department; and

(D) Other costs the department determines should be included.

(b) Qualifying transit services cost does not include items that are
ineligible under the standards for federal Office of Management and Budget
Circular A-87 as in effect on May 10, 2004 or A-122 as in effect on May
10, 2004.

(5) If an application does not include all information needed to com-
plete the technical review, the department may notify the applicant in writ-
ing, requesting additional information. If the department does not receive
the requested information within 30 calendar days of the date of the notice,
the department may deny the application.

(6) The department will notify the applicant in writing if the depart-
ment denies the application during the technical review.

(7) If the technical review determines that inaccurate information was
submitted by the applicant during the allocation of tax credits, the depart-
ment may reduce the amount of potential tax credit allocated to the appli-

cant.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 469.040 & 469B.347
Stats. Implemented: ORS 469B.320-469B.347, 315.336 & OL 2012 Ch. 45
Hist.: DOE 5-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-11-12

330-225-0080
Preliminary Certification

(1) The department may issue a preliminary certificate if it determines
that the transit services are technically feasible and capable of operating in
accordance with the representations made by the applicant. The department
may issue a tax credit that is less than the amount requested in the transit
services application, pursuant to statute and applicable rules.

(2) The sum of any state or federal funding and the transit services
incentive may not exceed project costs.

(3) The preliminary certificate will state the qualifying project cost,
the potential amount of allowable tax credit and any conditions for claim-
ing the credit.

(4) A preliminary certification remains valid for a period of three cal-
endar years after the date the department issues the original preliminary

certification or until the sunset of the program, whichever comes first.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 469.040 & 469B.347
Stats. Implemented: ORS 469B.320-469B 347, 315336 & OL 2012 Ch. 45
Hist.: DOE 5-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-11-12
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330-225-0090
Amendments to Preliminary Certifications

(1) The applicant must notify the department of any changes to the
project described in the application for preliminary certification.

(2) An applicant must declare all changes to the transit services by the
time the department receives the final certification application. Undeclared
changes found in the application for final certification or through later
inspection may result in denial of final tax credit certification.

(3) The applicant must submit an amendment request to the director
to amend a transit services preliminary certification for any changes to the
project.

(4) Applicants must submit amendments on the form specified in the
Opportunity Announcement.

(5) The applicant must demonstrate that the transit services project,
with the proposed change, would continue to be technically feasible and
would operate as represented. The applicant has the responsibility to pro-
vide an amendment request with complete documentation that will support
a case for the proposed amendment. The department may deny amendments
submitted without such justification.

(6) An amendment may result in a reduction in tax credit, but may not
increase the tax credit amount certified in the preliminary certificate.

(7) If an amendment request does not include all information needed
to complete the review, the department may provide the applicant a written
request for additional information. If the applicant does not provide the
requested information to the department within 30 calendar days, the
department may deny the request to amend the preliminary certification.

(8) Requests for amendments must include payment of the appropri-
ate fee. The department may accept non-substantive changes, such as
change of contact information, without payment of the fee.

(9) The department will decide whether to approve the amendment
request.

(a) If approved, the department will draft an amended preliminary
certification, which may contain new or amended conditions and require-
ments.

(b) If denied, the department will notify the applicant in writing. The

notice will include the reasons for the denial of the amendment request.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 469.040 & 469B.347
Stats. Implemented: ORS 469B.320-469B 347, 315.336 & OL 2012 Ch. 45
Hist.: DOE 5-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-11-12

330-225-0100
Final Certification

(1) Transit services projects must be completed prior to applying for
a final certification. An applicant must submit amendments to preliminary
certifications prior to or at the time of submission of the final certification
application.

(2) The department will not review applications for final certification
received after the expiration of the preliminary certification or without the
final review fee.

(3) The applicant must submit the application on the current depart-
ment-issued form and all sections must be completed.

(4) The department will review the application, and may conduct an
inspection, to verify:

(a) That the transit services project was completed.

(b) Compliance with statute, rules, the relevant Opportunity
Announcement and the preliminary certification.

(c) Compliance with state and local regulations, including required
licenses and permits.

(d) That the transit services project was maintained and operated for
the period specified in the preliminary certification.

(e) The costs for performance of the project were paid in full.

(A) The applicant must verify the actual costs of the project by pro-
viding an attestation of costs provided by a certified public accountant or a
copy of a completed audit, in compliance with federal Office of
Management and Budget Circular A-133 as in effect on June, 2010 or if the
cost is less than $50,000 the applicant must submit copies of receipts for the
project.

(i) The certified public accountant cannot be the project owner, nor
permanently employed by the project owner or pass-through partner.

(ii) Receipts for proof of payment may include canceled checks, cred-
it card statements, binding contracts or agreements.

(iii) The department may waive the requirement for a certified public
accountant attestation of costs if the entity has been the subject of an audit
conducted within the two years prior to the date at which the final applica-
tion is received and the audited accounts include the costs of the transit
services project.
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(B) The application must demonstrate that contract or loan agree-
ments directly related to the project are not in default.

(C) The application must include information regarding all incentives
and grants, regardless of source, applied for or received in connection with
the project.

(f) Other information the director considers necessary.

(5) If an application for final certification does not include all infor-
mation needed to complete the final certification review, the department
may ask the applicant, in writing, to submit additional information. If the
department does not receive the requested information within 30 calendar
days of the date of the notice, the department may deny the application for
final certification.

(6) The department will notify the applicant, in writing, if the depart-
ment denies the application during final review. An applicant may submit a
written request for reconsideration within 60 days after the department
issues a decision on a final certification.

(7) The department will issue a final certification upon verification
that performance of the transit services are complete and that the project
complies with statute, rules, the relevant Opportunity Announcement, the
preliminary certification and any other applicable requirements.

(a) The department may certify a lesser tax credit amount than
approved in the preliminary certificate, but may not certify a greater
amount.

(b) The sum of any state or federal funding and the tax credit may not
exceed final project costs.

(c) If the final certification review determines that the final costs are
less than the information submitted by the applicant during the allocation
of tax credits, the department may reduce the amount of tax credit certified.

(8) The department will send a written notification to the applicant of
its decision whether to issue a final certification within 60 days after the
department receives a complete application for final certification. If more
than 60 days pass from the date the applicant submits a complete applica-
tion and the applicant has not received a written decision from the depart-
ment, then the application is rejected and no further action will be taken.
Any time required to provide additional information as provided in OAR

330-225-0100(5) is not included in this 60 day period.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 469.040 & 469B.347
Stats. Implemented: ORS 469B.320-469B 347, 315336 & OL 2012 Ch. 45
Hist.: DOE 5-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-11-12

330-225-0150
Compliance and Pass-through
All participants in this program are subject to OAR 330-230-0000

through 330-230-0140.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 469.040 & 469B.347
Stats. Implemented: ORS 469B.320-469B.347, 315.336 & OL 2012 Ch. 45
Hist.: DOE 5-2012, f. & cert. ef. 6-11-12

Department of Environmental Quality
Chapter 340

Rule Caption: Small and mid-size boiler rule amendments.

Adm. Order No.: DEQ 1-2012

Filed with Sec. of State: 5-17-2012

Certified to be Effective: 5-17-12

Notice Publication Date: 8-1-2011

Rules Amended: 340-200-0020, 340-200-0040, 340-210-0100, 340-
210-0110, 340-210-0120, 340-210-0250, 340-228-0020, 340-228-
0200, 340-228-0210, 340-262-0450, 340-262-0600

Subject: The Heat Smart rules under OAR chapter 340 division 262
prohibit the sale of uncertified biomass boilers and other solid fuel
burning devices with maximum heat output capacities below one mil-
lion British thermal units per hour in Oregon. For small-scale and
mid-size commercial, industrial and institutional solid fuel-fired boil-
ers that are not under a DEQ air quality permit but are already sub-
ject to federal National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pol-
lutants, the rules adopted by the EQC:

* Provide an exemption from Heat Smart certification require-
ments if the owner or operator obtains construction approval from
DEQ under OAR chapter 340 division 210.

* Require registration of a boiler with DEQ upon written request.
Registration includes confirmation that the boiler complies with
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existing applicable state visible emissions standards and federal air
toxics regulations.

The exemption from Heat Smart allows small-scale commercial,
industrial and institutional biomass boilers already subject to feder-
al National Emission Standards for Hazardous Air Pollutants to be
sold in Oregon while ensuring it meets applicable air quality stan-
dards. Registration of a boiler does not authorize its operation like
an air quality permit; however, it does provide DEQ with informa-
tion about the location and compliance status of solid fuel boilers
located at facilities that are not required to obtain air emissions per-
mits.

These amendments, if adopted, will be submitted to the U.S. Envi-
ronmental Protection Agency (EPA) as a revision to the State Imple-
mentation Plan, which is a requirement of the Clean Air Act.
Rules Coordinator: Maggie Vandehey — (503) 229-6878

340-200-0020
General Air Quality Definitions

As used in divisions 200 through 268, unless specifically defined oth-
erwise:

(1) “Act” or “FCAA” means the Federal Clean Air Act, 42 US.C.A.
7401 to 7671q.

(2) “Activity” means any process, operation, action, or reaction (e.g.,
chemical) at a source that emits a regulated pollutant.

(3) “Actual emissions” means the mass emissions of a pollutant from
an emissions source during a specified time period.

(a) For determining actual emissions as of the baseline period:

(A) Except as provided in paragraphs (B) and (C) of this subsection
and subsection (b) of this section, actual emissions equal the average rate at
which the source actually emitted the pollutant during an applicable base-
line period and that represents normal source operation;

(B) The Department presumes that the source-specific mass emissions
limit included in a source’s permit that was effective on September 8, 1981
is equivalent to the source’s actual emissions during the applicable baseline
period if it is within 10% of the actual emissions calculated under para-
graph (A) of this subsection.

(C) Actual emissions equal the potential to emit of the source for the
sources listed in paragraphs (i) through (iii) of this paragraph. The actual
emissions will be reset if required in accordance with subsection (c) of this
section.

(i) Any source or part of a source that had not begun normal opera-
tions during the applicable baseline period but was approved to construct
and operate before or during the baseline period in accordance with OAR
340 division 210, or

(ii) Any source or part of a source of greenhouse gases that had not
begun normal operations prior to January 1, 2010, but was approved to con-
struct and operate prior to January 1, 2011 in accordance with OAR 340
division 210, or

(iii) Any source or part of a source that had not begun normal opera-
tions during the applicable baseline period and was not required to obtain
approval to construct and operate before or during the applicable baseline
period.

(b) For any source or part of a source that had not begun normal oper-
ations during the applicable baseline period, but was approved to construct
and operate in accordance with OAR 340 division 224, actual emissions on
the date the permit is issued equal the potential to emit of the source. The
actual emissions will be reset if required in accordance with subsection (c)
of this section.

(c) Where actual emissions equal potential to emit under paragraph
(a)(C) or subsection (b) of this section, the potential emissions will be reset
to actual emissions as follows:

(A) Paragraphs (A) through (D) of this subsection apply to sources
whose actual emissions of greenhouse gases were determined pursuant
paragraph 3(a)(C), and to all other sources of all other regulated pollutants
that are permitted in accordance with OAR division 224 on or after May 1,
2011.

(B) Except as provided in paragraph (D) of this subsection, ten years
from the end of the applicable baseline period under paragraph (a)(C) or ten
years from the date the permit is issued under subsection (b), or an earlier
time if requested by the source in a permit application involving public
notice, the Department will reset actual emissions to equal the highest actu-
al emission rate during any consecutive 12-month period during the ten
year period or any shorter period if requested by the source.
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(C) Any emission reductions achieved due to enforceable permit con-
ditions based on OAR 340-226-0110 and 0120 (highest and best practica-
ble treatment and control) are not included in the reset calculation required
in paragraph (B) of this subsection.

(D) The Department may extend the date of resetting by five addi-
tional years upon satisfactory demonstration by the source that construction
is ongoing or normal operation has not yet been achieved.

(d) For determining actual emissions for Emission Statements under
OAR 340-214-0200 through 340-214-0220 and Oregon Title V Operating
Permit Fees under OAR 340 division 220, actual emissions include, but are
not limited to, routine process emissions, fugitive emissions, excess emis-
sions from maintenance, startups and shutdowns, equipment malfunction,
and other activities, except categorically insignificant activities and sec-
ondary emissions.

(e) For Oregon Title V Operating Permit Fees under OAR 340 divi-
sion 220, actual emissions must be directly measured with a continuous
monitoring system or calculated using a material balance or verified emis-
sion factor determined in accordance with division 220 in combination with
the source’s actual operating hours, production rates, or types of materials
processed, stored, or combusted during the specified time period.

(4) “Adjacent” means interdependent facilities that are nearby to each
other.

(5) “Affected source” means a source that includes one or more affect-
ed units that are subject to emission reduction requirements or limitations
under Title IV of the FCAA.

(6) “Affected states” means all states:

(a) Whose air quality may be affected by a proposed permit, permit
modification, or permit renewal and that are contiguous to Oregon; or

(b) That are within 50 miles of the permitted source.

(7) “Aggregate insignificant emissions” means the annual actual
emissions of any regulated air pollutant from one or more designated activ-
ities at a source that are less than or equal to the lowest applicable level
specified in this section. The total emissions from each designated activity
and the aggregate emissions from all designated activities must be less than
or equal to the lowest applicable level specified.

(a) One ton for total reduced sulfur, hydrogen sulfide, sulfuric acid
mist, any Class I or II substance subject to a standard promulgated under or
established by Title VI of the Act, and each criteria pollutant, except lead;

(b) 120 pounds for lead;

(c) 600 pounds for fluoride;

(d) 500 pounds for PM10 in a PM 10 nonattainment area;

(e) 500 pounds for direct PM2.5 in a PM2.5 nonattainment area;

(f) The lesser of the amount established in OAR 340-244-0040, Table
1 or 340-244-0230, Table 3, or 1,000 pounds;

(g) An aggregate of 5,000 pounds for all Hazardous Air Pollutants;

(h) 2,756 tons CO2e for greenhouse gases.

(8) “Air Contaminant” means a dust, fume, gas, mist, odor, smoke,
vapor, pollen, soot, carbon, acid or particulate matter, or any combination
thereof.

(9) “Air Contaminant Discharge Permit” or “ACDP” means a written
permit issued, renewed, amended, or revised by the Department, pursuant
to OAR 340 division 216.

(10) “Alternative method” means any method of sampling and ana-
lyzing for an air pollutant that is not a reference or equivalent method but
has been demonstrated to the Department’s satisfaction to, in specific cases,
produce results adequate for determination of compliance. An alternative
method used to meet an applicable federal requirement for which a refer-
ence method is specified must be approved by EPA unless EPA has dele-
gated authority for the approval to the Department.

(11) “Ambient Air” means that portion of the atmosphere, external to
buildings, to which the general public has access.

(12) “Applicable requirement” means all of the following as they
apply to emissions units in an Oregon Title V Operating Permit program
source or ACDP program source, including requirements that have been
promulgated or approved by the EPA through rule making at the time of
issuance but have future-effective compliance dates:

(a) Any standard or other requirement provided for in the applicable
implementation plan approved or promulgated by the EPA through rule-
making under Title I of the Act that implements the relevant requirements
of the Act, including any revisions to that plan promulgated in 40 CFR Part
52;

(b) Any standard or other requirement adopted under OAR 340-200-
0040 of the State of Oregon Clean Air Act Implementation Plan that is more
stringent than the federal standard or requirement which has not yet been
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approved by the EPA, and other state-only enforceable air pollution control
requirements;

(c) Any term or condition in an ACDP, OAR 340 division 216, includ-
ing any term or condition of any preconstruction permits issued pursuant to
OAR 340 division 224, New Source Review, until or unless the Department
revokes or modifies the term or condition by a permit modification;

(d) Any term or condition in a Notice of Construction and Approval
of Plans, OAR 340-210-0205 through 340-210-0240, until or unless the
Department revokes or modifies the term or condition by a Notice of
Construction and Approval of Plans or a permit modification;

(e) Any term or condition in a Notice of Approval, OAR 340-218-
0190, issued before July 1, 2001, until or unless the Department revokes or
modifies the term or condition by a Notice of Approval or a permit modifi-
cation;

(f) Any term or condition of a PSD permit issued by the EPA until or
unless the EPA revokes or modifies the term or condition by a permit mod-
ification;

(g) Any standard or other requirement under section 111 of the Act,
including section 111(d);

(h) Any standard or other requirement under section 112 of the Act,
including any requirement concerning accident prevention under section
112(r)(7) of the Act;

(i) Any standard or other requirement of the acid rain program under
Title IV of the Act or the regulations promulgated thereunder;

(j) Any requirements established pursuant to section 504(b) or section
114(a)(3) of the Act;

(k) Any standard or other requirement under section 126(a)(1) and (c)
of the Act;

(1) Any standard or other requirement governing solid waste incinera-
tion, under section 129 of the Act;

(m) Any standard or other requirement for consumer and commercial
products, under section 183(e) of the Act;

(n) Any standard or other requirement for tank vessels, under section
183(f) of the Act;

(0) Any standard or other requirement of the program to control air
pollution from outer continental shelf sources, under section 328 of the Act;

(p) Any standard or other requirement of the regulations promulgated
to protect stratospheric ozone under Title VI of the Act, unless the
Administrator has determined that such requirements need not be contained
in an Oregon Title V Operating Permit; and

(q) Any national ambient air quality standard or increment or visibil-
ity requirement under part C of Title I of the Act, but only as it would apply
to temporary sources permitted pursuant to section 504(e) of the Act.

(13) “Baseline Emission Rate” means the actual emission rate during
a baseline period. Baseline emission rate does not include increases due to
voluntary fuel switches or increased hours of operation that occurred after
that baseline period.

(a) A baseline emission rate will be established only for regulated pol-
lutants subject to OAR 340 division 224 as specified in the definition of
regulated pollutant. A baseline emission rate will not be established for
PM2.5.

(b) The baseline emission rate for greenhouse gases, on a CO2e basis,
will be established with the first permitting action issued after July 1,2011,
provided the permitting action involved a public notice period that began
after July 1,2011.

(c) For a pollutant that becomes a regulated pollutant subject to OAR
340 division 224 after May 1, 2011, the initial baseline emission rate is the
actual emissions of that pollutant during any consecutive 12 month period
within the 24 months immediately preceding its designation as a regulated
pollutant if a baseline period has not been defined for the pollutant.

(d) The baseline emission rate will be recalculated if actual emissions
are reset in accordance with the definition of actual emissions.

(e) Once the baseline emission rate has been established or recalcu-
lated in accordance with subsection (d) of this section, the production basis
for the baseline emission rate may only be changed if a material mistake or
an inaccurate statement was made in establishing the production basis for
baseline emission rate.

(14) “Baseline Period” means:

(a) Any consecutive 12 calendar month period during the calendar
years 1977 or 1978 for any regulated pollutant other than greenhouse gases.
The Department may allow the use of a prior time period upon a determi-
nation that it is more representative of normal source operation.

(b) Any consecutive 12 calendar month period during the calendar
years 2000 through 2010 for greenhouse gases.
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(15) “Best Available Control Technology” or “BACT” means an emis-
sion limitation, including, but not limited to, a visible emission standard,
based on the maximum degree of reduction of each air contaminant subject
to regulation under the Act which would be emitted from any proposed
major source or major modification which, on a case-by-case basis, taking
into account energy, environmental, and economic impacts and other costs,
is achievable for such source or modification through application of pro-
duction processes or available methods, systems, and techniques, including
fuel cleaning or treatment or innovative fuel combustion techniques for
control of such air contaminant. In no event may the application of BACT
result in emissions of any air contaminant that would exceed the emissions
allowed by any applicable new source performance standard or any stan-
dard for hazardous air pollutant. If an emission limitation is not feasible, a
design, equipment, work practice, or operational standard, or combination
thereof, may be required. Such standard must, to the degree possible, set
forth the emission reduction achievable and provide for compliance by pre-
scribing appropriate permit conditions.

(16) “Biomass” means non-fossilized and biodegradable organic
material originating from plants, animals, and micro-organisms, including
products, byproducts, residues and waste from agriculture, forestry, and
related industries as well as the non-fossilized and biodegradable organic
fractions of industrial and municipal wastes, including gases and liquids
recovered from the decomposition of non-fossilized and biodegradable
organic matter.

(17) “Capacity” means the maximum regulated pollutant emissions
from a stationary source under its physical and operational design.

(18) “Capture system” means the equipment (including but not limit-
ed to hoods, ducts, fans, and booths) used to contain, capture and transport
a pollutant to a control device.

(19) “Carbon dioxide equivalent” or “CO2e” means an amount of a
greenhouse gas or gases expressed as the equivalent amount of carbon diox-
ide, and shall be computed by multiplying the mass of each of the green-
house gases by the global warming potential published for each gas at 40
CFR Part 98, subpart A, Table A—1—Global Warming Potentials, and
adding the resulting value for each greenhouse gas to compute the total
equivalent amount of carbon dioxide.

(20) “Categorically insignificant activity” means any of the following
listed pollutant emitting activities principally supporting the source or the
major industrial group. Categorically insignificant activities must comply
with all applicable requirements.

(a) Constituents of a chemical mixture present at less than 1% by
weight of any chemical or compound regulated under divisions 200 through
268 excluding divisions 248 and 262 of this chapter, or less than 0.1% by
weight of any carcinogen listed in the U.S. Department of Health and
Human Service’s Annual Report on Carcinogens when usage of the chem-
ical mixture is less than 100,000 pounds/year;

(b) Evaporative and tail pipe emissions from on-site motor vehicle
operation;

(c) Distillate oil, kerosene, and gasoline fuel burning equipment rated
at less than or equal to 0.4 million Btu/hr;

(d) Natural gas and propane burning equipment rated at less than or
equal to 2.0 million Btu/hr;

(e) Office activities;

(f) Food service activities;

(g) Janitorial activities;

(h) Personal care activities;

(i) Groundskeeping activities including, but not limited to building
painting and road and parking lot maintenance;

(j) On-site laundry activities;

(k) On-site recreation facilities;

(1) Instrument calibration;

(m) Maintenance and repair shop;

(n) Automotive repair shops or storage garages;

(0) Air cooling or ventilating equipment not designed to remove air
contaminants generated by or released from associated equipment;

(p) Refrigeration systems with less than 50 pounds of charge of ozone
depleting substances regulated under Title VI, including pressure tanks
used in refrigeration systems but excluding any combustion equipment
associated with such systems;

(q) Bench scale laboratory equipment and laboratory equipment used
exclusively for chemical and physical analysis, including associated vacu-
um producing devices but excluding research and development facilities;

(r) Temporary construction activities;

(s) Warehouse activities;

(t) Accidental fires;
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(u) Air vents from air compressors;

(v) Air purification systems;

(w) Continuous emissions monitoring vent lines;

(x) Demineralized water tanks;

(y) Pre-treatment of municipal water, including use of deionized
water purification systems;

(z) Electrical charging stations;

(aa) Fire brigade training;

(bb) Instrument air dryers and distribution;

(cc) Process raw water filtration systems;

(dd) Pharmaceutical packaging;

(ee) Fire suppression;

(ff) Blueprint making;

(gg) Routine maintenance, repair, and replacement such as anticipat-
ed activities most often associated with and performed during regularly
scheduled equipment outages to maintain a plant and its equipment in good
operating condition, including but not limited to steam cleaning, abrasive
use, and woodworking;

(hh) Electric motors;

(ii) Storage tanks, reservoirs, transfer and lubricating equipment used
for ASTM grade distillate or residual fuels, lubricants, and hydraulic fluids;

(jj) On-site storage tanks not subject to any New Source Performance
Standards (NSPS), including underground storage tanks (UST), storing
gasoline or diesel used exclusively for fueling of the facility’s fleet of vehi-
cles;

(kk) Natural gas, propane, and liquefied petroleum gas (LPG) storage
tanks and transfer equipment;

(1I) Pressurized tanks containing gaseous compounds;

(mm) Vacuum sheet stacker vents;

(nn) Emissions from wastewater discharges to publicly owned treat-
ment works (POTW) provided the source is authorized to discharge to the
POTW, not including on-site wastewater treatment and/or holding facilities;

(00) Log ponds;

(pp) Storm water settling basins;

(qq) Fire suppression and training;

(rr) Paved roads and paved parking lots within an urban growth
boundary;

(ss) Hazardous air pollutant emissions of fugitive dust from paved and
unpaved roads except for those sources that have processes or activities that
contribute to the deposition and entrainment of hazardous air pollutants
from surface soils;

(tt) Health, safety, and emergency response activities;

(uu) Emergency generators and pumps used only during loss of pri-
mary equipment or utility service due to circumstances beyond the reason-
able control of the owner or operator, or to address a power emergency as
determined by the Department;

(vv) Non-contact steam vents and leaks and safety and relief valves
for boiler steam distribution systems;

(ww) Non-contact steam condensate flash tanks;

(xx) Non-contact steam vents on condensate receivers, deaerators and
similar equipment;

(yy) Boiler blowdown tanks;

(zz) Industrial cooling towers that do not use chromium-based water
treatment chemicals;

(aaa) Ash piles maintained in a wetted condition and associated han-
dling systems and activities;

(bbb) Oil/water separators in effluent treatment systems;

(ccc) Combustion source flame safety purging on startup;

(ddd) Broke beaters, pulp and repulping tanks, stock chests and pulp
handling equipment, excluding thickening equipment and repulpers;

(eee) Stock cleaning and pressurized pulp washing, excluding open
stock washing systems; and

(fff) White water storage tanks.

(21) “Certifying individual” means the responsible person or official
authorized by the owner or operator of a source who certifies the accuracy
of the emission statement.

(22) “CFR” means Code of Federal Regulations.

(23) “Class I area” means any Federal, State or Indian reservation
land which is classified or reclassified as Class I area. Class I areas are iden-
tified in OAR 340-204-0050.

(24) “Commence” or “commencement’” means that the owner or oper-
ator has obtained all necessary preconstruction approvals required by the
Act and either has:

(a) Begun, or caused to begin, a continuous program of actual on-site
construction of the source to be completed in a reasonable time; or
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(b) Entered into binding agreements or contractual obligations, which
cannot be canceled or modified without substantial loss to the owner or
operator, to undertake a program of construction of the source to be com-
pleted in a reasonable time.

(25) “Commission” or “EQC” means Environmental Quality
Commission.

(26) “Constant Process Rate” means the average variation in process
rate for the calendar year is not greater than plus or minus ten percent of the
average process rate.

(27) “Construction”:

(a) Except as provided in subsection (b) of this section means any
physical change including, but not limited to, fabrication, erection, installa-
tion, demolition, or modification of a source or part of a source;

(b) As used in OAR 340 division 224 means any physical change
including, but not limited to, fabrication, erection, installation, demolition,
or modification of an emissions unit, or change in the method of operation
of a source which would result in a change in actual emissions.

(28) “Continuous compliance determination method” means a
method, specified by the applicable standard or an applicable permit condi-
tion, which:

(a) Is used to determine compliance with an emission limitation or
standard on a continuous basis, consistent with the averaging period estab-
lished for the emission limitation or standard; and

(b) Provides data either in units of the standard or correlated directly
with the compliance limit.

(29) “Continuous Monitoring Systems” means sampling and analysis,
in a timed sequence, using techniques which will adequately reflect actual
emissions or concentrations on a continuing basis in accordance with the
Department’s Continuous Monitoring Manual, and includes continuous
emission monitoring systems, continuous opacity monitoring system
(COMS) and continuous parameter monitoring systems.

(30) “Control device” means equipment, other than inherent process
equipment that is used to destroy or remove air pollutant(s) prior to dis-
charge to the atmosphere. The types of equipment that may commonly be
used as control devices include, but are not limited to, fabric filters,
mechanical collectors, electrostatic precipitators, inertial separators, after-
burners, thermal or catalytic incinerators, adsorption devices(such as car-
bon beds), condensers, scrubbers(such as wet collection and gas absorption
devices), selective catalytic or non-catalytic reduction systems, flue gas
recirculation systems, spray dryers, spray towers, mist eliminators, acid
plants, sulfur recovery plants, injection systems(such as water, steam,
ammonia, sorbent or limestone injection), and combustion devices inde-
pendent of the particular process being conducted at an emissions unit(e.g.,
the destruction of emissions achieved by venting process emission streams
to flares, boilers or process heaters). For purposes of OAR 340-212-0200
through 340-212-0280, a control device does not include passive control
measures that act to prevent pollutants from forming, such as the use of
seals, lids, or roofs to prevent the release of pollutants, use of low-polluting
fuel or feedstocks, or the use of combustion or other process design features
or characteristics. If an applicable requirement establishes that particular
equipment which otherwise meets this definition of a control device does
not constitute a control device as applied to a particular pollutant-specific
emissions unit, then that definition will be binding for purposes of OAR
340-212-0200 through 340-212-0280.

(31) “Criteria Pollutant” means nitrogen oxides, volatile organic com-
pounds, particulate matter, PM10, PM2.5, sulfur dioxide, carbon monoxide,
or lead.

(32) “Data” means the results of any type of monitoring or method,
including the results of instrumental or non-instrumental monitoring, emis-
sion calculations, manual sampling procedures, recordkeeping procedures,
or any other form of information collection procedure used in connection
with any type of monitoring or method.

(33) “De minimis emission levels” mean the levels for the pollutants
listed in Table 4.

NOTE: De minimis is compared to all increases that are not included in the PSEL.

(34) “Department”:

(a) Means Department of Environmental Quality; except

(b) As used in OAR 340 divisions 218 and 220 means Department of
Environmental Quality or in the case of Lane County, Lane Regional Air
Protection Agency.

(35) “Device” means any machine, equipment, raw material, product,
or byproduct at a source that produces or emits a regulated pollutant.

(36) “Direct PM2.5” has the meaning provided in the definition of
PM25.

(37) “Director” means the Director of the Department or the
Director’s designee.
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(38) “Draft permit” means the version of an Oregon Title V Operating
Permit for which the Department or Lane Regional Air Protection Agency
offers public participation under OAR 340-218-0210 or the EPA and affect-
ed State review under 340-218-0230.

(39) “Effective date of the program” means the date that the EPA
approves the Oregon Title V Operating Permit program submitted by the
Department on a full or interim basis. In case of a partial approval, the
“effective date of the program” for each portion of the program is the date
of the EPA approval of that portion.

(40) “Emergency” means any situation arising from sudden and rea-
sonably unforeseeable events beyond the control of the owner or operator,
including acts of God, which situation requires immediate corrective action
to restore normal operation, and that causes the source to exceed a technol-
ogy-based emission limitation under the permit, due to unavoidable
increases in emissions attributable to the emergency. An emergency does
not include noncompliance to the extent caused by improperly designed
equipment, lack of preventative maintenance, careless or improper opera-
tion, or operator error.

(41) “Emission” means a release into the atmosphere of any regulat-
ed pollutant or any air contaminant.

(42) “Emission Estimate Adjustment Factor” or “EEAF” means an
adjustment applied to an emission factor to account for the relative inaccu-
racy of the emission factor.

(43) “Emission Factor” means an estimate of the rate at which a pol-
lutant is released into the atmosphere, as the result of some activity, divid-
ed by the rate of that activity (e.g., production or process rate).

(44)(a) Except as provided in subsection (b) of this section, “Emission
Limitation” and “Emission Standard” mean a requirement established by a
State, local government, or the EPA which limits the quantity, rate, or con-
centration of emissions of air pollutants on a continuous basis, including
any requirements which limit the level of opacity, prescribe equipment, set
fuel specifications, or prescribe operation or maintenance procedures for a
source to assure continuous emission reduction.

(b) As used in OAR 340-212-0200 through 340-212-0280, “Emission
limitation or standard” means any applicable requirement that constitutes
an emission limitation, emission standard, standard of performance or
means of emission limitation as defined under the Act. An emission limita-
tion or standard may be expressed in terms of the pollutant, expressed either
as a specific quantity, rate or concentration of emissions (e.g., pounds of
SO2 per hour, pounds of SO2 per million British thermal units of fuel input,
kilograms of VOC per liter of applied coating solids, or parts per million by
volume of SO2) or as the relationship of uncontrolled to controlled emis-
sions (e.g., percentage capture and destruction efficiency of VOC or per-
centage reduction of SO2). An emission limitation or standard may also be
expressed either as a work practice, process or control device parameter, or
other form of specific design, equipment, operational, or operation and
maintenance requirement. For purposes of 340-212-0200 through 340-212-
0280, an emission limitation or standard does not include general operation
requirements that an owner or operator may be required to meet, such as
requirements to obtain a permit, to operate and maintain sources in accor-
dance with good air pollution control practices, to develop and maintain a
malfunction abatement plan, to keep records, submit reports, or conduct
monitoring.

(45) “Emission Reduction Credit Banking” means to presently
reserve, subject to requirements of OAR 340 division 268, Emission
Reduction Credits, emission reductions for use by the reserver or assignee
for future compliance with air pollution reduction requirements.

(46) “Emission Reporting Form” means a paper or electronic form
developed by the Department that must be completed by the permittee to
report calculated emissions, actual emissions, or permitted emissions for
interim emission fee assessment purposes.

(47) “Emissions unit” means any part or activity of a source that emits
or has the potential to emit any regulated air pollutant.

(a) A part of a source is any machine, equipment, raw material, prod-
uct, or byproduct that produces or emits regulated air pollutants. An activi-
ty is any process, operation, action, or reaction (e.g., chemical) at a station-
ary source that emits regulated air pollutants. Except as described in sub-
section (d) of this section, parts and activities may be grouped for purpos-
es of defining an emissions unit if the following conditions are met:

(A) The group used to define the emissions unit may not include dis-
crete parts or activities to which a distinct emissions standard applies or for
which different compliance demonstration requirements apply; and

(B) The emissions from the emissions unit are quantifiable.

(b) Emissions units may be defined on a pollutant by pollutant basis
where applicable.
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(c) The term emissions unit is not meant to alter or affect the defini-
tion of the term “unit” under Title IV of the FCAA.

(d) Parts and activities cannot be grouped for determining emissions
increases from an emissions unit under OAR 340-224-0050 through 340-
224-0070, or 340 division 210, or for determining the applicability of any
New Source Performance Standard (NSPS).

(48) “EPA” or “Administrator” means the Administrator of the United
States Environmental Protection Agency or the Administrator’s designee.

(49) “Equivalent method” means any method of sampling and ana-
lyzing for an air pollutant that has been demonstrated to the Department’s
satisfaction to have a consistent and quantitatively known relationship to
the reference method, under specified conditions. An equivalent method
used to meet an applicable federal requirement for which a reference
method is specified must be approved by EPA unless EPA has delegated
authority for the approval to the Department.

(50) “Event” means excess emissions that arise from the same condi-
tion and occur during a single calendar day or continue into subsequent cal-
endar days.

(51) “Exceedance” means a condition that is detected by monitoring
that provides data in terms of an emission limitation or standard and that
indicates that emissions (or opacity) are greater than the applicable emis-
sion limitation or standard(or less than the applicable standard in the case
of a percent reduction requirement) consistent with any averaging period
specified for averaging the results of the monitoring.

(52) “Excess emissions” means emissions in excess of a permit limit
or any applicable air quality rule.

(53) “Excursion” means a departure from an indicator range estab-
lished for monitoring under OAR 340-212-0200 through 340-212-0280 and
340-218-0050(3)(a), consistent with any averaging period specified for
averaging the results of the monitoring.

(54) “Federal Land Manager” means with respect to any lands in the
United States, the Secretary of the federal department with authority over
such lands.

(55) “Federal Major Source” means a source with potential to emit
any individual regulated pollutant, excluding hazardous air pollutants listed
in OAR 340 division 244, greater than or equal to 100 tons per year if in a
source category listed below, or 250 tons per year if not in a source catego-
ry listed. In addition, for greenhouse gases, a federal major source must also
have the potential to emit CO2e greater than or equal to 100,000 tons per
year. The fugitive emissions and insignificant activity emissions of a sta-
tionary source are considered in determining whether it is a federal major
source. Potential to emit calculations must include emission increases due
to a new or modified source and may include emission decreases.

(a) Fossil fuel-fired steam electric plants of more than 250 million
BTU/hour heat input;

(b) Coal cleaning plants with thermal dryers;

(c) Kraft pulp mills;

(d) Portland cement plants;

(e) Primary Zinc Smelters;

(f) Iron and Steel Mill Plants;

(g) Primary aluminum ore reduction plants;

(h) Primary copper smelters;

(i) Municipal Incinerators capable of charging more than 50 tons of
refuse per day;

(j) Hydrofluoric acid plants;

(k) Sulfuric acid plants;

(1) Nitric acid plants;

(m) Petroleum Refineries;

(n) Lime plants;

(o) Phosphate rock processing plants;

(p) Coke oven batteries;

(q) Sulfur recovery plants;

(r) Carbon black plants, furnace process;

(s) Primary lead smelters;

(t) Fuel conversion plants;

(u) Sintering plants;

(v) Secondary metal production plants;

(w) Chemical process plants;

(x) Fossil fuel fired boilers, or combinations thereof, totaling more
than 250 million BTU per hour heat input;

(y) Petroleum storage and transfer units with a total storage capacity
exceeding 300,000 barrels;

(z) Taconite ore processing plants;

(aa) Glass fiber processing plants;

(bb) Charcoal production plants.
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(56) “Final permit” means the version of an Oregon Title V Operating
Permit issued by the Department or Lane Regional Air Protection Agency
that has completed all review procedures required by OAR 340-218-0120
through 340-218-0240.

(57) “Form” means a paper or electronic form developed by the
Department.

(58) “Fugitive Emissions”:

(a) Except as used in subsection (b) of this section, means emissions
of any air contaminant which escape to the atmosphere from any point or
area that is not identifiable as a stack, vent, duct, or equivalent opening.

(b) As used to define a major Oregon Title V Operating Permit pro-
gram source, means those emissions which could not reasonably pass
through a stack, chimney, vent, or other functionally equivalent opening.

(59) “General permit”:

(a) Except as provided in subsection (b) of this section, means an
Oregon Air Contaminant Discharge Permit established under OAR 340-
216-0060;

(b) As used in OAR 340 division 218 means an Oregon Title V
Operating Permit established under OAR 340-218-0090.

(60) “Generic PSEL” means the levels for the pollutants listed in
Table 5.

NOTE: Sources are eligible for a generic PSEL if expected emissions are less than
or equal to the levels listed in Table 5. Baseline emission rate and netting basis do not
apply to pollutants at sources using generic PSELs.

(61)(a) “Greenhouse Gases” or “GHGs” means the aggregate group
of six greenhouse gases: carbon dioxide, nitrous oxide, methane, hydroflu-
orocarbons, perfluorocarbons, and sulfur hexafluoride. Each gas is also
individually a greenhouse gas.

(b) The definition of greenhouse gases in subsection (a) of this section
does not include, for purposes of division 216, 218, and 224, carbon diox-
ide emissions from the combustion or decomposition of biomass except to
the extent required by federal law.

(62) “Growth Allowance” means an allocation of some part of an air-
shed’s capacity to accommodate future proposed major sources and major
modifications of sources.

(63) “Immediately” means as soon as possible but in no case more
than one hour after a source knew or should have known of an excess emis-
sion period.

(64) “Inherent process equipment’” means equipment that is necessary
for the proper or safe functioning of the process, or material recovery
equipment that the owner or operator documents is installed and operated
primarily for purposes other than compliance with air pollution regulations.
Equipment that must be operated at an efficiency higher than that achieved
during normal process operations in order to comply with the applicable
emission limitation or standard is not inherent process equipment. For the
purposes of OAR 340-212-0200 through 340-212-0280, inherent process
equipment is not considered a control device.

(65) “Insignificant Activity” means an activity or emission that the
Department has designated as categorically insignificant, or that meets the
criteria of aggregate insignificant emissions.

(66) “Insignificant Change” means an off-permit change defined
under OAR 340-218-0140(2)(a) to either a significant or an insignificant
activity which:

(a) Does not result in a re-designation from an insignificant to a sig-
nificant activity;

(b) Does not invoke an applicable requirement not included in the per-
mit; and

(c) Does not result in emission of regulated air pollutants not regulat-
ed by the source’s permit.

(67) “Late Payment” means a fee payment which is postmarked after
the due date.

(68) “Lowest Achievable Emission Rate” or “LAER” means that rate
of emissions which reflects: the most stringent emission limitation which is
contained in the implementation plan of any state for such class or catego-
ry of source, unless the owner or operator of the proposed source demon-
strates that such limitations are not achievable; or the most stringent emis-
sion limitation which is achieved in practice by such class or category of
source, whichever is more stringent. The application of this term cannot
permit a proposed new or modified source to emit any air contaminant in
excess of the amount allowable under applicable New Source Performance
Standards (NSPS) or standards for hazardous air pollutants.

(69) “Maintenance Area” means a geographical area of the State that
was designated as a nonattainment area, redesignated as an attainment area
by EPA, and redesignated as a maintenance area by the Environmental
Quality Commission in OAR 340, division 204.
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(70) “Maintenance Pollutant” means a pollutant for which a mainte-
nance area was formerly designated a nonattainment area.

(71) “Major Modification” means any physical change or change in
the method of operation of a source that results in satisfying the require-
ments of both subsections (a) and (b) of this section, or of subsection (c) of
this section for any regulated air pollutant. Major modifications for ozone
precursors or PM2.5 precursors also constitute major modifications for
ozone and PM2.5, respectively.

(a) Except as provided in subsection (d) of this section, a PSEL that
exceeds the netting basis by an amount that is equal to or greater than the
significant emission rate.

(b) The accumulation of emission increases due to physical changes
and changes in the method of operation as determined in accordance with
paragraphs (A) and (B) of this subsection is equal to or greater than the sig-
nificant emission rate.

(A) Calculations of emission increases in subsection (b) of this sec-
tion must account for all accumulated increases in actual emissions due to
physical changes and changes in the method of operation occurring at the
source since the applicable baseline period, or since the time of the last con-
struction approval issued for the source pursuant to the New Source Review
Regulations in OAR 340 division 224 for that pollutant, whichever time is
more recent. These include fugitive emissions and emissions from insignif-
icant activities.

(B) Emission increases due solely to increased use of equipment or
facilities that existed or were permitted or approved to construct in accor-
dance with OAR 340 division 210 during the applicable baseline period are
not included, except if the increased use is to support a physical change or
change in the method of operation.

(c) Any change at a source, including production increases, that
would result in a Plant Site Emission Limit increase of 1 ton or more for
any regulated pollutant for which the source is a major source in nonattain-
ment or maintenance areas or a federal major source in attainment or
unclassified areas, if the source obtained permits to construct and operate
after the applicable baseline period but has not undergone New Source
Review.

(A) Subsection (c) of this section does not apply to PM2.5 and green-
house gases.

(B) Changes to the PSEL solely due to the availability of better emis-
sions information are exempt from being considered an increase.

(d) If a portion of the netting basis or PSEL (or both) was set based
on PTE because the source had not begun normal operations but was per-
mitted or approved to construct and operate, that portion of the netting basis
or PSEL (or both) must be excluded from the tests in subsections (a) and
(b) of this section until the netting basis is reset as specified in the defini-
tions of baseline emission rate and netting basis.

(e) The following are not considered major modifications:

(A) Except as provided in subsection (c) of this section, proposed
increases in hours of operation or production rates that would cause emis-
sion increases above the levels allowed in a permit and would not involve a
physical change or change in method of operation in the source;

(B) Routine maintenance, repair, and replacement of components;

(C) Temporary equipment installed for maintenance of the permanent
equipment if the temporary equipment is in place for less than six months
and operated within the permanent equipment’s existing PSEL;

(D) Use of alternate fuel or raw materials, that were available and the
source was capable of accommodating in the baseline period.

(72) “Major Source”:

(a) Except as provided in subsection (b) of this section, means a
source that emits, or has the potential to emit, any regulated air pollutant at
a Significant Emission Rate. The fugitive emissions and insignificant activ-
ity emissions of a stationary source are considered in determining whether
it is a major source. Potential to emit calculations must include emission
increases due to a new or modified source and may include emission
decreases.

(b) As used in OAR 340 division 210, Stationary Source Notification
Requirements, OAR 340 division 218, rules applicable to sources required
to have Oregon Title V Operating Permits, OAR 340 division 220, Oregon
Title V Operating Permit Fees, and 340-216-0066 Standard ACDPs, means
any stationary source (or any group of stationary sources that are located on
one or more contiguous or adjacent properties and are under common con-
trol of the same person (or persons under common control)) belonging to a
single major industrial grouping or supporting the major industrial group
and that is described in paragraphs (A), (B), (C) or (D) of this subsection.
For the purposes of this subsection, a stationary source or group of station-
ary sources is considered part of a single industrial grouping if all of the
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pollutant emitting activities at such source or group of sources on contigu-
ous or adjacent properties belong to the same Major Group (i.e., all have the
same two-digit code) as described in the Standard Industrial Classification
Manual (U.S. Office of Management and Budget, 1987) or support the
major industrial group.

(A) A major source of hazardous air pollutants, which means:

(i) For pollutants other than radionuclides, any stationary source or
group of stationary sources located within a contiguous area and under
common control that emits or has the potential to emit, in the aggregate, 10
tons per year (tpy) or more of any hazardous air pollutants that has been
listed pursuant to OAR 340-244-0040; 25 tpy or more of any combination
of such hazardous air pollutants, or such lesser quantity as the
Administrator may establish by rule. Emissions from any oil or gas explo-
ration or production well, along with its associated equipment, and emis-
sions from any pipeline compressor or pump station will not be aggregated
with emissions from other similar units, whether or not such units are in a
contiguous area or under common control, to determine whether such units
or stations are major sources; or

(ii) For radionuclides, “major source” will have the meaning specitfied
by the Administrator by rule.

(B) A major stationary source of air pollutants, as defined in section
302 of the Act, that directly emits or has the potential to emit 100 tpy or
more of any regulated air pollutant, except greenhouse gases, including any
major source of fugitive emissions of any such pollutant. The fugitive emis-
sions of a stationary source are not considered in determining whether it is
a major stationary source for the purposes of section 302(j) of the Act,
unless the source belongs to one of the following categories of stationary
source:

(i) Coal cleaning plants (with thermal dryers);

(i) Kraft pulp mills;

(iii) Portland cement plants;

(iv) Primary zinc smelters;

(v) Iron and steel mills;

(vi) Primary aluminum ore reduction plants;

(vii) Primary copper smelters;

(viii) Municipal incinerators capable of charging more than 50 tons of
refuse per day;

(ix) Hydrofluoric, sulfuric, or nitric acid plants;

(x) Petroleum refineries;

(xi) Lime plants;

(xii) Phosphate rock processing plants;

(xiii) Coke oven batteries;

(xiv) Sulfur recovery plants;

(xv) Carbon black plants(furnace process);

(xvi) Primary lead smelters;

(xvii) Fuel conversion plants;

(xviii) Sintering plants;

(xix) Secondary metal production plants;

(xx) Chemical process plants;

(xxi) Fossil-fuel boilers, or combination thereof, totaling more than
250 million British thermal units per hour heat input;

(xxii) Petroleum storage and transfer units with a total storage capac-
ity exceeding 300,000 barrels;

(xxiii) Taconite ore processing plants;

(xxiv) Glass fiber processing plants;

(xxv) Charcoal production plants;

(xxvi) Fossil-fuel-fired steam electric plants of more than 250 million
British thermal units per hour heat input; or

(xxvii) Any other stationary source category, that as of August 7, 1980
is being regulated under section 111 or 112 of the Act.

(C) Beginning July 1, 2011, a major stationary source of air pollu-
tants, as defined by Section 302 of the Act, that directly emits or has the
potential to emit 100 tpy or more of greenhouse gases and directly emits or
has the potential to emit 100,000 tpy or more CO2e, including fugitive
emissions.

(D) A major stationary source as defined in part D of Title I of the Act,
including:

(i) For ozone nonattainment areas, sources with the potential to emit
100 tpy or more of VOCs or oxides of nitrogen in areas classified as “mar-
ginal” or “moderate,” 50 tpy or more in areas classified as “serious,” 25 tpy
or more in areas classified as “severe,” and 10 tpy or more in areas classi-
fied as “extreme”; except that the references in this paragraph of this sub-
section to 100, 50, 25, and 10 tpy of nitrogen oxides do not apply with
respect to any source for which the Administrator has made a finding, under
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section 182(f)(1) or (2) of the Act, that requirements under section 182(f)
of the Act do not apply;

(ii) For ozone transport regions established pursuant to section 184 of
the Act, sources with the potential to emit 50 tpy or more of VOCs;

(iii) For carbon monoxide nonattainment areas:

(I) That are classified as “serious”; and

(IT) In which stationary sources contribute significantly to carbon
monoxide levels as determined under rules issued by the Administrator,
sources with the potential to emit 50 tpy or more of carbon monoxide.

(iv) For particulate matter(PM10) nonattainment areas classified as
“serious,” sources with the potential to emit 70 tpy or more of PM10.

(73) “Material Balance” means a procedure for determining emis-
sions based on the difference in the amount of material added to a process
and the amount consumed and/or recovered from a process.

(74) “Modification,” except as used in the term “major modification,”
means any physical change to, or change in the method of operation of, a
stationary source that results in an increase in the stationary source’s poten-
tial to emit any regulated air pollutant on an hourly basis. Modifications do
not include the following:

(a) Increases in hours of operation or production rates that do not
involve a physical change or change in the method of operation;

(b) Changes in the method of operation due to using an alternative
fuel or raw material that the stationary source was physically capable of
accommodating during the baseline period; and

(c) Routine maintenance, repair and like-for-like replacement of com-
ponents unless they increase the expected life of the stationary source by
using component upgrades that would not otherwise be necessary for the
stationary source to function.

(75) “Monitoring” means any form of collecting data on a routine
basis to determine or otherwise assess compliance with emission limita-
tions or standards. Monitoring may include record keeping if the records
are used to determine or assess compliance with an emission limitation or
standard (such as records of raw material content and usage, or records doc-
umenting compliance with work practice requirements). Monitoring may
include conducting compliance method tests, such as the procedures in
appendix A to 40 CFR part 60, on a routine periodic basis. Requirements to
conduct such tests on a one-time basis, or at such times as a regulatory
authority may require on a non-regular basis, are not considered monitor-
ing requirements for purposes of this definition. Monitoring may include
one or more than one of the following data collection techniques as appro-
priate for a particular circumstance:

(a) Continuous emission or opacity monitoring systems.

(b) Continuous process, capture system, control device or other rele-
vant parameter monitoring systems or procedures, including a predictive
emission monitoring system.

(c) Emission estimation and calculation procedures (e.g., mass bal-
ance or stoichiometric calculations).

(d) Maintaining and analyzing records of fuel or raw materials usage.

(e) Recording results of a program or protocol to conduct specific
operation and maintenance procedures.

(f) Verifying emissions, process parameters, capture system parame-
ters, or control device parameters using portable or in situ measurement
devices.

(g) Visible emission observations and recording.

(h) Any other form of measuring, recording, or verifying on a routine
basis emissions, process parameters, capture system parameters, control
device parameters or other factors relevant to assessing compliance with
emission limitations or standards.

(76) “Netting Basis” means the baseline emission rate MINUS any
emission reductions required by rule, orders, or permit conditions required
by the SIP or used to avoid SIP requirements, MINUS any unassigned
emissions that are reduced from allowable under OAR 340-222-0045,
MINUS any emission reduction credits transferred off site, PLUS any emis-
sion increases approved through the New Source Review regulations in
OAR 340 division 224 MINUS any emissions reductions required by sub-
section (g) of this section.

(a) A netting basis will only be established for regulated pollutants
subject to OAR 340 division 224 as specified in the definition of regulated
pollutant.

(b) The initial PM2.5 netting basis and PSEL for a source that was
permitted prior to May 1, 2011 will be established with the first permitting
action issued after July 1, 2011, provided the permitting action involved a
public notice period that began after July 1, 2011.

(A) The initial netting basis is the PM2.5 fraction of the PM10 netting
basis in effect on May 1,2011. DEQ may increase the initial PM2.5 netting
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basis by up to 5 tons if necessary to avoid exceedance of the PM2.5 signif-
icant emission rate as of May 1, 2011.

(B) Notwithstanding OAR 340-222-0041(2), the initial source specif-
ic PSEL for a source with PTE greater than or equal to the SER will be set
equal to the PM2.5 fraction of the PM10 PSEL.

(c) The initial greenhouse gas netting basis and PSEL for a source will
be established with the first permitting action issued after July 1,2011, pro-
vided the permitting action involved a public notice period that began after
July 1,2011.

(d) Netting basis is zero for:

(A) Any regulated pollutant emitted from a source that first obtained
permits to construct and operate after the applicable baseline period for that
regulated pollutant, and has not undergone New Source Review for that
pollutant;

(B) Any pollutant that has a generic PSEL in a permit;

(C) Any source permitted as portable; or

(D) Any source with a netting basis calculation resulting in a negative
number.

(e) It a source relocates to an adjacent site, and the time between oper-
ation at the old and new sites is less than six months, the source may retain
the netting basis from the old site.

(f) Emission reductions required by rule, order, or permit condition
affect the netting basis if the source currently has devices or emissions units
that are subject to the rules, order, or permit condition. The baseline emis-
sion rate is not affected. The netting basis reduction will be effective on the
effective date of the rule, order, or permit condition requiring the reduction.
The PSEL reduction will be effective on the compliance date of the rule,
order, or permit condition.

(g) For permits issued after May 1, 2011 under New Source Review
regulations in OAR 340 division 224, and where the netting basis initially
equaled the potential to emit for a new or moditied source, the netting basis
will be reduced in accordance with the definition of actual emissions.
Notwithstanding OAR 340-222-0041(2), this adjustment does not require a
reduction in the PSEL.

(h) Emission reductions required by rule do not include emissions
reductions achieved under OAR 340-226-0110 and 0120.

(i) Netting basis for a pollutant with a revised definition will be
adjusted if the source is emitting the pollutant at the time of redefining and
the pollutant is included in the permit’s netting basis.

(j) Where EPA requires an attainment demonstration based on disper-
sion modeling, the netting basis will be established at no more than the level
used in the dispersion modeling to demonstrate attainment with the ambi-
ent air quality standard (i.e., the attainment demonstration is an emission
reduction required by rule).

(77) “Nitrogen Oxides” or “NOx” means all oxides of nitrogen except
nitrous oxide.

(78) “Nonattainment Area” means a geographical area of the State, as
designated by the Environmental Quality Commission or the EPA, that
exceeds any state or federal primary or secondary ambient air quality stan-
dard.

(79) “Nonattainment Pollutant” means a pollutant for which an area
is designated a nonattainment area.

(80) “Normal Source Operation” means operations which do not
include such conditions as forced fuel substitution, equipment malfunction,
or highly abnormal market conditions.

(81) “Offset” means an equivalent or greater emission reduction that
is required before allowing an emission increase from a proposed major
source or major modification of an existing source.

(82) “Opacity” means the degree to which an emission reduces trans-
mission of light and obscures the view of an object in the background as
measured in accordance with OAR 340-212-0120 and 212-0140. Unless
otherwise specified by rule, opacity shall be measured in accordance with
EPA Method 9 or a continuous opacity monitoring system (COMS)
installed and operated in accordance with the Department’s Continuous
Monitoring Manual. For all standards, the minimum observation period
shall be six minutes, though longer periods may be required by a specific
rule or permit condition. Aggregate times (e.g. 3 minutes in any one hour)
consist of the total duration of all readings during the observation period
that equal or exceed the opacity percentage in the standard, whether or not
the readings are consecutive.

(83) “Oregon Title V Operating Permit” means any permit covering
an Oregon Title V Operating Permit source that is issued, renewed, amend-
ed, or revised pursuant to division 218.

(84) “Oregon Title V Operating Permit program” means a program
approved by the Administrator under 40 CFR Part 70.
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(85) “Oregon Title V Operating Permit program source” means any
source subject to the permitting requirements, OAR 340 division 218.

(86) “Ozone Precursor” means nitrogen oxides and volatile organic
compounds as measured by an applicable reference method in accordance
with the Department’s Source Sampling Manual(January, 1992) or as meas-
ured by an EPA reference method in 40 CFR Part 60, appendix A or as
measured by a material balance calculation for VOC as appropriate.

(87) “Ozone Season” means the contiguous 3 month period during
which ozone exceedances typically occur (i.e., June, July, and August).

(88) “Particulate Matter” means all finely divided solid or liquid
material, other than uncombined water, emitted to the ambient air. When
used in emission standards, particulate matter is defined by the method
specified within the standard or by an applicable reference method in accor-
dance with OAR 340-212-0120 and 340-212-0140. Unless otherwise spec-
ified, sources with exhaust gases at or near ambient conditions may be test-
ed with DEQ Method 5 or DEQ Method 8, as approved by the Department.
Direct heat transfer sources shall be tested with DEQ Method 7; indirect
heat transfer combustion sources and all other non-fugitive emissions
sources not listed above shall be tested with DEQ Method 5.

(89) “Permit” means an Air Contaminant Discharge Permit or an
Oregon Title V Operating Permit.

(90) “Permit modification” means a permit revision that meets the
applicable requirements of OAR 340 division 216, 340 division 224, or
340-218-0160 through 340-218-0180.

(91) “Permit revision” means any permit modification or administra-
tive permit amendment.

(92) “Permitted Emissions” as used in OAR division 220 means each
regulated pollutant portion of the PSEL, as identified in an ACDP, Oregon
Title V Operating Permit, review report, or by the Department pursuant to
OAR 340-220-0090.

(93) “Permittee” means the owner or operator of the facility, author-
ized by the ACDP or the Oregon Title V Operating Permit to operate the
source.

(94) “Person” means individuals, corporations, associations, firms,
partnerships, joint stock companies, public and municipal corporations,
political subdivisions, the State of Oregon and any agencies thereof, and the
federal government and any agencies thereof.

(95) “Plant Site Emission Limit” or “PSEL’ means the total mass
emissions per unit time of an individual air pollutant specified in a permit
for a source. The PSEL for a major source may consist of more than one
permitted emission.

(96) “PM10™:

(a) When used in the context of emissions, means finely divided solid
or liquid material, including condensable particulate, other than uncom-
bined water, with an aerodynamic diameter less than or equal to a nominal
10 micrometers, emitted to the ambient air as measured by an applicable
reference method in accordance with the Department’s Source Sampling
Manual (January, 1992);

(b) When used in the context of ambient concentration, means air-
borne finely divided solid or liquid material with an aerodynamic diameter
less than or equal to a nominal 10 micrometers as measured in accordance
with 40 CFR Part 50, Appendix J.

(97) “PM2.5”:

(a) When used in the context of direct PM2.5 emissions, means fine-
ly divided solid or liquid material, including condensable particulate, other
than uncombined water, with an aerodynamic diameter less than or equal to
a nominal 2.5 micrometers, emitted to the ambient air as measured by EPA
reference methods 201A and 202 in 40 CFR Part 51, appendix M.

(b) When used in the context of PM2.5 precursor emissions, means
sulfur dioxide (SO2) and nitrogen oxides (NOx) emitted to the ambient air
as measured by EPA reference methods in 40 CFR Part 60, appendix A.

(c) When used in the context of ambient concentration, means parti-
cles with an aerodynamic diameter less than or equal to a nominal 2.5
micrometers as measured by a reference method based on 40 CFR Part 50,
Appendix L, or an equivalent method designated in accordance with 40
CFR Part 53.

(98) “PM2.5 fraction” means the fraction of PM2.5 to PM10 for each
emissions unit that is included in the netting basis and PSEL.

(99) “Pollutant-specific emissions unit” means an emissions unit con-
sidered separately with respect to each regulated air pollutant.

(100) “Potential to emit” or “PTE” means the lesser of:

(a) The capacity of a stationary source; or

(b) The maximum allowable emissions taking into consideration any
physical or operational limitation, including air pollution control equipment
and restrictions on hours of operation or on the type or amount of material
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combusted, stored, or processed, if the limitation is enforceable by the
Administrator.

(c) This definition does not alter or affect the use of this term for any
other purposes under the Act or the term “capacity factor” as used in Title
IV of the Act and the regulations promulgated thereunder. Secondary emis-
sions are not considered in determining the potential to emit.

(101) “Predictive emission monitoring system (PEMS)” means a sys-
tem that uses process and other parameters as inputs to a computer program
or other data reduction system to produce values in terms of the applicable
emission limitation or standard.

(102) “Process Upset” means a failure or malfunction of a production
process or system to operate in a normal and usual manner.

(103) “Proposed permit” means the version of an Oregon Title V
Operating Permit that the Department or a Regional Agency proposes to
issue and forwards to the Administrator for review in compliance with OAR
340-218-0230.

(104) “Reference method” means any method of sampling and ana-
lyzing for an air pollutant as specified in 40 CFR Part 52, 60, 61 or 63.

(105) “Regional Agency” means Lane Regional Air Protection
Agency.

(106) “Regulated air pollutant” or “Regulated Pollutant”:

(a) Except as provided in subsections (b) and(c) of this section,
means:

(A) Nitrogen oxides or any VOCs;

(B) Any pollutant for which a national ambient air quality standard
has been promulgated, including any precursors to such pollutants;

(C) Any pollutant that is subject to any standard promulgated under
section 111 of the Act;

(D) Any Class I or II substance subject to a standard promulgated
under or established by Title VI of the Act;

(E) Any pollutant listed under OAR 340-244-0040 or 340-244-0230;
and

(F) Greenhouse Gases.

(b) As used in OAR 340 division 220, regulated pollutant means par-
ticulates, volatile organic compounds, oxides of nitrogen and sulfur diox-
ide.

(c) As used in OAR 340 division 224, regulated pollutant does not
include any pollutant listed in divisions 244 and 246, unless the pollutant is
listed in OAR 340 division 200 Table 2 (significant emission rates).

(107) “Renewal” means the process by which a permit is reissued at
the end of its term.

(108) “Responsible official” means one of the following:

(a) For a corporation: a president, secretary, treasurer, or vice-presi-
dent of the corporation in charge of a principal business function, or any
other person who performs similar policy or decision-making functions for
the corporation, or a duly authorized representative of such person if the
representative is responsible for the overall operation of one or more man-
ufacturing, production, or operating facilities applying for or subject to a
permit and either:

(A) The facilities employ more than 250 persons or have gross annu-
al sales or expenditures exceeding $25 million (in second quarter 1980 dol-
lars); or

(B) The delegation of authority to such representative is approved in
advance by the Department or Lane Regional Air Protection Agency.

(b) For a partnership or sole proprietorship: a general partner or the
proprietor, respectively;

(c) For a municipality, State, Federal, or other public agency: either a
principal executive officer or ranking elected official. For the purposes of
this division, a principal executive officer of a Federal agency includes the
chief executive officer having responsibility for the overall operations of a
principal geographic unit of the agency (e.g., a Regional Administrator of
the EPA); or

(d) For affected sources:

(A) The designated representative in so far as actions, standards,
requirements, or prohibitions under Title IV of the Act or the regulations
promulgated there under are concerned; and

(B) The designated representative for any other purposes under the
Oregon Title V Operating Permit program.

(109) “Secondary Emissions” means emissions that are a result of the
construction and/or operation of a source or modification, but that do not
come from the source itself. Secondary emissions must be specific, well
defined, quantifiable, and impact the same general area as the source asso-
ciated with the secondary emissions. Secondary emissions may include, but
are not limited to:

(a) Emissions from ships and trains coming to or from a facility;
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(b) Emissions from off-site support facilities that would be construct-
ed or would otherwise increase emissions as a result of the construction or
modification of a source.

(110) “Section 1117 means section 111 of the FCAA which includes
Standards of Performance for New Stationary Sources (NSPS).

(111) “Section 111(d)” means subsection 111(d) of the FCAA which
requires states to submit to the EPA plans that establish standards of per-
formance for existing sources and provides for implementing and enforcing
such standards.

(112) “Section 112” means section 112 of the FCAA which contains
regulations for Hazardous Air Pollutants (HAP).

(113) “Section 112(b)” means subsection 112(b) of the FCAA which
includes the list of hazardous air pollutants to be regulated.

(114) “Section 112(d)” means subsection 112(d) of the FCAA which
directs the EPA to establish emission standards for sources of hazardous air
pollutants. This section also defines the criteria to be used by the EPA when
establishing the emission standards.

(115) “Section 112(e)” means subsection 112(e) of the FCAA which
directs the EPA to establish and promulgate emissions standards for cate-
gories and subcategories of sources that emit hazardous air pollutants.

(116) “Section 112(r)(7)” means subsection 112(r)(7) of the FCAA
which requires the EPA to promulgate regulations for the prevention of
accidental releases and requires owners or operators to prepare risk man-
agement plans.

(117) “Section 114(a)(3)” means subsection 114(a)(3) of the FCAA
which requires enhanced monitoring and submission of compliance certifi-
cations for major sources.

(118) “Section 129” means section 129 of the FCAA which requires
the EPA to establish emission standards and other requirements for solid
waste incineration units.

(119) “Section 129(e)” means subsection 129(e) of the FCAA which
requires solid waste incineration units to obtain Oregon Title V Operating
Permits.

(120) “Section 182(f)” means subsection 182(f) of the FCAA which
requires states to include plan provisions in the State Implementation Plan
for NOx in ozone nonattainment areas.

(121) “Section 182(f)(1)” means subsection 182(f)(1) of the FCAA
which requires states to apply those plan provisions developed for major
VOC sources and major NOx sources in ozone nonattainment areas.

(122) “Section 183(e)” means subsection 183(e) of the FCAA which
requires the EPA to study and develop regulations for the control of certain
VOC sources under federal ozone measures.

(123) “Section 183(f)” means subsection 182(f) of the FCAA which
requires the EPA to develop regulations pertaining to tank vessels under
federal ozone measures.

(124) “Section 184” means section 184 of the FCAA which contains
regulations for the control of interstate ozone air pollution.

(125) “Section 302” means section 302 of the FCAA which contains
definitions for general and administrative purposes in the Act.

(126) “Section 302(j)” means subsection 302(j) of the FCAA which
contains definitions of “major stationary source” and “major emitting facil-
ity.”

(127) “Section 328 means section 328 of the FCAA which contains
regulations for air pollution from outer continental shelf activities.

(128) “Section 408(a)” means subsection 408(a) of the FCAA which
contains regulations for the Title IV permit program.

(129) “Section 502(b)(10) change” means a change which contra-
venes an express permit term but is not a change that:

(a) Would violate applicable requirements;

(b) Would contravene federally enforceable permit terms and condi-
tions that are monitoring, recordkeeping, reporting, or compliance certifi-
cation requirements; or

(c) Is a Title I modification.

(130) “Section 504(b)” means subsection 504(b) of the FCAA which
states that the EPA can prescribe by rule procedures and methods for deter-
mining compliance and for monitoring.

(131) “Section 504(e)” means subsection 504(¢e) of the FCAA which
contains regulations for permit requirements for temporary sources.

(132) “Significant Air Quality Impact” means an additional ambient
air quality concentration equal to or greater than in the concentrations list-
ed in Table 1. The threshold concentrations listed in Table 1 are used for
comparison against the ambient air quality standard and do not apply for
protecting PSD Class I increments or air quality related values (including
visibility). For sources of VOC or NOx, a major source or major modifica-
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tion has a significant impact if it is located within the Ozone Precursor
Distance defined in OAR 340-225-0020.

(133) “Significant Emission Rate” or “SER,” except as provided in
subsections (a) through(c) of this section, means an emission rate equal to
or greater than the rates specified in Table 2.

(a) For the Medford-Ashland Air Quality Maintenance Area, the
Significant Emission Rate for PM10 is defined in Table 3.

(b) For regulated air pollutants not listed in Table 2 or 3, the signifi-
cant emission rate is zero unless the Department determines the rate that
constitutes a significant emission rate.

(c) Any new source or modification with an emissions increase less
than the rates specified in Table 2 or 3 associated with a new source or mod-
ification which would construct within 10 kilometers of a Class I area, and
would have an impact on such area equal to or greater than 1 ug/m3 (24
hour average) is emitting at a significant emission rate. This provision does
not apply to greenhouse gas emissions.

(134) “Significant Impairment” occurs when the Department deter-
mines that visibility impairment interferes with the management, protec-
tion, preservation, or enjoyment of the visual experience within a Class I
area. The Department will make this determination on a case-by-case basis
after considering the recommendations of the Federal Land Manager and
the geographic extent, intensity, duration, frequency, and time of visibility
impairment. These factors will be considered along with visitor use of the
Class I areas, and the frequency and occurrence of natural conditions that
reduce visibility.

(135) “Small scale local energy project” means:

(a) A system, mechanism or series of mechanisms located primarily
in Oregon that directly or indirectly uses or enables the use of, by the owner
or operator, renewable resources including, but not limited to, solar, wind,
geothermal, biomass, waste heat or water resources to produce energy,
including heat, electricity and substitute fuels, to meet a local community
or regional energy need in this state;

(b) A system, mechanism or series of mechanisms located primarily
in Oregon or providing substantial benefits to Oregon that directly or indi-
rectly conserves energy or enables the conservation of energy by the owner
or operator, including energy used in transportation;

(c) A recycling project;

(d) An alternative fuel project;

(e) An improvement that increases the production or efficiency, or
extends the operating life, of a system, mechanism, series of mechanisms
or project otherwise described in this section of this rule, including but not
limited to restarting a dormant project;

(f) A system, mechanism or series of mechanisms installed in a facil-
ity or portions of a facility that directly or indirectly reduces the amount of
energy needed for the construction and operation of the facility and that
meets the sustainable building practices standard established by the State
Department of Energy by rule; or

(g) A project described in subsections (a) to (f) of this section,
whether or not the existing project was originally financed under ORS 470,
together with any refinancing necessary to remove prior liens or encum-
brances against the existing project.

(h) A project described in subsections (a) to (g) of this section that
conserves energy or produces energy by generation or by processing or col-
lection of a renewable resource.

(136) “Source” means any building, structure, facility, installation or
combination thereof that emits or is capable of emitting air contaminants to
the atmosphere, is located on one or more contiguous or adjacent properties
and is owned or operated by the same person or by persons under common
control. The term includes all pollutant emitting activities that belong to a
single major industrial group (i.e., that have the same two-digit code) as
described in the Standard Industrial Classification Manual, (U.S. Office of
Management and Budget, 1987) or that support the major industrial group.

(137) “Source category’:

(a) Except as provided in subsection (b) of this section, means all the
pollutant emitting activities that belong to the same industrial grouping
(i.e., that have the same two-digit code) as described in the Standard
Industrial Classification Manual, (U.S. Office of Management and Budget,
1987).

(b) As used in OAR 340 division 220, Oregon Title V Operating
Permit Fees, means a group of major sources that the Department deter-
mines are using similar raw materials and have equivalent process controls
and pollution control equipment.

(138) “Source Test” means the average of at least three test runs con-
ducted in accordance with the Department’s Source Sampling Manual.
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(139) “Startup” and “shutdown” means that time during which an air
contaminant source or emission-control equipment is brought into normal
operation or normal operation is terminated, respectively.

(140) “State Implementation Plan” or “SIP” means the State of
Oregon Clean Air Act Implementation Plan as adopted by the Commission
under OAR 340-200-0040 and approved by EPA.

(141) “Stationary source” means any building, structure, facility, or
installation at a source that emits or may emit any regulated air pollutant.

(142) “Substantial Underpayment” means the lesser of ten percent
(10%) of the total interim emission fee for the major source or five hundred
dollars.

(143) “Synthetic minor source” means a source that would be classi-
fied as a major source under OAR 340-200-0020, but for limits on its poten-
tial to emit air pollutants contained in a permit issued by the Department
under OAR 340 division 216 or 218.

(144) “Title I modification” means one of the following modifications
pursuant to Title I of the FCAA:

(a) A major modification subject to OAR 340-224-0050,
Requirements for Sources in Nonattainment Areas;

(b) A major modification subject to OAR 340-224-0060,
Requirements for Sources in Maintenance Areas;

(c) A major modification subject to OAR 340-224-0070, Prevention
of Significant Deterioration Requirements for Sources in Attainment or
Unclassified Areas;

(d) A modification that is subject to a New Source Performance
Standard under Section 111 of the FCAA; or

(e) A modification under Section 112 of the FCAA.

(145) “Total Reduced Sulfur” or “TRS” means the sum of the sulfur
compounds hydrogen sulfide, methyl mercaptan, dimethyl sulfide,
dimethyl disulfide, and any other organic sulfides present expressed as
hydrogen sulfide (H2S).

(146) “Typically Achievable Control Technology” or “TACT” means
the emission limit established on a case-by-case basis for a criteria pollu-
tant from a particular emissions unit in accordance with OAR 340-226-
0130. For existing sources, the emission limit established will be typical of
the emission level achieved by emissions units similar in type and size. For
new and modified sources, the emission limit established will be typical of
the emission level achieved by well controlled new or modified emissions
units similar in type and size that were recently installed. TACT determina-
tions will be based on information known to the Department while consid-
ering pollution prevention, impacts on other environmental media, energy
impacts, capital and operating costs, cost effectiveness, and the age and
remaining economic life of existing emission control equipment. The
Department may consider emission control technologies typically applied
to other types of emissions units where such technologies could be readily
applied to the emissions unit. If an emission limitation is not feasible, a
design, equipment, work practice, operational standard, or combination
thereof, may be required.

(147) “Unassigned Emissions” means the amount of emissions that
are in excess of the PSEL but less than the Netting Basis.

(148) “Unavoidable” or “could not be avoided” means events that are
not caused entirely or in part by poor or inadequate design, operation, main-
tenance, or any other preventable condition in either process or control
equipment.

(149) “Upset” or “Breakdown” means any failure or malfunction of
any pollution control equipment or operating equipment that may cause
excess emissions.

(150) “Visibility Impairment” means any humanly perceptible
change in visual range, contrast or coloration from that which existed under
natural conditions. Natural conditions include fog, clouds, windblown dust,
rain, sand, naturally ignited wildfires, and natural aerosols.

(151) “Volatile Organic Compounds” or “VOC” means any com-
pound of carbon, excluding carbon monoxide, carbon dioxide, carbonic
acid, metallic carbides or carbonates, and ammonium carbonate, that par-
ticipates in atmospheric photochemical reactions.

(a) This includes any such organic compound except the following,
which have been determined to have negligible photochemical reactivity in
the formation of tropospheric ozone: methane; ethane; methylene chlo-
ride(dichloromethane); dimethyl carbonate, propylene carbonate, 1,1,1-
trichloroethane(methyl chloroform); 1,1,2-trichloro-1,2 2-trifluo-
roethane(CFC-113); trichlorofluoromethane(CFC-11); dichlorodifluo-
romethane(CFC-12); chlorodifluoromethane(HCFC-22); trifluo-
romethane(HFC-23); 1,2-dichloro-1,1,2,2-tetrafluoroethane (CFC-114);
chloropentafluoroethane(CFC-115); 1,1,1-trifluoro 2,2-
dichloroethane(HCFC-123); 1,1,1,2-tetrafluoroethane(HFC-134a); 1,1-
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dichloro 1-fluoroethane(HCFC-141b); 1-chloro 1,1-difluoroethane(HCFC-
142b); 2-chloro-1,1,1,2-tetrafluoroethane(HCFC-124); pentafluo-
roethane(HFC-125); 1,1,2,2-tetrafluoroethane(HFC-134); 1,1,1-trifluo-
roethane(HFC-143a); 1,1-difluoroethane (HFC-152a); parachlorobenzotri-
fluoride(PCBTF); cyclic, branched, or linear completely methylated silox-
anes; acetone; perchloroethylene(tetrachloroethylene); 3,3-dichloro-
1,1,1,2,2-pentafluoropropane(HCFC-225ca); 1,3-dichloro-1,1,2,2 3-penta-
fluoropropane (HCFC-225¢b); 1,1,1,2,3,4.4,5,5,5-decafluoropentane HFC
43-10mee); difluoromethane(HFC-32); ethylfluoride(HFC-161);
1,1,1,3.3,3-hexafluoropropane(HFC-236fa); 1,1,2,2 3-pentafluoro-
propane(HFC-245ca); 1,1,2,3 3-pentafluoropropane(HFC-245ea);
1,1,1,2,3-pentafluoropropane(HFC-245eb); 1,1,1,3,3-pentafluoro-
propane(HFC-245fa); 1,1,1,2,3,3-hexafluoropropane(HFC-236ea);
1,1,1,3,3-pentafluorobutane(HFC-365mfc); chlorofluoromethane (HCFC-
31); 1 chloro-1-fluoroethane(HCFC-151a); 1,2-dichloro-1,1,2-trifluo-
roethane(HCFC-123a); 1,1,1,2,2,3,3 4 4-nonafluoro-4-methoxy-
butane(C4F9OOCH3 or HFE-7100); 2-(difluoromethoxymethyl)-
1,1,1,2,3,3,3-heptafluoropropane((CF3)2CFCF20CH3); 1-ethoxy-
1,1,2,2,3,3,4,4 4-nonafluorobutane(C4F9OC2HS5 or HFE-7200); 2-
(ethoxydifluoromethyl)-1,1,1,2,3,3,3-heptafluoropropane
((CF3)2CFCF20C2H5); methyl acetate; 1,1,1,2,2,3 3-heptafluoro-3-
methoxy-propane(n-C3F70CH3,  HFE-7000); 3-ethoxy-1,1,1,2,3,
4.4.5,5,6,6,6-dodecafluoro-2-(trifluoromethyl) hexane(HFE-7500);
1,1,1,2,3,3,3-heptafluoropropane(HFC ~ 227ea); methyl formate
(HCOOCH3); (1) 1,1,1,2,2,34,5,5,5-decafluoro-3-methoxy-4-trifluo-
romethyl-pentane(HFE-7300); and perfluorocarbon compounds that fall
into these classes:

(A) Cyclic, branched, or linear, completely fluorinated alkanes;

(B) Cyclic, branched, or linear, completely fluorinated ethers with no
unsaturations;

(C) Cyclic, branched, or linear, completely fluorinated tertiary amines
with no unsaturations; and

(D) Sulfur containing perfluorocarbons with no unsaturations and
with sulfur bonds only to carbon and fluorine.

(b) For purposes of determining compliance with emissions limits,
VOC will be measured by an applicable reference method in accordance
with the Department’s Source Sampling Manual, January, 1992. Where
such a method also measures compounds with negligible photochemical
reactivity, these negligibly-reactive compounds may be excluded as VOC if
the amount of such compounds is accurately quantified, and the
Department approves the exclusion.

(c) The Department may require an owner or operator to provide mon-
itoring or testing methods and results demonstrating, to the Department’s
satisfaction, the amount of negligibly-reactive compounds in the source’s
emissions.

(d) The following compound(s) are VOC for purposes of all record-
keeping, emissions reporting, photochemical dispersion modeling and
inventory requirements which apply to VOC and must be uniquely identi-
fied in emission reports, but are not VOC for purposes of VOC emissions
limitations or VOC content requirements: t-butyl acetate.

(152) “Year” means any consecutive 12 month period of time.

NOTE: This rule is included in the State of Oregon Clean Air Act Implementation

Plan as adopted by the EQC under OAR 340-200-0040.

[ED. NOTE: Tables referenced are available from the agency.|

[Publications: Publications referenced are available from the agency.]

Stat. Auth.: ORS 468.020, 468A.025, 468A.035, 468A.055 & 468A.070

Stats. Implemented: ORS 468A.025 & 468A.035

Hist.: [DEQ 15-1978, f. & ef. 10-13-78; DEQ 4-1993, f. & cert. ef. 3-10-93; DEQ 47, f. 8-
31-72,ef. 9-15-72; DEQ 63, f. 12-20-73, ef. 1-11-74; DEQ 107, f. & ef. 1-6-76; Renumbered
from 340-020-0033.04; DEQ 25-1981, f. & ef. 9-8-81; DEQ 5-1983, f. & ef. 4-18-83; DEQ
18-1984, f. & ef. 10-16-84; DEQ 8-1988, f. & cert. ef. 5-19-88 (and corrected 5-31-88); DEQ
14-1989, f. & cert. ef. 6-26-89; DEQ 42-1990, f. 12-13-90, cert. ef. 1-2-91; DEQ 2-1992, f.
& cert. ef. 1-30-92; DEQ 7-1992, f. & cert. ef. 3-30-92; DEQ 27-1992, f. & cert. ef. 11-12-
92; DEQ 4-1993, f. & cert. ef. 3-10-93; DEQ 12-1993, f. & cert. ef. 9-24-93, Renumbered
from 340-020-0145, 340-020-0225, 340-020-0305, 340-020-0355, 340-020-0460 & 340-
020-0520; DEQ 19-1993, f. & cert. ef. 11-4-93; DEQ 20-1993(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 11-4-93;
DEQ 13-1994, f. & cert. ef. 5-19-94; DEQ 21-1994, f. & cert. ef. 10-14-94; DEQ 24-1994, f.
& cert. ef. 10-28-94; DEQ 10-1995, f. & cert. ef. 5-1-95; DEQ 12-1995, f. & cert. ef. 5-23-
95; DEQ 22-1995, f. & cert. ef. 10-6-95; DEQ 19-1996, f. & cert. ef. 9-24-96; DEQ 22-1996,
f. & cert. ef. 10-22-96; DEQ 9-1997, f. & cert. ef. 5-9-97; DEQ 14-1998, f. & cert. ef. 9-14-
98; DEQ 16-1998, f. & cert. ef. 9-23-98; DEQ 21-1998, f. & cert. ef. 10-14-98; DEQ 1-1999,
f. & cert. ef. 1-25-99; DEQ 6-1999, f. & cert. ef. 5-21-99]; DEQ 14-1999, f. & cert. ef. 10-
14-99, Renumbered from 340-020-0205, 340-028-0110; DEQ 6-2001, f. 6-18-01, cert. ef. 7-
1-01; DEQ 2-2005, f. & cert. ef. 2-10-05; DEQ 2-2006, f. & cert. ef. 3-14-06; DEQ 6-
2007(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 8-17-07 thru 2-12-08; DEQ 8-2007, f. & cert. ef. 11-8-07; DEQ
10-2008, f. & cert. ef. 8-25-08; DEQ 5-2010, f. & cert. ef. 5-21-10; DEQ 10-2010(Temp), f.
8-31-10, cert. ef. 9-1-10 thru 2-28-11; Administrative correction 3-29-11; DEQ 5-2011, f. 4-
29-11, cert. ef. 5-1-11; DEQ 7-2011(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 6-24-11 thru 12-19-11;
Administrative correction, 2-6-12; DEQ 1-2012, f. & cert. ef. 5-17-12
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340-200-0040
State of Oregon Clean Air Act Implementation Plan

(1) This implementation plan, consisting of Volumes 2 and 3 of the
State of Oregon Air Quality Control Program, contains control strategies,
rules and standards prepared by the Department of Environmental Quality
and is adopted as the state implementation plan (SIP) of the State of Oregon
pursuant to the federal Clean Air Act, 42 U.S.C.A 7401 to 7671q.

(2) Except as provided in section (3), revisions to the SIP will be
made pursuant to the Commission’s rulemaking procedures in division 11
of this chapter and any other requirements contained in the SIP and will be
submitted to the United States Environmental Protection Agency for
approval. The State Implementation Plan was last modified by the
Commission on February 16, 2012.

(3) Notwithstanding any other requirement contained in the SIP, the
Department may:

(a) Submit to the Environmental Protection Agency any permit con-
dition implementing a rule that is part of the federally-approved SIP as a
source-specific SIP revision after the Department has complied with the
public hearings provisions of 40 CFR 51.102 (July 1, 2002); and

(b) Approve the standards submitted by a regional authority if the
regional authority adopts verbatim any standard that the Commission has

adopted, and submit the standards to EPA for approval as a SIP revision.
NOTE: Revisions to the State of Oregon Clean Air Act Implementation Plan become
federally enforceable upon approval by the United States Environmental Protection
Agency. If any provision of the federally approved Implementation Plan conflicts
with any provision adopted by the Commission, the Department shall enforce the
more stringent provision.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 468.020, 468A.035 & 468A.070
Stats. Implemented: ORS 468A.035
Hist.: DEQ 35, f. 2-3-72, ef. 2-15-72; DEQ 54, f. 6-21-73, ef. 7-1-73; DEQ 19-1979, f. & ef.
6-25-79; DEQ 21-1979, f. & ef. 7-2-79; DEQ 22-1980, f. & ef. 9-26-80; DEQ 11-1981, f. &
ef. 3-26-81; DEQ 14-1982, f. & ef. 7-21-82; DEQ 21-1982, f. & ef. 10-27-82; DEQ 1-1983,
f. & ef. 1-21-83; DEQ 6-1983, f. & ef. 4-18-83; DEQ 18-1984, f. & ef. 10-16-84; DEQ 25-
1984, f. & ef. 11-27-84; DEQ 3-1985, f. & ef. 2-1-85; DEQ 12-1985, f. & ef. 9-30-85; DEQ
5-1986, f. & ef. 2-21-86; DEQ 10-1986, f. & ef. 5-9-86; DEQ 20-1986, f. & ef. 11-7-86; DEQ
21-1986, f. & ef. 11-7-86; DEQ 4-1987, f. & ef. 3-2-87; DEQ 5-1987, f. & ef. 3-2-87; DEQ
8-1987, f. & ef. 4-23-87; DEQ 21-1987, f. & ef. 12-16-87; DEQ 31-1988, f. 12-20-88, cert.
ef. 12-23-88; DEQ 2-1991, f. & cert. ef. 2-14-91; DEQ 19-1991, f. & cert. ef. 11-13-91; DEQ
20-1991, f. & cert. ef. 11-13-91; DEQ 21-1991, f. & cert. ef. 11-13-91; DEQ 22-1991, f. &
cert. ef. 11-13-91; DEQ 23-1991, f. & cert. ef. 11-13-91; DEQ 24-1991, f. & cert. ef. 11-13-
91; DEQ 25-1991, f. & cert. ef. 11-13-91; DEQ 1-1992, f. & cert. ef. 2-4-92; DEQ 3-1992, f.
& cert. ef. 2-4-92; DEQ 7-1992, f. & cert. ef. 3-30-92; DEQ 19-1992, f. & cert. ef. 8-11-92;
DEQ 20-1992, f. & cert. ef. 8-11-92; DEQ 25-1992, f. 10-30-92, cert. ef. 11-1-92; DEQ 26-
1992, f. & cert. ef. 11-2-92; DEQ 27-1992, f. & cert. ef. 11-12-92; DEQ 4-1993, f. & cert. ef.
3-10-93; DEQ 8-1993, f. & cert. ef. 5-11-93; DEQ 12-1993, f. & cert. ef. 9-24-93; DEQ 15-
1993, f. & cert. ef. 11-4-93; DEQ 16-1993, f. & cert. ef. 11-4-93; DEQ 17-1993, f. & cert. ef.
11-4-93; DEQ 19-1993, f. & cert. ef. 11-4-93; DEQ 1-1994, f. & cert. ef. 1-3-94; DEQ 5-
1994, f. & cert. ef. 3-21-94; DEQ 14-1994, f. & cert. ef. 5-31-94; DEQ 15-1994, f. 6-8-94,
cert. ef. 7-1-94; DEQ 25-1994, f. & cert. ef. 11-2-94; DEQ 9-1995, f. & cert. ef. 5-1-95; DEQ
10-1995, f. & cert. ef. 5-1-95; DEQ 14-1995, f. & cert. ef. 5-25-95; DEQ 17-1995, f. & cert.
ef. 7-12-95; DEQ 19-1995, f. & cert. ef. 9-1-95; DEQ 20-1995 (Temp), f. & cert. ef. 9-14-95;
DEQ 8-1996(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 6-3-96; DEQ 15-1996, f. & cert. ef. 8-14-96; DEQ 19-
1996, f. & cert. ef. 9-24-96; DEQ 22-1996, f. & cert. ef. 10-22-96; DEQ 23-1996, f. & cert.
ef. 11-4-96; DEQ 24-1996, f. & cert. ef. 11-26-96; DEQ 10-1998, f. & cert. ef. 6-22-98; DEQ
15-1998, f. & cert. ef. 9-23-98; DEQ 16-1998, f. & cert. ef. 9-23-98; DEQ 17-1998, f. & cert.
ef. 9-23-98; DEQ 20-1998, f. & cert. ef. 10-12-98; DEQ 21-1998, f. & cert. ef. 10-12-98;
DEQ 1-1999, f. & cert. ef. 1-25-99; DEQ 5-1999, f. & cert. ef. 3-25-99; DEQ 6-1999, f. &
cert. ef. 5-21-99; DEQ 10-1999, f. & cert. ef. 7-1-99; DEQ 14-1999, f. & cert. ef. 10-14-99,
Renumbered from 340-020-0047; DEQ 15-1999, f. & cert. ef. 10-22-99; DEQ 2-2000, f. 2-
17-00, cert. ef. 6-1-01; DEQ 6-2000, f. & cert. ef. 5-22-00; DEQ 8-2000, f. & cert. ef. 6-6-
00; DEQ 13-2000, f. & cert. ef. 7-28-00; DEQ 16-2000, f. & cert. ef. 10-25-00; DEQ 17-
2000, f. & cert. ef. 10-25-00; DEQ 20-2000 f. & cert. ef. 12-15-00; DEQ 21-2000, f. & cert.
ef. 12-15-00; DEQ 2-2001, f. & cert. ef. 2-5-01; DEQ 4-2001, f. & cert. ef. 3-27-01; DEQ 6-
2001, f. 6-18-01, cert. ef. 7-1-01; DEQ 15-2001, f. & cert. ef. 12-26-01; DEQ 16-2001, f. &
cert. ef. 12-26-01; DEQ 17-2001, f. & cert. ef. 12-28-01; DEQ 4-2002, f. & cert. ef. 3-14-02;
DEQ 5-2002, f. & cert. ef. 5-3-02; DEQ 11-2002, f. & cert. ef. 10-8-02; DEQ 5-2003, f. &
cert. ef. 2-6-03; DEQ 14-2003, f. & cert. ef. 10-24-03; DEQ 19-2003, f. & cert. ef. 12-12-03;
DEQ 1-2004, f. & cert. ef. 4-14-04; DEQ 10-2004, f. & cert. ef. 12-15-04; DEQ 1-2005, f. &
cert. ef. 1-4-05; DEQ 2-2005, f. & cert. ef. 2-10-05; DEQ 4-2005, f. 5-13-05, cert. ef. 6-1-05;
DEQ 7-2005, f. & cert. ef. 7-12-05; DEQ 9-2005, f. & cert. ef. 9-9-05; DEQ 2-20006, f. & cert.
ef. 3-14-06; DEQ 4-2006, f. 3-29-06, cert. ef. 3-31-06; DEQ 3-2007, f. & cert. ef. 4-12-07;
DEQ 4-2007, f. & cert. ef. 6-28-07; DEQ 8-2007, f. & cert. ef. 11-8-07; DEQ 5-2008, f. &
cert. ef. 3-20-08; DEQ 11-2008, f. & cert. ef. 8-29-08; DEQ 12-2008, f. & cert. ef. 9-17-08;
DEQ 14-2008, f. & cert. ef. 11-10-08; DEQ 15-2008, f. & cert. ef 12-31-08; DEQ 3-2009, f.
& cert. ef. 6-30-09; DEQ 8-2009, f. & cert. ef. 12-16-09; DEQ 2-2010, f. & cert. ef. 3-5-10;
DEQ 5-2010, f. & cert. ef. 5-21-10; DEQ 14-2010, f. & cert. ef. 12-10-10; DEQ 1-2011, f. &
cert. ef. 2-24-11; DEQ 2-2011, f. 3-10-11, cert. ef. 3-15-11; DEQ 5-2011, f. 4-29-11, cert. ef.
5-1-11; DEQ 18-2011, f. & cert. ef. 12-21-11; DEQ 1-2012, f. & cert. ef. 5-17-12

340-210-0100
Registration in General

(1) Any air contaminant source not subject to Air Contaminant
Discharge Permits, OAR 340 division 216, or Oregon Title V Operating
Permits, OAR 340 division 218, must register with the Department upon
request pursuant to OAR 340-210-0110 through 340-210-0120.

(2) The owner or operator of an air contaminant source listed in sub-
section (2)(a) of this rule that is certified through a Department approved
environmental certification program and subject to an Area Source
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NESHAP may register the source with the Department pursuant to OAR
340-210-0110 through 340-210-0120 in lieu of obtaining a permit in accor-
dance with OAR 340-216-0020, unless the Department determines that the
source has not complied with the requirements of the environmental certi-
fication program.

(a) The following air contaminant sources may be registered under
this section:

(A) Motor vehicle surface coating operations.

(B) Dry cleaners using perchloroethylene.

(b) Approved environmental certification program. To be approved,
the environmental certification program must, at a minimum, require certi-
fied air contaminant sources to comply with all applicable state and feder-
al rules and regulations and require additional measures to increase envi-
ronmental protection.

(c) Fees. In order to obtain and maintain registration, owners and
operators of air contaminant sources registered pursuant to this section
must pay the following annual fees by March 1 of each year:

(A) Motor vehicle surface coating operations — $240.00.

(B) Dry cleaners using perchloroethylene — $180.00.

(C) Late fees.

(i) 30 days late: 5% of annual fee.

(ii) 31-60 days late: 10% of annual fee.

(iii) 61 or more days late: 20% of annual fee.

(D) Failure to pay fees. Registration is automatically terminated upon
failure to pay annual fees within 90 days of invoice by the Department,
unless prior arrangements for payment have been approved in writing by
the Department.

(d) Recordkeeping. In order to maintain registration, owners and
operators of air contaminant sources registered pursuant to this section
must maintain records required by the approved environmental perform-
ance program under subsection (2)(b) of this rule. The records must be kept
on site and in a form suitable and readily available for expeditious inspec-
tion and review.

(3) The owner or operator of an air contaminant source that is subject
to a federal NSPS or NESHAP in 40 CFR Part 60 or 40 CFR Part 63 and
that is not located at a source that is required to obtain a permit under OAR
chapter 340, division 216 (Air Contaminant Discharge Permits) or OAR
chapter 340, division 218 (Oregon Title V Operating Permits), must regis-
ter and maintain registration with the Department pursuant to OAR 340-
210-0110 through 340-210-0120 if requested in writing by the Department
(or by EPA at the Department’s request).

(4) Revocation. The Department may revoke a registration if a source

fails to meet any requirement in OAR 340-210-0110.
NOTE: This rule is included in the State of Oregon Clean Air Act Implementation
Plan as adopted by the EQC under OAR 340-200-0040.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 468.020, 468A.025, 468A.035, 468A.050, 468A.070 & 468A.310
Stats. Implemented: ORS 468 & 468A
Hist.: DEQ 15, f. 6-12-70, ef. 9-1-70; DEQ 4-1993, f. & cert. ef. 3-10-93; DEQ 12-1993, f.
& cert. ef. 9-24-93, Renumbered from 340-020-0005; DEQ 14-1999, f. & cert. ef. 10-14-99,
Renumbered from 340-028-0500; DEQ 6-2001, f. 6-18-01, cert. ef. 7-1-01; DEQ 8-2009, f.
& cert. ef. 12-16-09; DEQ 7-2011(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 6-24-11 thru 12-19-11; Administrative
correction, 2-6-12; DEQ 1-2012, f. & cert. ef. 5-17-12

340-210-0110
Registration Requirements

(1) Registration pursuant to OAR 340-210-0100(1) or (3) must be
completed within 30 days following the mailing date of the request by the
Department.

(2) Registration must be completed by the owner, lessee of the source,
or agent on forms made available by the Department. If a form is not avail-
able from the Department, the registrant may provide the information using
a format approved by the Department.

(3) In order to obtain registration pursuant to OAR 340-210-0100(1),
the following information must be reported by registrants:

(a) Name, address, and nature of business;

(b) Name of local person responsible for compliance with these rules;

(c) Name of person authorized to receive requests for data and infor-
mation;

(d) A description of the production processes and a related flow chart;

(e) A plot plan showing the location and height of all air contaminant
sources. The plot plan must also indicate the nearest residential or com-
mercial property;

(f) Type and quantity of fuels used;

(g) Amount, nature, and duration of air contaminant emissions;

(h) Estimated efficiency of air pollution control equipment under
present or anticipated operating conditions;

(i) Any other information requested by the Department.
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(4) In order to obtain registration pursuant to OAR 340-210-0100(2),
a registrant must submit the information in section (3)(a), (b), (¢), and (i) of
this rule and the following:

(a) Information demonstrating that the air contaminant source is oper-
ating in compliance with all applicable state and federal rules and regula-
tions, as requested by the Department.

(b) Information demonstrating that the source is certified through an
approved environmental certification program.

(c) A signed statement that the submitted information is true, accu-
rate, and complete. This signed statement shall state that, based on infor-
mation and belief formed after reasonable inquiry, the statements and infor-
mation in the document are true, accurate, and complete.

(5) In order to obtain registration pursuant to OAR 340-210-0100(3),
the following must be submitted by a registrant:

(a) Name, address and nature of business or institution;

(b) Name of local person responsible for compliance with these rules;

(c) Name of person authorized to receive requests for data and infor-
mation;

(d) A description of the air contaminant source subject to regulation;

(e) Identification of the applicable regulation(s);

(f) Confirmation that approval to construct and operate the air con-
taminant source was obtained in accordance with OAR 340-210-0205
through 340-0210-0250;

(g) Confirmation that the air contaminant source is operating in com-
pliance with all applicable state rules and regulations, including but not lim-
ited to OAR 340-208-0110 (visible air contaminant limitations) and 340-
226-0210 or 340-228-0210 (grain loading standards);

(h) Confirmation that the air contaminant source is operating in com-
pliance with all applicable federal rules and regulations, including but not
limited to 40 CFR Part 60 and Part 63 standards and work practice require-
ments, such as routine tune-up for boilers; and

(i) Any other information requested by the Department.

NOTE: This rule is included in the State of Oregon Clean Air Act Implementation

Plan as adopted by the EQC under OAR 340-200-0040.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 468.020, 468A.025, 468A.035, 468A.050, 468A.055, 468A.070 &
468A.310

Stats. Implemented: ORS 468 & 468A

Hist.: DEQ 15, f. 6-12-70, ef. 9-1-70; DEQ 4-1993, f. & cert. ef. 3-10-93; DEQ 12-1993, f.
& cert. ef. 9-24-93, Renumbered from 340-020-0010; DEQ 14-1999, f. & cert. ef. 10-14-99,
Renumbered from 340-028-0510; DEQ 6-2001, f. 6-18-01, cert. ef. 7-1-01; DEQ 8-2009, f.
& cert. ef. 12-16-09; DEQ 7-2011(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 6-24-11 thru 12-19-11; Administrative
correction, 2-6-12; DEQ 1-2012, f. & cert. ef. 5-17-12

340-210-0120
Re-Registration and Maintaining Registration

(1) In order to re-register or maintain registration pursuant to OAR
340-210-0100, a person responsible for an air contaminant source must
reaffirm in writing, by March 1 of each year, the correctness and current
status of the information furnished to the Department.

(2) In order to re-register or maintain registration pursuant to OAR
340-210-0100(3):

(a) The registrant must report any change in any of the factual infor-
mation reported under OAR 340-210-0110 to the Department on a form
made available by the Department; and

(b) The registrant must confirm the compliance status of the air con-
taminant source, including but not limited to compliance with any work
practice requirements such as routine tune-ups. Confirmation must be made
in writing on a form furnished by the Department.

(3) In order to re-register, or maintain registration, a person must not
have had their registration terminated or revoked within the last 3 years,
unless the air contaminant source has changed ownership since termination
or revocation.

(4) If a registered air contaminant source is sold or transferred, the
sale or transfer must be reported to the Department by either the former
owner or the new owner within 30 days of the date of sale or transfer. The
new owner of the registered air contaminant source must register the air
contaminant source within 30 days of the date of sale or transfer in accor-
dance with OAR 340-210-0110(2) and (5).

NOTE: This rule is included in the State of Oregon Clean Air Act Implementation

Plan as adopted by the EQC under OAR 340-200-0040.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 468.020, 468A.035, 468A.050 & 468A.310

Stats. Implemented: ORS 468 & 468A

Hist.: DEQ 15, f. 6-12-70, ef. 9-1-70; DEQ 4-1993, f. & cert. ef. 3-10-93; DEQ 12-1993, f.
& cert. ef. 9-24-93, Renumbered from 340-020-0015; DEQ 14-1999, f. & cert. ef. 10-14-99,
Renumbered from 340-028-0520; DEQ 6-2001, f. 6-18-01, cert. ef. 7-1-01; DEQ 8-2009, f.
& cert. ef. 12-16-09; DEQ 7-2011(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 6-24-11 thru 12-19-11; Administrative
correction, 2-6-12; DEQ 1-2012, f. & cert. ef. 5-17-12
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340-210-0250
Approval to Operate

(1) The approval to construct does not provide approval to operate the
constructed or modified stationary source or air pollution control equip-
ment unless otherwise allowed by section (2) of this rule or the ACDP or
Oregon Title V Operating Permit programs (OAR 340 divisions 216 and
218).

(2) Type 1 and 2 changes:

(a) For sources that are not required to obtain a permit in accordance
with OAR 340-216-0020, Type 1 and 2 changes may be operated without
further approval subject to the conditions of the Department’s approval to
construct provided in accordance with OAR 340-210-0240.

(A) Approval to operate does not relieve the owner of the obligation
of complying with applicable requirements that may include but are not
limited to the general opacity standards in OAR 340-208-0110 and general
particulate matter standards in OAR 340-226-0210 and 340-228-0210.

(B) If required by the Department as a condition of the approval to
construct or at any other time in accordance with OAR 340-212-0120, the
owner or operator must conduct testing or monitoring to verify compliance
with applicable requirements. Testing of boilers must be performed in
accordance with OAR 340-212-0140.

(C) The owner or operator must register the air contaminant source
with the Department if required as a condition of the approval to construct
or at any other time in accordance with OAR 340-210-0100.

(b) For new sources that are required to obtain an ACDP in accor-
dance with OAR 340-216-0020, the ACDP, which allows operation, is
required before operating Type 1 or 2 changes.

(c) For sources currently operating under an ACDP, Type 1 and 2
changes may be operated without further approval unless the ACDP specif-
ically prohibits the operation.

(d) For sources currently operating under an Oregon Title V Operating
Permit, Type 1 and 2 changes may only be operated in accordance with
OAR 340-218-0190(2).

(3) Type 3 and 4 changes:

(a) For new sources, Type 3 or 4 changes require a standard ACDP
before operation of the changes.

(b) For sources currently operating under an ACDP, approval to oper-
ate Type 3 or 4 changes will require a new or modified standard ACDP. All
ACDP terms and conditions remain in effect until the ACDP is modified.

(c) For sources currently operating under an Oregon Title V Operating
Permit, approval to operate Type 3 or 4 changes must be in accordance with
OAR 340-218-0190(2).

NOTE: This rule is included in the State of Oregon Clean Air Act Implementation
Plan as adopted by the EQC under OAR 340-200-0040.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 468 & 468A

Stats. Implemented: ORS 468 & 468A

Hist.: DEQ 6-2001, f. 6-18-01, cert. ef. 7-1-01; DEQ 1-2012, f. & cert. ef. 5-17-12

340-228-0020
Definitions

The definitions in OAR 340-200-0020 and this rule apply to this divi-
sion. If the same term is defined in this rule and OAR 340-200-0020, the
definition in this rule applies to this division.

(1) “ASTM” means the American Society for Testing and Materials.

(2) “Coastal Areas” means Clatsop, Tillamook, Lincoln, Coos, and
Curry Counties and those portions of Douglas and Lane County west of
Range 8 West, Willamette Meridian.

(3) “Distillate Fuel Oil” means any oil meeting the specifications of
ASTM Grade 1 or 2 fuel oils;

(4) “Fuel burning equipment” means equipment, other than internal
combustion engines, the principal purpose of which is to produce heat or
power by indirect heat transfer.

(5) “Residual Fuel Oil” means any oil meeting the specifications of
ASTM Grade 4, 5, or 6 fuel oils.

(6) “Standard conditions” means a temperature of 68° Fahrenheit and
a pressure of 14.7 pounds per square inch absolute.

(7) “Standard cubic foot” means the amount of gas that would occu-
py a volume of one cubic foot, if the gas were free of uncombined water at
standard conditions. When applied to combustion flue gases from fuel or
refuse burning, “standard cubic foot” also implies adjustment of gas vol-
ume to that which would result at a concentration of 12% carbon dioxide or

50% excess air.
NOTE: This rule is included in the State of Oregon Clean Air Act Implementation
Plan as adopted by the Environmental Quality Commission under OAR 340-200-
0040.
[Publications: Publications referenced are available from the agency.]
Stat. Auth.: ORS 468 & 468A
Stats. Implemented: ORS 468.020 468A.025 & 468A.035
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Hist.: [DEQ 16, f. 6-12-70, ef. 7-11-70; DEQ 1-1984, f. & ef. 1-16-84; DEQ 4-1993, f. & cert.
ef. 3-10-93; DEQ 3-1996, f. & cert. ef. 1-29-96]; [DEQ 37, f. 2-15-72, ef. 3-1-72; DEQ 4-
1993, f. & cert. ef. 3-10-93]; [DEQ 37, f. 2-15-72, ef. 3-1-72; DEQ 4-1993, f. & cert. ef. 3-
10-93]; DEQ 14-1999, f. & cert. ef. 10-14-99, Renumbered from 340-021-0005, 340-022-
0005, 340-022-0050; DEQ 8-2007, f. & cert. ef. 11-8-07; DEQ 7-2011(Temp), f. & cert. ef.
6-24-11 thru 12-19-11; Administrative correction, 2-6-12; DEQ 1-2012, f. & cert. ef. 5-17-
12

340-228-0200
Sulfur Dioxide Standards

The following emission standards are applicable to sources installed,
constructed, or modified after January 1, 1972 only:

(1) For fuel burning equipment having a heat input capacity between
150 million BTU per hour and 250 million BTU, no person may cause, suf-
fer, allow, or permit the emission into the atmosphere of sulfur dioxide in
excess of:

(a) 1.4 1b. per million BTU heat input, maximum three-hour average,
when liquid fuel is burned;

(b) 1.6 Ib. per million BTU heat input, maximum three-hour average,
when solid fuel is burned.

(2) For fuel burning equipment having a heat input capacity of more
than 250 million BTU per hour, no person may cause, suffer, allow, or per-
mit the emission into the atmosphere of sulfur dioxide in excess of:

(a) 0.8 Ib. per million BTU heat input, maximum three-hour average,
when liquid fuel is burned;

(b) 1.2 Ib. per million BTU heat input, maximum three-hour average,

when solid fuel is burned.
NOTE: This rule is included in the State of Oregon Clean Air Act Implementation
Plan as adopted by the Environmental Quality Commission under OAR 340-200-
0040.
Stat. Auth.: ORS 468 & 468A
Stats. Implemented: ORS 468.020,468A.025, 468A.035 & 468A.055
Hist.: DEQ 37, f. 2-15-72, ef. 3-1-72; DEQ 4-1993, f. & cert. ef. 3-10-93; DEQ 22-1996, f.
& cert. ef. 10-22-96; DEQ 14-1999. f. & cert. ef. 10-14-99, Renumbered from 340-022-0055;
DEQ 8-2007, f. & cert. ef. 11-8-07; DEQ 7-2011(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 6-24-11 thru 12-19-11;
Administrative correction, 2-6-12; DEQ 1-2012, f. & cert. ef. 5-17-12

340-228-0210
Grain Loading Standards

(1) Except as provided in sections (2) and (3) of this rule, no person
shall cause, suffer, allow, or permit the emission of particulate matter, from
any fuel burning equipment in excess of:

(a) 0.2 grains per standard cubic foot for sources installed, construct-
ed, or modified on or before June 1, 1970;

(b) 0.1 grains per standard cubic foot for sources installed, construct-
ed, or modified after June 1, 1970.

(2) For sources burning salt laden wood waste on July 1, 1981, where
salt in the fuel is the only reason for failure to comply with the above lim-
its and when the salt in the fuel results from storage or transportation of logs
in salt water, the resulting salt portion of the emissions shall be exempted
from subsection (1)(a) or (b) of this rule and OAR 340-208-0110. In no
case shall sources burning salt laden woodwaste exceed 0.6 grains per stan-
dard cubic foot.

(a) This exemption and the alternative emissions standard are only
applicable upon prior notice to the Department.

(b) Sources which utilize this exemption, to demonstrate compliance
otherwise with subsection (1)(a) or (b) of this rule, shall submit the results
of a particulate emissions source test of the boiler stacks bi-annually.

(3) This rule does not apply to solid fuel burning devices that have
been certified under OAR 340-262-0500.

NOTE: This rule is included in the State of Oregon Clean Air Act Implementation

Plan as adopted by the Environmental Quality Commission under OAR 340-200-

0040.

Stat. Auth.: ORS 468 & 468A

Stats. Implemented: ORS 468.020,468A.025 & 468A.035

Hist.: DEQ 16, f. 6-12-70, ef. 7-11-70; DEQ 12-1979, f. & ef. 6-8-79; DEQ 6-1981, f. & ef.
2-17-81; DEQ 18-1982, f. & ef. 9-1-82; DEQ 4-1993, f. & cert. ef. 3-10-93; DEQ 3-1996, f.
& cert. ef. 1-29-96; DEQ 14-1999, f. & cert. ef. 10-14-99, Renumbered from 340-021-0020;
DEQ 8-2007, f. & cert. ef. 11-8-07; DEQ 7-2011(Temp), f. & cert. ef. 6-24-11 thru 12-19-11;
Administrative correction, 2-6-12; DEQ 1-2012, f. & cert. ef. 5-17-12

340-262-0450
Definitions

The definitions in OAR 340-200-0020 and this rule apply to this
Division. If OAR 340-0200-0020 and this rule define the same term, the
definition in this rule applies to this Division.

(1) “Antique woodstove” means a woodstove built before 1940 that
has an ornate construction and a current market value substantially higher
than a common woodstove manufactured during the same period.

(2) “Central wood-fired furnace” means an indoor, wood-fired fur-
nace that is thermostatically controlled, has a dedicated cold air inlet and
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dedicated hot air outlet, and is connected to heating ductwork for the entire
residential structure.

(3) “CFR” means Code of Federal Regulations.

(4) “Consumer” means a person who buys a solid fuel burning device
for personal use.

(5) “Cookstove” means an indoor wood-burning appliance designed
for the primary purpose of cooking food.

(6) “Dealer” means a person that sells solid fuel burning devices to
retailers or other dealers for resale. For the purpose of this Division, a deal-
er that is also an Oregon retailer shall be considered to be only a retailer.

(7) “DEQ” means Oregon Department of Environmental Quality.

(8) “Destroy” means to demolish or decommission to the extent that
restoration or reuse as a heating device is impossible.

(9) “EPA” means United States Environmental Protection Agency.

(10) “EQC” means Environmental Quality Commission

(11) “Federal Regulations” means 40 CFR, Part 60, Subpart AAA as
in effect on July 1,2010.

(12) “Fireplace” means a site-built or factory-built masonry fireplace
that is designed to be used with an open combustion chamber and that is
without features to control air-to-fuel ratios.

(13) “Hydronic heater” means a fuel-burning device which may be
equipped with a heat storage unit, and which is designed to:

(a) Burn wood or other automatically fed fuels such as wood pellets,
shelled corn, and wood chips;

(b) Be installed according to the manufacturer’s specifications either
indoors or outdoors; and

(c) Heat building space and/or water via the distribution, typically
through pipes, of a fluid heated in the device, typically water or a
water/antifreeze mixture.

(14) “Manufacturer” means a person who designs a solid fuel burning
device, constructs a solid fuel burning device or constructs parts for solid
fuel burning devices.

(15) “Masonry heater” means a site-built or site-assembled, solid
fueled heating device constructed of structural masonry mass used to store
heat from intermittent 